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Financial Year 2010
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MAY 18 ,  2011
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MAY 19,  2011
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AU G US T 10 ,  2011
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Interim Report 3rd Quarter 2011

DYNAMIC MARKETS  – We geared our activities to the world’s most populous and fastest-growing 
regions early on. In 2010, we achieved 46 % of our sales in these emerging markets, compared to  
41 % in the previous year and 36 % in 2005. But our new markets do not just have a geographical dimen-
sion. We are concentrating on business units and application areas that have a greater growth 
 potential than the Flavors and Fragrances industry as a whole.

Annual Report 2010
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F l av o r  &  N u t r i t i o N

S c e N t  &  c a r e

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) by 
combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. symrise’s perfume oils
are used in perfumes (fine fragrances), in body-care products (hair care products, 
washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household products (washing and clean-
ing products).

Oral Care symrise offers the entire range of mint aromas and intermediate products 
for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

Life Essentials the products manufactured by this business unit are used in skin 
care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, shower gels, 
washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. the unique feature of  
life essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional body care products and 
plant-based bioactive ingredients.

Aroma Molecules these products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, are used 
in various applications. nature-identical menthol is used in oral care products, 
chewing gums and shower gels. symrise uses uniform aroma chemicals (intermedi-
ate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils and sells them to 
customers who use them in their perfume oils. 
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K e y  f i g u r e s  o f  t h e  g r o u P

€ millioN 2009 2010
chaNge iN % chaNge iN % 

at local currency

     

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15.4 11.0

EBITDA 245.6 331.2 35 32

EBITDA margin in % 18.0 21.1   

EBIT 163.0 244.4 50 47

EBIT margin in % 12.0 15.5   

Net income 84.3 133.5 58  

Earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 58  

Dividend per share in € 0.50 0.602 20  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,895.2 2,059.0 9  

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 36.4 40.9   

Investments 56.7 70.5   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/ 
EBITDA (as of December 31) ratio 3.1 2.2   

Operating cash flow 225.7 235.1 4  

Employees (as of December 31) FTE1 4,954 5,288 7  

     

Scent & care     

Sales 682.3 804.5 17.9 12.4

EBITDA 109.0 160.8 48 43

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 20.0   

     

Flavor & Nutrition     

Sales 679.7 767.4 12.9 9.7

EBITDA 136.6 170.4 25 22

EBITDA margin in % 20.1 22.2   

€ millioN 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

     

group – results of operations      

Sales 1,229.4 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9

Share of sales in emerging markets in % 37 39 40 41 46

EBITDA1 243.2 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2

EBITDA margin1 in % 19.8 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1

Net income – 89.8 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5

Earnings per share in € – 1.08 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13

Dividends paid  – 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.93

Dividend per share in € – 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.603

      

group – Financial position/net assets      

Operating cash flow 149.4 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1

Investments 46.0 40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,803.1 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 30.5 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9

Net debt (incl. pension provisions) 

(as of December 31) 779.64 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7

      

Employees (as of December 31) FTE2 4,777 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288

      

Scent & care      

Sales 647.4 671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5

EBITDA1 112.9 134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8

EBITDA margin1 in % 17.4 20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0

      

Flavor & Nutrition      

Sales 582.0 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4

EBITDA1 130.3 137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4

EBITDA margin1 in % 22.4 22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2

GrOup SALES 2010 ACCOrdinG tO rEGiOnS  (in %)

f i v e - y e a r  f i n a n c i a l  o v e r v i e w

1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

1 figures for 2006 adjusted for restructuring and integration costs
2 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
3 proposal
4 without vendor note and shareholder loans

our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or paste form 
to make food and beverages. our flavors give the products distinct tastes. we provide 
individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from the actual aroma, can con-
tain additional functional raw materials, colorants or microencapsulated components. 
with functional natural ingredients, the new consumer health application area caters 
to the functional food supplement and pharmaceutical preparation markets.

09/10

September 22 the new strategic “taste for life®” 
platform is an innovative instrument enabling the 
food and beverage industry to develop new products 
faster and better tailored to customers’ needs.

September 30 symrise opens a perfumery school in 
chennai, india. with this strategic step, we expand 
our knowledge of consumer preferences in one of 
the world’s biggest sales markets. in addition, we 
train local talent for our important sales markets. 

october 13 for the first building block in our new 
long-term refinancing concept, we agreed to a term 
note for us$ 175 million with Pricoa (Prudential 
investment Management, inc.). 

october 15 the first bond issued in the company’s 
history is very well received by the capital market. 
the bond, which has a volume of € 300 million, is a 
cornerstone of our long-term refinancing concept.

12

December 6 By agreeing on a revolving credit facil-
ity with a volume of € 300 million and a duration  
of five years, the refinancing of symrise ag is suc-
cessfully completed.

01/02

January 21 with the opening of a plant for liquid fla-
vors in singapore, symrise continues to expand its 
activities in asia. liquid flavors are used, for exam-
ple, for adding flavor to beverages, ice cream and 
dairy products.

February 8 symrise significantly expands its flavor & 
nutrition business in russia and the cis region with 
the setup of a fully integrated production site near 
Moscow. By producing in the region, symrise can 
serve strategic globally operating customers locally. 

February 25 symrise manages to increase its mar-
ket share in a difficult business environment. as a 
result, we received the prestigious “Best of euro-
pean Business” award for 2010.

04

april 7 symrise now offers even more effective flex-
ible solutions for the care of dry skin thanks to  
two new kinds of symMollient®, its successful func-
tional ingredient.

05/06

may 5 at the “in-cosmetics” tradeshow in Paris, 
symrise receives the highly esteemed 2010 BsB 
innovation Prize for its skin-soothing ingredient 
symsitive™ 1609.

June 10 symrise strengthens its position as the 
world’s leading manufacturer of synthetic menthols 
by announcing that it will double its production 
capacities by 2012. 

June 24 with the founding of the scientific advisory 
Board for health and nutrition, symrise expands  
its competencies in the area of health-oriented food. 
internationally renowned scientists assist us in the 
development of new ingredients and technologies.

08

august 25 two new mixing and dosing facilities for 
perfume oils are put in operation in holzminden. 
the fully automated facilities increase production 
capacity by 25 %.

Asia/Pacific 21.8 %

Latin America 11.9 %

48.4 %  Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

North America 17.9 %

SYM_GB 2010_Umschlag engl_20110221.indd   2 23.02.11   11:46
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F l av o r  &  N u t r i t i o N

S c e N t  &  c a r e

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) by 
combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. symrise’s perfume oils
are used in perfumes (fine fragrances), in body-care products (hair care products, 
washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household products (washing and clean-
ing products).

Oral Care symrise offers the entire range of mint aromas and intermediate products 
for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

Life Essentials the products manufactured by this business unit are used in skin 
care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, shower gels, 
washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. the unique feature of  
life essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional body care products and 
plant-based bioactive ingredients.

Aroma Molecules these products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, are used 
in various applications. nature-identical menthol is used in oral care products, 
chewing gums and shower gels. symrise uses uniform aroma chemicals (intermedi-
ate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils and sells them to 
customers who use them in their perfume oils. 

  Beverages
  Savory
  Sweet
  Consumer Health

  Cosmetic Ingredients
  Active Ingredients
  Functionals
  Botanicals
  UV-Filter 

  Sensates (Menthole)
  Special Fragrance &

Flavor Ingredients
  Fine Aroma Chemicals

  Fine Fragrances
  Personal Care
  Household
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Among the customer industries of our fragrances and flavors are the perfume, cosmetics and food industries, 
as well as household products’ suppliers. We are continually growing our activities in the nutrition and body-
care sectors on the basis of biofunctional and bioactive ingredients. 

K e y  f i g u r e s  o f  t h e  g r o u P

€ millioN 2009 2010
chaNge iN % chaNge iN % 

at local currency

     

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15.4 11.0

EBITDA 245.6 331.2 35 32

EBITDA margin in % 18.0 21.1   

EBIT 163.0 244.4 50 47

EBIT margin in % 12.0 15.5   

Net income 84.3 133.5 58  

Earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 58  

Dividend per share in € 0.50 0.602 20  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,895.2 2,059.0 9  

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 36.4 40.9   

Investments 56.7 70.5   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/ 
EBITDA (as of December 31) ratio 3.1 2.2   

Operating cash flow 225.7 235.1 4  

Employees (as of December 31) FTE1 4,954 5,288 7  

     

Scent & care     

Sales 682.3 804.5 17.9 12.4

EBITDA 109.0 160.8 48 43

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 20.0   

     

Flavor & Nutrition     

Sales 679.7 767.4 12.9 9.7

EBITDA 136.6 170.4 25 22

EBITDA margin in % 20.1 22.2   

€ millioN 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

     

group – results of operations      

Sales 1,229.4 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9

Share of sales in emerging markets in % 37 39 40 41 46

EBITDA1 243.2 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2

EBITDA margin1 in % 19.8 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1

Net income – 89.8 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5

Earnings per share in € – 1.08 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13

Dividends paid  – 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.93

Dividend per share in € – 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.603

      

group – Financial position/net assets      

Operating cash flow 149.4 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1

Investments 46.0 40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,803.1 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 30.5 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9

Net debt (incl. pension provisions) 

(as of December 31) 779.64 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7

      

Employees (as of December 31) FTE2 4,777 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288

      

Scent & care      

Sales 647.4 671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5

EBITDA1 112.9 134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8

EBITDA margin1 in % 17.4 20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0

      

Flavor & Nutrition      

Sales 582.0 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4

EBITDA1 130.3 137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4

EBITDA margin1 in % 22.4 22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2

GrOup SALES 2010 ACCOrdinG tO rEGiOnS  (in %)

f i v e - y e a r  f i n a n c i a l  o v e r v i e w

1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

1 figures for 2006 adjusted for restructuring and integration costs
2 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
3 proposal
4 without vendor note and shareholder loans

our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or paste form 
to make food and beverages. our flavors give the products distinct tastes. we provide 
individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from the actual aroma, can con-
tain additional functional raw materials, colorants or microencapsulated components. 
with functional natural ingredients, the new consumer health application area caters 
to the functional food supplement and pharmaceutical preparation markets.

09/10

September 22 the new strategic “taste for life®” 
platform is an innovative instrument enabling the 
food and beverage industry to develop new products 
faster and better tailored to customers’ needs.

September 30 symrise opens a perfumery school in 
chennai, india. with this strategic step, we expand 
our knowledge of consumer preferences in one of 
the world’s biggest sales markets. in addition, we 
train local talent for our important sales markets. 

october 13 for the first building block in our new 
long-term refinancing concept, we agreed to a term 
note for us$ 175 million with Pricoa (Prudential 
investment Management, inc.). 

october 15 the first bond issued in the company’s 
history is very well received by the capital market. 
the bond, which has a volume of € 300 million, is a 
cornerstone of our long-term refinancing concept.

12

December 6 By agreeing on a revolving credit facil-
ity with a volume of € 300 million and a duration  
of five years, the refinancing of symrise ag is suc-
cessfully completed.

01/02

January 21 with the opening of a plant for liquid fla-
vors in singapore, symrise continues to expand its 
activities in asia. liquid flavors are used, for exam-
ple, for adding flavor to beverages, ice cream and 
dairy products.

February 8 symrise significantly expands its flavor & 
nutrition business in russia and the cis region with 
the setup of a fully integrated production site near 
Moscow. By producing in the region, symrise can 
serve strategic globally operating customers locally. 

February 25 symrise manages to increase its mar-
ket share in a difficult business environment. as a 
result, we received the prestigious “Best of euro-
pean Business” award for 2010.

04

april 7 symrise now offers even more effective flex-
ible solutions for the care of dry skin thanks to  
two new kinds of symMollient®, its successful func-
tional ingredient.

05/06

may 5 at the “in-cosmetics” tradeshow in Paris, 
symrise receives the highly esteemed 2010 BsB 
innovation Prize for its skin-soothing ingredient 
symsitive™ 1609.

June 10 symrise strengthens its position as the 
world’s leading manufacturer of synthetic menthols 
by announcing that it will double its production 
capacities by 2012. 

June 24 with the founding of the scientific advisory 
Board for health and nutrition, symrise expands  
its competencies in the area of health-oriented food. 
internationally renowned scientists assist us in the 
development of new ingredients and technologies.

08

august 25 two new mixing and dosing facilities for 
perfume oils are put in operation in holzminden. 
the fully automated facilities increase production 
capacity by 25 %.

Asia/Pacific 21.8 %

Latin America 11.9 %

48.4 %  Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

North America 17.9 %

SYM_GB 2010_Umschlag engl_20110221.indd   2 23.02.11   11:46



S
Y

M
R

IS
E

 A
G

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T 

2
01

0

Symrise AG
Mühlenfeldstraße 1
37603 Holzminden
Germany

www.symrise.com
investor.symrise.com

F I N A N C I A L  C A L E N D A R

MAR C H 9,  2011
Annual Press Conference/Analyst Conference 
Financial Year 2010

MAY 11,  2011
Interim Report 1st Quarter 2011

MAY 18 ,  2011
Annual General Meeting, Hanover

MAY 19,  2011
Dividend Payment

AU G US T 10 ,  2011
Interim Report 2nd Quarter 2011

N OVE MB E R 9,  2011
Interim Report 3rd Quarter 2011

DYNAMIC MARKETS  – We geared our activities to the world’s most populous and fastest-growing 
regions early on. In 2010, we achieved 46 % of our sales in these emerging markets, compared to  
41 % in the previous year and 36 % in 2005. But our new markets do not just have a geographical dimen-
sion. We are concentrating on business units and application areas that have a greater growth 
 potential than the Flavors and Fragrances industry as a whole.

Annual Report 2010
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F L AV O R  &  N U T R I T I O N

S C E N T  &  C A R E

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) by 
combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. Symrise’s perfume oils
are used in perfumes (Fine Fragrances), in body-care products (hair care products, 
washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household products (washing and clean-
ing products).

Oral Care Symrise off ers the entire range of mint aromas and intermediate products 
for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

Life Essentials The products manufactured by this business unit are used in skin 
care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, shower gels, 
washing lotions, anti-dandruff  shampoos and deodorants. The unique feature of 
Life Essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional body care products and 
plant-based bioactive ingredients.

Aroma Molecules These products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, are used 
in various applications. Nature-identical menthol is used in oral care products, 
chewing gums and shower gels. Symrise uses uniform aroma chemicals (intermedi-
ate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils and sells them to 
customers who use them in their perfume oils. 
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K E Y  F I G U R E S  O F  T H E  G R O U P

€ MILLION 2009 2010
CHANGE IN % CHANGE IN %

at local currency

     

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15.4 11.0

EBITDA 245.6 331.2 35 32

EBITDA margin in % 18.0 21.1   

EBIT 163.0 244.4 50 47

EBIT margin in % 12.0 15.5   

Net income 84.3 133.5 58  

Earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 58  

Dividend per share in € 0.50 0.602 20  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,895.2 2,059.0 9  

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 36.4 40.9   

Investments 56.7 70.5   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/ 
EBITDA (as of December 31) ratio 3.1 2.2   

Operating cash fl ow 225.7 235.1 4  

Employees (as of December 31) FTE1 4,954 5,288 7  

     

Scent & Care     

Sales 682.3 804.5 17.9 12.4

EBITDA 109.0 160.8 48 43

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 20.0   

     

Flavor & Nutrition     

Sales 679.7 767.4 12.9 9.7

EBITDA 136.6 170.4 25 22

EBITDA margin in % 20.1 22.2   

€ MILLION 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

     

Group – Results of operations      

Sales 1,229.4 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9

Share of sales in emerging markets in % 37 39 40 41 46

EBITDA1 243.2 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2

EBITDA margin1 in % 19.8 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1

Net income – 89.8 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5

Earnings per share in € – 1.08 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13

Dividends paid  – 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.93

Dividend per share in € – 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.603

      

Group – Financial position/net assets      

Operating cash fl ow 149.4 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1

Investments 46.0 40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,803.1 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 30.5 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)

(as of December 31) 779.64 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7

      

Employees (as of December 31) FTE2 4,777 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288

      

Scent & Care      

Sales 647.4 671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5

EBITDA1 112.9 134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8

EBITDA margin1 in % 17.4 20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0

      

Flavor & Nutrition      

Sales 582.0 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4

EBITDA1 130.3 137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4

EBITDA margin1 in % 22.4 22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2

GROUP SALES 2010 ACCORDING TO REGIONS  (in %)

F I V E - Y E A R  F I N A N C I A L  O V E R V I E W

1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

1 fi gures for 2006 adjusted for restructuring and integration costs
2 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
3 proposal
4 without vendor note and shareholder loans

Our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or paste form 
to make food and beverages. Our flavors give the products distinct tastes. We provide 
individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from the actual aroma, can con-
tain additional functional raw materials, colorants or microencapsulated components. 
With functional natural ingredients, the new Consumer Health application area caters 
to the functional food supplement and pharmaceutical preparation markets.

09/10

September 22 The new strategic “taste for life®” 
platform is an innovative instrument enabling the 
food and beverage industry to develop new products 
faster and better tailored to customers’ needs.

September 30 Symrise opens a perfumery school in 
Chennai, India. With this strategic step, we expand 
our knowledge of consumer preferences in one of 
the world’s biggest sales markets. In addition, we 
train local talent for our important sales markets. 

October 13 For the fi rst building block in our new 
long-term refi nancing concept, we agreed to a term 
note for US$ 175 million with Pricoa (Prudential 
Investment Management, Inc.). 

October 15 The fi rst bond issued in the company’s 
history is very well received by the capital market. 
The bond, which has a volume of € 300 million, is a 
cornerstone of our long-term refi nancing concept.

12

December 6 By agreeing on a revolving credit facil-
ity with a volume of € 300 million and a duration 
of fi ve years, the refi nancing of Symrise AG is suc-
cessfully completed.

01/02

January 21 With the opening of a plant for liquid fl a-
vors in Singapore, Symrise continues to expand its 
activities in Asia. Liquid fl avors are used, for exam-
ple, for adding fl avor to beverages, ice cream and 
dairy products.

February 8 Symrise signifi cantly expands its Flavor & 
Nutrition business in Russia and the CIS region with 
the setup of a fully integrated production site near 
Moscow. By producing in the region, Symrise can 
serve strategic globally operating customers locally. 

February 25 Symrise manages to increase its mar-
ket share in a diffi  cult business environment. As a 
result, we received the prestigious “Best of Euro-
pean Business” award for 2010.

04

April 7 Symrise now off ers even more eff ective fl ex-
ible solutions for the care of dry skin thanks to 
two new kinds of SymMollient®, its successful func-
tional ingredient.

05/06

May 5 At the “In-Cosmetics” tradeshow in Paris, 
Symrise receives the highly esteemed 2010 BSB 
Innovation Prize for its skin-soothing ingredient 
SymSitive™ 1609.

June 10 Symrise strengthens its position as the 
world’s leading manufacturer of synthetic menthols 
by announcing that it will double its production 
capacities by 2012. 

June 24 With the founding of the Scientifi c Advisory 
Board for Health and Nutrition, Symrise expands 
its competencies in the area of health-oriented food. 
Internationally renowned scientists assist us in the 
development of new ingredients and technologies.

08

August 25 Two new mixing and dosing facilities for 
perfume oils are put in operation In Holzminden. 
The fully automated facilities increase production 
capacity by 25 %.

Asia/Pacifi c 21.8 %

Latin America 11.9 %

48.4 %  Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

North America 17.9 %



Business Mission 

Symrise is the fourth-largest supplier in the 
flavors and fragrances market, with a global 
market share of 11 %. We sell more than 
30,000 products in over 160 countries. Our 
goal is to grow faster than the market every 
year and to set new standards with innova-
tive products. In doing so, we are one of 
the most profitable companies in our indus-
try on a sustained basis. 

More on our strategy on pages 14 to 19.
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For Symrise the fi scal year 2010 went very well: sales rose by 15 % to € 1.57 billion. 

Once again we grew faster than the market. We achieved an EBITDA margin of 

21.1 %, above our long­range target of 20 %. While doing all of this, we also strength­

ened our equity base, further reduced our debt and established a long­term refi ­

nancing plan at favorable conditions. In short: we successfully reached all of our goals.

There are three main reasons for this positive development. First, on the world’s 

markets we saw an economic recovery. Second, we have a unique business model that 

complements our established business activities in the Flavors & Fragrances industry 

by adding new, fast­growing businesses like Consumer Health and Life Essentials. 

And third, our strategy is clearly focused on profi table growth.

Our strategy has a special focus on Emerging markets. The world’s economic centers 

of power are shifting. While some industrial countries are struggling with debt 

problems and structural defi cits, the economic strength, wealth and consumption 

continues to grow in the Emerging Markets. We were active in these markets early 

on and have consistently expanded our presence there over the years. With success: 

in 2010 we achieved 46 % of our sales in Emerging Countries. In the past fi scal year 

we took further steps to strengthen our position. We set up a new production site in 

Moscow, in India we opened our fi rst perfumers’ academy, and through our acqui­

sition of Futura Labs we increased our potential in North Africa and the Near East.

DYNAMIC MARKETS is the title of this year’s annual report. This highlights 

clearly what makes these markets diff erent and how we are using the dynamics in 

these markets to drive our growth.
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Letter to the Shareholders

Our business with large international customers was another success factor in 2010. 

We placed special emphasis on expanding our business with this strategically 

important customer group. We gained new positions on Core Lists and were able to 

make new business on the basis of the positions we already had. With our large 

international customers we were able to increase sales by 13 %; this customer group 

now accounts for 30 % of our total sales.

Symrise has made great progress in the past few years. Our business has grown sig­

nificantly. Today we rank among the world leaders in the Flavors & Fragrances in­

dustry. As a result, it is one of our main tasks to clearly and sustainably position our 

strengths and our uniqueness on today’s market: no other company in our industry 

combines innovation and tradition better than Symrise. We have complemented our 
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traditional F&F business by focusing on the new megatrends toward health-oriented 

nutrition and the heightened awareness for a healthy lifestyle. The products in our 

newest business units Consumer Health and Life Essentials address the needs in 

these rapidly growing market segments. In 2010, both of these units worked hard to 

expand their product lines. Their dynamic growth testifies to the potential in these 

segments and spurs us on to further develop these business units and continue to 

strengthen the unique Symrise business profile.

We have made it our goal to permanently rank among the most profitable companies 

in our industry. This was also the goal we set our sights on in 2010. Our EBITDA 

increased – supported on the one hand by a strong rise in sales and on the other hand 

by strict and systematic cost management – by 35 % to € 331 million. The corre­

sponding EBITDA margin of 21.1 % (2009: 18.0 %) is better than the long-range target 

of 20 % that we aim to meet on a sustainable basis. In light of the positive results  

in 2010, at the General Assembly the Executive and Supervisory Boards will propose 

paying a dividend of € 0.60: this amounts to a 20 % increase over last year’s dividend.

Dear Shareholders and Friends of Symrise: Symrise continued to successfully develop 

its business in 2010 and has created the foundation for further growth as we move 

ahead. To ensure this, a series of decisive investments have been made: the expansion 

to double our menthol production capacities, new mixing and dosing facilities for 

perfume oils and a new plant for producing liquid flavors in Singapore. 

“Symrise aspires to permanently rank among the industry’s most profitable 
companies. We want to continue to grow faster than the market and achieve an 
EBITDA margin of more than 20 %. We are well prepared to meet these goals.”

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram, Chief Executive Officer of Symrise AG



7C o m pa n y G r o u p m a n aG e m e n t  r e p o r t C o n s o l i dat e d F i n a n C i a l  s tat e m e n t s n o t e s C o r p o r at e  G o v e r n a n C e

letter to the shareholders

As we look forward to 2011, we are optimistic. We will, however, have to carefully 

monitor the economic challenges presented by the debt crisis in some countries as 

well as by the development of raw material prices. We have made it our goal to again 

grow faster than the market. In addition, it is also our goal to again achieve an 

EBITDA margin of more than 20 %. We are well prepared to meet these goals: we have 

a unique position, a proven strategy and great innovative strengths. In addition, 

thanks to the refi nancing concept we successfully realized in 2010 we have solid 

long­term fi nancing as we move ahead.

On behalf of my colleagues on the Executive Board I would like to express my sin­

cere thanks for your trust. At the same time I would like to invite you to accompany 

us in the future as we successfully guide Symrise down its growth path.

Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram
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Russia|moscow
symRise geaRed its business stRategy towaRd the fast-gRowing maRkets 
in Russia and the Cis Region eaRly on. sinCe 2005 the peRCentage of ouR 
sales geneRated in these emeRging maRkets has inCReased fRom 36 % to 
46 %.



46 %



	Flavor & Nutrition
“By producing on-site we 
can better serve local 
customers as well as our 
strategic and global 
customers.”
Since December 2010 Symrise has been the first international flavor company producing in 
Russia. Nelli Tazina played a key role in setting up the new facility in Moscow. She looks 
forward to helping develop Symrise further as an innovative leader in her home region.

The new production site complements the already established capabilities for development, 
marketing, sales and sensory research of Symrise in Russia. The on-site laboratories for 
development and application technologies will focus on the application areas beverages, 
sweets, spicy products and snack articles. 



Nelli  Ta zina ,  Production Manager, Symrise Moscow
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o n  C o u r s e  I n  Dy n a M I C  M a r K e T s

our Business Mission

Symrise is the fourth­largest supplier in the flavors and 
fragrances market, with a global market share of 11 %. 
We sell more than 30,000 products in over 160 countries. 
Our goal is to continuously grow faster than the market 
by setting new standards with innovative product concepts. 
This will enable us to remain one of the most profitable 
companies in the industry.

cle Ar tArge ts

We are the market leader in several areas and have a 
unique portfolio of innovative solutions aimed to meet our 
customers’ specific requirements. We intend to bolster 
and further extend this position. We have repositioned our­
selves in many additional areas, including consumer 
health, to focus our strengths on the given growth poten­
tials. Symrise creates new markets by understanding 
 people’s changing needs and preferences and implement­
ing them in product solutions. 

 Market position: We aim to achieve sales that out­
perform the market, which is growing by 3 % a year on 
long­term  average. In this way, we will successively 
 increase the  distance between the smaller companies in 
our  industry and us and gain market share. 

 Value orientation: Sales growth, optimization of our 
product mix, and a continual improvement of our pro­
cesses will enable us to become one of the most profit­
able companies in our industry. We are striving for a 
sustainable EBITDA margin of more than 20 %.

 Financial position: We want the ratio of net debt 
 (including pensions) to EBITDA to lie between 
2.0 and 2.5. It is possible to exceed this spectrum  
temporarily, as a result of acquisitions within the  
framework of our overall strategy. A continuously  
high operating cash flow contributes to the  
Company’s financial stability. 

Our shareholders participate in the Company’s success 
through a dividend payment that takes into account the 

 necessary financial support for our growth strategy and 
the returns expected by our shareholders in a balanced 
and proper relationship. In addition, we ascribe great im­
portance to the principle of dividend continuity. At the 
 Annual General Meeting in 2011, the Executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board will propose that the previous 
year’s dividend of € 0.50 per share be increased to € 0.60 
per share due to the successful 2010 business year.

MultidiMensionAl str AtegY

Our strategy has a triple focus aimed at delivering the 
greatest value for Symrise: 

 Growth with global customers

 Growth in new markets

 Growth through innovations

Organic growth can be supported by selective acquisitions 
strengthening our business model. We are increasing 
our profitability via the cost­reducing effects of sales expan­
sion and by making continuous efforts to optimize our 
 operational processes. 

Our top 10 customers accounted for 30 % of our sales in 
2010, after 29 % in the previous year. We intend to further 

increase the percentage of our sales with rapidly grow-

ing, strategically important international customers. In 
2010, we again were successful in achieving positions on 
the core lists of these cus tomers. These core list positions 
qualify us as a core  supplier to receive regular briefings 
for new product developments. Our goal is to establish 
Symrise as a main supplier for the core brands of our cus­
tomers and better leverage the potential of the core list 
 positions. We also intend to improve further the ratio be­
tween briefings and orders obtained. The introduction 
of a cross­business unit Key  Account Management has fur­
ther strengthened our relationships with selected custom­
ers. We gear our core competencies, for example in the cit­
rus, vanilla, or mint segments, to our customers’ main 
brands. Symrise is one of very few suppliers that is able to 



on Course in  
dynamic markets
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provide the highest­quality products, in the relatively 
high volumes demanded by large customers, worldwide 
and in a reliable way. We expect our top 10 customers 
to continue to grow significantly in the future – our goal 
is high participation in this growth. As one of the world’s 
largest suppliers, we have traditionally had close and var­
ied business relations with medium­sized regional and 
 local customers. These trustworthy ties, many of which 
have developed over decades, are also  valuable and im­
portant to us.

We geared our activities to the world’s most populous 

and fastest-growing regions early on. In 2010, we achieved 
46 % of our sales in these emerging markets, compared to 
41 % in the previous year. In Latin America, Asia, the Arab 
world, Eastern Europe, and Africa the standard of living 
of a growing share of the population and thus consumer 
spending are increasing at a much faster rate than the 
 international mean in the medium and long term. ‘All busi­
ness is local’: A good understanding of the conditions at 
different locations, as well as of the markets and consumers, 
is an essential success factor for further expansion of our 
business. To deepen this understanding, we launched nu­
merous initiatives in 2010. In India, we opened a perfum­
ery school, giving talented young people the opportunity 
to learn a fascinating profession in a two­year course of 
study. With this step, we are also increasing our knowledge 
of the local preferences of customers in one of the world’s 
biggest sales markets. Furthermore, our involvement in 
 developing markets is growing our potential to do busi­
ness with international customers, who are expanding in 
these markets.

Our expansion into new markets not only has a geographic 
dimension. We are also focusing our activities on new 

fields of business and application areas that have higher 

growth potential than the general market for flavors and 

fragrances. Scent & Care concentrates a large part of its 
research on cosmetic ingredients. In the Life Essentials 
business unit, we combine body care with plant­based bio­
active ingredients. Flavor & Nutrition has bundled its 
 nutrition­related activities in the Consumer Health applica­
tion area. The linking of established and new business 
fields on a technological level or via identical end consum­
ers and customers is opening up considerable synergy 
 potential, which we are using consistently. Our innovations 
are giving us an outstanding profile on the market and 
 additional growth potential. 

The products of the Life Essentials business unit offer 
many end customers clearly recognizable added bene­
fits. For example, protection from harmful UV rays is cou­
pled with skin care. Due to the exceptional quality of our 
products, we are an esteemed main supplier of our custom­
ers. The ratio of our product introductions in this area is 
above average. In the 2010 fiscal year, these products in­
cluded the  SymMollient® series, containing novel mois­
turizing ingredients, and many new ingredients are in the 
pipeline. 

Consumer Health develops products that meet consumers’ 
taste and health­oriented nutritional needs. The rapidly 
 expanding application area specializes in functional ingre­
dients for food supplement products and taste solutions for 
health preparations. These include, for example, bioactive 

• Identical end consumers
• Often identical customers
• Frequently the same end products

Traditional F & F market

+

Health & Care

• Similar technology platforms

• Often the same or similar molecules/aromas

sYMrise str AtegY

nuTriTion Care

FLavors sCenT
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antioxidants from superfruits such as blueberries, aronia 
berries, and cranberries. This market is growing  almost 
twice as fast as the overall flavor market, with some seg­
ments expanding by up to 8 % a year. Our regional focus is 
on developed markets. We also see great potential in rap­
idly growing Eastern European markets such as Russia 
and Poland. 

custoMer And MArKe t orientAtion

The success of our customers is the basis of our success. 
Therefore, we not only have to know and understand our 
customers extremely well, but also have to know the 
 markets in which they operate. On the basis of our under­
standing of markets and brands, we identify trends, 
adapt to market needs at an early stage, and develop inno­
vative solutions tailored to our customers’ requirements. 
Moreover, we want to open up new markets based on our 
 understanding of consumer needs. As a result, we can 
 distinguish ourselves from our competitors and help our 
 customers gain competitive advantages. 

Against this background, the Scent & Care division, 
 together with network partners &Equity and Select NY, 
launched the LIONS initiative, which constitutes a 
new market research approach. LIONS stands for “Limbic 
 Insights of Needs and Sensations”. The limbic system 
is the part of the brain that links sensory impressions 
with emotions and memories. LIONS generates impor­
tant insights into consumer behavior and can combine 
 information about brands, trends, and fragrances in a  
novel way. 

Today, consumers’ desires are changing faster than ever 
before and becoming increasingly differentiated. In terms 
of lifestyle and nutrition, this means that consumers  
are trying to bridge the gap between health and enjoy­
ment, though the two aspects are not mutually exclusive.  
With the “taste for life®” strategic marketing platform, 
which the Flavor & Nutrition division further developed  
in 2010, Symrise helps its customers position their  
brands and products so that they can meet both of these  
needs. “taste for life®” provides indications of the trends 
and  consumer needs to which the industry should gear 
its brands, shows where there are gaps in product port­
folios, and  provides information on the positioning of the  
competition.

dYnAMic MArKe ts reQuire dYnAMic coMPAnies 

New customer demands, new regional sales markets, and 
new business units and application areas: Symrise is active 
in dynamic markets. New ideas, new challenges, and new 
opportunities are part of our daily business. We want to dif­
ferentiate ourselves from our competitors by anticipating 
changing needs and preferences as early as possible and 
meeting them quickly, efficiently, creatively, and ecologi­
cally. At Symrise, innovation does not begin with research 
and development but even earlier with market research 
and market knowledge. Symrise was the first company in 
the industry to change its perspective. We no longer talk 
first about molecules and technologies but focus on the con­
sumer. Our customers need more than just a service pro­
vider. They need a strong and creative innovation partner. 
And innovation does not stop with the manufacture of 
products. We are continually looking for better ways of sup­
plying our products cost­effectively, ecologically, and in 
uniform quality. 

selectiVe AcQuisitions And str Ategic AlliAnces

Symrise is primarily growing organically. When it is sen­
sible, we make selective acquisitions and form strategic 
partnerships. The companies that we acquire have to meet 
a number of conditions. They have to expand our compe­
tencies – for example, by giving us access to new technolo­
gies and know­how, to new customers and markets, or 
to scarce raw materials. We expect acquisitions to enable 
us to form clear synergies for our customers or for the 
 target company’s customers. Before we make an acquisition, 
we carefully examine the integration risks and costs. In 
the last five years, we have spent € 194 million on acquisi­
tions. The most recent example is the purchase in late 
2009 of Futura Labs, a leading supplier of flavors and fra­
grances in the Gulf region and North Africa. In the mean­
time, the company has been successfully  integrated in the 
Symrise network and is strengthening our activities in 
the strategically important emerging  markets. 

For Symrise, alliances are another key element in our 
 development of innovative products and solutions. In 2010, 
we launched numerous products and projects on this 
 basis. Through cooperation with external partners, we en­
sure ourselves specialized knowledge and optimize our 
 research at limited cost. For instance, we are carrying out 
a project with the Leibniz Institute of Botany in Halle to 
 obtain natural flavors.
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As MucH As necessArY,  As lit tle As P ossiBle

Symrise is proud to have developed from a medium­size 
company into a group of companies with a global scope. But 
a pronounced cost awareness is still fi rmly rooted in the 
company’s “genetic code.” Our global growth strategy is 
accompanied by continuous process optimization. We 
are striving to optimize our cost structure along the entire 
value creation chain. 

long -terM solid FinAncing Assured

In the 2010 fi scal year, Symrise implemented a new refi ­
nancing concept to clear off  debts at an early stage and put 
company fi nancing on a more long­term footing. The core 
of the concept was the fi rst bond in the company’s history 
with a volume of € 300 million, which was received very 
well by the capital market and was several times oversub­
scribed. In addition, the company agreed a term note of 
US$ 175 million within the framework of a private place­
ment in the USA and reached a new agreement on a re­
volving credit line of € 300 million with a selected consor­
tium of banks. With these measures, Symrise has achieved 
the important goal of diversifying its debt instruments, 

 expanding its debt profi le, and securing lower fi nancing 
costs based on the entire period. Furthermore, a continually 
high operating free cash fl ow is contributing to the com­
pany’s fi nancial stability. 

corP or Ate sociAl resP onsiBilit Y

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is part of Symrise’s 
corporate strategy and corporate culture. It is fi rmly an­
chored in the company. Guidelines that are valid worldwide 
provide the framework for concrete goals and measures:

 We work hand­in­hand with our clients to develop inno­
vative and sustainable product solutions which enhance 
consumers’ quality of life.

 In doing so, we act responsibly in handling the resources 
that are available to us. 

 We make long­term investments in our employees and 
show them appreciation and respect.

 We act on and encourage a sense of social responsibility 
that creates a framework for the further development 
of our employees and the society we live in. 
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These CSR goals benefit our corporation, its employees, so­
ciety in general and the environment. By internalizing 
and living by these guidelines, we ensure Symrise’s success 
as a business — today and in the future. 

Symrise’s CSR activities are assigned to Corporate Compli­
ance, which reports directly to the CEO. Our Sustainability 
Board, in which all relevant business units and functions 
are represented, is responsible for implementing CSR strat­
egy. The Sustainability Board bundles all management 
 processes that are important regarding sustainability. It 
defines the company’s CSR goals, decides on measures 
to be taken, and ensures that they are implemented. The 
Sustainability Board assesses sustainability management 
in cooperation with rating agencies, auditing firms, scientific 
institutions, and NGOs. We publish in a separate CSR­ 
report targets, figures and CSR­activities.

Dealing with nature gently and responsibly is very im-

portant for Symrise. Many of our flavors and fragrances 
originate from nature. As a result, we have set ourselves 
ambitious goals regarding our CSR strategy for the next 
decade until 2020. In terms of sold product unit, we intend 

to reduce energy consumption, CO2 emissions, amount of 
waste, water consumption, and wastewater emissions by 
a third compared to 2010. In addition, we intend to continu­
ally increase the share of sustainable raw materials in 
our procurement volumes and further develop and expand 
our sustainability strategy in the purchasing. A good ex­
ample is our involvement in Madagascar, one of the largest 
areas of origin of natural vanilla. We are the only com­
pany in our industry to produce vanilla extract there. We 
obtain the raw material from some 6,000 self­employed 
farmers and support the local cooperatives in the north of 
Madagascar in various ways, for instance, by launching 
initiatives to optimize cultivation, the harvest, and refine­
ment. This results in a better­quality raw material and 
at the same time we improve the social situation of around 
40,000 people. 

The people working at Symrise are an essential success 

factor of our company. Our over 5,000 employees work 
in more than 30 countries. We are successful globally due 
to the interplay between our different competencies at 
our regional sites. They all contribute to Symrise’s business 
processes beyond national borders. Teamwork and entre­

symrise’s Csr measures focus on the four areas of Caring for nature, 

respecting people, serving society, and securing success; they apply 

across the globe and are strategically anchored in the corporation.
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preneurial initiative are important elements of this cooper­
ation. Our dynamic corporate culture is based on the val­
ues of mutual respect and appreciation. We consider the 
wide variety and diversity of the people working for the 
Company in terms of ethnicity, culture, gender, age, reli­
gion, and other aspects to be valuable. Among other things, 
this helps us develop the best solutions for our global cus­
tomers. To enhance this success factor in the long term, 
we invest in employee training and further education on 
the basis of a comprehensive concept. The competence 
and  motivation of our people are the cornerstones of our 
 success. 

Symrise is an integral part of the society in which we 

are active. As a good neighbor, we are involved at our 
worldwide sites in numerous projects in social, cultural, 
university, and sporting areas. The subject of “healthy 
 nutrition” is particularly important to us. A fl agship project 
is the “Naschgarten,” a unique “snack garden” in nature 
that we opened in Holzminden where Symrise is head­
quartered in 2007. Here children learn that health and 
good fl avor go hand in hand. Furthermore, we are active 
in numerous social, charity, and educational­policy 
 projects in our immediate environment. Our corporate 
 activities and social involvement have one common 
 denominator: They focus on people.
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s y M r I s e  o n  T H e  C a p I Ta l  M a r K e T

A reliABle PArtner For tHe cAPitAl MArKe t

Symrise views the capital market and its players – share­
holders, institutional and private investors, bankers and 
brokers – as equal partners. With our Investor Relations 
activities we intend to further heighten awareness of the 
Symrise Group on the capital market and to bolster and im­
prove perception of the Symrise stock as an attractive in­
vestment. We communicate the development and strategic 
alignment of Symrise continually, reliably and openly. 
In this way we strengthen investors’ trust in the Symrise 
stock and enable the capital market to evaluate our share 
realistically and fairly. 

turBulent stocK MArKe t Ye Ar

Uncertainty about the general economic development and 
the tense debt situation of some countries in the euro zone 
caused unrest on the international stock markets in the 
course of 2010. After a lateral movement at the beginning 
of the year, in the spring stock prices rose, reflecting in­
creasing optimism about the economy. At the end of April, 
however, discussion about the precarious debt situation 
of Greece and other countries at the periphery of the euro 
sent prices into a tailspin. This caused volatility on the 
markets, which lasted until the beginning of October. Due 

to positive news about the economic development, a strong 
upswing followed, which lasted until the end of the year, 
with prices stagnating only briefly at the end of November 
due to Ireland’s escalating debt problems. 

At the beginning of 2010, the German DAX® index stood at 
5,957 points. It fell substantially in May and June, but was 
able to rebound in the course of the year. At the end of 
 December, it had increased by 16.1 %, closing at 6,914 points. 
The MDAX® mid­cap index, which includes the Symrise 
share, grew by 34.9 %.

sYMrise sHAre Price rises  

s igniFicAntlY AgAin in 2010 

The Symrise stock developed in keeping with the market 
trend at the beginning of 2010. The publication of positive 
business figures in early March triggered a strong up­
surge lasting until late April. In May and June, the Symrise 
share, like other shares, was impacted by the weak devel­
opment of the overall market, which was burdened by 
Greece’s debt crisis. At the beginning of July, a steep up­
ward climb began, culminating in a year high of € 22.34 
on November 8. On account of profit taking, the price of our 
stock edged down somewhat in the last weeks of the year. 

PerForMAnce oF tHe sYMrise stocK in coMPArison to tHe MdA X® in 2010* (In €)

JAn Feb mAr Apr mAY Jun Jul Aug Sep OCt nOv deC

  Symrise   mdAX®

* mdAX® indexed on Symrise share price
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symrise on  
the Capital market

At the end of 2010, the Symrise share traded at € 20.53, 
more than 37 % higher than at the end of 2009. As a result, 
it outperformed both the DAX® and the MDAX®.

In the first weeks of 2010, developments on the stock mar­
ket were unsettled. On February 18, the DAX® reached its 
high for the year so far, closing at 7,427 points. In mid­Jan­
uary, the price of the Symrise share increased by around 
€ 1 to € 21.50, before falling again somewhat. When this 
annual report went to press (February 18, 2011), our share 
closed at € 20.13.

Our general outlook for the economy and expectations re­
garding Symrise’s business performance are generally 
positive. Symrise has a very balanced and stable business 
model. These factors should support the Symrise stock in 
the future. However, the financial markets continue to face 
considerable risks due to the debt situation of a few coun­
tries and the need for consolidation and restructuring.

tr Ading VoluMe And MArKe t cAPitAliz Ation 

The average daily turnover of Symrise stock in the Xetra® 
electronic trading system, which accounts for almost 
all of the total trade in the Company’s shares, rose in 2010 
by 27 % to 597,000 shares per day (2009 financial year: 
470,000 shares.) On the busiest days, more than 1,500,000 
shares changed hands. With a market capitalization of 
€ 2.3 billion – based on the free float of 94 % – the Symrise 
stock was ranked 9th within the MDAX® at the end of 2010.

sHAreHolder structure: Free FloAt constAnt At 94 %

With bearer shares, information on the shareholder struc­
ture is difficult to obtain and can only be gathered with a 
delay. In addition, Symrise has a high, internationally dis­
tributed free float. 

A strategic investor of Symrise is the Gerberding Vermö­
gensverwaltung, with 6 % of the total shares. According 
to the definition applied by the German Stock Exchange, 
94 % of Symrise share are thus in free float.

Around 97 % of free float are held by institutional investors, 
with only 3 % held by private investors. 80 % of the insti­
tutional investors come from countries other than Germany, 
predominantly from Great Britain and the USA.

First Bond issue

In November 2010, Symrise AG successfully issued its 
first bond on the European capital market. The bond has a 
 volume of € 300 million and an annual interest coupon of 
4.125 %. The duration is 7 years. With this bond, Symrise AG 
was able to shape the maturity profile of its financial debts 
in a much more balanced way and extend them until 2017. 
The bond terms can be found on Symrise’s Investor Rela­
tions website.
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HigHs And lows oF tHe sYMrise stocK in 2010 (In €)

   monthly average

JAn Feb mAr Apr mAY Jun Jul Aug Sep OCt nOv deC

17.66

19.21 19.125
18.57

19.81

20.97

21.89
22.34

20.91
20.28

14.98 15.18
15.76

17.77

16.37
16.78

20.22 20.235

19.42 19.25
18.85

16.69 16.52

15.98

  high- /low price 
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in - deP tH diAlog witH tHe cAPitAl MArKe t 

Our ongoing, in­depth dialog with analysts as well as 
 institutional and private investors is very important to us. 
In March 2010, the Executive Board presented to some 
70 analysts and investors detailed information on fiscal 
year 2009, the Company’s strategy, and assumptions 
about sales and earnings for fiscal year 2010. The Compa­
ny’s performance was also discussed in detail during  
three telephone conferences held after publication of the 
Quarterly Reports 2010, which had an average of 60 
 participants.

Some 250 shareholders and guests attended Symrise’s 
 Annual General Meeting, held on May 11, 2010, in Frank­
furt, Germany, to obtain information. The attendees 
 accounted for some 70 % of our share capital, and they 
 approved the individual items on the meeting’s agenda 
with no less than 98.9 % agreement. 

At numerous road shows, investor conferences and one­ 
on­one meetings at all the key financial centers in Europe, 
in the USA and Asia, as well as at our business sites, the 
Executive Board and Investor Relations team shared infor­
mation in approximately 350 meetings on Symrise’s cur­
rent performance and strategy. The Company’s business 
divisions and operative management were included in the 
communication. They provide the Executive Board and 
 Investor Relations team continually with detailed informa­
tion about trends and new products in their area of 
 responsibility.

Existing and potential shareholders can learn more about 
the current performance of our Company by visiting 
the Symrise website at http://investor.symrise.com/, which 
provides comprehensive information about the Symrise 
share in both German and English. In addition to current 

news and the quarterly and annual reports, users can 
 access analysts’ ratings, presentations and our current 
 financial calendar. 

In times of volatility, it is especially important that we seek 
ongoing contact with existing and potential shareholders 
and that we reinforce their confidence in Symrise. We have 
therefore planned numerous investor meetings within the 
framework of capital market conferences and roadshows in 
relevant financial centers once again for 2011, in addition 
to regularly held telephone conferences used for presenting 
our quarterly results. 

To enable investors and analysts to get a close­up picture 
of Symrise, we will again hold a Capital Markets Day at our 
headquarters in Holzminden in 2011.

rese ArcH coVer Age:  AnAlYst  

interest At A HigH le Vel

In 2010, 25 financial institutes published regular studies 
on Symrise – three more than in the previous year. This 
 reflects a continued growing interest in Symrise and should 
facilitate our access to new investor groups. Of the 25 fi­
nancial institutes, 12 rated the Symrise stock “Buy,” 11 
recommendations were “Hold,” and 2 were “Sell.” Analysts 
appreciate the defensive nature of our business model, our 
stable cash flow and our limited cyclical business 
 operations. 

In 2011, one US bank initiated research coverage with a 
“Buy” recommendation. 

e Arnings Per sHAre signiFicAntlY HigHer

Earnings per share amounted to € 1.13, compared to € 0.71 
in the previous year. This key indicator is determined 
by dividing Group net income by the number of shares 

Ht tp ://in v estor . 

sy mrise .C om

BAnKs And BroKers PuBlisHing rese ArcH on sYMrise on A regul Ar BAsis*

* as of January, 2011. no claim to be exhaustive.

     

bank of America – merrill lynch CA Cheuvreux goldman Sachs macquarie Securities uniCredit

bank vontobel Citigroup Helvea mainFirst bank Westlb

bankhaus lampe Commerzbank HSbC trinkaus morgan Stanley  

bankhaus metzler deutsche bank Independent research nomura  

berenberg bank dZ bank J.p.morgan Cazenove nord/lb  

bHF-bank exane bnp paribas lbbW ubS  



23C o m pa n y G r o u p m a n aG e m e n t  r e p o r t C o n s o l i dat e d F i n a n C i a l  s tat e m e n t s n o t e s C o r p o r at e  G o v e r n a n C e

symrise on  
the Capital market

 outstanding in the reporting year. The number of shares 
remained constant in fiscal year 2010 at 118,173,300. 

At tr ActiVe diVidend ProP osed For 2010

At the Annual General Meeting on May 18, 2011, the Exe­
cutive Board and the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG 
will propose paying a dividend of € 0.60 per share for fiscal 
year 2010. This corresponds to a dividend payout of 

€ 71 mil lion. Comparing the dividend per share to the 
share price of € 20.53 as of December 30, 2010, this repre­
sents a dividend yield of approximately 2.9 %. By paying 
a higher dividend than in the previous year, the Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board want to continue to 
 enable our shareholders to appropriately share in our Com­
pany’s success.

  

Stock category no-par bearer shares of common stock

trading segment prime Standard (regulated market)

Index mdAX®, dow Jones StOXX® 600, 
dow Jones eurO StOXX® Chemicals

Sector Chemicals

most important trading place Xetra® (electronic trading platform)

ticker symbol SY1

ISIn de000SYm9999

WKn SYm999

Common code 027647189

designated sponsor deutsche bank

Initial listing december 11, 2006

Ke Y dAtA For tHe sYMrise stocK

* proposal

€ 2007 2008 2009 2010

Shares issued as of balance sheet date millions 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2

Share capital € million 118.2 118.2 118.2 118.2

Highest share price (Xetra® closing price) 22.20 19.28 15.73 22.34

lowest share price (Xetra® closing price) 17.90 7.75 7.07 14.98

Share price at end of fiscal year (Xetra® closing price) 19.28 9.98 14.98 20.53

Free float % 94.1 94.0 94.0 94.0

market capitalization at end of fiscal year  € million 2,278.3 1,179.4 1,770.2 2,426.1

Average daily trading volume  
(all german exchanges) shares, approximately 520,000 760,000 470,000 597,000

earnings per share 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13

dividend per share 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60*

coMPAr AtiVe PerForMAnce oF tHe sYMrise stocK



china|Shanghai
China’s economy grew by 10.3 % in 2010; retail sales were up by 18.4 %.  
The huge growth potential of the market for skin care products  
reflects the economy’s strengths.



+10 %



Scent & Care
“With innovative products we 
aim to further expand our 
leading market position in 
China. Active ingredients  
play a vital role.”

Shanghai is the center of activities for Symrise in east Asia, one of the company’s stron-
gest growing regions. Thomas Zeng, sales and key account manager in the Life Essentials 
business unit, sees a competitive advantage for Symrise in its special competency in the 
application area of special ingredients. With products like SymSitive® 1609, SymRelief® 100 
and SymFinity® 1298 Symrise is turning business potential into profitable growth. 

Active ingredients are highly effective substances for cosmetic care. They slow down the 
aging process of the skin (anti-aging), soothe inflamed or irritated skin (anti-irritants) or 
have an anti-bacterial effect.



Thomas Zeng, Key Account Manager/
Life Essentials, Symrise Shanghai
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If you want to grow faster than the market you have to recognize trends early on and 
be ready to quickly meet the growing market’s needs. That’s why Symrise will double its 
production capacities for synthetic menthols by 2012.

Menthol: A Dynamic 
Market with Tradition
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Menthol: a Dynamic 
Market with Tradition

A str AtegicAllY iMP ortAnt grow tH MArKe t

Fresh, pleasant coolness and a clean feeling – menthol 
 produces positive sensations in nearly all people. The 
world’s most important cooling substance is an important 
com ponent in aromas for oral care products, chewing 
gums and sweets, and also finds widespread application 
in pharmaceutical and cosmetic products. The demand 
for menthol has shown above­average growth for years. 

Symrise is the world’s leading manufacturer of synthetic 
menthols. We intend to extend this position even further: 
Production capacities will double by 2012. With this step, 
we are ensuring the raw material basis for strategically 
important product groups and giving customers a clear 
signal: We aim to further increase our competitiveness 
and to grow our product portfolio. In the process, we can 
build on a long and extremely successful history.

tHe HistorY oF A Product ide A

Egyptian burial finds show that peppermint plants were 
known 1,000 years before Christ. In Japan and China, pep­
permint oil is said to have been used as a remedy 2,000 
years ago. The “Pharmacopeia Augustana” from 1696 pro­
vides the first indications that the healing effects of Oleum 
menthae were also used in Europe. Menthol is the main 
component of peppermint oils from the plant of the same 
name. It has a very strong and pleasantly mint taste and 

creates a strong cooling sensation in the cold receptors 
of the throat and skin. In addition, menthol stimulates the 
blood vessels, promoting circulation. This special effect 
and the antiseptic properties of the substance have been 
utilized and esteemed in pharmacology for many decades. 

Menthol applications took a quantum leap in the middle 
of the 20th century, when the substance’s freshness and 
 cooling effect were incorporated in many daily use prod­
ucts. To meet the strongly growing demands of a large 
 sector of the population, mint and menthol were put in 
mouth washes, dental care products, refreshment tissues, 
chewing gums, candies, and chocolates. New needs arose, 
 creating great market potential, and menthol consump­
tion increased. That is still the case today. 

uPs And downs oF nAtur Al MentHol

Before 1939, the traditional supplier of natural menthols 
was Japan, with small amounts also coming from China. The 
interruption of trade due to World War II and rapidly grow­
ing demand, particularly in the USA, led to increased pep­
permint cultivation in Brazil. On account of its ideal climat­
ic conditions, as well as the low land prices and wage costs, 
Brazil became the biggest peppermint oil and  menthol 
 provider until the mid­1970s, covering 80 % of the world’s 
menthol needs. But to grow mint in Brazil,  forests were 
cleared using “slash and burn” techniques, which was an 

scHeMAtic rePresentAtion oF tHe  

MAnuFActure oF sYntHe tic MentHol

•   Own raw material supply 
for Symrise compositions

•  Sales of l-menthol

return to 
lanxess

Hydrolyse

d/L- MenTHoL benzoaTe

L- MenTHoL benzoaTe

L- MenTHoL

d - MenTHoL benzoaTe

d - MenTHoL

inTerMediaTe Lanxessd/L- MenTHoL

enantioseparation

esterification
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ecologically dubious undertaking and came up against 
natural limits. The plantations were extended all the way 
to Paraguay, but not even this move could prevent men­
thol production from declining in South America. China 
used the supply gap and massively expanded its capaci­
ties. New peppermint crops were planted there every year 
and, due to intensive cultivation of the soil, twice as much 
mint was produced as in Brazil. In the middle of the 1990s, 
however, production declined strongly due to  economic 
and social changes in China. Today, only 3 % of the world’s 
menthol supply comes from China. The main source of 
 menthol is now India, which covers the majority of world­
wide needs. Although the peppermint plant is not native 
to India, two new hybrids of Mentha avensis were devel­
oped there, with cultivation particularly successful in 
the state of Uttar Pradesh. The farmers generate high yields 
in a system where they grow three different plants suc­
cessively on one field in the course of one year, e. g. pepper­
mint, potatoes and other crops. But even here higher 
 wages and growing costs for energy and irrigation have 
 increasingly impacted menthol production.

A Pioneer in tHe Production oF sYntHe tic MentHol

Worldwide demand for menthol keeps on growing. Tooth­
paste, chewing gum and cosmetics manufacturers depend 
on reliable supplies of menthol of unchanging quality that 
give their products an unmistakable character. On the other 
hand, there is natural menthol, which is influenced by 
weather, soil composition, growth methods, difficult­to­cal­
culate external cost factors and speculation. This combina­
tion has led for decades to an unstable supply situation and 
strongly fluctuating world market menthol prices. As a 
 result, efforts were made to produce synthetic menthol al­
ready back in the 1960s. Haarmann & Reimer, a predeces­
sor company of Symrise, was among the pioneers. In 1974, 
after ten years of research and development work, menthol 
was made on a large scale for the first time in Holzminden, 
with an annual production of some 300 tons. Starting with 
thymol, the intermediate, a mixture of D­ and L­menthol, 
was made in facilities of Lanxess – which was Bayer at the 
time. The subsequent so­called racematic splitting of the 
D­ and L­isomers was carried out at Symrise.

worldwide MentHol Production (In %)

natural menthol 75

India 70 % 
China 3 %
Others 2 %

25 Synthetic menthol

MentHol APPlicAtion Are As (In %)

Oral care 40
15 pharmaceuticals

10 Cosmetics

25 Chewing gum and sweets

10 Other applications
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Menthol: a Dynamic 
Market with Tradition

“Symrise is already the world leader in the production of synthetic menthol. 
Our customers will profit further from our increase in production capacities 
and an expanded product portfolio with new menthol qualities.”

 dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram, Chief executive officer, symrise aG 

In 1978, another synthetic menthol production facility was 
set up in South Carolina, USA. Due to the strong demand, 
Symrise continually increased its capacities in the years to 
follow. By working together with our long­time partner 
Lanxess we will double our production capacity and further 
expand our position as the world’s leading producer of 
synthetic menthol. Both partners have signed contracts 
ensuring that, in the event of a change of control, all inter­
ests are protected. 

Focusing on tHe custoMer

Symrise has produced nature­identical menthol for almost 
40 years. We cooperate closely with our customers on the 
basis of long­term supply contracts. We have a comprehen­
sive worldwide distribution system and a global network 
of service units. Regardless of the vicissitudes of nature and 
erratic market fluctuations, we offer our customers deliv­
ery security while consistently maintaining high quality. 

Our production processes are audited and meet the highest 
standards. Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) is a sine 
qua non for products used in the pharmaceutical or food 
industry. Moreover, the European Medicines Agency gave 
us a Certificate of Suitability (COS). We manufacture more 
than 30 menthol products for a number of application areas 
and constantly try to meet our customers’ requirements 
better by developing product variants. An example is L­men­
thol FreeFlow, a free­flowing crystalline menthol that 
was developed specifically for use in chewing gum. With 
our highly refined products, we offer our customers added 
benefits.

The manufacture of synthetic menthols is a central pillar 
of our flavors and fragrances business. By doubling our 
 capacities, we are further expanding our market­leading 
position. In the menthol segment, too, Symrise is growing 
faster than the dynamically developing market.



U.A.E.|DUBAI
The Gulf region ranks among the most attractive growth  
markets in the world. In 2010, Symrise increased sales in the  
emerging markets by 13 % at local currency.



+13 %



 flavoR & nutRition
“knowledge of culture  
specific taste preferences 
is all-important here.”
with the aCquisition of futuRa labs at the end of 2009 symRise signifiCantly expanded its 
position in the Region. as a laboRatoRy assistant, lennie veRdadeRo woRks Closely with  
the development teams. she is espeCially Responsible foR appliCations in milk pRoduCts 
and dRinks. making suRe things taste good is also impoRtant foR heR at home: Cooking  
and baking aRe two of heR favoRite hobbies.

The Arab world has a long tradition in fragrance and flavor ingredients. In our application 
labs aromas and recipes are adapted to local preferences.



Lennie Verdadero, Application Assistant, Symrise Dubai



S y m r i s e  G r o u p  M a n a g e m e n t  R e p o r t

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this document may not add up precisely  

to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.
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s y M r I s e  G r o u p  M a n a G e M e n T  r e p o r T

oVerVie w oF tHe 2010 FiscAl Ye Ar

Fiscal year 2010 was a successful year for the Symrise Group. 
The revival of demand that was noticeable in the second half of 
2009 continued in 2010. This favorable development occurred in 
all four regions – Europe, Africa and the Middle East (EAME), North 
America, Asia/Pacific and Latin America. In the year under re­
view, Group sales increased by 15 % to € 1,572 million. As a result, 
the company grew faster than the flavor and fragrance market 
once again. As the fourth­largest company in this market, our mar­
ket share was around 11 %. Our share of sales with the strategi­
cally important top 10 customers climbed to 30 % in 2010. Sales 
in emerging markets exceeded the previous year’s figure by 
13 % at local currency. The share of sales in these markets in the 
Group’s total sales is now 46 %.

The Symrise Group’s worldwide capacity utilization was good, ena­
bling us to boost our profitability significantly in all regions. Earn­
ings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 
rose from € 246 million in the previous year to € 331 million, an 
increase of 35 %. This corresponds to a margin related to sales of 
21.1 %, after 18.0 % in 2009, a year which, however, was hampered 
by restructuring expenses. Scent & Care increased its sales at local 
currency by 12 % to € 805 million. Its EBITDA was 48 % higher 
than in the previous year, rising to € 161 million. The EBITDA mar­
gin was 20.0 %. In the Flavor & Nutrition business division, sales 
were up by 10 % at local currency. This division’s EBITDA was 
€ 170 million, 25 % higher than in the previous year. The EBITDA 
margin reached 22.2 %. 

The Symrise Group’s net income amounted to € 134 million in 2010, 
following € 84 million in the previous year. Earnings per share 
rose from € 0.71 to € 1.13, up by 58 %. At the Annual General Meet­
ing on May 18, 2011, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
will propose paying a dividend of € 0.60 per share for the 2010 fis­
cal year.

The company’s operating cash flow increased to € 235 million. 
 Liquidity rose to € 112 million at the end of 2010. Net debt (includ­
ing pension provisions) fell to € 734 million. At balance sheet 
date, it was 2.2 times higher than the EBITDA. In the 2010 fiscal 
year, Symrise implemented a new financing concept, refunded 
 existing liabilities at an early stage, and geared company financing 
to the long term.

Symrise is optimistic about the 2011 fiscal year. We are striving 
for a sales growth of more than 3 % at local currency, although 
the  basis of 2010 is very high. Assuming that raw materials prices 
persist at the levels of 2010 and exchange rates donʼt differ 
 significantly from 2010 levels, for 2011 we expect a sustainable 
EBITDA margin of at least 20 %. Based on a strong cash flow, 
we expect the ratio of net debt (including pension provisions) to 
EBITDA, which was 2.2 at the end of 2010, to continue to im­
prove until the end of 2011 and lie at the lower end of the target 
corridor (2.0 to 2.5).

Ke Y Figures

€ MiLLion 2009 2010 CHange in %

CHange in %  

at local currency

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15 11

ebItdA 245.6 331.2 35 32

ebItdA margin  in % 18.0 21.1   

net income 84.3 133.5 58  

earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 58  

net debt (including pension provisions)  
to ebItdA (dec. 31)  ratio 3.1 2.2   
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structure and Business activities

structure And Business ActiVities

coMPAnY ProFile

Symrise develops, produces and sells fragrances and flavors as well 
as active ingredients for the cosmetics industry. Its customers in­
clude companies in the perfume, cosmetics and food industries, as 
well as manufacturers of household products. In addition, Symrise 
provides biofunctional and bioactive ingredients and substances to 
the health and body care sector. In 2010, Symrise achieved sales 
of around € 1.6 billion, making it the fourth­largest company in the 
flavor and fragrances market. The company sells its products in 
160 countries. In the 2010 fiscal year, Symrise generated 54 % of its 
sales in industrial countries in Western Europe and the United 
States, as well as in parts of Asia. We had more than 6,000 custom­
ers in 2010. A total of 46 % of our sales were achieved in the so­
called emerging markets in Asia, Latin America, Africa, the Near 
and Middle East and Eastern Europe. Some 5,300 people work in 
the Symrise Group’s two business divisions – Scent & Care and 
Flavor & Nutrition. With sites in 36 countries, we have a local 
presence in our most important sales markets. We supplement our 
internal growth with acquisitions if they offer us a stronger mar­
ket position or access to important technologies. To grow the busi­
ness activities of both business divisions in North Africa and the 
Middle East, we signed an agreement at the end of 2009 to acquire 
Future Labs. Futura Labs is one of the leading aroma and fragrance 
manufacturers in Egypt and the United Arab Emirates. In 2010, 
we had important cooperative ventures in product development 

and research with, for example, BRAIN, AnalyticCon Discovery, 
InterMed Discovery and Axxam, among others. 

The Symrise Group was created by a merger between Haarmann & 
Reimer and Dragoco in 2003. Symrise’s roots date back to 1874 
and 1919, when the two companies were founded. In 2006, Symrise 
AG entered the stock exchange. Since then, the Symrise share has 
been listed in the Prime Standard segment of the German stock 
exchange. With a market capitalization of some € 2.4 billion at the 
end of 2010, the Symrise share is listed in MDAX index. Currently 
94 % of our shares are in free float. 

Both business divisions are responsible for our operating business. 
They each have their own research and development, purchasing, 
production, quality control, marketing and sales departments. With 
this system, internal processes can be accelerated. We aim to sim­
plify procedures and make them customer­oriented and pragmatic. 
We place great value on fast and flexible decision­making. 

Both business divisions have divided their organization into four 
regions with separate regional heads: 

 Europe, Africa and the Middle East (EAME) 
 North America 
 Asia/Pacific 
 Latin America 

  Symrise sites

  regional headquar ters

sYMrise sites 2010
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The activities of the two business divisions extend across several 
business units and application areas. The business units of the 
Scent & Care business division are Fragrances, Life Essentials, 
Aroma Molecules and Oral Care. The business units are addi­
tionally structured based on different application areas. Fragrances, 
for example, is divided into Fine Fragrances, Personal Care and 
Household. The Flavor & Nutrition business division concentrates 
on products in the Beverages, Savory, Sweet and Consumer Health 
application areas. Symrise created the new application area Con­
sumer Health in 2009. 

In addition, the Group has a Corporate Center, which encompasses 
the central areas of finances and controlling, corporate communi­
cation, investor relations, legal affairs, corporate compliance, inter­
nal revision and global process design in order to exploit cross­
business synergies. Other supporting functions such as information 
technology are either outsourced to external service providers or 
bundled in separate Group companies. The latter have, for example, 
in the areas of technology, energy, safety, environmental issues 
and logistics, business ties to customers outside of the Group.

Symrise’s headquarters is located in Holzminden, Germany. At this 
site, the Group’s largest, Symrise employs 2,072 people in the 
areas of research, development, production, marketing and sales. 
A large part of the Corporate Center employees are concentrated 
in Holzminden. The company has regional headquarters in the USA 
(Teterboro, N.J.), Brazil (São Paulo) and Singapore. Important manu­
facturing sites are located in Germany, Brazil, Mexico, Singapore 
and the USA. An example is the Global Citrus Center in Sorocaba, 
Brazil. Here we have direct and eco­friendly access to high­quality 
raw materials. On this basis, we developed and produced a number 
of novel, highly concentrated citrus oils in 2010. Symrise has de­
velopment centers in Germany, Brazil, China, France, Singapore 
and the USA. We have sales branches in over 30 countries. 

MAnAgeMent And control

Symrise is a German stock corporation with a dual management 
structure consisting of an Executive Board and a Supervisory 
Board. 

As of December 31, 2010, the Executive Board had four members: 
Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram (CEO), Achim Daub (Head of Scent & 
Care), Hans Holger Gliewe (Head of Flavor & Nutrition) and Bernd 
Hirsch (CFO). The Executive Board is responsible for managing 
the Company with the aim of increasing the Company’s value. 

Symrise AG’s Supervisory Board has 12 members. The Supervisory 
Board oversees and advises the Executive Board in the manage­
ment of the Company. It regularly discusses business development, 
planning, strategy and risks with the Executive Board. In compli­
ance with the German Codetermination Act (MitbestG), Symrise 
AG’s Supervisory Board has an equal number of shareholder and 
employee representatives. To heighten the efficiency of its work, the 
Supervisory Board formed four committees. 

Details on cooperation between the Executive and Supervisory 
Boards as well as on corporate governance at Symrise can be 
found in the Report of the Supervisory Board and the Corporate 
Governance Report in this annual report. 

Business ActiVities And Products

Symrise manufactures some 30,000 products from around 10,000 
– mostly natural – raw materials such as vanilla, citrus products, 
flower and plant materials. The value chain of both business divi­
sions extends across product research, development, procurement 
and production, as well as sales of our products and solutions. Our 
aromas, perfume oils and active substances are normally central 
functional components of the end products of our customers, often 
playing a decisive role in consumers’ purchase decisions. At the 
same time, the costs of our products usually account for only a 
small part of total costs of the end product. In addition to typical 
characteristics such as fragrance and flavor, our value creation lies 
in the development of products with added benefits. Examples of 
a combination of aromas and perfume oils with other innovative 
components include flavorings enabling the sugar or salt content 
of foods to be reduced, or a moisturizing cosmetic substance that 
reduces the proportion of preservatives in care products. On the 
basis of these products, our customers can differentiate themselves 
with their tailor­made end products from competitors in the rap­
idly changing consumer goods market. The extensive research and 
development (R&D) department, which is supplemented by a 
wide­reaching network of research institutes and scientific facili­
ties, forms the basis of our product development. Given the big 
 differences in sensory preferences in Europe, Asia/Pacific, North 
and Latin America, comprehensive consumer research is an 
 important part of our R&D activities. It is one of our main founda­
tions for developing marketable products that are successful in 
the long term and that meet the various needs of consumers in 
different parts of the world.

Our customers include large multinational groups of companies as 
well as important regional and local manufacturers of foods, bev­
erages, perfumes, cosmetics, body care products, as well as clean­
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ing products and washing products. It is particularly important 
for large manufacturers that their suppliers are globally operative. 
The worldwide presence and innovative strength of a supplier form 
an important basis for gaining positions on the so­called core lists 
of large key customers. Gaining positions on core lists is the pre­
requisite for taking part in a much larger number of briefings when 
new products are put out to tender and winning the contract. Cus­
tomers check the core lists every three or four years on average. In 
addition to the company’s financial stability and global reach, the 
most important reasons for inclusion or retention on a core list are 
the manufacturer’s creativity and innovative capacity. In addition, 
Symrise develops innovative products and solutions of its own ac­
cord and then presents them to possible buyers. For example, un­
der the brand name “taste for life®” Symrise develops a number of 
product concepts focusing on health, naturalness and sustaina­
bility. Another example is the new cosmetic ingredient SymHelios®, 
which protects skin cells from negative environmental influences 
and strong solar radiation. 

We manufacture our flavors and fragrances in our own produc­
tion plants. In some cases, we have longer­term delivery contracts 
for obtaining important raw materials. We maintain close ties with 
our suppliers and establish uniform standards to guarantee that the 
quality of our base materials remains uniform. 

sCent & Care

The Scent & Care business division’s more than 15,000 products are 
sold in some 135 countries. Its portfolio includes fragrance com­
positions, cosmetic ingredients, aroma chemicals and mint prod­
ucts. The business division has sites in more than 30 countries. Its 
largest branches are in Brazil, China, Germany, France, Mexico, 
India, Singapore and the USA. The Scent & Care business divi­
sion is  divided into the Fragrances, Life Essentials, Aroma Mol­
ecules and Oral Care business units. In these business units, our 
products are used in the different application areas as follows. 

Fragrances: Perfumers combine aromatic raw materials, aroma 
chemicals and ethereal oils into complex fragrance compositions 
(perfume oils). Symrise’s perfume oils are used in perfumes (Fine 
Fragrances application area), in body­care products (Personal Care 
application area) and household products (Household application 
area). The perfume oils are delivered to customers in liquid or cap­
sule form. The compositions are normally requested and produced 
after a briefing with a perfume manufacturer. Among the end prod­
ucts in which perfume oils in the Personal Care application area 
are used are hair care products, washing lotions, skin creams and 
shower gels. Symrise additionally offers solutions for covering 
up unpleasant body odors, for example, deodorants. Washing and 
cleaning products as well as air fresheners are examples of 

structure oF Business ActiVities
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 perfume oil applications in household products. For example, 
 perfume oils give cleaning products a pleasant smell. In addition, 
perfume oils mask unpleasant odors.

Life Essentials: The products manufactured in this business unit 
are used in skin care products, hair care products, sun creams, 
after­shave balsams, shower gels, washing lotions, anti­dandruff 
shampoos and deodorants. Products against skin irritation, for 
example, SymCalmin® and SymRelief®, are an important part of 
this business unit. Alternative preservatives are another focus. 
The business unit is divided into the Cosmetic Ingredients and UV 
Protection application areas. 

For the Cosmetic Ingredients application area, Symrise concen­
trates on developing active ingredients, functionals and botanicals. 
Active Ingredients are highly effective substances for cosmetic 
care, for example, materials that slow skin aging (anti­aging prod­
ucts), soothe inflamed or irritated skin (anti­irritants) or have an 
anti­bacterial effect. Another example is a moisturizing substance 
whose usage permits a lower dosage of conventional preservatives. 
Products that Symrise developed in 2010 based on active ingredi­
ents include SymFinity® 1298, a highly effect Echinacea purpurea 
extract that increases the length of cells’ life, and SymMollient®, a 
novel moisturizing cosmetic ingredient. Functionals include emul­
sifiers (basic substances), which are used in creams and lotions to 
improve different properties of these end products. The Botanicals 
application area comprises plant extracts, which, in addition to their 
functional effects, are very appealing to consumers due to their 
sensory qualities. Examples are saffron extracts (skin­lightening, 
antioxidant and anti­inflammatory effects) and white tea (antioxi­
dant effect). 

In the organic UV Protection application area, Symrise has an 
 extensive portfolio of oil­ and water­soluble UVB and UVA filters, 
which we market under the name Neo­Heliopan®. In the inor­
ganic UV Protection segment, we are focusing on zinc oxide, which 
apart from a wide range of dermatological applications offers 
highly effective sun protection. 

Aroma Molecules: This business unit comprises products in liquid 
or crystalline form for the Sensates (Menthols), Special Fragrance 
& Flavor Ingredients and Fine Aroma Chemicals application areas. 
In the Menthols application area, Symrise manufactures nature­ 
identical menthol, which is primarily used in the manufacture of 
oral care products, chewing gum and shower gels. Special Fra­
grance & Flavor Ingredients and Fine Aroma Chemicals encompass 
aroma chemicals (intermediate products for perfume oils) of a 

special quality. These chemicals are used for Symrise’s own per­
fume oil production and are also sold to consumer goods manu­
facturers, who make perfume oils from them. An important appli­
cation area, among others, is biodegradable musk scents, which 
adhere significantly better to hairs, skin or textile fibers and are 
an essential ingredient in perfume oils. 

Oral Care: Symrise offers the entire spectrum of mint aromas 
and their intermediate products for use in toothpaste, mouthwash 
and chewing gum. Among the particularly innovative products 
is Optacool®, which combines a fresh mint taste with a cooling fresh­
ness experience. Another example is Optaflow®, which stimulates 
salivation, thus contributing to oral hygiene. 

Fl avor & nutrit ion

Flavor & Nutrition’s portfolio consists of more than 15,000 prod­
ucts, which are sold in 140 countries. The flavors we develop in 
 liquid, powder, granulate or paste form are used by customers 
to make foods (savory and sweet foods as well as dairy products) 
and beverages, giving the different products individual tastes. 
Symrise supplies individual flavorings used in end products as 
well as complete solutions, which, apart from the actual aroma, 
can contain additional functional raw materials, colorants or mi­
croencapsulated components. The global Consumer Health applica­
tion area serves, among others, the growing market for nutri­
tional supplement products and pharmaceutical preparations. The 
business di vision has sites in more than 30 countries in Europe, 
Asia, North and Latin America, and Africa. It has central offices 
in Brazil, China, Germany, England, France, India, Japan, Mexico, 
Singapore and the USA. 

Symrise’s flavors and ingredients are used in four application areas: 

Beverages: Our flavors are used in non­alcoholic beverages such 
as refreshment drinks, fruit juice drinks, energy and sports drinks, 
tea and coffee drinks, mixed milk beverages, as well as functional 
drinks, which can be mixed with milk, yogurt, vitamins, minerals, 
fibers or plant and herbal extracts. Symrise also has applications 
with aroma granulates for instant drinks, such as tea and coffee 
specialties. Among Symrise’s latest soft drink concepts are so­
called blossom teas, for example, red tea with rose. We have consist­
ently added new fruits such as chokeberries, sea­buckthorn and 
acerola cherry to our refreshment drink and fruit juice concepts. 
New products are being added to the spectrum, including flavor­
ings, distillates and extracts for nearly all common types of alco­
holic beverages – for example, for liqueurs, spirits, and mixed beer 
and wine drinks. A special focus is on mixed beer drinks, for which 
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apart from the aroma we offer colorants and preservatives as a 
complete solution, introducing the optimum stability fit into a beer 
matrix. 

Savory: This application area includes meat aromas, herb and veg­
etable extracts, and wine aromas for soups, sauces, for instant 
foods, as well as seasonings for snacks. Special Symrise flavorings 
help reduce the salt and fat content in foods with no flavor loss. 
The Tobacco application area was integrated into Savory in 2009. 
The tobacco industry uses the tobacco aromas that we develop to 
manufacture cigarettes and pipe tobacco. We also offer special aro­
matization methods for tobacco products. 

Sweet: This application area includes sweet products, baked goods, 
ice cream and dairy products. A focal point is products with im­
proved aroma release and aroma systems with masking qualities 
that permit the use of functional ingredients and simultaneously 
conceal these ingredients’ often unpleasant taste. Symrise is es­
pecially concentrating on vanilla, citrus and mint aromas. In the 
previous year, selected high­quality bourbon vanilla extracts that 
we obtain in Madagascar were certified as meeting requirements 
for organic cultivation and thus are suitable for usage in organic 
food. 

Consumer Health: This application area includes natural functional 
ingredients to promote heart and digestion function, flavor solu­
tions for pharmaceutical products, as well as food colorings and 
coloring foods (specialties). 

MArKe t And coMPe tition

MArKe t structure

The Symrise Group is active in different markets worldwide. These 
include the classical market for flavors and fragrances (F&F), 
whose volume amounted to € 11.1 billion in 2010 according to 

 calculations made by IAL Consultants market research institute. 
In addition, with the Life Essentials and Aroma Molecules business 
units, the company is active in the market for aroma chemicals 
and cosmetic ingredients, which according to our own estimates 
achieved sales of € 3.8 billion in 2010. In both market sectors the 
substances are among a series of products which are consumed 
or used by end consumers. As a result, the two markets have 
many trends and characteristics in common. The market relevant 
for Symrise has an estimated volume of € 14.9 billion and is 
achieving an average long­term growth of around 3 % a year.

More than 500 companies are active in the market worldwide. The 
four largest suppliers, which include Symrise, together have a 
market share of almost 60 % and normally achieve higher growth 
than smaller companies in the industry. 

The F&F market is characterized by high entry barriers. There is 
increasing customer demand for higher quality and more differen­
tiated products with ever­shorter life cycles. The majority of the 
products and recipes are manufactured especially for individual 
customers. Furthermore, due to local taste preferences, there are 
often many different recipes for one end product, depending on the 
country. Moreover, customer relations are often characterized by 
intensive cooperation in product development. At the same time, 
one can observe an increasing consolidation on the part of our 
customers into globally operative companies, which in turn favor 
globally active suppliers. A worldwide presence and great inno­
vative strengths are important bases for being accepted into the 
circle of core suppliers of the big international customers (being 
put on so­called core lists). On average, they normally only review 
their core lists every three to four years. The companies in the 
industry continue to see themselves confronted with a demanding 
regulatory environment. 

Source: IAl and own estimates

Fragrances  5.3

5.8  Flavors

MArKe t size 2010 rele VAnt F&F MArKe t (€ bIllIOn)

(around € 14.9 billion)

Aroma molecules and Cosmetic Ingredients  3.8
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Apart from different local taste preferences and modes of behavior, 
the demand for end products in which our products are used is 
 influenced by additional factors. The increasing income of people 
in the emerging markets is having a positive impact on the devel­
opment of demand for products containing flavors and fragrances 
or cosmetic ingredients. Market growth is also partially based on 
simple products meeting basic needs, which have long been on the 
market in industrial countries. In developed Western European, 
Asian and North American markets, consumer trends such as beauty, 
health, wellness, convenience and naturalness determine demand 
for products containing Symrise ingredients. Increasing quality 
requirements, quickly changing product innovations, and multi­
functional products are further growth drivers. To achieve the deci­
sive competitive edge, it is important to recognize market trends 
early on, to develop innovative products using new technologies 
and to successfully establish them in the market. 

sYMrise ’s MArKe t P osition

Symrise is the fourth­largest company in the F&F industry. Related 
to the relevant F&F market of € 14.9 billion, the company’s market 
share was 11 % in 2010. Symrise’s biggest competitors, including 
Givaudan, IFF and Firmenich, are primarily active in traditional 
aroma, scent and perfume oil business. Symrise has added applica­
tions in both business divisions: in Scent & Care, for example, 
cosmetic ingredients, and in Flavor & Nutrition nutritional supple­
ments. On the basis of these more complex product solutions, 
greater value creation can be achieved. In markets such as food 
supplements, sun protection filters and other cosmetic ingredients, 
moreover, Symrise competes with companies or segments of these 
companies that do not belong to the traditional F&F industry. 

In 2010, Symrise’s sales grew by 15 %. As in the previous years, 
both business divisions gained new core list positions, laying the 
foundations for future growth and a stronger market position. 

We have leading positions in certain market segments, for example, 
in the synthesis of nature­identical I­menthol and its derivatives, 
and mint flavor compositions. Symrise holds a leading position in 
the UV sun protection filter segment. By acquiring the perfume 
oil businesses of Intercontinental Fragrances and Manheimer Fra­
grances, we have become a leading manufacturer of air fresheners 
(air care market) and scented candles in the US. We expanded our 
position in the US flavorings market by acquiring the flavors 
business of Chr. Hansen in 2008. With the acquisition of Futura 
Labs in Egypt, we became a market leader in that country for 
 flavors and basic substances for the beverage industry. 

AiMs And str AtegY

AiMs

We intend to further strengthen our market position and independ­
ence through earnings­oriented growth.

 Market position: We intend to achieve faster sales growth than 
the market, which grows by about 3 % a year on average in the 
long term. In this way, we intend to increase the distance be­
tween the smaller companies and Symrise step by step and gain 
market shares. 

 Value orientation: We want to permanently be among the most 
profitable companies in the industry. In the long term, we are 
striving for an sustainable EBITDA margin of at least 20 %. 

 Financial situation: The ratio between net debt (including pension 
provisions) and EBITDA should be in a corridor between 2.0 
and 2.5 in the medium term. In our view, it is permissible to ex­
ceed this range in the short term, for example, by making ac­
quisitions within the framework of our strategy. A continuously 
high operating cash flow contributes to the company’s financial 
stability. 

Other 42

MArKe t sHAre 2010 (%) 

(market volume around € 14.9 billion)

11 Symrise

Source: Company data and own estimates

13 Firmenich

21 givaudan

13 IFF
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Our shareholders participate in our economic success by receiving 
an attractive dividend. At the Annual General Meeting, the Execu­
tive and Supervisory Board will propose paying a dividend of € 0.60 
per share for the 2010 fiscal year, a 20 % increase over the previ­
ous year. 

Symrise has set itself the goal of using innovation and creativity to 
better meet consumers’ changing needs and wishes than the com­
petition. Our focus on research and development, as well as on new 
and innovative product concepts and product groups, should help 
further increase our market shares in the high­quality, high­mar­
gin product segment. 

The global application area called Consumer Health specializes 
exclusively in functional ingredients for nutritional supplements 
and flavor solutions for health preparations. Modern consumers 
want products that meet many different requirements at the same 
time: food supplements should be healthy and promote well­being, 
yet also be easy to consume and taste good. Two factors in partic­
ular influence this trend. On the one hand, consumers are becom­
ing more health­conscious, and on the other, the individualization 
of consumer needs is playing a role. Consumers want tailor­made 
products that are not simply “healthy,” but also serve specific pur­
poses: strengthening the heart, tautening the skin, slowing down 
the aging process or supporting physical fitness. 

Our health and nutrition strategy caters to this growing market. 
The Competence Center for Health & Nutrition is part of this strat­
egy. The Competence Center works independently for all four ap­
plication areas (Beverages, Savory, Sweet and Consumer Health), 
provides them with market and consumer data as well as infor­
mation on product safety, and supports them in their development 
of innovative products and ingredients, based on scientific and 
nutritional physiological knowledge. With these solutions, we want 
to be an indispensable partner for our customers.

str AtegY

We will achieve our growth and profitability targets by consist­
ently implementing our strategy. Our strategy has three prongs 
that in our mind offer the greatest value leverage for Symrise: 

 Growth with global customers: We want to continue to increase 
the share of our sales with the top 10 customers, who achieve 
particularly rapid growth. By gaining access to important core 
lists, we want to bolster our position as the main supplier of the 
respective products. 

 Growth in new markets: We began stepping up our activities in 
emerging and developing countries early on. The acquisition 
of Futura Labs in 2010 is a good example. Another step was the 
establishment of a production site in Russia in 2010. 

 Growth through innovations: We have a profound understanding 
of markets and brands, which we gain from extensive consumer 
research. This helps us develop innovative solutions and give our 
customers competitive advantages. Our main focus is on ap­
plication areas like Life Essentials and Consumer Health, which 
show a higher potential for growth. 

Symrise is growing organically. In addition, we make acquisitions 
wherever it is sensible or enter into strategic alliances for product 
development.

VAlue - oriented MAnAgeMent

Different variables are used within the framework of value­ori­
ented company management. The EBITDA margin serves as an 
indicator of the company’s profitability. For the EBITDA margin, 
we have defined a long­term target value of more than 20 %. En­
hancing the value of the Company is considered in the remuner­
ation system for the Executive Board and other selected manage­
rial staff. The Symrise Value Added (SVA) is a value­oriented 
assessment relating an absolute earnings value to the interest 
yield on capital employed. The concept combines the two value 
 levers – increasing earning power and heightening profitability – 
by optimizing the capital employed.

In addition, we attach great importance to the Company’s finan­
cial stability. Important key figures include operating cash flow and 
the ratio of net debt to EBITDA. 

Value­oriented management also means letting shareholders par­
ticipate in the business results in the form of an attractive divi­
dend. Our dividend policy is oriented to the Company’s earning 
power. We want our shareholders to have an appropriate share in 
the Company’s success. At the same time, we want to guarantee that 
Symrise remains capable of seizing any growth opportunities that 
arise without jeopardizing the Company’s financial stability. 

gener Al conditions

diFFerentiAted eFFects on sYMrise

Symrise’s business performance is influenced by various factors 
in the Company’s environment. Regarding sales, the general  
economic development plays a big role. Significantly negative or  
positive fluctuations in performance of the economy as a whole  
can have a detrimental or favorable effect on the sales of products 
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 containing our flavors or fragrances, which can have an impact  
on our customers’ demand behavior. The sub­markets in which  
we are active show different degrees of fluctuation depending on 
economic developments. 

In our manufacturing, we make use of 10,000 natural and syn­
thetic raw materials. On account of various factors, including 
the development of the economy, oil prices, and harvests, these 
raw materials can be subject to strong price fluctuations. Fur­
thermore, production can be affected by bottlenecks in raw mate­
rials procurement, due to unrest in supplier countries, among 
other factors. 

Symrise products are found in a number of application areas world­
wide, including food processing, cosmetic and pharmaceutical end 
products, and in household products. Worldwide use of our products 
requires that we observe national and internationally valid con­
sumer guidelines and legal regulations. These regulations are in 
constant flux due to ever­new knowledge in research, development 
and production technology, due to a growing need for safety, and 
due to steadily increasing health and environmental awareness 
worldwide. We, therefore, observe the regional and global develop­
ment of these processes very carefully, ensuring that we can re­
act quickly to changes in or tightening of regulations.

gener Al econoMic conditions

The world economy recovered from the deep recession in 2008 and 
2009 more quickly than had been expected. In the course of 2010, 
catch­up effects abated in the wake of the economic crisis. Since 
then, the economic development has been characterized by more 
moderate yet more sustainable growth. According to World Bank 
estimates, the global economic performance increased by 3.9 % on 
average in real terms, while the gross domestic product (GDP) had 
fallen dramatically by 2.2 % in the previous year. It is estimated that 
the world trade volume, which is subject to stronger fluctuations 

than economic performance, increased by 15.7 % in 2010, after de­
creasing by 11 % in the previous year following the collapse. 

The economic performance of the industrial countries varied in 
2010. Some economies, including Germany and Japan, achieved 
strong economic growth, which was primarily buoyed by export 
demand in the emerging countries and an increasing revival of 
the domestic economies. The economic performance of the USA 
was moderate by comparison. The US economy continues to be 
burdened by structural distortions in the real­estate sector and high 
unemployment. In 2010, the United States’ GDP was around 2.8 %. 
Based on estimates, the economic performance in the euro zone 
increased by about 1.7 % on average. The tense public finance situ­
ation in a few countries and the resulting need to consolidate led 
to uncertainty about the economy, uncertainty among consum­
ers, and uncertainty in the financial markets. The economic growth 
is not strong enough to reduce high unemployment. Germany oc­
cupied a special position in the euro area. The German GDP rose 
by 3.6 %. The country’s high degree of international business, 
which had contributed to the severe decline in economic perform­
ance (– 4.7 %) in 2009, provided strong impetus in 2010. German 
exports were up by 14.2 % in real terms. In addition, investments 
in equipment were 9.4 % higher than in the previous year. Private 
consumption and inventory buildup also made positive contribu­
tions to the economic growth. 

In 2010, the developing and emerging countries achieved an aver­
age economic growth of 7.0 %, showing a much higher expansion 
rate than the industrial countries, which grew by 2.8 % on average. 
While many weaker­income countries benefited from self­pro­
duced raw materials, the emerging economies were driven by a 
continuous lively domestic demand and export growth. Trade be­
tween the developing and emerging countries is playing an ever­
bigger role. Viewed in terms of regions, East Asia grew most 
strongly in 2010, spearheaded by China. The region as a whole 
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grew by 9.3 %, and China by 10.0 %. The countries of southern 
Asia achieved an average GDP growth of 8.7 %, with India growing 
by 9.5 %. Latin America achieved a real economic growth of 5.7 %, 
led by Argentina (+ 8.0 %) and Brazil (+ 7.6 %).

The overall economic development – viewed as an isolated factor 
of influence – has different effects on the course of Symrise’s 
business: 

 Economic fluctuations in the developed markets have very little 
effect on the demand for end products containing Symrise prod­
ucts if the products cover basic needs, for example, in the nutri­
tion, body care or household sectors. 

 The demand for products in the “luxury segments” of Fine Fra­
grances and Personal Care (about 10 % to 15 % of our product 
portfolio), in terms of the income available in private house­
holds, is significantly more dependent on the general economic 
development. 

 In the emerging countries, there was a higher demand for 
products refined with flavors and fragrances, in keeping with 
the rapidly growing standard of living of the populace. 

 Symrise customer companies manage production and ware­
housing such that as little capital as possible is tied up. Uncer­
tainties about future sales development lead to adjustments, 
 including adjustments in the amount of ingredients bought 
from Symrise. 

In 2010, the general economic environment had a positive impact on 
Symrise’s business development. These supporting effects were 
clearly noticeable compared to companies in other industries due 
to the robustness of our business.

de VeloPMent oF essentiAl sAles MArKe ts

The F&F market relevant for the Symrise Group grew above long 
term average by more than 6 % in 2010; its volume was € 14.9 bil­
lion. But different developments could be observed in different 
areas of the market. According to the calculations of the IAL 
Consultants market research institute, the market for flavors in­
creased from € 5.6 billion in 2009 to € 5.8 million in 2010. The 
market for fragrances increased from € 5.1 billion to € 5.3 billion. 
According to our estimates, sales of aroma chemicals and cos­
metic ingredients grew to € 3.8 billion from € 3.3 billion in 2009.

After markets stagnated or even shrunk in 2009, all market seg­
ments showed a positive development in 2010. The Fine Fragrances 
and Personal Care application areas in particular could more than 
compensate for the declining market performance during the eco­
nomic crisis, driving the market volume of fragrances upward. 

The flavors market showed a homogeneous development, achieving 
a comparable growth dynamic. According to our estimates, the 
highest growth was achieved by Aroma Chemicals and Cosmetic 
Ingredients, as in the previous year.

Viewed in terms of regions, significant growth was attained in East­
ern Europe, Middle Eastern countries, Africa and Asia.

Price de VeloPMent And AVAil ABilit Y oF r Aw MAteriAls

Symrise uses nearly 10,000 different raw materials in production. 
Of particular importance are menthol intermediate products, crude 
oil­based solvents and products derived from them, natural citrus 
derivatives (juice, ethereal oils, etc.), as well as citral and turpen­
tine derivatives. In general, however, individual raw materials 
comprise only a very small part of total needs. With a large number 
of raw materials, the harvest volume was moderate or poor due to 
strong rainfall, drought or cold periods. The market situation in the 
citrus segment remains tense. With citral and turpentine deriva­
tives, which are used to manufacture fragrance compositions, the 
supply and thus cost situation also worsened. 

Overall, raw material prices increased in 2010, particularly in the 
second half of the year, somewhat more than we had anticipated. 
While the effects from changing exchange rates balanced them­
selves out to a large extent, with individual raw materials there 
were strong price distortions. Price volatility continued to increase 
in 2010. As a consequence, many suppliers insisted on short con­
tract periods. To increase supply security with base products, 
Symrise has pursued a strategy of long­term cooperation for years. 
Examples are collaboration with Lanxess in the manufacture of 
synthetic menthols and a presence in Madagascar, the most im­
portant country for bourbon vanilla, with backward integration. 

gener Al P oliticAl And regul AtorY conditions

2010 was an eventful year in terms of regulatory conditions in 
Europe. December 1, 2010, was the first registration deadline by 
which registration dossiers for all materials with higher tonnage 
had to be submitted. Symrise fully complied with this regulation, 
handing in 14 dossiers. Another important milestone was the in­
troduction of a new system for classifying and labeling substances, 
GHS (Globally Harmonised System), in the European Union (EU). 
Symrise implemented the corresponding guidelines for all raw ma­
terials and mixtures before the deadline on December 1, 2010. 
The third regulatory challenge in Europe was the requirement to 
register all raw materials classified as being hazardous as well 
as pre­registered materials in the newly established Classification 
and Labeling Inventory. Symrise also successfully surmounted 
this obstacle, registering approximately 2,600 substances. 
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The Flavor & Nutrition business division’s products are primarily 
used in foods (savory and sweet foods as well as dairy products), 
beverages (soft drinks, beverages containing alcohol, and non­alco­
holic drinks), and pharmaceutical applications. The legal regula­
tions for use of flavors and aroma substances vary in the different 
legal jurisdictions, particularly in the European Union and the 
United States. Depending on the jurisdiction, different maximum 
amounts of certain ingredients are permitted and special labeling 
regulations may apply. Due to the new aroma regulation concluded 
in the EU on December 31, 2008 (pertaining to aromas and food 
ingredients with flavoring properties), new labeling requirements, 
requirements regarding accompanying regulatory documents 
and maximum amounts of BAPs (biologically active principles) went 
into effect as of January 20, 2011. Early on, back in February 2010, 
Symrise had adapted its central data administration and document 
management system to the new regulations. Since then, our cus­
tomers have received new documents and were able to adjust their 
own product declarations early enough. Food law experts in na­
tional, regional and global associations have helped develop guide­
lines for interpreting the new aroma regulation. In addition, asso­
ciations worked intensively on changing the extraction solvent 
regulation and additive law for aromas. A primary smoke conden­
sate produced by Symrise requiring approval was evaluated as 
being safe by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). The 
food industry uses our flavors in various markets worldwide. As a 
result, the global aspect is becoming significantly more important. 
To guarantee the legality of our products in relevant markets, 
Symrise utilizes data processing systems company­wide and has 
comprehensive expertise in food law. Thanks to our expert know­
ledge about the regulatory environment, we can actively support 
our customers when they introduce products in new markets. 

The products in the Health & Nutrition sector are subject to the 
aforementioned legal regulations for aromas and food, and partially 
to the requirements of EU regulation number 1924/2006 on “nu­
trition and health claims made on food”. Information about special 
health­related aspects of ingredients (“health claims”) must be 

 reg istered with and approved by the European Food Safety Authority 
(EFSA). Symrise has a team of specialized developers and food law­
yers who precisely observe and analyze developments in this area to 
be able to give product developers targeted assistance. Then dossiers 
should be submitted to be able to use the “health claims” provided. 

Symrise continues to formulate corporate guidelines guarantee­
ing that it meets worldwide safety, environmental and health­pro­
tection standards. Symrise requires an uniform minimum stand­
ard going beyond adherence to local rules and laws that significantly 
exceeds local legislation in some countries. 

coMPAnY de VeloPMent

gener Al stAteMent on tHe course oF Business

The revival of demand which was already noticeable in 2009 con­
tinued in the past business year. This favorable development was 
apparent in all four regions worldwide. 

Group sales increased by 15 % to € 1,572 million in 2010. The 
emerging markets’ share of total Group sales reached 46 % (pre­
vious year: 41 %)1. 

Our capacity utilization was very good, enabling us to increase our 
profitability significantly in all regions. Earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) at the Group level 
rose from € 246 million in the previous year to € 331 million, an 
increase of 35 %. This corresponds to a margin related to sales of 
21.1 % (previous year: 18.0 %).

Net income also increased by € 49 million to € 134 million in 2010. 
The earnings per share were € 1.13 (2009: € 0.71). Against the 
background of this favorable development, at the Annual General 
Meeting on May 18, 2011, the Executive Board, in consultation 

1  Within the framework of the reorganization of the north America and latin America regions, 

with mexico being shifted from north America to latin America, this country was assigned to 

the emerging markets.

AcHie VeMent oF tArge ts 2010

 TargeTs 2010 aCHieveMenT oF TargeTs 2010

Sales growth (at local currency) > 8 % 11 %

ebItdA margin > 20.0 % 21.1 %

net debt  
(including pension provisions)/ebItdA

reduction to approx.  
2.5 times the ebItdA 2.2
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with the Supervisory Board, will propose to increase the dividend 
payment to € 0.60 per share, 20 % more than in the previous year.

A coMPArison Be t ween tHe ActuAl  

And ForecAst course oF Business 

At the beginning of the fiscal year, we adapted our key figures to 
unadjusted results both internally and externally. The goal was to 
present simple and consistent figures that can be understood by 
all stakeholders. With the publishing of the half­year report, the 
forecast made at the beginning of the fiscal year was adapted to 
the sales performance, which was higher than originally expected.

At the beginning of the 2010 fiscal year, we forecast that we would 
achieve an organic growth of more than 3 % at local currency. In 
terms of profitability development, we expected an EBITDA margin 
of more than 20 %.

With the publishing of the half­year report in August 2010, we 
increased our outlook to at least 8 % sales growth and confirmed 
that the EBITDA margin would be more than 20 %.

With a sales growth of 15 % (11 % at local currency) to € 1,572 mil­
lion, an EBITDA of € 331 million, and a resulting EBITDA margin of 
21.1 %, we exceeded our targets. In addition, we were able to reduce 
our net debt. The net debt is 2.2 times higher than the EBITDA, 
and so we reached our target of approximately 2.5.

results oF oPer Ations

Group sales

For 2010 as a whole, the Symrise Group achieved sales of € 1,572 mil­
lion. This corresponds to an increase over the previous year of 15 %, 
or 11 % in local currency. The recovery tendencies at the beginning 
of the fiscal year continued during the rest of the year, as demand 
continued to rebound. Sales in both business divisions and all re­
gions increased by a double­digit percentage. 

In the 2010 fiscal year, sales with the top 10 customers rose by 
14 % in local currency. At 30 %, this strategically important group’s 
share of Group sales was slightly higher than in the previous year.

Business Divisions: Scent & Care increased its sales in local cur­
rency by 12 % to € 805 million. Following a successful second of 
half of 2010, Flavor & Nutrition’s sales reached € 767 million, repre­
senting an increase in local currency of 10 % compared to the 
 previous year.

Regions: Sales in the EAME region rose by 12 % (11 % at local cur­
rency). After a 3 % decrease in sales at local currency in 2009, we 
achieved a clear turn toward growth. Our sales performance in 
North America in the 2010 fiscal year picked up on the previous 
year’s growth rate; sales increased by 16 % (10 % at local currency). 
Sales in the Asia/Pacific region were also excellent, climbing by 
21 % (11 % at local currency). Sales in Latin America were up by 

2009

2010

sAles de VeloPMent oF tHe sYMrise grouP  (€ mIllIOn)
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* mexico was assigned to the latin America region in line with our management structure. the previous year’s figures in north America and latin America are adjusted accordingly.
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at local currency
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18 % over the previous year. In this region, we again achieved the 
highest sales growth in local currency, at 12 %.

Sales in the emerging markets were 13 % higher than in the previ­
ous year at local currency. The share of these markets’ sales in 
total sales was 46 % in the 2010 fiscal year (2009: 45 %; excluding 
Mexico: 41 %).

sCent & Care sales

In 2010, Scent & Care’s sales grew by 18 % to € 805 million. In local 
currencies the sales growth was 12 %. All regions – EAME, North 
America, Asia/Pacific and Latin America – boosted sales strongly, 
achieving double­digit percentage growth. In the fourth quarter 
of 2010, the Scent & Care division continued the positive trend of 
the first nine months, reporting double­digit growth on a local cur­
rency basis. This is particularly positive given the fact that the glo­
bal recovery of the markets began back in the third quarter of 
2009. The Fine Fragrances and Personal Care application areas, 
which were hit hardest by the weak economy in the previous year, 
achieved good sales growth in 2010. All of the business sectors 
generated double­digit growth compared to 2009 in the fourth 
quarter and for 2010 as a whole.

Regions: Sales in the emerging markets accounted for 44 % of 
Scent & Care’s total sales. In these countries, sales rose by 20 % 
(12 % at local currency). Sales in the Asia/Pacific, Latin America, 
Africa and Middle East regions increased by a strong double­digit 
percentage. We achieved our highest sales growth in the Asia/
Pacific region, in the Chinese, Indian and Thai markets. In Latin 
America sales grew most strongly in Argentina, Colombia and 
Mexico. In Africa and the Middle East, sales were particularly 
high in South Africa, Saudi Arabia, Iran and Nigeria.

EAME is the Scent & Care business division’s largest market. Sales 
in this region rose by 13 % in local currencies, primarily due to the 
recovery of Fine Fragrances and to sales of Personal Care’s high­
priced products. These application areas showed the strongest re­
covery, after being most affected in 2009 by the worldwide economic 
crisis. In addition to the Fragrances business unit, the Aroma Mole­
cules, Oral Care and Life Essentials business units also achieved 
double­digit growth.

Sales in North America increased by 13 % at local currency. All of 
the business units reported double­digit growth. Fragrances and 
Oral Care had a particularly successful fiscal year. The Fragrances 
business unit was able to steadily expand its business thanks to 
strategic customers obtained in recent years and to new core list 
positions.

The sales growth in the Asia/Pacific region was 12 % at local cur­
rency. Consumer demand in this region remained high through­
out 2010. All business units achieved double­digit growth. Among 
the highest­performance application areas were Cosmetic Ingre­
dients and UV Protection (Life Essentials business unit), Fine Fra­
grances (Fragrance business unit) and Special Fragrances & Fla­
vor Ingredients as well as Fine Aroma Chemicals (Aroma Mole­
cules business unit).

In Latin America, we boosted our sales by 10 % in local currency. 
We would like to put special emphasis on this development, inas­
much as this region was relatively unaffected by the previous year’s 
worldwide economic crisis. The continual expansion was driven 
by double­digit growth in Fine Fragrances and Personal Care (Fra­
grances business unit), Cosmetic Ingredients and UV Protection 
(Life Essentials business unit), and strong growth in the menthol 
business (Aroma Molecules business unit).

Top 10 Customers: Sales with our top 10 customers were up by 18 % 
over the previous year. The sales growth in local currency was 
13 %. Sales with these important customers exceeded the growth 
of the Scent & Care business division as a whole and is in line 
with Symrise’s global strategy of growing with its large customers. 
The high growth rates in the Scent & Care business division were 
also the result of successful conclusions of numerous new customer 
projects.

Business Units: The Fragrances business unit, which accounts 
for around 50 % of Scent & Care’s total sales, achieved significant, 
double­digit sales growth vis­à­vis the previous year. The growth 
was mainly driven by the Fine Fragrances and Personal Care appli­
cation areas. The Fine Fragrances area recovered most strongly 
and achieved the highest growth rates, as this application area, 
along with Personal Care, was most affected by destocking on 
the part of our customers. The Fragrances business unit reported 
double­digit growth in all regions. In 2010, we began operating 
two new mixing and dosing facilities in Holzminden. With these 
investments, we were able to increase our capacities in this area 
by 25 %.

The Life Essentials business unit recovered from the previous year, 
achieving double­digit sales growth in both application areas 
(Cosmetic Ingredients and UV Protection) and in all regions. In the 
course of the year, many new products were introduced. Some of 
the highlights in the anti­aging segment were: SymMollient L®, 
a skin­care cream with clinically tested moisturizing properties; 
SymMollient S®, a clinically tested water­soluble emollient that 
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 improves the skin’s lipid content and regulates its moisture con­
tent; Sym Relief® 100, an active anti­irritant composed of drago­
santol 100 and ginger extract; and SymFinity®, a highly effective 
Echinacea purpurea extract that keeps skin cells healthy and 
 increases the length of their life. In April, Symrise Life Essential’s 
research department received the highly esteemed BSB Inno­
vation Prize 2010 in the Innovative Raw Materials Category for 
its cosmetic ingredient SymSitive®1609. The soothing effect 
of  SymSitive®1609 is a breakthrough in care of sensitive skin.

The Aroma Molecules business unit achieved double­digit sales 
growth. The strong demand for Special Fragrances & Flavor Ingre­
dients and Fine Aroma Chemicals boosted sales. The Menthol 
 application area was also very successful. This segment has now 
grown overproportionally for several years. Symise’s Aroma 
 Molecules business unit is the world’s leading producer of syn­
thetic menthol. In the second quarter of 2010, the Group an­
nounced plans to double its existing product capacities for menthol 
by 2012. In November 2010, work began on the factory grounds 
in Holzminden, where the additional production facility is to go 
into operation in 2012. Menthol is an essential component of 
 aromas for oral care products, pharmaceutical preparations, chew­
ing gums and sweets. Synthetically produced menthol is one of 
Symrise’s most important strategic  product  segments.

The Oral Care business unit reported double­digit growth in all 
regions except for Latin America. Symrise Oral Care focuses on 
marketing promising innovative products – for example, Frescolat 
SC, a cooling agent used in a new generation of oral care products 
that offer a pleasant and long­lasting freshness effect.

Fl avor and nutrit ion sales

In the 2010 fiscal year, Flavor & Nutrition achieved sales of € 767 mil­
lion, representing a growth of 13 % compared to the previous year. 
The increase was 10 % at local currency. The continued positive 
economic development, greater consumer trust in the established 
markets, and the ongoing high demand in the emerging markets 
had a considerable impact on the positive development in the 2010 
fiscal year, leading to high growth rates in all application areas.

Regions: In 2010, Flavor & Nutrition significantly increased its 
sales in all regions compared to the previous year. The emerging 
markets in Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, Africa and the 
Gulf region were again an important growth engine for Flavor & 
Nutrition; the Division posted double­digit growth in these mar­
kets. The emerging markets’ share of sales in the business divi­
sion’s total sales increased again in 2010, to 48 %. We were also 

able to achieve double­digit growth rates in the established Euro­
pean and North American markets. 

In the 2010 fiscal year, sales in the EAME region were 10 % higher 
than in the previous year at local currency. High growth rates 
could be achieved in the established Western European markets as 
well as in the emerging markets of Eastern Europe and the Gulf 
region. The strongest growth was attained in Russia. In February, 
we announced that we would be opening a fully integrated pro­
duction site near Moscow. The new manufacturing site was erected 
at an existing site that Symrise had taken over from the Russian 
Aromaros­M Group. At the new plant, initially dry mixtures for 
snack articles and other spicy products will be manufactured for 
customers in the region. By manufacturing in the area, we will be 
able to better serve strategic, globally operating customers in the 
future and at the same time continue to expand our leading market 
position in this important growth region. The new facility has 
been ready for production since December. Since the beginning of 
the year, Futura Labs Group has belonged to the Symrise Group. 
In the meantime, the company has become firmly established in the 
Gulf region. With its innovative manufacturing technologies and 
solid knowledge of local markets, Symrise offers it customers a com­
prehensive product portfolio and fast service. Last year, the Com­
pany significantly strengthened its presence in the region with its 
own site in Dubai. The production site contains a fully automatic 
and aseptic filling and mixing facility with a capacity of up to 35,000 
tons a year for producing aromas and basic substances for juice 
for the beverage industry.

Sales in North America grew by 7 % at local currency in 2010. A 
large part of the growth was achieved with our strategic customers. 
Here we benefited from our core list positions and from additional 
expertise from the Chr. Hansen Flavors acquisition. In the Sweet 
application area, we are increasingly able to successfully market 
our competencies in the natural vanilla segment. In the Beverages 
application area, we achieved the strongest growth in the soft 
drinks segment. In June, we gained an additional important core 
list position with an important brand manufacturer. This further 
success of our focused Key Account Management provides us with 
additional potential for future growth.

In the Asia/Pacific region, sales rose by 10 % at local currency in 
the past fiscal year. The growth was driven particularly by our 
business in China, Thailand and the Philippines. All application 
areas developed positively throughout Asia. In the beverage aro­
matization area, we gained new business with our multinational 
and local customers, above all due to our global citrus initiative 
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Naturally Citrus!® and the introduction of new products. In the Sa­
vory application areas, we achieved strong growth in meat aroma­
tizations on account of our Symlife­Salt product platform. To further 
increase our activities in Asia, we began operating a new facility 
for liquid aromas in Singapore in January 2010. The ultra­modern 
production facility was custom­developed for Symrise and effi­
ciently adapts production to customers’ needs. State­of­the­art tech­
nology ensures greater production precision and flexibility. The 
investment in the new facility continues the consistent strategic 
expansion of our Asian business.

In the Latin America region, Flavor & Nutrition achieved sales of 
15 % on a local currency basis. The positive business development 
was driven by strong growth with our strategic global and local 
customers. Particularly the Savory and Sweet application areas 
realized high double­digit growth rates with these customer groups. 
To intensify and improve cooperation with our customers, we 
opened a new “taste for life®” creative studio in São Paulo in the 
third quarter. In a multimedia showroom and a flavor design 
lounge, our staff can develop new concepts and ideas together with 
selected customers in a creative atmosphere. 

Top 10 Customers: Sales with our strategically important top 10 
customers developed well again in 2010. At local currency, the sales 
growth was 15 %. We achieved high growth rates in all applica­
tion areas and regions. We were able to obtain new business from 
established core list positions as well as from new core listings 
gained in 2010. The sales growth with our top 10 customers was 
again significantly higher than the business division’s total growth, 
confirming our expansion path with this important customer group. 

Building Competence for Healthy Nutrition: In June, we founded 
a new scientific advisory committee and thus further expanded 
our competence in health­oriented nutrition. The Scientific Advisory 
Board for Health and Nutrition is composed of internationally re­
nowned scientists, who advise Symrise regarding development of 
new ingredients for food supplements and health­care products. 
The external specialists help Symrise researchers implement new 
scientific knowledge in products as quickly as possible. In ad­
dition, they give them access to new technologies. In the Scent & 
Care business division, Symrise has been successfully working 
for many years with a scientific advisory board that advises the 
Group regarding development of new cosmetic ingredients.

Top Know-how and Tastes that Consumers Love – The New “taste 

for life®” Platform: In September, we expanded our successful 
“taste for life®” program into a strategic marketing platform. With 

“taste for life®”, we are offering the food and beverage industry 
an innovative instrument which can be used to develop new prod­
ucts faster and tailor them better to consumers’ needs. “taste for 
life®” is geared to consumers’ wishes and focuses on good health 
and full flavor.

Consumers’ wishes are not only changing faster than ever before, 
they are becoming increasingly differentiated. In terms of life­
style and nutrition, consumers are trying to find a happy medium 
between health and enjoyment. These preferences are by no means 
mutually exclusive, rather they can be combined. With its “taste for 
life®” platform, Symrise helps its customers position and further 
develop their brands and products between these two poles. “taste 
for life®” helps to show which trends and consumer needs the in­
dustry should cater to with its brands, where there are gaps in prod­
uct portfolios, where the competition is positioned, where product 
lines can be sensibly supplemented, and much more. At the center 
of the platform is Symrise’s core competence, taste, with consum­
ers not having to make any compromises. 

Efficient Use of Global Development Competencies Gives Rise to 

Innovative Product Launches: In April, we presented a new gen­
eration of molecularly distilled citrus oils (MD oils), thus expand­
ing our portfolio of fresh and fruity citrus aromas. With this new 
product line, we are offering our customers a consistent extension 
and continuation of our brand Naturally Citrus!®. The new genera­
tion of MD oils impresses due to their superior flavor intensity, 
authenticity and solubility. The new collection of products was de­
veloped by our Global Citrus Center in Sorocaba, Brazil, in close 
cooperation with Symrise chemists in the USA and Holzminden. 

de velopment oF imp ortant items  

oF tHe Consolidated  inCome statement

In 2010, the cost of sales rose by € 86 million, or 11 %, and thus dis­
proportionate to sales, to € 890 million (2009: € 804 million). The 
increased utilization of existing product capacities and the improved 
raw material costs compared to the previous year had a positive 
effect. As a result, gross profit increased by 22 %, or € 124 million, 
reaching € 682 million (2009: € 558 million). The gross margin 
was 43.4 %, 2.4 percentage points higher than the previous year’s 
margin (41.0 %). Selling expenses rose, primarily due to sales, and 
among other things due to higher provisions, disproportionately by 
around 10 %, or € 24 million, amounting to € 253 million. This cor­
responds to 16.1 % of Group sales (2009: 16.8 %). R&D expenses in­
creased by around € 12 million, or 13 %, to € 108 million (2009: 
€ 96 million), primarily due to a number of new projects in the fiscal 
year. The R&D rate was 6.9 %, nearly the same as the previous 



53C o m pa n y G r o u p m a n aG e m e n t  r e p o r t C o n s o l i dat e d F i n a n C i a l  s tat e m e n t s n o t e s C o r p o r at e  G o v e r n a n C e

Company development

year’s level (7.0 %). Administrative expenses rose underproportion­
ately in 2010 by over € 1 million, or 2 %, to € 83 million (2009: 
€ 82 million), among other things due to further expenditure in 
the IT area. Administrative expenses comprised 5.3 % of Group 
sales, compared to 6.0 % in the previous year, which, however, 
was  burdened by restructuring expenses.

e arninGs s ituat ion

Group: Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amorti-

zation (EBITDA) rose by 35 % to € 331 million (2009: € 246 million). 
The improved gross margin and the underproportional increase in 
selling and administrative expenses compared to the previous 
year had a positive effect. The EBITDA margin reached 21.1 % in 
2010, compared to 18.0 % in 2009. The improved order situation 
and the significant increase in sales had a positive effect on earn­
ings. While the previous year’s earnings were still influenced by 
restructuring costs of € 20 million, the resulting efficiency enhance­

ments in 2010 had a major impact on earnings. The successfully 
completed integration of the acquisitions made in past years also 
contributed positively to the results. 

Scent & Care: For the 2010 fiscal year as a whole, Scent & Care 
achieved an EBITDA of € 161 million. The EBITDA was 48 % higher 
than in 2009. The EBITDA margin was 20.0 %, vis­à­vis 16.0 % 
in 2009. 

Flavor & Nutrition: The EBITDA of the Flavor & Nutrition business 
division was 25 % higher than the previous year’s figure (2009: 
€ 137 million), reaching € 170 million. The EBITDA margin was 
22.2 %, after 20.1 % in the previous year. 

Financial Result: The financial result in 2010 was € – 66.9 million, 
primarily due to negative one­time effects. The latter resulted in 
large part from the early repayment of interest rate swaps in con­

suMMArY incoMe stAteMent

€ MiLLion 2009* 2010 CHange in %

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15.4

Cost of sales – 804.0 – 890.2 11

gross profit 557.9 681.7 22

gross margin in % 41.0 43.4  

Other operating income 12.3 7.7 – 37

Selling expenses – 229.3 – 252.8 10

research and development expenses – 95.7 – 107.9 13

Administrative expenses – 81.5 – 83.2 2

Other operating expenses – 0.8 – 1.2 50

    

operating income/ebiT 163.0 244.4 50

* 2009 including restructuring expenses

€ MiLLion 2009* 2010 CHange in %

CHange in %  

at local currency

ebiT 163.0 244.4 50 47

ebIt margin 12.0 % 15.5 %   

ebiTda 245.6 331.1 35 32

ebItdA margin 18.0 % 21.1 %   

oVerVie w oF e Arnings

* 2009 including restructuring expenses
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nection with the successfully completed refinancing of the existing 
bank loans in the fiscal year, all of which were due for repayment 
in December 2011. In the third and fourth quarter, allowances for 
financial participations continued to be made. Gains from foreign 
currency, on the other hand, had a positive effect compared to the 
previous year. Due to the aforementioned issues, there were spe­
cial effects amounting to € – 22.9 million. Adjusted for one­time 
expenses, the financial result is € – 44.0 million, an improvement 
of € 2.2 million over the previous year. 

Taxes: In the 2010 fiscal year, tax expenses amounted to € 44 mil­
lion (2009: € 32 million). With this amount, the tax rate in the year 
under review was lower than in the previous year (25 % after 28 %). 
The higher tax expenses despite the lower tax rate is primarily at­
tributable to the improved earnings situation. The lower tax rate 
was mainly due to the improved financing structure and the utili­
zation of tax deduction potential abroad. 

Net Income and Earnings Per Share: The net income in 2010 to­
taled € 134 million, € 50 million or 58 % higher than in the previous 
year (2009: € 84 million). Accordingly, earnings per share rose by 
€ 0.42 to € 1.13 (2009: € 0.71). 

Dividend Proposal for 2010: At the Shareholders’ Meeting on 
May 18, 2010, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of 
Symrise AG will propose payment of a dividend of € 0.60 per 
share for fiscal 2010. Symrise views this dividend payment as be­
ing part of its corporate responsibility to continually achieve 
high yields for its shareholders and to enable shareholders to par­
ticipate in the company’s success by means of an appropriate 
dividend. 

FinAnciAl P osition

F inanCial manaGement

Main Characteristics and Objectives: The Symrise Group’s finan­
cial management pursues the aim of guaranteeing that the com­
pany’s financial needs are covered at all times, of optimizing the 
financing structure, and of limiting financial risks insofar as pos­
sible. Consistent central control and continuous monitoring of fi­
nancing needs contribute to this. 

In accordance with the Treasury department’s guidelines, the fi­
nancing of the Symrise Group is controlled centrally. The finan­
cial needs of Group subsidiary companies are ensured by means of 
internal Group financing, within the framework of a cash pool, 
among other things. The surplus liquidity of individual European 
Group units is put in a central account, so that liquidity deficits 

of other Group units can be offset without external financing and 
internal financial capital can be used efficiently. If external credit 
lines are needed, they are safeguarded by guarantees from Symrise 
AG. The Group’s bank borrowings are unsecured and connected 
with generally accepted market credit agreements (covenants) that 
are reviewed every quarter. The Group has good business relation­
ships with all consortial banks and avoids becoming too dependent 
on individual institutes. 

The Symrise Group safeguards against risks resulting from variable 
interest on bank borrowings by means of interest hedges, if need 
be. Here the principle applies that interest derivatives can only be 
concluded on the basis of basic business. 

Symrise does business in different currencies and thus is exposed 
to currency risks. Exchange risks arise when products are sold in 
different currency zones than the ones in which the raw material 
and production costs accrue. Within the framework of its global 
strategy, Symrise manufactures a large part of its products in the 
currency zones in which they are sold to achieve a natural safe­
guard against exchange rate fluctuations. In addition, Symrise is 
currently implementing a risk management system, which, based 
on detailed cash flow planning, identifies open currency positions. 
These are subsequently systematically safeguarded against fluc­
tuations. 

With a capital ratio of 41 % on December 31, 2010, Symrise has a 
solid basis for sustainably driving future business. 

Financing Structure: The Symrise Group covers its financial needs 
from its strong operating cash flow and via long­term financing. 
In the fourth quarter, the Group replaced the existing financing 
with a new financing concept consisting of three core elements. 
The goal was to take advantage of the relatively low interest­rate 
level to diversify its financing activities and improve its debt ma­
turity profile. The core of the refinancing concept is a bond with a 
volume of € 300 million with a duration of seven years. It was 
 offered to institutional and private investors in Europe and has a 
coupon of 4.125 %. The second component is a term note amount­
ing to US$ 175 million. The term note has a duration of ten years 
and an interest rate of 4.09 %, and was fully accepted by the US 
 investor Prudential Investment Management Inc. in a private place­
ment. The refinancing scheme is completed by a revolving credit 
 facility with a volume of € 300 million. The revolving credit facil­
ity has a duration of five years and was arranged by the com­
pany itself as part of a club deal. All of the financing instruments 
served to fully replace existing credit due for repayment in 
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 December 2011 as well as the variable part of the promissory note 
issued in April 2009. All three components of the refinancing 
 concept include the usual commercial and legal provisions required 
in the event of a change of control.

Symrise fulfilled all of the contractual obligations resulting from 
loans (covenants) in the 2010 fiscal year. 

In addition to the credit facility, the company has a € 20 million 
bilateral credit line with Commerzbank AG, which is to cover 
short­term cash requirements. The interest rate agreed on for the 
credit facility is at the accepted market level.

CasH Flow and l iquid it y analysis

Operating cash flow amounted to € 235.1 million, around € 10 mil­
lion higher than in the previous year (€ 225.7 million), reflecting 
the good earnings situation. The increase in earnings was partially 
offset by the increase in working capital related to sales. Never­
theless, a sales­related cash­flow rate of 15 % was achieved. 

Cash flow from investment activities fell by around € 7 million to 
€ 68.5 million. It primarily consisted of essential replacement and 
expansion investments.

The cash flow from financing activities totaled € 143.5 million, 
slightly higher than the previous year’s level. It primarily comprises 
the dividend paid out to shareholders amounting to € 59 million, 
repayments of bank loans with a net value of € 37 million (previous 
year: € 56.5 million) and net interest payments to credit institu­
tions totaling € 40.2 million (previous year: € 25 million). These 
contain extraordinary payments due to the dissolution of swaps 
totaling € 17.9 million. Adjusted for this effect, interest payments 
decreased by € 2.7 million compared to the previous year. All 
payment obligations were fulfilled in the fiscal year. There were 
no liquidity bottlenecks. 

oVerVie w oF cAsH Flow

€ MiLLion 2009 2010

Operating cash flow 225.7 235.1

Cash flow from investment activities – 75.6 – 68.5

Cash flow from financing activities – 139.8 – 143.5

liquidity (dec. 31) 80.5 112.5

investments and aCquis it ions

The Symrise Group invested € 71 million in intangible and tangible 
assets in 2010, after € 57 million in the previous year. 

Around € 13 million were invested in intangible assets (2009: 
€ 17 million). The investment focus was software, primarily SAP, 
as well as patents and registration of substances based on the 
European chemicals directive. Investments in tangible assets 
amounted to € 57 million, considerably higher than the previous 
year’s € 39 million. A large part of this amount was invested in 
capacity expansions for spray­dried aromas in the Asia and Latin 
America regions due to the building of additional spray towers 
with state­of­the­art technology. In addition, we invested in es­
tablishing a production site in Russia and expanding our produc­
tion capacities for natural vanilla extract in Madagascar. We 
made first partial investments for building additional synthetic 
menthol production facilities. Furthermore, we invested in ex­
panding and replacing technical facilities and machines to improve 
productivity and safety. 

At the end of 2009, Symrise acquired Futura Labs Group. The acqui­
sition went into effect on January 1, 2010. The price was € 23.8 mil­
lion. With the acquisition of Futura Labs, we are driving our busi­
ness expansion in emerging markets. Futura Labs is active in 
the seasonings, sweet flavors, savory flavors, dairy flavors, natu­
ral extracts, beverage raw materials and perfume oils segments. 
Futura Labs achieved stable growth in the last few years and is 
profitable. In the 2010 fiscal year, the company reported sales of 
€ 15.8 mil lion. Through the acquisition, we not only expanded our 
production capacities in North Africa (Cairo) and the Gulf region 
(Dubai), but also acquired employees who have a profound know­
ledge of local markets regarding country­specific taste preferences 
and consumer wishes. Futura Labs’ product and customer port­
folio ideally complements Symrise’s existing business in Egypt. 

ne t Asse ts

seleCted Bal anCe sHee t i tems

Total assets amounted to € 2,059 million on December 31, 2010, 
€ 164 million higher than at the end of the previous year (Decem­
ber 31, 2009: € 1,895 million). This was mainly due to the acquisi­
tion of Futura Labs Group, the purchase of property in Russia and 
higher inventory stocks.

On balance sheet date, intangible assets and property, plant and 

equipment had increased by 5 % to € 1,282 million (December 31, 
2009: € 1,224 million), accounting for 62 % of total assets. The intan­
gible assets include goodwill acquired through business mergers 
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amounting to € 489 million (December 31, 2009: € 462 million), as 
well as recipes, production know­how, trademarks, software, 
 patents and other rights amounting to € 375 million (December 31, 
2009: € 376 million). Property, plant and equipment totaled 
€ 419 million (the previous year’s balance sheet date: € 386 million). 
Inventories increased by € 70 million compared to the balance 
sheet date 2010/2009, or 30 %, to € 305 million (December 31, 
2009: € 235 million). The increase in inventories was mainly 
driven by the double­digit sales growth. Due to consistent work­
ing capital management, working capital related to sales only 
rose by 1 percentage point to 29 %. The items current prepayments, 

other assets and receivables decreased by € 14 million, or 22 %, 
to € 48 million at the end of 2010 (December 31, 2009: € 61 mil­
lion). The figure was higher in the previous year primarily on 
 account of payments to be included on customer lists, which will be 
liquidated in the course of the listing period. In a year­to­year 
comparison, the Symrise Group’s liquidity increased by € 32 mil­
lion to € 112 million on December 31, 2010. 

In terms of equity and liability, current liabilities decreased by 11 % 
and noncurrent liabilities rose by 9 %. This is the result of the 
replacement of our existing external financing with new financing 
with longer maturity periods. Current liabilities fell by € 53 mil­
lion, or 11 %, to € 450 million (December 31, 2009: € 503 million). 
Noncurrent borrowings amounted to € 455 million, higher than 
in the previous year (€ 365 million). Provisions for pensions and 

similar obligations rose by 7 % or € 13 million to € 212 million 
 (December 31, 2009: € 199 million). 

Symrise AG’s equity climbed by 22 % to € 842 million on December 
31, 2010 (December 31, 2009: € 689 million). The increase was 
mainly due to the net income of € 134 million and a reduction in 
cumulated currency differences compared to the previous year. In 
2010, a dividend of € 59 million was paid out. At the end of 2010, 
the equity ratio was 41 %, after 36 % at the end of 2009. 

ne t BorrowinGs

€ MiLLion 2009 2010

net borrowings (including pension 
provisions) (dec. 31) 773.4 733.7

ebItdA 245.6 331.1

net borrowings (including pension 
provisions)/ebItdA (dec. 31) 3.1 2.2

Net borrowings (including pension provisions) fell, impacted by 
the strong operating cash flow, to € 734 million on December 31, 
2010. The ratio of net borrowings to EBITDA was 2.2 on Decem­
ber 31, 2010, after 3.1 a year earlier, and is thus situated at lower 
end of the targeted corridor of the 2.0 – 2.5. 

intAngiBle Asse ts not included on tHe BAl Ance sHee t

Symrise’s value does not only consist of assets on the balance sheet. 
A number of intangible assets that are not on the balance sheet 
play a significant role in the company’s business success. They 

BAl Ance sHee t oVerVie w2 As oF deceMBer 31,  2010 (€ mIllIOn) 

(Change compared to the previous year’s balance sheet date, in %)

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits (39 %)  112

assets (+ 9 %)  2,059

 450  Current liabilities (– 11 %)

 2,059 equity and liabilities (+ 9 %)

 455  noncurrent loans (25 %)

  212 retirement benefit Obligations and Other Obligations (7 %)

  21 Other noncurrent liabilities (– 43 %)

  79  latent tax liabilities (– 24 %)

 842  equity (22 %)

trade receivables (14 %) 261

Inventories (30 %)  305

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (5 %)  1,282

Other assets (– 23 %)  98

2 A detailed representation of the balance sheet can be found on page 82/83 of this report.
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 include smooth and optimized methods over the entire supply chain 
as well as existing customer relations. In addition, our employees 
and our R&D activities significantly contribute to increasing our 
company’s value. A detailed discussion of these issues can be found 
in the chapters on page 60 and 58. The company’s environmen­
tal and social activities are discussed in depth in the annual CSR 
report, which can be downloaded on our website. 

supply CHain

The Supply Chain area is integrated into the business divisions 
and is responsible for production and the supply chain in both busi­
ness divisions. This achieves greater customer proximity and in­
creases the business units’ scope of action. With our innovative 
Symchronize™ approach, we continually make improvements 
along the entire value chain, from raw material procurement to 
delivery of the end product, for ourselves and for our customers. 
We ensure continual improvement of essential performance indi­
cators such as work safety, service, quality and productivity by 
means of Total Productive Maintenance (TPM). A scorecard system 
records performance in all relevant areas of the supply chain every 
month and ensures control of results. As a result, we can quickly 
recognize and remedy inefficiencies and their causes. The main 
focus of operations in 2010 was on continual optimization through 
investment in new plants and through consolidations. Another 
important element was the integration of new sites and the estab­
lishment of the site in Rogovo (Russia). In Asia, expansion of the 
Singapore site was successfully continued: among other things, a 
pilot spray tower and automatic liquid mixing facility went into 
operation. In addition, SAP went live in China, following Australia. 
In Latin America, we concentrated our efforts on continuing the 
consolidation of Flavor & Nutrition production as well as on pre­
paring, implementing and introducing SAP systems in Argentina 
and Brazil. Additional technologies will follow in the years to come. 
In the USA, we concentrated on stabilizing the integration of the 
flavors business of Chr. Hansen, Manheimer Fragrances and Inter­
continental Fragrances. In the course of optimization of our pro­
duction, the Scent & Care site in Houston (USA) (formerly Inter­
continental Fragrances) was closed in 2010 and integrated into 
Branchburg (USA). Production at the Le Bouvret (Switzerland) site 
was also transferred, in March 2010. For this reason, capacities at 
the Holzminden site were expanded and automated. 

proCurement

We use approximately 10,000 natural and synthetic raw materials 
from all over the world to manufacture our products. When 
we purchase raw materials, the quality, availability and price are 
 decisive factors. To optimize the supply chain, purchasing is 

 organized decentrally and integrated into the respective supply 
chain of the two business divisions. Global contracts are negotiated 
for the most important raw materials. Approximately 50 % of our 
raw materials come from Europe. We buy the remainder in other 
parts of the world, basing our decisions on price, quality, and 
production site. Local production sites outside Europe satisfy part 
of their requirements from local raw materials markets and also 
purchase intermediate products from the main production facili­
ties in Germany. We have long­term, flexible contracts for a large 
part of our raw materials. We continually develop new technologies 
and processes to reduce the number of raw materials used.

Customer loyalt y

Symrise’s success depends to a large extent on long­term customer 
relations. In our support of our multinational customers, our sales 
platform and sales teams play a key role. In both business divisions, 
we managed in the past to increasingly win core list positions 
with these companies. Furthermore, we often cooperate closely with 
these customers on innovations. This process comprehensively 
helps our customers develop core brands for long­term business 
success. Another facet of our global sales strategy is expansion of 
our market shares in developing markets of the emerging countries. 
These markets currently account for approximately 46 % of our 
business. Due to our local presence, we have direct access to re­
gional and also local manufacturers. In many emerging markets, 
for example, in Russia, the Middle and Near East and large parts of 
Asia, long­term customer loyalty is the key to success.

knowledGe manaGement

The knowledge and experience of Symrise’s more than 5,000 em­
ployees is extremely important for the company’s business success. 
This so­called intellectual capital is reflected in Symrise’s corpo­
rate value. It is a challenge to record, document and efficiently use 
this knowledge in a company with a long history, a global position 
and divisional organization. Symrise took a major step forward in 
2010 by establishing a new, web­based perfumery forum. This 
information platform encompasses 15 categories from research 
findings on raw materials, in­house specialties and a perfumers’ 
 pallet, all the way to regulatory and market information. It is sup­
plemented by a blog for perfumers working all over the world. 
On this platform, global project teams can join forces and work on 
joint projects for international customers. As a result, new ideas 
and a shared knowledge base emerge across national boundaries.

The perfumers’ forum was initiated during a worldwide perfumers’ 
meeting in the Sultanate of Oman. More than 50 Symrise perfumers 
from 14 countries were inspired by Oman’s historical backdrop.
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In the area of F&N research, the capabilities of the available search 
engines were significantly increased in order to be able to better 
use existing knowledge for research and development work. In ad­
dition, further external databases were added to considerably ex­
pand the available knowledge pool. As a result, the implementation 
of the latest scientific knowledge in innovative products is being 
improved further.

non - FinAnciAl PerForMAnce indicAtors

Symrise regularly reports on non­financial performance indicators 
in detailed CSR reports. In current and future CSR reports, we 
make statements on water and energy consumption as well as accu­
mulation of wastewater, waste and carbon dioxide emissions. In 
addition, we report on the number and severity of work­related ac­
cidents. 

All of these figures are based on GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) 
key figures, whose definitions are officially acknowledged.

In future CSR reports, we will extend our non­financial perform­
ance indicators, based on GRI key figures, and report on them not 
only related to the environment and work safety.

rese ArcH & de VeloPMent

Successful activities in research and development (R&D) form the 
basis for Symrise’s competitiveness. Since we develop innovative 
products and solutions, our customers perceive Symrise to be a 
creative and valuable partner. 

guidelines And FocAl P oints

Our R&D strategy aims to combine individual components of prod­
uct development such as market and consumer research, research 
and development and creation throughout the Group. All of our re­
search activities are customer and market oriented. Through close 
cooperation between R&D and marketing and sales, purchasing and 
manufacturing, and product development and quality assurance, 
we check at an early stage to see whether new products and tech­
nologies can be implemented and are profitable. All R&D activities 
follow guidelines for environmental friendliness, sustainability, 
innovativeness and cost efficiency. 

The Scent & Care business division gears its R&D strategy to six 
main points: 
 New molecules for application as fragrance and cosmetic 

 ingredients 
 Functional materials for oral care products 
 Bioactive ingredients for cosmetic applications 

 Release systems for fragrances
 Masking unpleasant odors
 Sensory research and new methods of sensory perception 

In the Flavor & Nutrition business division, the following five 
technology platforms are being reworked: 
 Development of natural aromas 
 New taste­active compounds
 Plant extracts with special flavoring properties 
 Natural substances for the health and wellness sectors with 

functional properties 
 New technologies for selective enrichment of and for releasing 

of aroma substances 

orgAniz Ation

On account of differing market and customer requirements, 
Symrise’s two business divisions pursue to a large degree their 
own R&D activities. At the same time, technologies, processes 
and knowledge gained are made available to both divisions to 
achieve synergies. The R&D resources in both business divisions 
are directly integrated into the organization. Symrise has several 
R&D centers worldwide, in order to optimally support the regional 
activities of both business divisions. The research activities in Holz­
minden concentrate on fragrance and flavor research, the devel­
opment of natural and synthetic production methods for fragrance 
and flavor ingredients, analytic chemistry, cosmetic ingredients 
and the development of new functional ingredients for the Consumer 
Health application area. We also have development and appli­
cation technologies in Teterboro (USA), Singapore, Tokyo (Japan), 
Chennai (India), Paris (France), Cuautitlán lzcalli (Mexico) and 
 São Paulo (Brazil). In Teterboro, Flavor & Nutrition runs a Techni­
cal and Culinary Center for Protein Foods since the beginning 
of 2009. The focus here is on taste improvements and the range 
of aromas for foods containing protein. 

In Shanghai, Scent & Care has a Creative Center for the Chinese 
market and northeast Asia in which all development technology 
departments and creative resources are bundled. In April 2011, a 
“Center of Expertise” will open in the São Paulo (Brazil) region, 
which will be used by both business divisions. The building is sit­
uated at the edge of a large nature protection area and meets all 
sustainable building requirements and requirements for operating 
such a facility. 

Apart from their own R&D activities, both divisions have com­
prehensive alliances with companies, universities and research 
 institutes. This enables synergies to be utilized and expands the 
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Company development
research & development

spectrum of R&D activities. Our partners include research insti­
tutes of the Technical University Munich, the Technical Univer­
sity Brunswick, Muenster University, the Technical University 
Dresden and Ruhr University Bochum, the Fraunhofer Insti­
tute for Polymer Research in Potsdam and the German Institute of 
Human Nutrition, as well as companies such as Axxam (Milan, 
 Italy), InterMed Discovery (Dortmund) and Cutech (Padua, Italy). In 
addition, for years Scent & Care has had an international Scien­
tific Advisory Board consisting of renowned representatives from 
different scientific disciplines and application fields. The com­
mittee’s task is to give advice regarding the latest research re­
sults and how to implement them in product innovations. In 
2010, Professor Liu Wei, a renowned Chinese dermatologist, joined 
the Scientific Advisory Board as an expert consultant for Asian 
skin care. In 2010, we also founded a Scientic Advsiory Board for 
Health and Nutrition; it is the task of this board to give advice 
for the development of new ingredients for food supplements and 
healthy and functional foods.

Further measures to expand the network within the scientific com­
munity in 2010 included participation in scientific events such 
as the 26th Congress of the International Federation of Societies of 
Cosmetic Chemists (IFSCC) in Buenos Aires, Argentina, where 
Symrise was represented with three lectures and posters; the 9th 
Wartburg Symposium on Flavor Chemistry & Biology in Eisenach, 
Germany, with five Symrise contributions; the conference of soap, 
perfume and detergent experts (SEPAWA) in Fulda, Germany; as 
well as lectures on current research work, for example, at the Clus­
ter for Industrial Biotechnology in Frankfurt/Main. In the  Flavor 
& Nutrition business division, various scientific studies were con­
ducted as part of qualification work together with different uni­
versities to gain direct access to the latest developments in the re­
search areas relevant for us. 

The results of the project “Anthocyanin/Intestinal Health,” spon­
sored by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Health 
(BMBF), served as the basis for a prospective pilot study carried 
out in 2010 at University Hospital Zurich which was completed with 
clinically positive results. Some R&D basic research projects (for 
example, “Biocatalysis 2021 – Bioflavonoids,” “Development of Salt 
Taste Enhancers” as well as “Biotechnological Extraction of Musk 
Fragrances from Renewable Raw Materials”) continue to be pro­
moted by the BMBF. The project “Development of Modern, Natural 
Aromas for Improving the Taste of Healthy Foods” continues to be 
sponsored by the European Funds for Regional Development (EFRE) 
and the Lower Saxony Economic Subsidy Funds (NBank). The project 
led to the first effective in vitro candidates for new flavorings. In 
2010, the BMBF agreed to fund two new projects. One project deals 

with the development of methods for naturally extracting taste­
modified flavorings and is being carried out with the Leibniz Insti­
tute of Plant Biochemistry in the framework of the cluster “Bioca­
talysis 2021”; the other project, which Symrise is conducting with 
the Potsdam­based German Institute of Human Nutrition and the 
Technical University Munich, will focus on “The Effect and Role of 
Flavorings in the Gastrointestinal Tract.”

From the idea to the marketable product, the innovation process 
is organized based on a uniform stage gate process with decision 
filters. The process is established company­wide. For every project, 
there is an exact description including the costs of the project and 
the resources used. 

Personnel ,  e XPenditure And results

Worldwide, 20 % or nearly 1,043 of our employees are employed in 
the R&D area. Last year, 920 people worked in R&D. While 406 
of the employees work in Scent & Care, 637 are active in Flavor & 
Nutrition. In the 2010 fiscal year, R&D expenditure amounted to 
€ 108 million (previous year: € 96 million), comprising 6.9 % of sales 
(previous year: 7.0 %). Research expenditure will remain high in 
the future in order to further strengthen Symrise’s innovativeness. 
Apart from the amount of expenditure, the efficiency and market 
orientation also play a role in the success of R&D and thus Symrise’s 
competitiveness. As proof of this, Symrise has received important 
awards in the industry. For example, Symrise Life Essentials’ re­
search department received the highly esteemed BSB Innovation 
Prize 2010 in the “Innovative Raw Materials” category for the cos­
metic ingredient SymSitive® 1609 launched the previous year.

r&d costs (€ mIllIOn) 
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selected ProJects/ne w Products

Frescolat® SC1: In 2010, the Oral Care business unit launched 
Frescolat® SC1, a next­generation oral care product. The new ingre­
dient unfolds a long­lasting and pleasant cooling effect without 
influencing the taste profile. 
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Terranol®: A new, patented fragrance manufactured by the Aroma 
Molecules business unit with an earthy, mossy odor and hints of 
wood and patchouli. With Terranol®, Symrise managed to develop 
a fragrance based completely on renewable raw materials.

New SymMollient® variants: The two new oil­soluble refatting in­
gredients SymMollient® L and SymMollient® S improve the moisture 
content of the skin and thus make skin look radiant and supple.

SymPeptide® 226EL: The new cosmetic ingredient strengthens and 
lengthens eyelashes and makes them look thicker. SymPeptide® 
226EL was developed in cooperation with Therapeutic Peptides Inc. 
in the USA. Symrise has the exclusive sales rights.

SymMarine®: A new maritime fragrance with moss­like aspects 
which produces the airy hint of a sea breeze.

SymCap® M: This encapsulation of fragrances supports time­
controlled fragrance release, e.g. when fabric softeners are used 
for clothing and laundry.

SymFinity® 1298: A highly effective Echinacea purpurea extract 
(magnus purple coneflower), which keeps skin cells healthy and 
increases the length of their life.

SymRelief ® 100: An active, anti­inflammatory mixture of dragosan­
tol 100 and ginger extract.

NEUROFLAVORONOMICSTM: A development platform used by 
Symrise which helped the company gain new insights into 
 sodium reduction, for example, and has already led to new prod­
uct solutions for the SymLife® Salt Platform.

Naturally Citrus!®: A new generation of citrus specialties improves 
the authenticity and freshness of aroma profiles in the Naturally 
Citrus!® product platform.

Innovations in analytics: In the field of analytics, we have consist­
ently invested in technology for high­resolution Time­of­Flight 
(ToF) mass spectrometry. This technology helps researchers find 
taste­active and taste­modulating compounds.

In addition, the analysis tool SymStixx®, developed by Symrise 
F&N, for analyzing bioactive substances alongside classical aroma 
and taste analyses was further developed.

Tasty Flavors for Healthy Food interface: A new development plat­
form that enables representation of good­tasting complete  solutions. 
The first examples have already been brought to market maturity.

eMPloYees

Symrise’s employees are the basis for the company’s success. In a 
close, partner­like relationship, we require performance, dedica­
tion and team spirit; at the same time we promote our employees 
with a comprehensive further education and training concept, 
give them freedom to take responsibility and make every effort to 
promote their career development. We continually carry out an in­
tensive dialogue with our staff – so that we can advance together.

structure oF tHe worKForce 3

In a year­to­year comparison, the number of employees in the 
Symrise Group, not including apprentices and trainees, grew by 
334 to 5,288 on December 31, 2010 (2009: 4,954). The increase in 
the workforce reflects the significantly higher business volume in 
the year under review. In the Flavor & Nutrition business division, 

nuMber oF eMPLoyees by division deC. 31, 2009 deC. 31, 2010 CHange in %

Flavor & nutrition 2,396 2,616 + 9

Scent & Care 1,826 1,868 + 2

Corporate functions and services 732 804 + 10

Total (excluding trainees and apprentices) 4,954 5,288 + 7

trainees and apprentices 121 116 – 4

Total 5,075 5,404 + 6

3 All information in Fte (full-time equivalents)
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research & development
employees

220 additional employees were hired, driven by general production­
related growth as well as by the acquisition of Futura Labs Group 
Egypt/Dubai and Armonia in Russia (166 employees between them). 
Nearly half of all Symrise employees worked in this business di­
vision. More than a third worked in Scent & Care. 15 % of the work­
force is employed by Corporate Services, the Corporate Center and 
the outsourced Group companies Symotion and Tesium. Symrise 
attaches great importance to internal training of its staff. At the 
end of 2010, 116 young people were active in the Symrise Group as 
trainees and apprentices. Most of them are being trained to be­
come chemical laboratory workers and technicians, are business 

nuMber oF eMPLoyees by FunCTion  

(excluding trainees and apprentices) deC. 31, 2009 deC. 31, 2010 CHange in %

production and technology 1,937 2,097 + 8

Sales and marketing 1,386 1,391 ± 0

research and development 920 1,043 + 13

Administration 390 424 + 9

Service companies 321 333 + 4

Total  4,954 5,288 + 7

students (dual training towards a Bachelor of Business Adminis­
tration degree,) or are preparing to become industrial sales officer 
or industrial mechanics.

The largest share of Symrise Group employees – 40 % – works in 
production and technology. Around a quarter is employed in sales 
and marketing. Around 20 % works in research and development. 
We have expanded our regional competence centers for consumer 
health, citrus and vanilla products in product development. We em­
ployed around 13 % more people in this area in 2010. 

Of the Group’s 5,288 employees, around 43 % worked at German 
sites. The Asia/Pacific and Latin America regions had the next­
highest share, 17 % and 14 %, respectively. The workforce grew in 
almost all regions, but the increase was particularly high in EAME, 
at 24 %. Our acquisition of Futura Labs and the development of 
our new site in Russia played a key role in the increase (166 em­
ployees between them).

In terms of age groups, 63 % of Symrise Group employees are 
 between 30 and 49. The natural reduction of our workforce due to 
retirement until 2020 will be around 1 % or less per year.

Our employee fluctuation rate was very low in 2010. It was 1.2 % 
at our German sites and 5.1 % worldwide.

nuMber oF eMPLoyees by region  

(excluding trainees and apprentices) deC. 31, 2009 deC. 31, 2010 CHange in %

germany 2,170 2,271 + 5

eAme not including germany 595 737 + 24

north America* 638 628 – 2

Asia/pacific 840 904 + 8

latin America* 711 748 + 5

Total 4,954 5,288 + 7

* mexico was assigned to the latin America region in line with our management structure. the previous year’s figures in north America and latin America are adjusted accordingly.
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Personnel str AtegY

Symrise’s personnel strategy consists of four main points: 
 Our aim is to hire and keep the best employees. We are striving 

to make Symrise an “employer of choice”. We promote our em­
ployees to help them achieve top performances.

 We adapt our human resources to the strategic needs of the 
company. The main instrument for this is a comprehensive fur­
ther training offer. 

 We attach importance to a result and performance orientation. 
This is expressed in joint target agreements as well as a result­
oriented remuneration system. 

 We promote top management competence through special train­
ing programs for our managers and managers­to­be. 

We implement this strategy by means of a broad spectrum of per­
sonnel measures. 

Personnel Me Asures

ne w employees

Symrise obtains qualified employees via different channels. We 
 offer students the opportunity to become acquainted with Symrise 
within the framework of apprenticeships or Bachelor’s and 
 Master’s degree courses. Fifty students took advantage of this in 
Germany in 2010. Symrise maintains close contact with uni­
versities and other higher education institutions and regularly 
takes part in university information days. 

Providing apprenticeships is another important measure for train­
ing employees to become qualified. On December 31, 2010, 116 
apprentices and trainees were active in the Group, representing a 
training rate of 4.6 %. In 2011, we will further increase our train­
ing efforts by 10 %. To bind well­qualified trainees and apprentices 
to Symrise, we cooperate closely with general and vocational 
schools in the form of sponsorships of training companies, project 

days and e­learning projects. In 2010, we held our second “Educa­
tion Day” for interested pupils and parents in Holzminden. In the 
future, we intend to offer this service every two years. 

FurtHer tr a in inG

Symrise has a systematic talent management system and a further 
education program. With them, we ensure that our employees have 
the expertise required to implement our strategy. At the same 
time, we offer our staff attractive education and further training. 
The Symrise Academy plays a key role: 
 Education and further training offers for perfumers, evaluators 

and members of the sales team are bundled in the Perfumers’ 

Academy. At the perfumery school, six participants are cur­
rently completing their training to become Junior Perfumers. In 
parallel, five new talents will begin their education in 2011. In 
September, we opened a new perfumery school in India to develop 
an internal talent pool of excellently trained perfumers and 
evaluators for the Asian market. At the school, we train three 
perfumers and one evaluator. 

 At the Flavor Academy, two employees successfully completed 
their Junior Flavorist training in 2010. In October, seven addi­
tional trainees from Asia, Latin America, Europe and Africa 
began training to become flavorists. They will complete their 
comprehensive, multi­stage training in 2012.

 The Leadership Academy is geared to managers within the 
Symrise Group. At the academy, communications and sales 
techniques are taught, management skills are honed, and vari­
ous coaching programs are offered. 

Our further training offer for all Symrise employees encompasses 
safety training, language courses, project management and data 
processing courses. The average length of training per employee 
in Germany was 4.8 days in 2010. Expenses for further training 
measures amounted to approximately € 2.3 million. 

3 % 60 and older

19 %  50 – 59

40 – 49 33 % 

30 – 39 30 %

Age structure oF tHe worKForce (In %)

15 % under 30
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employees

In both business divisions, we offer specialist chemical employees 
a one­year further training program enabling them to become 
process chemical technicians. In addition, we added a one­year 
further training program enabling research lab employees to be­
come advanced laboratory technicians.

A worldwide talent management platform helps us identify and 
promote talent with high potential. 

employee surve y 2010

In recent years, Symrise has undergone constant transformation, 
from the merger and the stock market listing to the international 
 financial and economic crisis and the dynamic upswing thereafter. 
In the course of these changes, Symrise and its employees have 
shown a high degree of flexibility, have actively taken on new chal­
lenges, and have quickly adapted to each new situation. Our em­
ployees play a key role in the success of our company. To further 
strengthen this success factor, in the early summer of 2010 we 
conducted our first international employee survey in cooperation 
with external specialists. For organizational reasons, this first 
survey focused on the regional headquarters. A second, compre­
hensive survey is planned for 2012.

The results of the survey were available in the fall of 2010. Partici­
pation in the anonymous opinion survey was around 70 %, a very 
high level compared to other companies. Under the motto “Have 
your say!”, employees in Germany, the US, Brazil and Singapore 
answered 54 concrete questions about the strengths and weak­
nesses of their company. Another series of questions dealt with 
the employees’ commitment to the company. Their answers re­
flect their degree of satisfaction with their work, their loyalty 
and attachment to the company and its goals, their enthusiasm 
for and commitment to the company, and their trust in the com­
pany’s ability to thrive in the future. This satisfaction index was 
very positive for Symrise, slightly above the average compared 
to other companies. But there are regional differences. While in 
Germany the index value is in the upper third of all companies 
surveyed, in the USA it is exactly average. Employees in Brazil 
and Singapore are much less satisfied with Symrise.

These findings have to be reviewed. Following the first phase of 
communication is a dialogue and implementation phase. Manag­
ers are using the results of the survey as a point of departure for 
dialogue with their employees about the need for improvement 
and change in their areas. Concrete initiatives are been launched 
to further develop our corporate and management culture and to 
make Symrise even more attractive as an employer. Some of these 
initiatives are being developed globally for the Symrise Group, 
while other topics are geared to specific countries or business divi­
sions. We are building on our employees and giving them the op­
portunity to help actively shape the company. This process will 
strengthen our company internally and help us advance together.

employee motivat ion

We expect great commitment from our employees. But this can 
only be achieved if they enjoy working at Symrise and view Symrise 
as part of their life. Reconciling family and profession plays an 
important role. Symrise offers its employees flexible working hours, 
part­time work and job sharing. Furthermore, in Germany we 
cooperate with day­care centers to ensure that children are looked 
after when their parents are at work. 

We have launched a number of sports and cultural initiatives. In 
addition, we attach great importance to “operational health man­
agement”. In 2010, we offered a health week to help prevent cardio­
vascular disease. To recognize and minimize ergonomic burdens, 
health circles were set up with certain focal points. Here employees 
can get ergonomic advice, with Symrise covering the costs. In 
the management training program, the issue of “addiction and ad­
diction prevention” is addressed. 

In our further development of fringe benefits, we launched new 
pension schemes at all larger sites in Germany. We cooperate with 
a pension pool financed by employee and company contributions. 
All new employees are required to be members of this pension pool; 
existing employees can join on a voluntary basis. 
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The annual goal­planning session between executives and employ­
ees is a central element of employee dialogue. It ensures transpar­
ency in assessment of performance and enables targeted develop­
ment perspectives to be defined for each employee. The discussion 
focuses on tasks and areas of responsibility, achievement of goals 
in the previous year, the targets for the current year, an appraisal 
of the employee’s performance, teamwork between superiors and 
employees, planned further training measures and possible devel­
opment steps.

For many years now, an idea management system has been installed 
in the Symrise Group in order to continually improve work proce­
dures. In 2010, 354 suggestions were submitted, of which 196 were 
implemented. The overall benefit of the “good ideas” amounted to 
€ 1.9 million. Bonuses totaling T€ 144 were paid out.

In the summer of 2010, a competition was launched at all larger 
sites in Germany to improve work safety. Employees from areas with 
higher accident risks, such as production and laboratories, could 
participate. In the first few months of the competition the number 
of accident­related lost work days decreased by 90 % compared to 
the same period of 2008/2009. The competition, which has given 
rise to bonuses of T€ 50, will initially last two years. 

remuner at ion and waGe aGreements

Flexible remuneration systems, which with variable salary compo­
nents honor employee’s individual contributions and at the same 
time take the company’s economic situation into account, are an 
important element of a modern remuneration policy. In addition, 
a performance­related remuneration makes the company more at­
tractive as an employer and helps it obtain and keep high per­
formers. In 2010, we introduced a new, transparent remuneration 
structure in the form of remuneration ranges which enables su­
periors and employees to actively develop remuneration parallel 
to further professional training. This model applies to some 340 
exempt and managerial employees. The advantages of this so­called 
“job grade” concept lie in the high degree of transparency and 
comprehensibility of the remuneration and in the fact that they can 
be compared internationally. In addition, a separate global per­
formance bonus plan ensuring that company targets are reached 
by means of result­ and performance­oriented variable remuner­
ation, applies to around 70 executives with global or regional re­
sponsibilities.

The in­house collective bargaining between Symrise and the IG BCE 
union made an important contribution to safeguarding the com­
pany’s competitiveness. The outstanding element of the agreement 
is an employment guarantee at German sites until 2014. At the 
same time, the contract forms the basis for qualification measures 
and considerable cost cutting: a retention of weekly work times of 
no less than 40 hours and step­by­step incorporation of IG BCE’s 
collective agreement on remuneration with defined discount. To 
safeguard competitiveness and with a view to future­oriented em­
ployment policy, on February 9, 2011, we extended the agreement 
with IG BCE on the employment guarantee until 2016. 

oPP ortunities And risK reP ort

PrinciPles

The Symrise Group’s business activities are continually exposed 
to a number of risks and opportunities. We define a risk as an event 
which can lead to a negative deviation from our targets within 
the planning period. Opportunities, on the other hand, are issues 
that can have a positive influence on the company’s development. 
Recognizing and avoiding risks as well as exploiting opportunities 
are of decisive importance for the development of the company. 
The aim of our risk management system is to recognize all poten­
tial risks at an early stage and take suitable countermeasures to 
reduce these risks. To minimize the financial effects of remaining 
risks, we acquire insurance if this is deemed economically sensi­
ble. In taking advantage of opportunities, it is important that an 
acceptable risk profile is maintained. The existing guidelines en­
sure that management considers risks as part of the decision­mak­
ing processes from the very beginning. Symrise has a risk hand­
book that regulates the risk management processes and provides 
employees with basic information about how to deal with risks. 
In addition, employees receive regular training in workshops and 
exchange experiences on recognizing and minimizing risks. 

risK MAnAgeMent structure And Process

Symrise’s risk management extends across all Group companies 
and business units. The coordination of risk assessment occurs at 
the level of the Corporate Center within the Corporate Compliance 
department. On the basis of individual companies, risk reports 
are issued which are subsequently brought together at the Group 
level to provide an overview of the current risk situation. On this 
basis a risk report is passed on to the Executive Board twice a year. 
In the risk report given to the Executive Board, potential risks 
are identified and classified according to their effects on profits, 
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employees
opportunities and risk report

their probability of occurring, the risk type and business unit, 
as well as the business activity and risk owner. In addition, appro­
priate countermeasures and the employees responsible for them 
are listed. As a result, the risk report is also a basis for controlling 
risks and examination by the Group’s internal auditing. The Ex­
ecutive Board informs the Supervisory Board or the Supervisory 
Board’s Auditing Committee and takes further measures to deal 
with risks. Exemption thresholds for risks are oriented to financial 
effects on the company as well as the probability of the risk oc­
curring. If a risk exceeds a certain exemption threshold, the Exec­
utive Board is informed immediately. 

Business environment and industry r isks

In the consumer goods industry, we believe that a further con­
solidation of the companies that buy Symrise products is possible. 
As a result, there is the risk that Symrise could lose customers 
and thus market shares. Risks resulting from consolidations at the 
level of our suppliers exist inasmuch as the discontinuance of 
supplier’s business can have a negative impact on our relations to 
our customers. 

Increasingly fierce competition can be observed in our industry. 
This development puts Symrise at risk of losing customers. We 
react to this with increased marketing of our innovations and 
products in the Life Essentials and Consumer Health business units, 
which have added benefits vis­à­vis competitor’s products. 

Symrise is exposed to political risks in the form of a trade em­
bargo in individual countries from which we obtain our raw mate­
rials and to which we export our products. We can partially com­
pensate for impediments to trade by turning to other regions. In 
individual countries, we continually observe the possible risk of 
politically related suspension of payment due to a debt moratorium. 
A dialogue with banks and customers serves to limit this risk. 
We counter risks in export countries arising for political reasons 
through corresponding finance control so that a loss of receiva­
bles can be avoided. We observe political unrest in countries and 
regions in which Symrise has operating facilities very attentively, 
particularly to protect the safety of our staff. Nevertheless, a loss 
of product and thus sales can occur in unfavorable cases. 

The general economic development does affect the development 
of Symrise’s business in different ways. In developed markets, the 
demand for end products containing Symrise products, in so far 
as they satisfy basic needs, is hardly exposed to economic fluctua­
tions. In terms of the demand for available income, there is a 
much higher dependency with products in the “luxury segments” 
of Fine Fragrances and Personal Care. In emerging markets 
 demand for all products tends to fluctuate more depending on the 
state of the economy. In addition, Symrise’s customers control 
production and warehousing in such a way that the capital commit­
ment is as small as possible. Uncertainties about future sales per­
formance give rise to corresponding adjustments, also regarding 
ingredients obtained by Symrise. Destocking on the part of our 
customers can significantly reduce the quantities of materials 
purchased from Symrise.

Corp or ate str ateG iC r isks

As with every company, Symrise’s corporate strategy is inher­
ently connected with risks. Negative consequences for the com­
pany’s development can, for example, arise from a misjudgment 
of customer requirements and peripheral conditions, as well as 
from erroneous technological decisions. This particularly concerns 
product developments, which Symrise partially carries out on 
its own initiative, as well as the founding of a new application area 
such as Consumer Health in 2009. In the case of a deficient ability 
to market products, the development expenditure is not offset by 
adequate income. Intensive market research is carried out to 
guarantee that our products remain marketable. Acquisitions made 
by Symrise are also liable to risks. In the course of the integra­
tion process, there is the threat of business interruptions or a loss 
of knowledge and resources due to employees leaving the 
 company. We counter these risks by means of a clearly defined 
 integration process. 

The company’s strategic risks also include possible removal from 
a core list and the danger of not being put on such a list contrary to 
our expectations. We counter this risk by maintaining close con­
tact with our customers. Further central factors for remaining or 
being put on core lists are pricing, delivery reliability and product 
quality. In these areas, we continually strive to be among the best 
companies in the industry.
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eConomiC perFormanCe r isks

Product risks: Symrise’s fragrances and flavors are normally proc­
essed in products that end consumers consume as food or apply to 
their skin. As a result, our products can have a negative effect on 
consumers’ health in principle. To minimize this risk, our quality 
management includes current analysis methods and internal safety 
regulations. The tolerability of our products is continually tested on 
the basis of scientific research and testing based on international 
standards. Our goal is anticipate and thus avoid customer complaints 
to as great a degree as possible. Against this background, we 
have an internal process improvement procedure to remedy possi­
ble weak points and threats at an early stage and to continuously 
maintain the quality of our products at a high level. 

Changes in a customer’s technology can result in a situation in 
which individual products can no longer be offered to this cus­
tomer. Symrise has a diversified customer portfolio to reduce this 
risk. Patent violations by competitors also pose a risk to our 
 products. We counter this risk by means of adequate patent man­
agement.

Procurement risks: Purchase of raw materials, intermediate prod­
ucts, manufacturing plants and services is continuously exposed to 
the risk of an unplanned price development, fluctuating quality or 
insufficient availability. While purchase prices can rise, particularly 
due to more expensive raw materials or unfavorable exchange 
rates, the availability of goods and services can also partially de­
pend on legal regulations. Symrise has developed intelligent pur-

chasing strategies to counter an unexpected increase in the price 
of crude oil, energy and natural raw materials. As climatic condi­
tions and market modalities can lead to higher prices, deteriorat­
ing quality and a lack of availability, purchasing has developed 
a broad supplier basis, with suppliers based in different parts of 
the world. Furthermore, our main suppliers are tied to long­term 
basic agreements. Procurement alternatives are developed, par­
tially together with important suppliers, to minimize the risk of 
not meeting the latest technological, market or legal requirements. 
If possible, an increase in the price of raw materials is passed 
on by correspondingly increasing the price of products sold to our 
customers, in order to reduce the effects on our results. However, 
too much diversification on the part of our suppliers increases 
costs, as this reduces purchasing amounts per supplier. Symrise 
continuously examines the financial strength of its suppliers.

Operating risks: Technical disturbances can interrupt the Group’s 
continuous operations and mean a loss of income and correspond­
ing return. The causes can lie in the safety of equipment and proc­
esses, in fire safety, in the safety of materials and their correct 
classification, or in the requirements of stricter, country­specific 
work and environmental regulations. We reduce such risks through 
maintenance, investment and work safety measures, as well as 
through corresponding guidelines, instructions and training courses. 
Changes in country­specific environmental regulations can result 
in fines or temporary closure of production sites. For this reason, we 
continuously observe regulatory developments in the countries 
in which we operate. 

Business interruptions can also arise due to errors in the course of 
operations, for example, due to foreign bodies that are contained 
in raw materials or that are inserted into intermediate or end prod­
ucts during processing, as well as to incidents resulting from us­
age or work equipment. Symrise minimizes these kinds of risks 
through appropriate guidelines (for example, foreign body policy), 
procedures (Total Productive Maintenance), training courses, emer­
gency plans, alternative productions sites, an exchange of best 
practices and continuous improvements to operational processes. 
Contaminations of products also occurred in individual countries 
in 2010. As a reaction to this, we changed our choice of suppliers 
or ushered in corrective measures on the part of the suppliers. 

In order to continue to have a leading position in the industry in the 
future, Symrise launched different, forward­looking initiatives. 
We make efforts to improve the company’s environment and the 
general environment, for example, to limit noise and odors as 
much as possible at all of our production sites. Adherence to the 
European REACH regulation (Registration, Evaluation, Authori­
zation and restriction of Chemical substances), as well as to other 
regulations such as GHS (Globally Harmonized System of Classifi­
cation and Labeling of Chemicals) was introduced and implemented 
in relevant projects. 
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opportunities and risk report

F inanCial r isks

Symrise is exposed to a number of different financial risks. 

Credit risk: There is the risk of financial loss to Symrise if a cus­
tomer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. To reduce this risk, the creditworthiness 
of new customers has been analyzed since 2008. In addition, every 
year both the creditworthiness and the supply conditions of all cus­
tomers are examined. Apart from this method of risk prevention, 
Symrise introduced a procedure estimating the allowance for im­
pairment representing losses incurred with respect to receivables. 
This allowance consists of an individual depreciation and a general 
cost component. Symrise tries to limit the risk of non­payment 
due to bank boycott by engaging in continuous dialogue with 
banks and customers. Financial crises in export countries require 
corresponding financial control on the part of Symrise, so that a 
suspension of payment can be avoided. 

Liquidity risk: The liquidity risk describes the danger that Symrise 
is not in a position to fulfill financial obligations vis­à­vis third 
parties. In the case of a worsening of business performance, there 
is the additional risk of not fulfilling obligations that exist for cer­
tain credit approvals (so­called covenants). Symrise carries out 
continuous liquidity planning in order to recognize liquidity bot­
tlenecks at an early stage. Parallel to this, the company possesses 
sufficient credit lines to cover payment claims. The Company’s 
development is continuously monitored; corresponding emergency 
plans to avoid liquidity problems exist. With these plans, we en­
sure that we have sufficient means to fulfill our payment obligations 
when they fall due even under difficult conditions. 

The following table shows when our liabilities, as of December 31, 
2010, fall due:

liABilit ies oF sYMrise grouP, As oF deceMBer 31,  2010

(€ MiLLion) ToTaL 2011 FroM 2012

trade payables 101.4 101.4 0

borrowings 633.5 6.2 627.3

Other and financial  
liabilities 117.4 100.2 17.2

Total 852.3 207.8 644.5

Interest and currency risks: Currency risks exist in economic 
areas in which Symrise sells its products on a foreign­currency 
basis (for example, US$) but at least some of these products were 
produced in a different currency area (for example, the euro zone). 
Symrise buys many of its raw materials in euros. If the US$ or a 
US$­based foreign currency weakens against the euro, this can 
lead to corresponding reductions in our margins. Symrise counters 
this risk by intensifying negotiations regarding prices. The re­
maining currency risk is also reduced through appropriate cur­
rency interest rate swaps and other hedging tools. 

Interest risks arise because rising interest rates can increase in­
terest expense contrary to planning and thus have an adverse 
 effect on Group earnings. Symrise significantly reduced this risk 
within the framework of refinancing; approximately 70 % of the 
 liabilities were taken up with fixed interest rates, utilizing the fa­
vorable interest rate levels currently prevailing. Only approxi­
mately 30 % of the liabilities are subject to the risk of changing 
interest rates. If need be, Symrise counters this risk by means 
of contracted interest hedges, which minimize the risk of changing 
interest rates. 

Tax risk: Symrise is also exposed to tax risk. Due to structural 
changes of our worldwide sites the local financial authorities have 
in some cases not been able to examine certain income tax­related 
matters to date and subsequently provide an overall assessment. In 
some cases, we have made provisions for these risks to be prepared 
to pay additional tax obligations. On the whole, we have made all 
necessary provisions preparing us for all tax risks known to us. 

personnel r isks

Symrise counters personnel risks, which basically arise from a 
fluctuation of personnel in key positions, by means of suitable fur­
ther education and programs promoting young employees. 

leGal r isks

Currently, Symrise considers legal risks to be relatively minor. 
These risks typically result from the areas of labor law, product 
liability, warranty claims and intellectual property. To counter 
these risks in an appropriate and timely way, we analyze potential 
risks comprehensively by incorporating our legal department 
and, if necessary, by engaging external specialists. Despite these 
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measures, the outcome of current or future legal proceedings can­
not be predicted with certainty. At present, only a few Group com­
panies are affected by ongoing legal proceedings. Therefore, we 
will only make reference to one type of legal procedure here. In the 
USA, Symrise Inc., along with many other companies, has been 
accused of selling aromas which when industrially processed can 
release harmful vapors if safety instructions are not adhered to. 
In none of these proceedings has a clear money claim been made 
so far. We believe that we can rebut these legal accusations. We 
do not expect the results of the individual proceedings to have a 
significant effect on the Group’s results. 

i t  r isks

IT risks basically arise from potential interruptions in exchange 
and information processing, which can lead to an interruption of 
operational processes dependent on functioning IT systems. Symrise 
has a number of IT and telecommunications systems whose data 
and programs are saved and further developed in different storage 
media. The introduction of uniform and up­to­date systems that 
began last year is being continued. Established protective meas­
ures are continuously renewed and extended to guarantee the 
security of IT processes and data. 

oVer All AssessMent oF tHe risK situAtion

Based on the information available to us, we see no risk that could 
pose a threat to the continued existence of the Symrise Group. 
Due to the fact the existing risk reporting and the integrated man­
agement system are supplemented by a system of integrated in­
ternal controls, we expect to continue to meet all requirements in 
the future business environment and in view of changing legal 
regulations. 

oPP ortunities MAnAgeMent

The Symrise corporate culture attaches importance to entrepre­
neurial thinking and acting. We value employees who have a high 
degree of independence and responsibility. Therefore, we encourage 
all Symrise staff members, regardless of their area and scope of 
responsibility, to continuously seek and take advantage of oppor­
tunities. Group companies are urged to identify opportunities on 
an operative level which, for example, arise within the framework 
of an operational activity or due to improved market conditions, 
and to realize these opportunities with the aim of achieving results 
going beyond the scope of planning. Strategic opportunities are 

recorded in the business divisions and in the Corporate Center. They 
are evaluated and measures are taken to exploit them. Symrise’s 
Executive Board is responsible for discussing strategic opportuni­
ties on a regular basis.

seleCted opp ortunit ies

Opportunities arise for Symrise from various factors. Our employ­
ees submit suggestions within the scope of idea management, 
enabling work processes and procedures to be improved. Operative 
opportunities can additionally arise from employee further educa­
tion measures. The restructuring of the Group’s two business di­
visions aims to further enhance Symrise’s customer orientation. 
Here we see the opportunity of generating additional orders within 
the framework of know­how transfer. An example of this is a Group­
wide project database in which all activities are documented and 
tracked. As a result, points of contact can be created easily. Poten­
tial synergies have not yet been totally realized. 

Developments in the company’s business environment particularly 
attributable to social and economic changes open up numerous 
strategic opportunities. In the developed countries, there is a trend 
toward healthier and more conscious nutrition, due among other 
things to the increasing age of the society. People’s body care re­
quirements are also constantly growing. As a basic principle, to 
be competitive a company has to continually provide consumers 
with innovative products. Accordingly, Symrise has positioned 
itself in new business units and application areas such as Life Es­
sentials and Consumer Health. Intensive market research and 
comprehensive R&D work are the basis of the developments we can 
offer to our customers, enabling them to improve their products 
or introduce new products. In emerging and developing countries, 
there is a mounting demand for products containing Symrise fla­
vors and fragrances. To take advantage of these opportunities, we 
are continuously expanding our activities in these countries. 

Strategic opportunities also arise from acquisitions. To strategically 
expand our competencies, we are continually looking for suitable 
target companies. In addition, we see opportunities arising from 
cooperative ventures with universities and companies. Bundling 
competencies can speed up product development and generate in­
novative products. 
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essentiAl Fe Atures oF tHe Accounting - rel Ated  

internAl control And risK MAnAgeMent sYsteM

BAsic Fe Atures And goAls

In accordance with the German Act on the Modernization of Ac­
counting Law (BilMoG), capital­market oriented corporations are 
obliged to describe the essential features of their internal account­
ing­related control and management system in the management 
report section of the annual report. 

The accounting­related internal control system (ICS) guarantees 
proper and reliable financial reporting. By means of the accounting­
related risk management system, measures are taken to identify 
and evaluate risks that jeopardize issuing of consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the rules. The system consists of 
a documentation of possible risks, the accompanying processes as 
well as control of these processes, and of the examination of these 
processes and controls. To guarantee that the ICS is effective, the 
Group­wide control mechanisms are analyzed at the individual 
company and Group level. The Internal Audit department examines 
how effectively those responsible adhered to the planned control 
mechanisms at both decentralized and centralized level. The ef­
ficiency of the ICS can be limited by unforeseen changes in the 
control environment, criminal activities or human errors. 

To define existing control processes in the company and to expand 
them wherever applicable, Symrise launched a project to support 
documentation and analysis within the scope of self­assessment 
measures in the Group’s business units and companies. The prin­
ciples for the accounting­related internal control system and the 
risk management system define requirements, document the proc­
ess landscape and business processes, and regulate controls to be 
carried out. Building on a basic training course for employees, 
experiences are regularly exchanged so that controls can continu­
ally be adapted to changing risks. 

orgAniz Ation And Process

The ICS in the Symrise Group comprises both centralized and de­
centralized elements and is geared to ISO 31000. Based on reports 
issued by subsidiaries, an aggregate ICS Group report will be pre­
sented to the Executive Board. The Executive Board discusses the 
efficacy of the ICS with the Supervisory Board or with the Audit­
ing Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

The ICS is monitored regularly with respect to the up­to­dateness 
of documentation, the suitability and functionality of controls; any 
weaknesses in the control system are identified and evaluated.

 Accounting- related risk management: Using a risk­oriented 
 approach, the essential companies and processes for the 
 accounting are initially identified. On the basis of the results, 
specific minimum requirements and objectives are defined 
to counteract the risks in financial reporting. The result is a 
centralized financial reporting­related risk catalogue that 
is  simultaneously the basis of work for employees involved in 
 financial reporting. 

 Accounting -related internal control system: First, existing 
control activities in the essential companies are documented and 
updated. The controls defined by the accounting­related ICS 
should guarantee adherence to Group accounting guidelines, the 
accounting guidelines of the individual companies, as well as 
the procedures and schedules of the individual accounting proc­
esses. The control mechanisms are analyzed for their effective­
ness in preventing risks through the use of random samples, 
among other things. Whenever weaknesses have been docu­
mented, effects or potential risks for the consolidated financial 
statements are subsequently evaluated. In a further step, the 
individual risks are consolidated at the company level. The risks 
and their corresponding effects on financial reporting are re­
ported to the Executive Board. These reports form the basis for 
reporting vis­à­vis the Supervisory Board’s Auditing Committee. 
If control weaknesses are determined, measures are developed 
for improvement. The efficacy of the new control methods is then 
analyzed in the new examination cycle. 

suBseQuent reP ort

After the conclusion of the fiscal year, there were no major changes 
in the general economic conditions or in the situation in our in­
dustry. Nor were there any other events of particularly importance 
regarding the Symrise Group that need to be reported. 

gener Al stAteMent on tHe coMPAnY ’s econoMic situAtion 

The Executive Board assesses the Symrise Group’s economic situ­
ation to be positive. In 2010, we were able to significantly increase 
our sales and earnings. Symrise became noticeably more financially 
stable and the company’s financing is ensured for the medium 
term. Pending the passing of the resolution at the Annual General 
Meeting, Symrise AG shareholders will participate in the compa­
ny’s success by receiving a higher dividend than in the previous 
year. 
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Future gener Al conditions

For 2011, we expect the general economic conditions to remain 
favorable for our business activities, although we anticipate that 
worldwide economic growth will slow down somewhat compared 
to 2010. The World Bank expects global economic performance to 
increase by 3.3 % in 2011, after 3.9 % in 2010. The strongest growth 
impetus is forecast to again come from the strong domestic demand 
in the developing and emerging countries, whose expansion rate 
is expected to be around 6.0 %. The economic development in a few 
industrial countries continues to be slowed by uncertainties in the 
finance and real­estate sectors; added to that is the need to consoli­
date public finances and to reduce private household debt. The 
World Bank expects the social product of the industrialized coun­
tries to rise by 2.4 % this year, after 2.8 % the year before. The re­
strained economic growth is not sufficient to noticeably reduce un­
employment, which puts a burden on private consumption. For 
2012, we expect slightly higher economic growth, primarily due to 
a step­by­step solving of problems and structural distortions in 
some important industrial countries. The World Bank forecasts a 
global economic growth of 3.6 %, a growth of 2.7 % for industrial 
countries, and an increase in the GDP of developing and emerging 
countries of 6.1 % on average.

The F&F market relevant for Symrise grew by more than 6 % in 2010, 
reaching a volume of € 14.9 billion. According to long­term esti­
mates by IAL Consultants, the flavor and fragrance markets should 
achieve an average annual growth of 3.0 % until 2014. Latin Ameri­
can and Asian markets are expected to generate a disproportionate 
amount of that growth. In our appraisal, customer companies’ 
warehousing normalized in 2010, following considerable destock­
ing in the previous year. The economic outlook for 2011 has im­
proved in the last months. But due to further existing uncertainties 
– for example, the current political changes in the Middle East – 
we expect the fragrance and flavor markets to achieve an average 
market growth of 3 %. 

We expect the market situation of some important raw materials to 
remain tense in the 2011 fiscal year. For example, we expect the 
prices of fruit juice concentrates to increase significantly and we 
believe that the citral, turpentine and crude oil derivative markets 
will remain difficult. At the same time, we expect ongoing, pro­
nounced price volatility.

It is foreseeable that energy costs will rise due to various influ­
ences. One factor is the new period of emissions trading that will 
go into effect as of 2013. Symrise will counter this challenge by 
taking various technical measures to optimize energy use and en­
ergy conversion. For 2011, certification of the “energy manage­
ment systems” for Germany in accordance with DIN EN 16001 is 
planned.

In the EU, the REACH directive will continue to have a strong im­
pact on chemicals regulations. For the next registration deadline 
in June 2013, we have identified 50 raw materials for which a regis­
tration dossier has to be submitted. Moreover, it will be necessary 
to introduce GHS in other regions (e.g. Brazil/Latin America). With 
enhanced competence center global product compliance and a glo­
bal network of regulatory groups, Symrise is ideally positioned to 
cope with the increasing intensification of regulatory hurdles.

Future de VeloPMent

We are cautiously optimistic about 2011 and are confident that 
our two business divisions Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition will 
equally grow faster than the F&F market again this year. We 
are striving to achieve a sales growth at local currency of more 
than 3 %, although the basis from 2010 is very high.

In 2011, Symrise will create around 200 new jobs, predominantly 
in the growing regions of Asia and Latin America. The number 
of employees in Europe, however, will remain stable. Worldwide 
personnel costs will increase by around 2.5 %. We will further 
intensify our training efforts. As a result, the number of training 
positions in our company will increase by around 10 %.

We will consistently carry on the initiatives we have launched 
to continuously improve our earnings. These initiatives include 
cost reduction and price management, portfolio optimization 
and a focus on innovative products and technologies. We expect 
an EBITDA margin of at least 20 % for 2011.

We will continue with our current dividend policy and give our 
stockholders an appropriate share in the company’s success.

Our refinancing was successfully concluded in December 2010. We 
issued a bond for the first time, with a volume of € 300 million and 
a duration of seven years, and obtained a long­term loan in conjunc­
tion with a private placement of US$ 175 million with a duration 
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of ten years. As a third component of our refinancing, in December 
we obtained a revolving credit facility with a volume of € 300 mil­
lion and a duration of five years. We expect our debt, expressed as 
the ratio of net debt (including pension provisions) to EBITDA, to 
lie between 2.0 and 2.5 in the medium term. At the end of 2011, we 
expect to reach the lower end of the spectrum due to our strong 
cash flow. It is possible that we will deviate from this range for a 
short period in the event of acquisitions to promote our long­term 
strategy. Accordingly, we will continue to actively investigate acqui­
sition opportunities in 2011. 

How the F&F market will develop in 2011 and 2012 strongly depends 
on further economic developments. However, on account of our 
innovative strengths, our good positioning in the emerging markets 
and our unique portfolio, we are confident that we will grow faster 
than the market and continue on our profitable growth course. 

gener Al stAteMent on tHe coMPAnY ’s e XPected 

de VeloPMent 

The Executive Board of Symrise AG continues to assess the com­
pany’s situation as positive. We see our good performance as confir­
mation of our strategy, which we refined and improved in 2010. 
The following strategic pillars for a further enhancement of our 
competitiveness are:
 Our robust and innovative product portfolio, nearly 90 % of 

which concerns satisfying basic needs
 Our position on the core lists of large multinational customers
 Our position with regional and local customers in the rapidly 

growing emerging markets 
 Our focus on segments with the best growth potential (Life 

 Essentials and Consumer Health)

We intend to continue to grow organically in the future. Where it 
is sensible and creates added value, we make acquisitions or forge 
strategic alliances to ensure ourselves access to new technologies, 
know­how, new markets and new customers and ensure that we can 
obtain scarce raw materials.

reMuner Ation oF tHe e XecutiVe BoArd

The remuneration of the Executive Board and a disclosure of the 
remuneration of individual Executive Board members can be found 
in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

disclosures reQuired in AccordAnce witH section 315, 

PAr Agr APH 4 oF tHe HgB (gerMAn coMMerciAl code)

The stated capital of Symrise AG remains unchanged at € 118,173,300 
and is divided into no­par­value bearer shares with a nominal 
value of € 1. The associated rights and duties are set forth in the 
relevant provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 
There are no different types of shares with different rights and ob­
ligations. Nor do any special rights or rights of control exist for 
any shareholders. 

Prudential plc., London, United Kingdom, informed us on behalf of 
its M&G subsidiaries in February 2011 that its share in Symrise AG 
exceeds the 10 % threshold. (More information can be found under 
note 48 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The appointment and removal of members of the Executive Board 
(Sections 84 and 85 of the Stock Corporation Act) and amendments 
to the articles of incorporation and bylaws (Sections 133 and 179) 
are based on the provisions of the Stock Corporation Act. 

The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the 
Supervisory Board, to increase the stated capital of the Company 
until October 31, 2011, by up to € 40 million through one or more 
issuances of new no­par bearer shares against contribution in cash 
and/or in kind. The new shares may be underwritten by one or 
more financial institutions determined by the Executive Board, in 
order for such shares to be offered to the shareholders (indirect 
subscription right). The Executive Board is authorized, subject to 
the consent of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription 
rights of existing shareholders in the following instances:

a) in the event of a capital increase against contribution in kind, if 
the capital is increased in order to acquire businesses, busi­
ness units or participating interests in businesses, or in order 
to grant shares to employees of the Company or its affiliates in 
compliance with applicable law; 
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b) to the extent necessary, to grant rights to subscribe for new 
shares of the Company to holders of options or convertible 
bonds issued by the company or its subsidiaries to the extent 
such holders will be entitled to such shares pursuant to the 
terms of the option or convertible bond; 

c) to exclude fractional amounts from the subscription rights; 

d) in the event of a capital increase against cash contribution, if the 
issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower within 
the meaning of Section 203, para. 1 and 2, 186 para. 3 sentence 
4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) than the market 
price of already listed shares of the Company falling into the 
same class of shares at the time the issue price is definitively 
determined by the Executive Board, and if the amount by which 
the capital is increased and for which the subscription rights 
are excluded does not exceed 10 % of the stated capital of the Com­
pany at the time the new shares are issued. Towards such 10 % 
limit shall count shares that are sold without subscription rights 
pursuant to Section 71 para.1 no. 8 sentence 5, 186 para. 3 sen­
tence 4 of the Stock Corporation Act during the term of this au­
thorized capital, and shares as to which a right or obligation to 
buy or to convert attaches which is based on an option or, respec­
tively, a convertible bond that was, in each case, issued without 
subscription rights pursuant to Section 221 para. 4, 186 para. 3 
sentence 4 of the Stock Corporation Act during the term of this 
authorized capital. 

The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the 
Supervisory Board, to determine the further particulars of the 
capital increase and its implementation including the scope of the 
shareholder rights and the conditions for the share issue. 

Furthermore, the general meeting of shareholders held on May 11, 
2010, authorized the Executive Board to acquire treasury stock up 
to a level of 10 % of the current stated capital. The acquired shares 
together with any other treasury stock already owned by the Com­
pany, or which pursuant to Section 71 a et seq. of the Stock Corpo­
ration Act is attributed to the Company, may not at any time ex­
ceed 10 % of the stated capital. The authorization may not be misused 
for the purposes of trading in the Company’s own shares.

a) For one or more purposes, the authorization may be invoked by 
the Company, or by third parties for the account of the Company, 
in one total amount or in a number of partial amounts either 
singly or on several separate occasions. The authorization is valid 
until May 10, 2015. 

b) The Executive Board has the choice of making the acquisition 
either through the stock exchange or in the form of a published 
purchase offer, or respectively, in the form of a published request 
for tender of such an offer.

aa)  If the acquisition of the shares is made through the stock ex­
change, the consideration per share paid by the Company 
(excluding ancillary acquisition costs) may not exceed or 
undercut the opening auction price quoted on the Xetra® 
dealing system (or a comparable replacement system) on the 
day of stock exchange dealing by more than 5 %. 

bb)  If the acquisition is made in the form of a published purchase 
offer, or in the form of a published request for tender of a 
purchase offer, the purchase price offered per share, or the 
limits of the purchase price spread per share, may not ex­
ceed or undercut the average closing price quoted on the 
Xetra® dealing system (or a comparable replacement sys­
tem) on the last three stock exchange dealing days  before 
the date of publication of the offer, or respectively, the date 
of publication of a request for tender of a purchase offer, by 
more than 10 %. If, following pub lication of the purchase 
 offer, or respectively following publication of a request for 
tender of a purchase offer, significant fluctuations occur in 
the applicable reference price, then an adjustment may be 
made to the offer, or respectively to the request for tender 
of such an offer. In such circumstances, reference will be 
made to the average price of the last three stock exchange 
dealing dates before publication of any po tential adjustment. 
The purchase offer, or respectively, the request for tender 
of such an offer, may include further conditions. Inasmuch 
as the offer is oversubscribed, or respectively, in the case 
of a request for tender of an offer, inasmuch as not all equiv­
alent offers can be accepted, then acceptance must occur 
on a quota basis. Preferential acceptance of small quantities 
of up to 100 shares on offer is permissible.
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c) The Executive Board is authorized to use shares of the Company 
that are acquired based on this authorization for all permitted 
legal purposes, but also especially for the following purposes: 

aa)  The shares may be redeemed without the redemption or its 
execution requiring a resolution by a further general meeting 
of shareholders. In a simplified procedure, they may be re­
deemed without a formal reduction in capital by adjustment 
of the proportional amount applicable to the remaining no­
par­value shares making up the Company’s stated capital. The 
redemption may be limited to only a portion of the shares 
acquired. The authorization for redemption of shares may be 
invoked repeatedly. If the redemption is performed using the 
simplified procedure, then the Executive Board is authorized 
to adjust the number of non­par­value shares contained in 
the Company’s articles of incorporation. 

bb)  The shares may be sold in an alternative manner than through 
trading on the stock exchange or via an offer to the share­
holders, if the shares are sold for cash at a price that is not 
significantly lower at the time of sale than the price quoted 
on the stock exchange for shares of the Company that are of 
the same type. 

cc)  The shares may be sold in consideration for contributions in 
kind, particularly in connection with the acquisition of other 
entities, parts of entities or investments in entities as well as 
in connection with business combinations.

d) The authorizations listed under paragraph c) sub­paragraphs 
aa) to cc) above also cover the disposition of shares of the 
Company that are acquired pursuant to Section 71 d sentence 
5 of the Stock Corporation Act. 

e) The authorizations listed under c) above may be made use of 
singly or repeatedly, wholly or partly, individually or jointly; the 
authorizations under c) sub­paragraphs bb) and cc) may also 
be made use of by entities dependent on the Company, or by en­
tities which are owned in the majority by the Company, or for 
their account, or for the account of third parties acting on behalf 
of the Company. 

f) Shareholder subscription rights in respect of this treasury stock 
are excluded to the extent that these shares are disposed of in 
accordance with the aforementioned authorization contained in 
paragraph c) sub­paragraphs bb) and cc). 

g) The Supervisory Board may prescribe that measures taken by the 
Executive Board based on this resolution by the general meeting 
of the shareholders may only be executed with its permission. 

No further disclosure requirements exist pursuant to Section 315 
paragraph 4 of the German Commercial Code. 

corP or Ate goVernAnce stAteMent

The declaration on corporate governance can be found on  
Symrise AG’s website at www.symrise.com > Investors > 
Corporate Governance > Corporate  Governance Statement



india|Chennai
Almost 1.2 billion people live in India. The number of consumers with 
middle and high income is expected to reach 500 million by 2025 – growing 
at a rate of 12 % a year. This makes the land of flowers, spices and scents 
one of the world’s most promising markets.
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sCent & CaRe
“in the perfumery school in 
chennai we are training 
creative young perfumers 
for the regional market.”

Thanks to the products in the Scent & Care business division,  
Symrise enjoys a leading position in India.

the pResenCe of symRise in india dates baCk to 1994. senioR peRfumeR m. subRamanian, a  
speCialist in the development of fRagRanCes foR the appliCation aReas peRsonal CaRe and 
household pRoduCts, was theRe almost fRom the beginning. with the opening of the peR-
fumeRy sChool in Chennai, symRise is offeRing talented young people a ChanCe to enteR one 
of the most Coveted pRofessions in the woRld. this is ouR way to develop talent who have  
a “nose” foR the needs and desiRes of the Region’s ConsumeRs.



M. Subr amanian, Senior Perfumer, Symrise Chennai
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C o n s o l I D aT e D  f I n a n C I a l  s TaT e M e n T s

consolidAted incoMe stAteMent – JAnuArY 1 to deceMBer 31,  2010

T€ noTes 2009 2010 

Sales 4, 5 1,361,954 1,571,890

Cost of sales 4 – 804,030 – 890,182

gross profit  557,924 681,708

    

Other operating income 6 12,320 7,736

Selling and marketing expenses  – 229,276 – 252,774

research and development expenses 8 – 95,686 – 107,859

Administration expenses 9 – 81,458 – 83,177

Other operating expenses  – 813 – 1,223

income from operations/ebiT  163,011 244,411

    

Finance income  14,884 6,392

Finance expenses  – 61,176 – 73,313

Financial result 10 – 46,292 – 66,921

  

income before income taxes  116,719 177,490

Income taxes 11 – 32,370 – 43,990

    

net income  84,349 133,500

    

earnings per share (€) 

- diluted and basic  13 0.71 1.13



81G r o u p m a n aG e m e n t  r e p o r t C o n s o l i dat e d F i n a n C i a l  s tat e m e n t s C o r p o r at e  G o v e r n a n C eC o m pa n y n o t e s

Consolidated income statement 
Consolidated statement of Comprehensive income

consolidAted stAteMent oF coMPreHensiVe incoMe

T€ noTes 2009 2010

net income  84,349 133,500 

Currency translation differences 2.6 16,406 59,607

unrealized gains/losses (–) deriving from “available-for-sale financial assets”  28 – 14

unrealized gains/losses (–) deriving from derivative financial instruments  – 1,578 5,900

reclassification of previously unrealized losses  
deriving from derivative financial instruments 10 0 19,743

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  451 – 6,496

Cumulated income and expenses recognized directly in equity  15,307 78,740

    

Total comprehensive income  99,656 212,240
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consolidAted stAteMent oF FinAnciAl P osition

T€ noTes deCeMber 31, 2009 deCeMber 31, 2010

asseTs    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 14 80,540 112,215

trade receivables 15 228,379 261,476

Inventories 16 234,779 305,031

prepayments, other current assets and receivables 17 61,097 47,515

Current tax assets  8,172 8,379

Assets held for sale 18 3,003 1,607

  615,970 736,223

    

non-current assets     

deferred tax assets 19 43,909 34,135

Other non-current assets and receivables 20 3,802 3,691

Financial assets 21 7,862 2,817

Intangible assets 22 837,667 863,394

property, plant and equipment 23 386,021 418,738

  1,279,261 1,322,775

    

asseTs  1,895,231 2,058,998
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Consolidated statement of Financial position

consolidAted stAteMent oF FinAnciAl P osition

T€ noTes deCeMber 31, 2009 deCeMber 31, 2010

LiabiLiTies    

Current liabilities    

trade payables 25 77,079 101,449

Short-term borrowings 26 289,941 178,150

Short-term provisions 27 5,862 5,271

tax liabilities  41,322 65,090

Other current liabilities 28 88,753 100,170

Short-term financial liabilities  45 0

  503,002 450,130

     

non-current liabilities    

long-term borrowings 29 364,576 455,332

Other non-current liabilities 30 17,118 17,221

long-term financial liabilities 31 19,128 0

long-term provisions 32 38 3,227

provisions for pensions and similar obligations 33 199,448 212,414

deferred tax liabilities 19 102,957 78,557

  703,265 766,751

    

ToTaL LiabiLiTies  1,206,267 1,216,881 

    

eQuiTy    

Share capital 34 118,173 118,173

Capital reserve 35 970,911 970,911

revaluation reserve 35 2,718 2,765

Fair value reserve 10 – 18,300 4

Cumulative translation differences  – 62,159 – 1,838

Accumulated deficit  – 322,379 – 247,898

Total equity  688,964 842,117

    

LiabiLiTies and eQuiTy  1,895,231 2,058,998
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consolidAted stAteMent oF cAsH Flows

T€ noTes 2009 2010

net income  84,349 133,500 

Income tax expenses 11 32,370 43,990

net interest expenses 10 39,790 58,722

sub-total  156,509 236,212

Amortization, depreciation and impairment losses on non-current assets 10, 22, 23 86,557 92,574

reduction in provision for pensions and similar obligations  – 5,001 – 1,586

Change in provisions and long-term accruals  5,052 364

losses on the sale of non-current assets  236 1,069

unrealized and realized losses deriving from IAS 39 fair value adjustments  2,575 6,281

unrealized foreign exchange differences  – 4,630 – 2,888

sub-total  84,789 95,814

Cash flow before working capital changes  241,298 332,026

    

Change in trade receivables or other assets that are  
not attributable to investment or financing activities  – 6,049 – 18,155

Change in inventories  23,118 – 53,307

Change in trade payables or other liabilities that are  
not attributable to investment or financing activities  15,569 19,269

Income taxes paid  – 48,246 – 44,758

net cash flow from operating activities  225,690 235,075

    

payments for investments in subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) 24 – 19,506 – 2,003

payments for investing in intangible assets 22 – 17,492 – 13,186

payments for investing in property, plant and equipment 23 – 39,181 – 57,335

payments for investing in financial assets  – 1,668 – 763

proceeds from sale of non-current assets  2,255 4,799

Cash used in investing activities  – 75,592 – 68,488

    

proceeds from other financial liabilities  95,970 429,053

redemption of other financial liabilities  – 1,044 – 47,500

proceeds from bank borrowings  0 251,436

redemption of bank borrowings  – 151,497 – 670,872

Cash effective transaction costs  – 361 – 6,353

Interest paid  – 25,014 – 41,096

Cash effective interest received  1,232 925

dividends paid 37 – 59,087 – 59,087

Cash used in financing activities  – 139,801 – 143,494 

    

net change in cash and cash equivalents  10,297 23,093

effects of changes in exchange rates  1,383 8,582

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 14 68,860 80,540

Cash and cash equivalents as of december 31  80,540 112,215
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows
Consolidated statement of Changes in equity

consolidAted stAteMent oF cHAnges in eQuit Y

T€

sHare 

 CaPiTaL

CaPiTaL 

reserve

revaLu -

aTion 

 reserve 

Fair vaLue 

reserve

CuMuL a-

Tive 

Tr ans -

L aTion 

diFFeren -

Ces

aCCuMu -

L aTed 

 deFiCiT

ToTaL 

eQuiT y

balance as of January 1, 2009 118,173 970,911 2,718 – 17,201 – 78,565 – 347,641 648,395

net income 0 0 0 0 0 84,349 84,349

Other components of  
comprehensive income 0 0 0 – 1,099 16,406 0 15,307

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 – 1,099 16,406 84,349 99,656

dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 – 59,087 – 59,087

balance as of december 31, 2009 118,173 970,911 2,718 – 18,300 – 62,159 – 322,379 688,964

        

balance as of January 1, 2010 118,173 970,911 2,718 – 18,300 – 62,159 – 322,379 688,964

net income 0 0 0 0 0 133,500 133,500

Other components of  
comprehensive income 0 0 47 18,304 60,321 68 78,740

Total comprehensive income 0 0 47 18,304 60,321 133,568 212,240

dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 – 59,087 – 59,087

balance as of december 31, 2010 118,173 970,911 2,765 4 – 1,838 – 247,898 842,117
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n o T e s  T o  T H e  C o n s o l I D aT e D  f I n a n C I a l  s TaT e M e n T s

1 General information

Symrise Aktiengesellschaft (Symrise AG), a stock corporation under 
German law, principally produces, markets and sells flavors, fra­
grances, aroma chemicals and cosmetic ingredients. It is the parent 
company of the Symrise Group with a registered office at Muehlen­
feldstrasse 1, 37603 Holzminden, Germany.

The shares of Symrise AG are authorized for trading on the stock ex­
change in the regulated market of the Frankfurt Securities Exchange 
and are listed in the Prime Standard segment of the MDAX.

The consolidated financial statements and the Group management 
 report of Symrise AG (hereinafter referred to as “Symrise”, 
“Group” or “the Symrise Group“) for the fiscal year ended Decem­
ber 31, 2010 were submitted to the Advisory Board for review  
on February 18, 2011.

The consolidated financial statements and the Group management 
 report of Symrise AG have been prepared in accordance with the Inter­
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, as well as the interpreta­
tions of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Com­
mittee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union and the supplemen­
tary commercial law provisions of Section 315a (1) of the German 
HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch” or Commercial Code] that were valid at 
the balance sheet reporting date.

The following explanations encompass those disclosures and com­
ments that are to be provided – in addition to the information con­
tained in the consolidated income statement, the consolidated state­
ment of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of fin­
ancial position, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows – as notes to the conso li­
dated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. 

For the purposes of clearer and better organized presentation, some 
reporting lines included in the consolidated statement of financial 
 position and the consolidated income statement group together indi­
vidual items; supplementary  information relating to such items is 
separately presented in the notes to the consolidated financial state­
ments. The consolidated income statement has been prepared using 
the “function of expense” (or “cost of sales”) method of presentation.

2 accounting policies

2.1 BAsis oF PrePAr Ation oF tHe F inAnciAl stAteMents

The consolidated financial statements are generally prepared on a 
historical cost basis with the exception of derivative financial instru­
ments that are measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros and 
amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand euros (T€) unless other­
wise explicitly indicated; in this process, rounding differences may 
arise. The individual financial statements of the companies included 
in the consolidation were either prepared at the balance sheet report­
ing date used for preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
or, respectively, in cases where the normal balance sheet reporting 
date of any company differed from December 31, 2010, then addition­
al financial statements were especially prepared as of this date.

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we have reclassi­
fied certain line items and grouped some insignificant items together. 
Prior year figures have been accordingly adjusted. In our view, these 
adjustments have not materially impacted the consolidated financial 
statements for previous reporting periods.

2.2 cHAnges to Accounting P olicies

The accounting policies adopted are generally consistent with those 
applied in the previous year. In addition, the Group has adopted those 
new or revised standards and interpretations that were mandatory 
for application in the fiscal year. 

 IFRS 3 (“Business Combinations”) is concerned with the deter­
mination of the purchase price, the measurement of non­control­
ling interests and the accounting for acquisitions achieved in stag­
es. The main changes in comparison to IFRS 3 (2004) may be 
summarized as follows:
– The scope of IFRS 3 (2008) includes business combinations 

based on contract alone and business combinations of mutual 
entities. 

– The definition of a “business” has been widened; the existence 
of a business may be inferred if the mere capability exists to 
perform an integrated set of activities or create assets. 

– Contingent purchase price consideration is to be included as 
a component of the acquisition price with its fair value at the 
 acquisition date. 

– An option has been introduced for measurement of non­control­
ling interests. Accordingly, measurement of the non­controlling 
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interests may be determined as their proportional interest in the 
fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquired entity or 
at their fair value. 

– Ancillary acquisition­related costs are to be expensed.
 Improvements to IFRS 2009 – IFRS 2, IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS 1, 

IAS 7, IAS 17, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, IFRIC 9, IFRIC 16 – With­
in the context of the IASB’s annual improvement project quality, 
changes are made to the wording of individual IFRS with the objec­
tive of clarifying the existing regulations and changes are also 
made which have an impact on accounting treatment, recognition 
and measurement. Due to clarifications made in respect of IFRS 8 
within the context of the improvement process, Symrise is not dis­
closing assets and liabilities in segmented form as these are not 
made available to the main decision maker.

In addition to the changes mentioned above, the following new or 
amended interpretations and supplementary provisions have been 
 approved by the IASB and the IFRIC and have been adopted by 
the EU. However, these have not been applied by Symrise as they are 
not yet mandatory. The impact on the consolidated financial state­
ments of the first­time application of the standards that are relevant 
to  Symrise is currently under review. Symrise is not currently plan­
ning early adoption of any of these standards: 

 Revised IAS 24 (“Related Party Disclosures”) simplifies the dis­
closure requirements in respect of government­related entities and 
clarifies the definition of a related party. The changes are applica­
ble to fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 2011. Symrise 
does not anticipate any change in its assessment of related parties 
to derive from the changes to IAS 24. 

 Amendments to IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Transfers of Financial 
Assets

  The changes to IFRS 7 relate to extended disclosure requirements 
for transfers of financial assets. The changes are designed to 
 improve the understanding of the relationship between the trans­
ferred financial assets and any corresponding financial liabilities 
(continuing involvement). Furthermore, the intention is to improve 
the ability to assess the nature of, and particularly the risks relat­
ing to, any continuing engagement in derecognized financial assets. 
The changes require additional disclosures in cases where a dis­
proportionately high number of transfers with continuing involve­
ment occur, for example, at the end of a reporting period. Subject 
to any deviations in dates of first­time application that derive from 
the EU endorsement, the changed version of IFRS 7 is to be applied 
for the first time for fiscal years commencing on or after July 1, 
2011. To date, we have not engaged in the type of transfers that are 
named in the amendments and do not expect any additional note 
disclosures due to their first time application.

 Amendments to IAS 32 (“Classification of Rights Issues”) regu­
lates the accounting treatment of subscription rights, options and 

warrants by their issuers. The changes are to be applied for fiscal 
years commencing on or after February 1, 2010. As Symrise has 
not issued any of the affected financial instruments to date, no 
 impacts will arise on its net assets, financial position and results 
of operations. 

 Amendments to IFRIC 14 (“Prepayments of a Minimum Fund-
ing Requirement”) deals with the conditions under which eco­
nomic benefits deriving from a pension plan are deemed to be avail­
able to an entity. Interpretation IFRIC 14, to which the amend­
ment relates, regulates the accounting treatment of defined benefit 
pension plans in cases where the value of existing plan assets 
 exceeds that of the pension obligations. The change is relevant to 
all cases in which an entity is subject to minimum funding re­
quirements and makes advance contribution payments to meet 
these obligations. Application of IFRIC 14 is mandatory for fis­
cal years commencing on or after January 1, 2011. Symrise does 
not anticipate that any impacts on its net assets, financial posi­
tion and results of operations will arise as a result of first­time 
 application of IFRIC 14.

 IFRIC 19 (“Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
 Instruments”) regulates the situation in which an entity either 
partially or completely extinguishes a financial liability by issu­
ing shares or other equity instruments. IFRIC 19 is to be applied 
to fiscal years commencing on or after July 1, 2010. At present, 
 Symrise does not have financial liabilities that are intended to be 
extinguished through issue of equity instruments; the change to 
 IFRIC 19 has the consequence – in the case that any agreement for 
such extinguishment exists – that any difference between the 
 carrying amount of the financial liability to be extinguished and 
the amount of the issued equity instruments at the time of their 
initial recognition is to be recognized in Group profit or loss.

2.3 Ke Y JudgMents And estiMAtes

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS includes the necessity for the Executive Board to make 
 measurements, estimates and assumptions which influence the appli­
cation of accounting policies and the amounts at which assets and 
 liabilities are recognized and contingent liabilities are disclosed 
at the balance sheet reporting date and which also influence in­
come and expenses. Actual results may differ from theses estimates.

Such estimates – and the assumptions on which they are based – are 
regularly reviewed. Any changes in values that result from such a 
 review are recognized in the reporting period in which the change is 
made and any other future reporting periods that are impacted. 

The following estimates and assumptions were made for the purpose 
of preparing the consolidated financial statements which have a 
 significant impact on amounts included in the financial statements:
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to $ 175.0 million with a term of ten years. The interest warrant is 
4.09 %. Directly attributable transaction costs, originally amounting 
to € 0.4 million, have been deducted from the private placement lia­
bility and are allocated on a straight­line basis over its term. Finally, 
Symrise has negotiated a revolving credit facility with a term of 
5 years and a volume of € 300.0 million. The interest rate is variable 
and is calculated based on the Euribor, or respectively the  Libor, 
plus a margin. Directly attributable transaction costs, originally 
amounting to € 2.1 million, have been deducted from the revolv­
ing credit facility liability and are allocated on a straight­line basis 
over its term. All these financial instruments are recognized at 
 amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Pensions And otHer Post- eMPloYMent BeneFits 

The expenses deriving from defined benefit pension plans and the 
Group’s obligation to provide additional post­employment health­
care benefits are determined on the basis of actuarial computations. 
The  actuarial valuation is made on the basis of assumptions pertain­
ing to discount rates, anticipated income from plan assets, future wage 
and salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. 
The discounting factors applied are based on the yield that could be 
obtained at the balance sheet reporting date for prime ranking, 
fixed interest corporate bonds with a corresponding term and currency 
designation. If such yield information is not available, then the dis­
counting factors are based on market yields for government bonds. 
The anticipated income from plan assets is determined on a consis­
tent basis taking long­term historical yields and the portfolio structure 
into account. Due to a fluctuating market and economic situation, 
the assumptions used may differ from actual developments which may 
result in significant impacts on the pension and other post­employ­
ment benefit obligations. Due to the long­term nature of such plans, 
these estimates are subject to great uncertainty. As at December 31, 
2010, the provisions for retirement benefit and similar obligations 
amounted to € 212.4 million (2009: € 199.4 million). Further details 
are to be found in note 33. 

Provisions deriving from obligations for other post­employment ben­
efits amounted to € 0.8 million as of December 31, 2010.

tr Ade receiVABles

The setting up of allowances for doubtful accounts receivable is based 
to a significant extent on estimations and assessments concerning 
 individual receivables that are based on the creditworthiness of a par­
ticular customer, current developments in the economic climate and 
the analysis of debt default history on a portfolio basis. In cases where 
the business sets up allowances based on an analysis of debt default 
history on a portfolio basis, a decline in the volume of accounts receiv­
able reduces the amount of any precautionary allowance and vice 
 versa. The carrying amount of trade receivables at the balance sheet 
reporting date amounted to € 261.5 million.

iMPAirMent oF goodwill

At least once a year, the Group reviews whether goodwill is impaired. 
This requires an estimate of the recoverable amounts of the cash­ 
generating units to which these assets are allocated. In order to esti­
mate the recoverable amount, the Group has to estimate the expect­
ed future cash flows deriving from the cash­generating units and also 
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the pres­
ent  value of these cash flows. As of December 31, 2010, the carrying 
amount for goodwill was € 488.8 million.

cAPitAlized de VeloPMent costs

Intangible assets that are generated by own development projects are 
recognized as assets in accordance with the accounting policies dis­
closed in note 2.6 below. In order to determine the amounts to be rec­
ognized as assets, among other factors, the management of the com­
pany needs to make assumptions about the expected future cash flows 
deriving from the assets, about the interest rates to be applied and 
about the period over which future cash flows will be generated by the 
assets. As of December 31, 2010, the carrying amount attributable 
to self­developed intangible assets amounted to € 15.0 million.

recoVer ABilit Y oF deFerred tA X Asse ts 

The Group makes an annual assessment as to whether tax loss carry­
forwards can be utilized and offset against future taxable profits 
over a foreseeable period. This requires that the Group makes an 
 estimate of the taxable income for each Group company. As at De­
cember 31, 2010, the carrying amount of the deferred tax assets was 
€ 34.1 million. More details are provided in note 19.

“scHuldscHeindArleHen”

The “Schuldscheindarlehen” [a German form of a bilateral loan agree­
ment secured by a borrower’s note, similar to bond financing] had 
an original volume of € 75.0 million and a term of 4 years. An amount 
of € 47.5 million was redeemed at the end of the year, so that a resid­
ual loan amount of € 27.5 million existed at the balance sheet reporting 
date. The interest warrant for the remaining fixed tranche is 5.35 %. 
The “Schuldscheindarlehen” is recognized at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method. In this connection, directly attrib­
utable transaction costs, amounting to T€ 81, are deducted from the 
“Schuld scheindarlehen” liabilities and allocated on a straight­line 
 basis over the term of the “Schuldscheindarlehen”.

tAKe uP oF FinAnciAl liABilities using  

tHe eFFectiVe interest r Ate Me tHod

Within the context of its refinancing activities, the company issued a 
Eurobond with a volume of € 300.0 million and a term of seven years. 
The interest warrant is 4.125 %. Directly attributable transaction costs, 
originally amounting to € 3.9 million, have been deducted from the 
bond liability and are allocated on a straight­line basis over the term 
of the bond. In addition, a US private placement was made, amounting 
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ProVisions 

The determination of warranty provisions and provisions for liti­
gation is based to a considerable extent on a process of estimation. 
 Symrise is confronted with litigation and regulatory processes in 
a number of judicial areas. These processes may lead to situations 
in which Symrise is subjected to criminal or civil law sanctions, 
 monetary fines or confiscation of gains. Symrise has only set up minor 
 provisions for litigation at the balance sheet reporting date.

AssuMP tions And estiMAtions rel Ating to otHer 

indiViduAl iteMs  rePorted in tHe stAteMent oF 

FinAnciAl Position

Assumptions and estimations are also necessary for the measure­
ment of contingent liabilities and liabilities, in the determination 
of the fair value of long­lasting items of property, plant and equip­
ment and intangible assets and of investments accounted for using 
the  equity method. The main assumptions that are used to make the 
relevant estimates are disclosed for the individual reporting line 
items in the Group income statement and the statement of the Group 
financial position. Actual values may differ in individual cases from 
the  assumptions and estimates made such that significant adjustment 
of the carrying amounts of the affected assets, or respectively 
 liabilities, may become necessary. Any such changes in estimates 

would be accounted for in accordance with IAS 8 (“Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”) by recognition in 
Group profit or loss at the point in time at which improved information 
becomes known. 

2.4 tHe scoPe oF tHe consolidAtion And  

inVestMents in AssociAtes

tHe scoPe oF tHe consolidAtion

The consolidated financial statements include Symrise AG as the 
 parent company and the companies that it has under its control 
 (subsidiary companies). Subsidiary companies are those companies 
over which Symrise AG – due to the fact that it holds the majority 
of voting rights – exercises influence over business and financial 
policies in order to gain advantage from their activities. 

Associates are companies over which Symrise AG exercises signifi­
cant influence over business and financial policies but which are not 
subsidiary companies or joint ventures. 

As of December 31, 2010, 60 (2009: 56) Group companies were con­
solidated; of these 10 (2009: 10) were located in Germany and 50 
(2009: 46) were located abroad. 

 January 1, 2010 addiTions disPosaLs deCeMber 31, 2010

Fully consolidated subsidiaries     

domestic 10 2 2 10

Foreign 45 4 0 49

     

Companies accounted for using the equity method     

Foreign 1 0 0 1

Total 56 6 2 60

In fiscal year 2010, the main changes to the scope of the Symrise AG 
consolidation were as follows:

domest iC

With effect from October 2010, Symrise GmbH & Co. KG, Holzminden 
was merged into Symrise AG, Holzminden by virtue of the with­
drawal of Symrise Verwaltungs GmbH, Holzminden. As a result, 
Symrise GmbH & Co. KG has ceased to exist. Symrise Verwal­
tungs GmbH, Holzminden was liquidated.



90

In addition, IP­Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Holzminden was formed with 
the objective of securing intellectual property within the Group, 
to provide for the licensing of such intellectual property and to admin­
istrate such intellectual property. Furthermore, IP­Verwaltungs­
GmbH, Holzminden was  incorporated as its managing partner entity.

ForeiGn

The scope of the consolidation abroad expanded as a result of the 
 acquisition of the Futura Labs Group in Egypt and the acquisition of 
land in Russia in the form of a share interest acquisition. 

All Group companies which were acquired in 2010 were fully consoli­
dated from the point in time in which they were acquired. 

As there has been no great change in the scope of the consolidation 
in comparison to the previous year, the comparability of the net as­
sets, financial position and results of operations with the prior year’s 
consolidated financial statements has not been prejudiced. 

Further explanations relating to our business combinations and their 
impact on our consolidated financial statements are contained in 
note 24.

2.5 PrinciPles de terMining tHe inclusion oF suBsidiArY  

And AssociAted coMPAnies in tHe consolidAtion 

Full consolidAtion

The financial statements of the parent company and those of its sub­
sidiaries are prepared as of the balance sheet reporting date using 
uniform accounting policies. For this purpose, adjustments are made 
to compensate for any differences in recognition and measurement 
deriving from local accounting policies. 

All inter­company balances, transactions and unrealized gains deriv­
ing from intra­Group transactions are eliminated. Unrealized losses 
deriving from intra­Group transactions are also eliminated unless 
Group acquisition and production costs cannot be recovered in future.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, i. e. 
from the date on which a controlling influence is gained by the 
Group. Inclusion in the consolidated financial statements ceases at 
such time as the parent company’s controlling influence ends.

Assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities deriving from business 
acquisitions are generally recognized at their fair values at the time 
of acquisition. In circumstances where the acquisition costs relating 
to the business acquisition exceed the proportionate share of newly 
measured net assets of the acquired object, the amount of such differ­
ence is recognized as goodwill. The expenses and income of any sub­
sidiary companies that are acquired are included in the consolidated 
income statement from the point in time at which the subsidiary is 
acquired. 

tHe eQuit Y Me tHod oF Accounting

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method 
inasmuch as Symrise does not hold a controlling interest but is still 
able to exercise a significant influence over the business and finan­
cial policies of these entities (“associates”). 

They are initially recognized in the consolidated financial statements 
at their cost of acquisition. After the date of acquisition, Symrise’s 
share in the result of the associate is recognized in the consolidated 
income statement. The share of any changes to equity which do not 
impact profit or loss is recognized directly in Group equity. Any accu­
mulated changes that occur after the date of acquisition accordingly 
increase, or respectively decrease, the carrying amount of the invest­
ment in the associate. 

Profits and losses deriving from transactions between the Group and 
the associate are eliminated in proportion to the investment share. 
The financial statements of the associate are prepared using uniform 
accounting policies as of the same balance sheet reporting date as 
that used for the consolidated financial statements. 

In the fiscal year reported, we have ceased to continue to separately 
disclose our investment Therapeutic Peptides Inc., Baton Rouge, USA 
for reasons of materiality.

2.6 suMMArY oF s igniFicAnt Accounting P olicies

Foreign currencY tr Ansl Ation

The subsidiaries of Symrise AG maintain their accounting records 
in the respective functional currency. As these subsidiaries conduct 
their business independently for financial, commercial and organi­
zational purposes, in most cases the functional currency is the respec­
tive local territory currency.

Assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries whose functional cur­
rency is not the euro are translated into euros by the Symrise Group 
at the rates applicable at the respective period closing date. Expenses 
and income are translated at transaction­based rates. Any trans­
lation differences deriving from this process are disclosed by the 
Symrise Group in Group equity as a separate item: “Cumulative 
translation differences”. 

In so far as the settlement of a monetary item representing an out­
standing account receivable from or account payable to a foreign 
business operation is neither planned nor probable in the foreseeable 
future, then such an item substantially represents part of the net 
 investment in this foreign business operation. Any translation differ­
ences resulting from such items are recognized in equity as “cumu­
lative translation differences” and are reclassified from equity to the 
consolidated income statement at the time of disposal of such net 
 investment.
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Equity components are translated at the historical rates of exchange 
effective at the time they were treated as an addition from a Group 
perspective. Any translation differences deriving from this process 
are disclosed in equity as a separate item: “Cumulative translation 
differences”. When specific types of business transaction are involved 
– business sales, liquidation, release of capital reserves or discon­
tinuance of operations – then any relevant “cumulative translation 
differences” that have been previously recognized in equity are re­
leased to profit or loss in the same period as the transaction occurs. 

Transactions designated in foreign currencies are translated by us 
into the respective functional currency of our subsidiary companies 

at the rate of exchange that is valid on the day of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities that are designated in foreign 
 currencies are re­measured using the closing rate of exchange. Any 
foreign currency translation impacts deriving from operational 
 activities are recorded within cost of sales, whereas any impacts 
 deriving from  financing activities are recorded within the finan­
cial result. 

The following table shows the changes in exchange rates relative to 
the euro for the most important currencies relevant to the Symrise 
Group: 

CounTry CurrenCies

CLosing r aTe = 1 € aver age r aTe = 1 €

deC. 31, 2010 deC. 31, 2009 2010 2009

great britain british pound gbp 0.858 0.904  0.858 0.891

uSA uS dollar uS$ 1.325 1.433  1.326 1.394

mexico mexican peso mXn 16.419 18.630 16.740 18.808

brazil brazilian real brl 2.212 2.496 2.333 2.766

Singapore Singapore dollar Sgd 1.711 2.013 1.807 2.023

China Chinese renminbi CnY 8.748 9.779 8.975 9.525

sAles re Venue recognition

Revenue from the sale of merchandise and products is shown at the 
fair value of the consideration received or expected to be received 
less any returns, trade discounts and rebates. Sales revenue is recog­
nized when the significant risks and rewards deriving from owner­
ship of the merchandise or products sold have been transferred to the 
buyer and the amount of revenue realized can be reliably measured. 
Sales revenue deriving from services rendered is recognized as soon 
as the service is performed. No sales revenue is recognized if signi­
ficant risk exists relating to receipt of consideration or relating to pos­
sible return of the goods. The transfer of risks and rewards to the 
buyer is determined in accordance with INCOTERMS (International 
Commercial Terms).

goVernMent gr Ants

Government grants are only recorded when reasonable certainty ex­
ists that the conditions attached to them will be complied with and 
that the grants will be received. As a rule, the grants are recorded as 
other operating income in those periods in which expenses that are 
to be compensated by the grants are incurred. In the 2010 reporting 
year, the amount of government grants received was insignificant.
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le Ases 

Leases, under the terms of which the lessor retains substantially all 
rights and obligations deriving from ownership of the leased object 
are considered to be operating leases. Operating lease payments are 
recorded as an expense in the Group income statement on a straight­
line basis over the term of the lease. There are no significant finance 
leases. 

incoMe tA Xes

Income taxes comprise both current and deferred taxes. Income taxes 
are recognized in the consolidated income statement unless they are 
related to items that are directly recognized in equity. 

Current taxes are taxes that are expected to be payable on taxable 
profits of the current fiscal year, measured using the tax rate appli­
cable to the year reported. Additionally, any adjustments to tax 
 expenses for previous years are also included here that may arise, 
for example, as a result of tax field audits.

Deferred taxes are recognized by applying the liability method to all 
temporary differences existing at the balance sheet reporting date 
between the amounts recognized for assets, or respectively liabilities, 
in the statement of the Group financial position and the amounts 
used for taxation purposes. No deferred taxes were recognized in 
 respect of the following temporary differences:

 the initial recognition of goodwill
 the initial recognition of an asset or a liability relating to a trans­

action that does not constitute a business combination and which 
 affects neither the profit for commercial accounting purposes nor 
the taxable result.

Symrise recognizes the effects of changes in tax rates on deferred 
taxes in the consolidated income statement, or respectively in equity, 
in the reporting period in which the legislative procedures to make 
the tax changes are substantially completed. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally en­
forceable right to offset current taxes receivable and payable and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on a company. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available in future against which deduct­
ible temporary timing differences, unutilized tax loss carry for­
wards or unutilized tax credits can be offset. The carrying amount of 
the deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet reporting 
date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suf­
ficient taxable profits will be available to offset the deferred tax asset. 

e Arnings Per sHAre

The Group reports the basic undiluted earnings per share for its ordi­
nary shares, which at the same time also represent the diluted earn­
ings per share; this figure is therefore not separately presented. In 
calculating the undiluted earnings per share, the profit or loss attrib­
utable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent company is divided 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
 during the year.

Business coMBinAtions And goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. 
This comprises the recording of identifiable assets (including intan­
gible assets that were not previously recognized) and liabilities (includ­
ing contingent liabilities, but not giving consideration to any future 
restructuring measures) of the acquired business operations at their 
fair values. 

Goodwill deriving from a business combination is recognized initially 
at cost and represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration 
transferred at the acquisition date of the business combination over 
the Group’s share in the fair values of the acquired identi fiable assets 
and liabilities. In so far as non­controlling interests remain, then 
for each acquisition, the choice of alternative options available under 
IFRS 3 is exercised individually: non­controlling  interests may be 
 either measured at fair value (“full goodwill” approach) or at the fair 
value of the proportional interest in the net  assets acquired (“partial 
goodwill” approach).

Any acquired goodwill is allocated at the acquisition date to cash­
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
 deriving from the business combination.

In accordance with IFRS 3, in conjunction with IAS 36, goodwill is 
not amortized on a scheduled basis. An impairment test is conduct­
ed on goodwill at least once per year to establish whether its value 
needs to be corrected. If indications of impairment exist, then a test 
is carried out more often.

In order to perform the impairment test, the goodwill has to be allo­
cated – after it is acquired – to those cash­generating units of the 
Group that are expected to benefit from the synergies deriving from 
the business combination. Each such cash­generating unit to which 
goodwill has been allocated represents the lowest level within the 
Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management pur­
poses and is not larger than a business segment as determined for 
purposes of IFRS 8.
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otHer intAngiBle Asse ts

Acquired intangible assets are measured at cost for the purpose of 
initial recognition. The cost of an intangible asset acquired during a 
business combination represents its fair value at the time of the 
 acquisition. 

Internally generated intangible assets are recognized as assets at 
their costs of generation provided that, as required by IAS 38, the 
 reliable attribution of expenditure is possible, the technical feasibility 
for completion and marketing is assured, and evidence is available 
that future economic benefits will be derived. 

Costs of generation comprise all costs – from the point in time that all 
requirements specified by IAS 38 have been fulfilled – that are di­
rectly or indirectly attributable to the development process as well as 
any necessary components of overheads that are development­related. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortization and all accumulated impairment losses. 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite 
or indefinite. Intangible assets that are generated through the devel­
opment process are amortized on a scheduled straight­line basis from 
the starting date of their use in production over the term of the antic­
ipated related product life­cycle. At the balance sheet reporting date, 
there were no intangible assets within the Group that were assessed 
to have an indefinite useful life.

Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a 
straight­line basis based on the following useful lives: 

inTangibLe asseTs useFuL LiFe

Software 3 to 10 years

recipes 7 to 20 years

trademarks 6 to 15 years

Customer data 6 to 15 years

patents and other rights 5 to 20 years

Gains and losses deriving from the disposal of intangible assets are 
determined at the time of disposal by comparing the proceeds of 
 disposal and the carrying amounts of the intangible assets and the 
differences are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

rese ArcH And de VeloPMent costs

Costs related to research activities – i.e. activities that are conducted 
in order to gain new scientific or chemical­related knowledge – are 
expensed by Symrise in full. 

Costs for development activities – i.e. for such activities which realize 
the results of research activities by implementing them into a plan or 
design for the production of new or significantly improved products – 
are recognized as assets. The prerequisite for such recognition is that 
the development costs can be reliably determined, that the product is 
technically and commercially feasible and that future economic bene­
fits are probable. In addition, Symrise must have the intention and 
have sufficient resources to complete the development process and 
to use or sell the asset generated. The costs recognized as assets 
 comprise material costs, direct manufacturing labor costs and other 
directly attributable costs – if these serve the purpose of preparing 
the asset for use. The capitalized costs are included as “Capitalized 
development costs” (see note 22). Any other development costs, 
which are incurred before the aforementioned criteria are fulfilled, 
are  expensed by Symrise directly as they are incurred.

ProPert Y,  Pl Ant And eQuiPMent

Items of property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost less 
 accumulated scheduled depreciation and impairment losses. If the 
costs of components of the individual items of property, plant and 
equipment are significant (in comparison to the total costs), then these 
components are recognized by Symrise as separate items and they 
are separately depreciated. The cost of so­called qualifying long­term 
assets – i.e. assets for which a substantial period of time is required 
to get them ready for their intended use – include capitalized interest 
costs in accordance with IAS 23.

Gains and losses deriving from disposals of property, plant and 
equipment are determined at the time of disposal as the difference 
between the proceeds of disposal and the carrying amounts of the 
items of property, plant and equipment and recorded in the consoli­
dated income statement. 

Depreciation is charged on a straight­line basis in the consolidated 
income statement based on the following useful lives. 

The useful lives and amortization methods for intangible assets are 
reviewed annually for suitability and prospectively adjusted as neces­
sary. 

The carrying amounts of capitalized development costs are tested for 
impairment once per year if the asset is not yet in use, or respectively, 
more often, if indications for impairment arise during the course of 
the year.
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FinAnciAl instruMents

Gener al inFormation 

Financial instruments are all contracts that give rise to a financial 
 asset of one company and a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another company. Financial assets particularly comprise cash and 
cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans receivable, as well as deriva­
tive financial instruments with a positive market value. 

Financial liabilities generally give rise to a claim for return of cash 
or another form of financial asset. This definition particularly covers 
borrowings from banks and other institutional or private lenders, 
trade payables, and derivative financial instruments with a negative 
market value, as well as – to a small extent – liabilities deriving from 
financing leases.

Financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of financial position inasmuch as Symrise incurs a contractual obliga­
tion. This means that normal market purchases or sales of financial 
assets – i.e. purchases or sales for which delivery of the financial asset 
must be made within the period stipulated by the market in which 
trading takes place or by convention – are accounted for on the date 
of trading.

Financial instruments are classified by Symrise, based on their na­
ture, in the categories “financial asset or liability as at fair value”, 
“loans and receivables”, “held to maturity” and “available for sale”. 
Symrise has not taken advantage of the option – upon initial rec­
ognition – to classify financial assets and liabilities as at fair value 
through profit or loss (the fair value option).

The subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities is 
made in accordance with the category to which they have been 
 assigned – at amortized cost, at fair value through profit or loss or 
through other comprehensive income. For further information, see 
note 39. 

derivat ive F inanCial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized at their fair value 
and are initially recorded at the time when the contract for the deriv­
ative financial instrument is entered into. Such instruments that 
are not used for purposes of hedging are classified by the company as 
“held for trading”. Derivative financial instruments are not held or 
 issued for speculative purposes. 

If the strict requirements of IAS 39 with regard to hedge accounting 
are fulfilled, Symrise designates and documents such hedging rela­
tionships thereafter as “cash flow hedges”. In consequence, gains and 
losses deriving from changes in the value of the interest swaps from 
this date onwards are no longer shown as part of the financial result 
but are now disclosed as one of the other components of equity after 
giving consideration to any deferred taxation implications.

Land is not depreciated. 

Depreciation of leasehold improvements is determined based on their 
useful lives or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. In deter­
mining the depreciation period applied, any lease extension options 
are considered if their exercise is probable. 

iMPAirMent oF ProPert Y,  Pl Ant And eQuiPMent And 

intAngiBle Asse ts ( witH tHe e XceP tion oF goodwill)

At each balance sheet reporting date, Symrise assesses whether indi­
cations exist for the impairment of assets held on a long­term basis. 
If this is the case, then the Group makes an estimate of the recover­
able amount for the asset. If the recoverable amount cannot be deter­
mined for the individual asset, then the estimate of the recoverable 
amount is made at the level of the smallest cash­generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less 
any costs to sell it and its value in use. If the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, then the asset is considered to 
be impaired and an impairment loss is recorded to reduce the value 
of the asset to its recoverable amount. In order to determine the value 
in use, estimated future cash flows deriving from the asset are dis­
counted to their present value using a pre­tax discounting factor. 
Symrise discloses impairment losses in the consolidated income 
statement as part of the related functional expenses. 

At each closing date, a review is made to check whether any indica­
tions exist that any impairment loss recognized in an early reporting 
period is no longer required, or could be reduced. If such an indica­
tion exists, then the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. Any 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed if – as a result 
of a change in estimate since the time when the impairment loss was 
originally recognized – the asset’s recoverable amount now exceeds 
its carrying amount. The reversal of the impairment loss must not re­
sult in a carrying amount that exceeds the amortized cost of the 
 asset which would have resulted if no impairment loss had been rec­
ognized in previous years. Such reversal is to be recognized imme­
diately in the result for the period. Following reversal of an impair­
ment loss, scheduled amortization or depreciation for future periods 
is adjusted as necessary in order to systematically spread the adjust­
ed carrying amount of the asset – less any expected future residual 
value – over its remaining useful life. 

ProPerT y, PL anT and eQuiPMenT useFuL LiFe

buildings 20 to 50 years

plant and machinery 3 to 12 years

equipment 3 to 20 years
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From May 2008 onwards, Symrise had applied hedge accounting to 
“cash flow hedges” in the form of interest swaps that are used to 
hedge future fluctuations in cash flows deriving from bank borrow­
ings. Following the refinancing process that was undertaken in No­
vember 2010, the negative fair values of the swaps were derecognized 
in December 2010. No derivative financial instruments existed at 
the balance sheet reporting date. Hedge accounting reduced the vola­
tility of impacts to the Group income statement and, at the time of 
disposal of the derivatives, led to realization of the losses that had been 
recorded in equity over their term. In this connection, refer to the 
further comments on the financial result in note 10.

The requirements deriving from IAS 39 for application of hedge ac­
counting are met by Symrise as follows: when hedging measures are 
commenced, both the relationship between the hedging instrument 
employed and the hedged item as well as the objective and strategy 
surrounding the hedge are documented. This includes not only the 
actual allocation of the hedging instrument to the related liability but 
also the assessment of the degree to which the hedging instrument 
employed is effective. Existing hedge relationships are regularly mon­
itored as regards their effectiveness. If a hedge becomes ineffective, 
then it is immediately discontinued. The so­called “Dollar­Offset Meth­
od” is used for the purpose of retrospective measurement of the 
 effectiveness. Under this method, a hypothetical derivative is defined. 
Changes in the fair value of the hypothetical derivative for each 
hedge period are compared to the respective changes in the fair value 
of the actual hedge transaction. An effective hedge should always 
be in the range from 80 % to 125 %, otherwise the swap relationship is 
considered to be ineffective.

Changes in the fair value of the derivatives are either recognized in 
the result or recognized in equity as a component of other reserves 
on a regular basis. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments 
that are allocated to a cash flow hedge are initially recognized in 
 equity in the amount of the portion that is determined to be an effec­
tive hedge. The change in fair value deriving from the ineffective 
 portion of the hedge is recognized directly as part of the financial re­
sult. The transfer to the consolidated income statement occurs at the 
same time as the impact deriving from the hedged item is recognized 
in profit or loss. The impact of the termination of the hedge account­
ing process on the results of operations is explained in note 10.

If derivative financial instruments are not considered for hedge ac­
counting purposes because the conditions for hedge accounting are 
not fulfilled, then these are classified as “held for trading” and are 
consequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. If the fair 
value is negative, this leads to recognition as a financial liability.

tr Ade And otHer current receiVABles

These are measured – where applicable by applying the effective 
 interest method – with their market value at the date they arose less 
any allowance for impairment. The allowances, which are made in 
the form of specific allowances for doubtful debts, are sufficient to 
take account of any anticipated default risks; any actual cases of 
 default lead to write­off of the related receivable. In the process of mak­
ing specific allowances, financial assets for which allowances are 
 potentially required are written down. 

The following factors are considered when the recoverability of trade 
receivables is analyzed: 

 An initial assessment is made of the ability of individual customers 
to meet their obligations and allowances are made against individ­
ual customer balances if it appears probable that the contractually 
agreed receivable will not be paid.

 Subsequently, allowances are set up for trade receivables on the 
basis of homogenous receivable classifications determined on the 
 basis of related default risks, past experience of receivables default, 
and also based on an assessment of general market conditions 
caused by such things as trade embargoes or natural disasters. We 
set up a general allowance to cover any impairment of a receiv­
ables portfolio if we are of the opinion that the age of the receivables 
provides an indication that it is probable that a loss has been 
 incurred or that outstanding payments are either completely or 
partially uncollectible. 

Allowances for doubtful trade receivables are in part set up using 
separate allowance accounts. The decision as to whether a default 
risk is considered by using an allowance account or by directly reduc­
ing the amount of the receivable is dependent upon the degree of 
 reliability with which the risk situation is assessed. Charges for allow­
ances are recorded as selling and marketing expenses. Due to the 
 differing nature of the operational segments and different regional cir­
cumstances, this assessment is made by the individuals responsible 
for the specific portfolios.

Other non­current receivables are measured at amortized cost under 
application of the effective interest method. 

cAsH And cAsH eQuiVAlents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. 
Symrise measures cash and cash equivalents at amortized cost. 

AVAil ABle - For - sAle FinAnciAl Asse ts

Symrise holds marketable securities and other available­for­sale fi­
nancial assets to a limited extent. Financial assets that are still in­
tended to be held for an indefinite period and which are to be sold in 
response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates are clas­
sified under non­current assets as “available-for-sale financial assets”. 
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However, if management expresses the intention to sell the financial 
assets within twelve months of the balance sheet reporting date, or if 
these need to be sold in order to generate liquid funds for operational 
purposes, then they are classified under current assets as “available-
for-sale financial assets”. Following their initial recognition, they are 
recorded at their fair value; all changes in fair value, with the excep­
tion of impairment losses, are recognized as a component of equity. 
If an asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred 
from equity to the consolidated income statement.

FinAnciAl liABilities

Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at their 
fair value, including any transaction costs that are directly related to 
the acquisition. For subsequent measurement purposes, with the 
 exception of derivative financial instruments, they are measured at 
amortized cost under application of the effective interest method.

sAles tA X

Sales revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of sales 
 taxes. The following exceptions apply: 

 If the sales tax incurred on the purchase of goods and services 
cannot be recovered from the tax authorities, then the sales tax 
is accordingly considered to be a component of the expense item; 
and 

 Receivables and payables are recognized with the amount of the 
sales tax included. 

The sales tax amount that is recoverable from or payable to the tax 
authorities is included in the statement of financial position under 
other current receivables or other current liabilities. 

Asse ts Held For sAle

“Assets held for sale” comprise long­lived assets and disposal groups 
of a company, which are classified as “held for sale” in accordance with 
IFRS 5. These are recognized at the lower of their carrying amount 
and their fair values less costs to sell. Inasmuch as liabilities relating 
to the respective disposal groups are identified, then these are also 
classified as “held for sale”.

inVentories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
The cost of inventories includes the cost of acquiring the inventories, 
production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred to bring the 
inventories to their existing location and condition. 

Net realizable value is determined as the estimated sales value less 
any estimated costs of completion and any necessary selling expenses. 

Raw materials are valued using the weighted average purchase cost. 

Finished goods and work in process are valued with the cost of direct 
materials, direct labor as well as other direct costs and a reason­
able proportion of manufacturing overheads, based on normal capac­
ity utilization of production facilities, excluding borrowing costs. 

Pensions And otHer Post- eMPloYMent BeneFits

The companies within the Group have various pension schemes set 
up in accordance with the regulations and practices of the countries 
in which they operate. Additionally, in one country agreements exist 
to provide additional post­employment healthcare benefits. Some 88 % 
of these benefits are unfunded.

deFined ContriBut ion pl ans

A defined contribution plan is a plan under the terms of which a com­
pany pays fixed contributions to other entities during the period up to 
termination of the employment relationship and has no further legal 
or constructive obligation to pay additional amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an em­
ployee benefit expense in the consolidated income statement as they 
become due. 

deFined BeneFit pl ans 

Defined benefit plans comprise all pension plans other than defined 
contribution plans. Symrise measures the claim entitlement deriving 
from defined benefit plans (DBPs) with the actuarially computed pres­
ent value of the earned benefit entitlement. The Group’s net pension 
obligation in respect of the defined benefit plans is calculated sepa­
rately for each plan by estimating the future pension benefit amount 
that employees have become entitled to in return for their service 
in current and prior periods; the amount of this pension benefit is dis­
counted to determine its present value. Any unrecognized past service 
costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The dis­
count rate is determined as the yield at the reporting date on “AA”­
rated bonds that have maturity dates that approximate to the pay­
ment terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in 
the same currency as the pension benefits are expected to be paid. 

The computation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method. If the claim entitlement is not 
 covered by external plan assets, then Symrise recognizes the defined 
benefit obligation (DBO), corrected for any past­service related ex­
penses/income deriving from retrospective changes in the plan (past 
service cost), as a liability. If the claim entitlement is covered by 
the plan assets, Symrise sets off the DBO against the market value of 
these assets. The net amount, corrected for any previously unrecog­
nized past service cost and effects deriving from the asset ceiling, is 
recognized either as a pension liability or as an asset.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense if 
the net amount of the cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and 
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losses for each individual plan – at the end of the previous reporting 
period – exceeds the higher amount of 10 % of the defined benefit 
 obligation or 10 % of the fair value of the plan assets at that date. The 
gains or losses are allocated over the expected average remaining 
 period of service of the employees included in the plan.

The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight­line 
basis over the average period until the entitlement to the benefits be­
comes vested. Inasmuch as the benefit entitlement becomes vested 
immediately upon introduction of, or at the time of changes to, a pen­
sion plan, then the past service cost is recognized immediately in 
profit or loss.

The amount of the liability to be recognized deriving from a defined 
benefit plan comprises the present value of the defined benefit obli­
gation, plus or minus any actuarial gains or losses that have not yet 
been recognized in profit or loss, minus prior service costs not yet 
recognized, plus any unrecognized gains deriving from amendments 
to the plan and minus the fair value of plan assets out of which obli­
gations are to be directly settled.

ProVisions

A provision is recognized if the Group has a current (legal or con­
structive) obligation deriving from a past event and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be re­
quired to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are dis­
counted using a pre­tax discount rate that reflects current market 
 expectations as regards the effect of the time value of money and, 
where applicable, the specific risks associated with the liability. 
Where discounting takes place, the increase in the provision that re­
sults from the passage of time is recognized as a finance expense.

In general, Symrise recognizes increases in provisions against profit 
or loss. Any positive or negative amount arising out of the difference 
between the settlement of an obligation and the carrying amount of 
the provision is recognized by the organization in profit or loss. 

sHAre - BAsed reMuner Ation 

The Symrise Group awards share­based remuneration to members 
of the Executive Board and to strategically important employees, 
which is paid in cash. The share of the fair value of share­based re­
muneration with cash settlement terms that is related to services 
 rendered prior to the date of measurement is recorded as a personnel 
expense for which an other provision is disclosed at the same time. 
The fair value is re­determined at each balance sheet reporting date 
and also at the date of actual payment. Any change in the fair value 

is recognized in profit or loss. At the date of payment, the fair value of 
the liability is equal to the amount that is actually payable to the 
 respective employees. Further information on share­based remunera­
tion is to be found under note 43.

iMPAirMent

F inanCial asse ts

Financial assets are measured at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. An impair­
ment loss is recorded for financial assets if objective indications ex­
ist that one or more events have had a negative influence on future 
cash flows deriving from the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset recognized at am­
ortized cost is determined as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, dis­
counted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in 
respect of a financial asset held as available for sale is determined by 
reference to its fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on 
an individual basis. All other financial assets are collected in groups 
that share similar default risk profiles and then measured. 

All impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated income 
statement as a component of the financial result. Gains and losses de­
riving from financial assets that are designated as available for sale 
are recognized in equity. Any cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognized in equity are transferred to the income statement at the 
time of disposal.

non - F inanCial asse ts

At each Group balance sheet reporting date, the Group assesses wheth­
er indications exist that a non­financial asset is impaired. The carry­
ing amount of the asset is reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 
asset is not covered by its recoverable amount. If such indications ex­
ist, or if a test for impairment of an asset needs to be made, then 
the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. The recover­
able amount of an asset is the higher of the fair value of the asset or 
cash­generating unit less any costs to sell it and its value in use. The 
recoverable amount must be determined for each individual asset 
 unless the asset itself does not generate any cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those generated by other assets or groups 
of assets. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, then an impairment loss is recorded to reduce the value of 
the asset to its recoverable amount. In order to determine an asset’s 
value in use, estimated future cash flows deriving from the asset are 
discounted to their present value using a pre­tax discount rate.
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Impairment losses are recorded in the expense categories that reflect 
the function of the impaired asset. 

If the reasons for impairment cease to be applicable, then the impair­
ment loss may be reversed to the extent that the value of the asset 
does not exceed its amortized or depreciated costs of acquisition or 
construction.

goodwill

In accordance with IAS 36 , Goodwill is tested for impairment at least 
once per year. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that an 
impairment loss may need to be recognized, then a test is carried out 
more frequently. 

Any impairment loss is ascertained by determining the recoverable 
amount attributable to the cash­generating unit to which the good­
will relates. The recoverable amount of a cash­generating unit is the 
higher of the fair value less any costs to sell it and its value in use. 
If the recoverable amount attributable to the cash­generating unit is 
less than its carrying amount, then an impairment loss is recog­
nized. Impairment losses on goodwill may not be reversed in future 
periods. The Group carries out its annual impairment test for good­
will as of September 30. 

Within the Symrise Group, the two segments “Scent & Care” and 
“Flavor & Nutrition” have been defined as cash­generating units, 
whereby as of September 30, 2010, goodwill has been allocated in the 
amount of € 157.6 million (2009: € 152.8 million) to the segment 
“Scent & Care” and in the amount of € 323.9 million (2009: € 306.3 mil­
lion) to the segment “Flavor & Nutrition”. The recoverable amount is 
represented by the fair value less costs to sell and was determined as 
the present value of future cash flows. The future cash flows were 
 derived from the Symrise Group’s planning information. The compu­
tation of the present value of estimated future cash flows is mainly 
based on assumptions relating to future selling prices, or respective­
ly sales volumes, and costs and taking into account any changed 
 economic circumstances. The planning information is based on a de­
tailed planning horizon for fiscal year 2011. For the two periods sub­
sequent to the detailed planning horizon, planning was based on a 
growth rate of 5.0 % and a growth rate of 0.5 % was assumed for mea­
surement of the perpetual annuity. The cash flows so determined were 
discounted with a weighted after­tax capital cost factor of 7.62 % (2009: 
7.87 %). There were no indications of impairment for the fiscal year. 

In performing the impairment test, Symrise carried out sensitivity 
analyses. For this purpose, the discounting factor for 2011 until 2013 
was alternatively increased by 1.0 percentage points and planned sales 
revenue growth was reduced to 3 % (the average rate of growth for 
the market). These variations in the measurement parameters again 
did not result in any required impairment for capitalized goodwill. 

3 Determination of fair value

Many of the Group’s accounting policies require that a fair value is 
 determined for financial and non­financial assets and liabilities. The 
fair values for measurement purposes have been determined using 
the methods described below. Further information regarding the as­
sumptions used to determine fair value is contained in the notes 
 specific to the particular asset or liability.

FinAnciAl instruMents – gener Al PrinciPles

In accordance with the three­tiered “fair value hierarchy”, a distinc­
tion is made between three measurement categories:

 Level 1: At the first level of the “fair value hierarchy”, fair values 
are determined based on publicly quoted market prices, as obser­
vation of active markets provides the best objective evidence to de­
termine the fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability.

 Level 2: If no active market exists for a financial instrument, then 
an entity should determine the fair value use with the help of valu­
ation techniques. Valuation techniques include use of recent arm’s 
length business transactions between knowledgeable, willing 
and independent contractual parties, comparison to the current fair 
value of another financial instrument that is substantially the 
same and use of discounted cash flow analysis methods or option 
pricing models. The fair value is determined based on the result 
of a valuation technique that makes maximum use of market data 
inputs and relies as little as possible on entity specific data inputs.

 Level 3: The valuation techniques used at this level use parameters 
that are not based on market observations.

FinAnciAl inVestMents And  

otHer FinAnciAl liABilities 

The fair value of financial investments that are traded on regulated 
 financial markets is determined by reference to the quoted market 
price (closing price). The fair value of financial investments for which 
no regulated market exists is derived by reference to the current 
 market price of comparable securities or is calculated based on the 
cash flows expected to derive from the underlying asset. The fair 
 value of financial liabilities is calculated from the present value of 
 future principal and interest payment cash flows which are discount­
ed using an interest rate valid at the balance sheet closing date. 

ProPert Y,  Pl Ant And eQuiPMent 

The fair value for items of property, plant and equipment recognized 
as a result of a business combination is based on market values. 
The market value for real estate is based on the estimated value at 
which the real estate could be sold on the day of measurement 
 under the presumption that this would represent a business trans­
action between a willing buyer and a willing seller under the 
terms of which both parties operate knowledgeably, prudently and 
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without compulsion and the transaction is preceded by adequate 
 marketing activities. The market values of items of plant, equipment, 
 fixtures and fittings are based on quoted prices for similar items.

intAngiBle Asse ts

The fair value of recipes recognized as a result of a business combina­
tion is based on the discounted estimated royalty payments that were 
avoided as a result of the recipe becoming owned, or is based on the 
discounted cash flows that are expected to derive from use of the reci­
pe. The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the discount­
ed cash flows that are expected to derive from the use and eventual 
sale of the assets.

4 segment information

descriP tion oF segMents For wHicH  

MAndAtorY rePorting is reQuired

For internal reporting purposes, we present our business activities in 
a number of different ways, mainly based on business divisions and 
geographical regions. Based on this reporting information, our Exec­
utive Board – which has responsibility as the Chief Operating Deci­
sion Maker (CODM) for the success of the various business divisions 
and the allocation of resources – assesses the business activities 
from a number of angles. Operational segments are divided into busi­
ness  divisions. With the business divisions “Scent & Care” and 
 “Flavor & Nutrition”, we have two segments, organized according to 
our products, for which mandatory reporting is required. 

In the business division Flavor & Nutrition, Symrise develops, pro­
duces and sells flavors that are used by customers in the production 
of food products (seasoned and sweetened food products as well as 
dairy products) and beverages. In this connection, Symrise uses a 
modular concept in which both individual aroma components as 
well as complete product solutions for end­consumers are offered. 

In the business division Scent & Care Symrise develops, produces 
and sells fragrances, cosmetic ingredients, aroma molecules and 
mint aromas and develops special application processes fur such sub­
stances. The products and application processes that are developed 
by Symrise in the Scent & Care division are used by customers in the 
manufacture of perfumes, body­care products, cosmetic products, 
dental care products or for cleaning products and detergents. 

The segment reporting by region is aligned to the location of assets. 
Sales to customers are reported in the geographical region in which 

the customer is located. Territories are grouped together for internal 
controlling and reporting purposes into the regions EAME (Europe, 
Africa, Middle East), North America, Asia/Pacific and Latin America. 
As from the beginning of 2010, a change was made within the re­
gions: Mexico and the Caribbean countries, which up to the year 2009 
had been included in the North America region, are reported from 
2010 on under Latin America. Prior year figures have accordingly 
been adjusted to reflect the new structure. 

Me AsureMent criteriA For segMents 

Transactions are conducted between the two segments only to a lim­
ited extent. These are transacted at market prices and have not been 
separately disclosed for materiality reasons. External sales revenues 
represent the sales of the two segments with non­Group third parties 
and thus in their sum are equal to the consolidated sales of the 
 Symrise Group. 

The income and expenditure of the Symrise Group’s central units and 
functions are completely included in the two segments “Flavor & 
 Nutrition” and “Scent & Care” based on performance­related, or respec­
tively utilization­related, criteria. The result­related determining fac­
tor for the management of the segments is the operating result, repre­
senting the result before considering finance income and expenses 
as well as taxes. The depreciation and amortization charges that can 
be directly attributed to each segment are included in the determi­
nation of the segment contribution. The financial result is not included 
as the segments are mainly centrally financed. This is the reason 
why financial income and expenses are disclosed lower down at Group 
level combined together in the form of the financial result. Taxes are 
treated in a similar manner so that net income for the period after tax 
is reported combined to give the Group result.

The capital investment made by a segment comprises all expenditure 
incurred during the reported period for the purpose of acquiring 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 

segMent Asse ts/liABilities

The Executive Board which is the Chief Operating Decision Maker, 
does not receive all information with respect to segment assets 
and lia bilities. The allocation of goodwill to segments is disclosed 
in note 22. 

The accounting rules applied for the purposes of segment reporting 
are generally consistent with the accounting rules applied by 
 Symrise, which are described in note 2. – “Accounting policies”.
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segMent results:

2009
T€

FL avor & 

nuTriTion sCenT & Care

noT 

 aT TribuTabLe

ToTaL 

 business 

 divisions = 

 ToTaL grouP

external sales 679,666 682,288 0 1,361,954

Cost of sales – 386,869 – 417,161 0 – 804,030

gross profit 292,797 265,127 0 557,924

Other operating income 5,274 7,046 0 12,320

Selling and marketing expenses – 115,914 – 113,362 0 – 229,276

research and development expenses – 46,578 – 49,108 0 – 95,686

Administration expenses – 41,569 – 39,889 0 – 81,458

Other operating expenses – 358 – 455 0 – 813

income from operations/ebiT 93,652 69,359 0 163,011

Financial result    – 46,292

income before income taxes    116,719

Income taxes    – 32,370

net income    84,349

     

other segment information     

Capital investment     

 Intangible assets 7,664 9,828 0 17,492

 property, plant and equipment 23,547 15,634 0 39,181

Amortization of intangible assets – 22,198 – 22,765 0 – 44,963 

depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 21,200 – 20,394 0 – 41,594
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segMent results:

2010
T€

FL avor & 

nuTriTion sCenT & Care

noT 

 aT TribuTabLe

ToTaL 

 business 

 divisions = 

 ToTaL grouP

external sales 767,395 804,495 0 1,571,890

Cost of sales – 423,729 – 466,453 0 – 890,182

gross profit 343,666 338,042 0 681,708

Other operating income 3,648 4,088 0 7,736

Selling and marketing expenses – 128,941 – 123,833 0 – 252,774

research and development expenses – 50,013 – 57,846 0 – 107,859

Administration expenses – 43,292 – 39,885 0 – 83,177

Other operating expenses – 599 – 624 0 – 1,223

income from operations/ebiT 124,469 119,942 0 244,411

Financial result    – 66,921

income before income taxes    177,490

Income taxes    – 43,990

net income    133,500

     

other segment information     

Capital investment (including acquisitions)     

    Intangible assets 26,658 7,790 0 34,448

    property, plant and equipment 40,860 18,771 0 59,631

Amortization of intangible assets – 23,828 – 22,507 0 – 46,335

depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 22,026 – 18,293 0 – 40,319

There were no customers – either in the year reported or in the previ­
ous year – with which more than 10 % of Group sales were transacted.
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results BY geogr APHicAl region:

* europe, Africa, middle east

**  As from the beginning of 2010, a change was made within the regions: mexico and the 

Caribbean countries, which up to the year 2009 had been included in the north 

America region, are reported from 2010 on under latin America. prior year figures 

have accordingly been adjusted to reflect the new structure. 

*** excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets 

2009
T€ eaMe*

norTH 

 aMeriCa**

asia/  

 PaCiFiC

L aTin 

 aMeriCa** ToTaL

sales      

Sales by region (point of delivery) 679,449 242,546 282,471 157,488 1,361,954

 domestic     193,934

 Foreign     1,168,020

      

other segment information      

long-lived assets***     1,223,688

 domestic     669,916

 Foreign     553,772

Capital investment      

 Intangible assets 15,239 809 263 1,181 17,492

 property, plant and equipment 22,499 5,361 6,672 4,649 39,181

2010
T€ eaMe*

norTH 

 aMeriCa**

asia/  

 PaCiFiC

L aTin 

 aMeriCa** ToTaL

sales      

Sales by region (point of delivery) 761,541 281,043 343,014 186,292 1,571,890

 domestic     201,151

 Foreign     1,370,739

     

other segment information      

long-lived assets***     1,282,132

 domestic     666,134

 Foreign     615,998

Capital investment  
(including business  combinations)      

 Intangible assets 30,171 0 1,558 2,719 34,448

 property, plant and equipment 31,716 5,612 14,724 7,579 59,631
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FurtHer coMMents rel Ating to  

tHe consolidAted incoMe stAteMent

5 sales

Sales revenue results primarily from the sale of products. Please refer 
to the segment reporting information that is presented in note 4 for 
a presentation of sales by business division and geographical region. 

6 other operating income

Restructuring provisions relating to Switzerland and the USA, 
amounting to € 1.5 million, were reversed because their utilization is 
no longer expected. 

The income from service units results from services performed by 
Group companies and mainly comprises canteen income, rental and 
lease income as well as income for further services performed on 
 behalf of third parties.

Government subsidies were granted – as was also the case in the pre­
vious year – in France and Germany to promote research projects 
as well as in Singapore in respect of investments in future technology. 
The subsidies in France are due to successively expire. 

The total amount of miscellaneous other income is made up of a large 
number of individually insignificant items that are unrelated to the 
sale of products.

T€ 2009 2010

Income from the reversal of provisions 870 2,160

Income from service units 2,541 1,773

Income from government subsidies 4,592 650

Capitalized It development costs 663 0

miscellaneous other income 3,654 3,153

Total 12,320 7,736

7 personnel expenses

The following personnel expenses are included in the consolidated 
 income statement:

The personnel expenses mainly include wages and salaries and other 
forms of remuneration and rewards granted to employees.

The social security charges include social security contributions that 
the organization is required by to make by law. These include defined 
contribution plan benefits, the total amount of which was unchanged 
at € 9.9 million, which in this year were completely incurred by German 
companies (2009: € 9.6 million).

The pension expense mainly comprises employer contributions to 
company supplementary benefit schemes. The interest impact deriv­
ing from the unwinding of discounted pensions is disclosed as a 
 component of the financial result (see note 10). 

The average number of employees employed within the Group was 
5,231 (2009: 5,004). 

T€ 2009 2010

Wages and salaries – 239,086 – 262,194

Social security charges – 51,058 – 55,222

pension expense  
(excluding interest expense) – 7,242 – 8,626

Share-based remuneration – 1,419 – 1,267

Total – 298,805 – 327,309

  2009 2010

manufacturing and technology 1,947 2,057

Sales and marketing 1,403 1,384

research and development 934 1,035

Administration 397 427

Service units 323 328

Total number of employees 5,004 5,231

trainees 112 109

Total 5,116 5,340
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10 financial result8 research and development expenses

In addition to the costs of Symrise’s own research departments, this 
item also includes costs for external services and trial­related acti­
vities. In addition to basic research, activities in this area include the 
development of products to generate sales revenues and also devel­
opment of new or improved processes to reduce the cost of sales; such 
costs are not capitalizable.

9 administration expenses

Administration expenses are made up as follows:

T€ 2009 2010

Information technology – 23,645 – 25,796

Finance and controlling – 21,144 – 20,995

Human resources – 9,525 – 10,324

Other administration expenses – 27,144 – 26,062

Total – 81,458 – 83,177

The increase in administration expenses is particularly due to an 
 increase in expenses associated with the implementation of SAP for 
subsidiary companies. 

T€ 2009 2010

Interest income   

 from bank deposits 801 474

 from derivatives 12,725 4,598

 other 578 471

interest income 14,104 5,543

Change in value of financial assets 
based on measurement at fair value 
through profit or loss 458 170

Other finance income 322 679

Finance income 14,884 6,392

 

Interest expenses

 for bank borrowings – 11,767 – 11,175

 for derivatives – 26,381 – 36,628

 other – 15,746 – 16,462

interest expenses – 53,894 – 64,265

Foreign currency losses/gains primarily 
from external and internal group lending – 2,001 2,621

Change in value of financial assets 
based on measurement at fair value 
through profit or loss – 3,025 – 6,460

Other finance expenses – 2,256 – 5,209

Finance expenses – 61,176 – 73,313

   

Financial result – 46,292 – 66,921

The financial result was negatively impacted by an amount of 
€ 21.7 million as a result of discontinuance of hedge accounting and 
the termination of interest swaps within the context of the refinanc­
ing arrangements, even though the outflow of liquidity only amounted 
to € 17.9 million.

This resulted from the transfer of losses, amounting to € 19.7 million, 
deriving from the effective portion of the hedge for hedge account­
ing purposes, which had been recognized directly in equity, and also 
from accumulated negative measurement impacts, amounting to 
€ 2.0 million, which had arisen up to the date of termination of the 
swaps. Up to the date of discontinuance of hedge accounting, € 5.9 mil­
lion of unrealized gains before tax, which derived from measure­
ment of derivative financial instruments, were recognized directly in 
equity.
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Up to the date of termination of the swaps, € 2.5 million was rec­
ognized for hedge accounting purposes in profit or loss as finance 
 expenses in respect of the ineffective portion of the hedge. 

Other interest expenses particularly include the unwinding of dis­
count on pension provisions amounting to € 12.4 million (2009: 
€ 12.6 million) and the amortization of financing­related transaction 
costs, amounting to € 2.2 million.

Finance expenses mainly comprise impairment losses, amounting to 
€ 5.8 million, recognized against two investments in cooperation 
partners, who had applied for dissolution shortly before the balance 
sheet reporting date due to lack of liquidity. This impairment loss 
 includes write­downs in the second and third quarters, amounting to 
€ 3.4 million, which had already been recognized in respect of these 
two companies. 

A positive influence on the financial result derived from the improve­
ment by € 4.6 million, in comparison to the previous year, in the net 
impact of foreign currency transactions. This was mainly due to the 
strong US Dollar and to the recovery of the Mexican Peso.

11 Income taxes

Income taxes disclosed comprise current taxes paid or owed in indi­
vidual territories as well as deferred taxes.

In the year reported, the income tax expense increased by some 
€ 11.6 million to € 44.0 million, particularly due to the increase in the 
consolidated result for the year by some € 60,8 million. However, 
the Group’s tax rate – at 25 % – was significantly lower than that for 
the previous year (28 %).

The increase in the current tax expense by € 26.4 million to € 66.3 mil­
lion mainly resulted from the improvement in the Group’s results 
as well as from asset transfers within the Group, which – on the other 
hand – also led to an increased possibility for depreciation and 

 amortization and significantly contributed to the increase in deferred 
tax income by € 14.8 million to a level of € 22.3 million.

Derivation of the effective tax rate. The income taxes disclosed 
in the year reported, amounting to € 44.0 million (2009: € 32.4 million) 
can be reconciled to an “expected” income tax expense, which would 
have arisen if the statutory tax rates, giving consideration to different 
local tax rates, had been applied to the consolidated earnings before 
tax:

The increase in the effect deriving from tax­free income results from 
foreign tax benefits which were taken advantage of to a greater 
 extent in the year reported. On the other hand, the increase in the 
 effect deriving from non­deductible expenses results from impair­
ment losses recognized against investments. See the related com­
ments in note 10.

Tax effects deriving from prior periods reduced significantly in 2010, 
due to the fact that a number of significant tax field audits were 
 largely completed. 

12 amortization and depreciation

The amounts charged for amortization of intangible assets and depre­
ciation of property, plant and equipment are visible in the schedules 
showing movements in non­current assets that are included under 
notes 22 and 23. 

T€ 2009 2010

Current tax expense – 39,874 – 66,320

deferred tax expense/income   

 from losses carried forward – 3,649 – 1,407

 from temporary differences 11,153 23,737

Total deferred tax income 7,504 22,330

income taxes – 32,370 – 43,990

T€ 2009 2010

Consolidated earnings before tax 116,719 177,490

expected tax expense calculated  
at local tax rates – 28,564 – 45,346

tax effect deriving from prior periods – 9,300 – 2,201

tax effect deriving from tax-free income 5,752 7,983

tax saving due to the set-off of tax loss 
carry forwards for which no deferred 
tax asset was set up 4,856 3,767

tax effect deriving from non-deductible 
expenses – 2,744 – 5,866

non-recoverable withholding tax – 1,831 – 2,748

tax effect of measurement adjustments 
to deferred tax assets – 689 – 102

tax effect deriving from change  
in tax rate – 6 – 15

Other tax effects 156 538

income tax expense – 32,370 – 43,990
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13 earnings per share 

Basic undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the 
profit for the year attributable to the holders of the parent company’s 
ordinary shares by the average number of ordinary shares outstand­
ing during the year.

No option or conversion rights were issued either in 2009 or 2010; 
as a consequence, there is no dilutive effect on the earnings per 
share. The diluted and basic undiluted results are thus identical.

Cash and cash equivalents mainly comprise balances with banks 
whose carrying amounts correspond to their fair values. 

FurtHer coMMents rel Ating to  

tHe consolidAted BAl Ance sHee t

14 Cash and cash equivalents

15 Trade receivables

Trade receivables due to companies are not secured. The organization 
therefore bears the risk of default on payment of the receivables. 
However, the Company’s experience in the past was that only insigni­
ficant cases of default arose with some individual customers. The 
 carrying amount of the trade receivables represents their fair value.

The Company grants credit terms that are normal for the industry 
and the territories in which it operates.

The due­dates for trade receivables at the reporting date and the 
 related allowances for doubtful accounts receivable have developed as 
follows:

  2009 2010

earning per share (€) 0.71 1.13

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares (in thousands) 118,173 118,173

T€ 2009 2010

Cash 80,431 104,831

Cash equivalents 109 7,384

Total 80,540 112,215

T€ 2009 2010

trade receivables 231,719 268,494

less: allowances for doubtful accounts – 3,340 – 7,018

Trade receivables, net 228,379 261,476

T€

Carry-

ing 

aMounT 

(gross)

no aLLow-

anCe seT 

uP and 

aLso noT 

overdue

FuLL or 

ParTiaL 

aLLow-

anCe  

seT uP

sPeCi -

FiC  

aLLow-

anCe 

seT uP

over-

due For 

1–30 

days

over-

due For 

31–90 

days

over-

due For 

31–360 

days

over-

due For 

More 

THan 

one 

year

overdue 

buT no 

aLLow-

anCe  

seT uP

december 31, 2009          

Trade receivables 231,719 203,269 28,450 3,340 19,568 5,139 2,371 1,372 0

december 31, 2010          

Trade receivables 268,494 235,165 33,329 7,018 23,594 5,965 2,165 1,605 0
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The development of the allowances for doubtful trade receivables 
 during the year reported was as follows:

The risk of default for trade receivables is limited due to the large 
number of customers and their widely diversified activities in differ­
ent markets. 

The expenses deriving from the set up of allowances for doubtful 
trade receivables and debt write­offs are disclosed under selling and 
marketing expenses. They relate to customers in Iran (€ 2.2 million) 
– for which we perceive a higher economic risk due to the tightened 
US  embargo – as well as to a large number of individual cases. 

16 Inventories

T€ 2009 2010

balances as of January 1 2,321 3,340

Foreign currency differences 16 191

Increase in the scope  
of the  consolidation 0 139

Allowances set up 2,230 4,934

Allowances utilized in the year reported – 265 – 304

Allowances reversed – 962 – 1,282

balances as of december 31 3,340 7,018

T€ 2009 2010

raw materials 89,790 130,463

Work in progress 61,677 77,287

Finished goods 96,536 111,586

less: Impairment losses recognized – 13,224 – 14,305

Total 234,779 305,031

Costs of materials amounting to € 649.6 million were recognized in 
the consolidated income statement and are included in the cost of 
sales (2009: € 576.7 million). 

The impairment losses of T€ 1,081 (2009: T€ 2,606) that are included 
as expenses for the year are made up as follows: T€ 193 (2009: 
T€ 1,038) for raw materials, T€ 1,036 (2009: T€ 378) for work in process 
and T€ ­148.0 (2009: T€ 1,190) for finished goods. The impairment 
losses were included in the material costs. 

17 prepayments, other assets and receivables 

T€ 2009 2010

taxes other than on income 23,449 19,972

Other prepayments 11,614 12,814

Compensation claim 0 7,500

non-trade receivables from customers 1,109 1,071

Security deposits, guarantees  
and rental deposits 748 1,066

litigation claims 2,014 966

receivables from employees 1,223 648

Advance payment for  
acquisition of Futura labs 19,506 0

Other assets 1,434 3,478

Total 61,097 47,515

Taxes other than income tax mainly comprise value­added tax. 

Other prepayments relate particularly to advance payments made in 
respect of customer bonuses and payments made to achieve inclusion 
in customer supplier listings. Such amounts are then amortized over 
the agreed contract periods.

The compensation claim represents the set up of claims against 
our former shareholder for compensation in respect of subsequent tax 
 demands arising from the current tax field audit in Germany. 

Prepayments, other assets and receivable are not secured. Symrise 
bears the risk of default on payment for the carrying amounts of the 
receivables. However, the Company’s experience in the past was that 
only insignificant cases of default arose. The reporting line item in­
cludes only a minimal amount of allowances; due to this lack of mate­
riality, presentation of the development of these allowances accounts 
has been waived.

The carrying amount of prepayments, other assets and receivables 
represents their fair value. 

18 assets held for sale

As a consequence of the restructuring process carried out in 2009, a 
decision was taken to close the “Scent & Care” production location 
in Switzerland and to relocate it to Holzminden. The intention was to 
sell the land and all production and administration buildings before 
the end of the first quarter of 2010. The land was reclassified as “held 
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for sale” in 2009 and the remaining production facilities were also re­
classified in the same manner in early 2010 and from that date on­
wards have not been depreciated on a scheduled basis. Following the 
completion of the transfer of production to Holzminden in March 
2010, there is still an intention to sell the assets and sales activities 
are continuing such that a disposal is expected before the end of 
2011. As no sale took place up to June 2010, an impairment loss of 
€ 2.0 million was recognized to write down the assets to their low­
er fair value less anticipated costs to sell, determined based on an a 
market assessment.

In 2010, deferred tax income amounted to € 22.3 million compared to 
a deferred tax income of € 7.5 million in 2009. 

The main contributors to this development were temporary measure­
ment differences deriving from internal Group transactions as well 
as measurement differences arising from derivatives and investments. 
Measurement differences deriving from currency effects had a 
 compensating effect.

It was possible to utilize tax loss carry forwards in Germany, the 
USA, France and Mexico. In contrast, use of tax depreciation potential 
in Singapore as well as limitation by fact of the utilization of losses 
deriving from forward contracts in Germany, increased permissible 
tax loss carry forwards.

2009 2010

T€

deFerred 

Ta x asseTs

deFerred 

Ta x 

 LiabiLiTies

deFerred 

Ta x 

 inCoMe/ 

exPense (–)

deFerred 

Ta x asseTs

deFerred 

Ta x 

 LiabiLiTies

deFerred 

Ta x 

 inCoMe/ 

exPense (–)

   
Intangible assets 4,228 82,604 10,618 16,637 81,848 13,165

property, plant and equipment 7,185 44,793 3,298 6,969 45,261 – 684

Financial investments 0 23 – 7 106 20 109

Inventories 7,777 2,969 – 627 9,783 249 4,726

receivables 1,531 703 – 20 567 3,897 – 4,158

Other assets 1,100 5,357 145 2,509 60 6,706

pension provisions 9,820 751 51 11,688 340 2,279

Other provisions and accruals 6,972 327 2,961 7,865 299 920

Other liabilities 8,087 9,140 – 5,266 1,580 9,665 673

tax loss carry forwards 40,919 0 – 3,649 39,513 0 – 1,406

sub-total 87,619 146,667 7,504 97,217 141,639 22,330

Set-off – 43,710 – 43,710 0 – 63,082 – 63,082 0

Total 43,909 102,957 7,504 34,135 78,557 22,330

Carrying aMounT in T€ 2009 2010

property, plant and equipment, 
 Switzerland 3,003 1,607

Total 3,003 1,607

19 Deferred tax assets/liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are made up as follows:
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reMaining TerMs For  
Ta x Loss Carry Forwards 2009 2010

T€ ToTaL

noT 

 uTiLizabLe uTiLizabLe ToTaL

noT 

 uTiLizabLe uTiLizabLe

   
In one year 0 0 0 0 0 0

In two years 0 0 0 0 0 0

In three years 276 33 243 0 0 0

In four years 318 301 17 0 0 0

In five or more years 41,209 9,417 31,792 24,242 564 23,678

unlimited term for tax loss carry forwards 100,944 1,809 99,135 113,880 0 113,880

Total 142,747 11,560 131,187 138,122 564 137,558

In order to calculate the figures in the above table, the loss carry­for­
ward of those entities subject to two types of income tax was deter­
mined using the combined tax rate, taking the resulting deferred tax 
assets as a basis (where applicable, before any recognition adjustment).

Total corporate income tax loss carry­forwards amounted to € 99.9 mil­
lion (2009: € 108.2 million). In addition, tax loss carry­forwards of 
€ 114.5 million (2009: € 140.1) existed for other categories of income 
tax, primarily for trade tax in Germany and US state tax. 

In 2010, tax loss carry­forwards were utilized, particularly in Germa­
ny, Mexico, the USA and France. New tax loss carry­forwards arose, 
due to use of depreciation potential abroad and due to forward trans­
actions in Germany, the bulk of which, however, can be utilized in the 
next five years.

Use of the tax loss carry­forwards, and thus the measurement of 
 corresponding deferred tax assets, is supported by tax planning 
 information. In consequence, impairment of deferred tax assets only 
amounted to € 0.2 million (2009: € 3.9 million). Such impairment 
 relates exclusively to state tax in the USA. 

The calculation of foreign income taxes is based on the legal regula­
tions prevailing in the respective countries. The tax rates for the 
 individual companies vary between 0 % and 42 %, excluding financing 
entities. 

20 other non-current assets and receivables 

T€ 2009 2010

Security deposits, guarantees  
and  rental deposits 1,692 1,388

prepayments, customer bonuses 958 798

taxes other than on income 567 777

loans to customers/employees 301 454

Other loans 284 274

Total 3,802 3,691

The carrying amount of other non­current assets and receivables is 
equivalent to their fair value.

21 financial assets

Non­current financial assets include shares in investment funds 
that have to be held in compliance with legislative requirements for 
pension obligations in Austria. 

In the year reported, deferred tax assets and liabilities include cur­
rency­related effects, amounting to € 0.1 million (2009: € 0.0 million). 

In the context of the refinancing measures undertaken by the Group, 
interest hedges were discontinued. As a consequence, the deferred 
tax asset of € 7.4 million that had previously been accounted for in eq­

uity in accordance with hedge accounting requirements was derecog­
nized in the period reported without impacting profit or loss. 

Reference is made to note 11 with respect to changes in deferred tax 
assets that derive from tax loss carry forwards.

The following table shows the periods over which tax loss carry 
 forwards can be utilized or when they expire: 
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22 Intangible assets

2009
T€ goodwiLL

reCiPes1 wiTH 

FiniTe useFuL Lives

reCiPes1 wiTH 

 indeFiniTe useFuL 

Lives

oTHer inTangibLe 

 asseTs2 wiTH 

FiniTe useFuL Lives  

oTHer inTangibLe 

 asseTs3 wiTH indeFiniTe 

useFuL Lives

CaPiTaLized 

 deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on oTHer  

inTangibLe  asseTs ToTaL

    
Cost           

as of January 1, 2009 489,560 517,969 62,080 77,200  6,759 5,056 5,701 10,918 1,175,243

Additions through purchase 0 0 0 8,978  0 0 0 4,375 13,353

Additions through own generation 0 0 0 0  0 3,933 206 0 4,139

disposals 0 – 14 0 – 1,390  0 – 150 0 – 85 – 1,639

transfers 0 63,041 – 63,041 14,632  – 6,759 2,522 – 2,522 – 7,873 0

Currency translation impacts 5,581 4,614 961 – 1,539  0 242 0 69 9,928

as of december 31, 2009 495,141 585,610 0 97,881  0 11,603 3,385 7,404 1,201,024

           

accumulated amortization/impairment           

as of January 1, 2009 – 33,715 – 263,663 0 – 20,416  0 – 71 0 0 – 317,865

Scheduled amortization for the fiscal year 0 – 37,850 0 – 6,045  0 – 299 0 0 – 44,194

Impairment losses recognized 0 0 0 – 769  0 0 0 0 – 769

disposals 0 0 0 1,379  0 150 0 0 1,529

Currency translation impacts 188 – 2,283 0 37  0 0 0 0 – 2,058

as of december 31, 2009 – 33,527 – 303,796 0 – 25,814  0 – 220 0 0 – 363,357

           

Carrying amounts           

As of January 1, 2009 455,845 254,306 62,080 56,784  6,759 4,984 5,701 10,918 857,378

as of december 31, 2009 461,614 281,814 0 72,067  0 11,383 3,385 7,404 837,667

1 recipes mainly consist of production formulas
2 patents and other similar rights, software, trademarks and development costs 
3 trademarks
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2009
T€ goodwiLL

reCiPes1 wiTH 

FiniTe useFuL Lives

reCiPes1 wiTH 

 indeFiniTe useFuL 

Lives

oTHer inTangibLe 

 asseTs2 wiTH 

FiniTe useFuL Lives  

oTHer inTangibLe 

 asseTs3 wiTH indeFiniTe 

useFuL Lives

CaPiTaLized 

 deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on oTHer  

inTangibLe  asseTs ToTaL

    
Cost           

as of January 1, 2009 489,560 517,969 62,080 77,200  6,759 5,056 5,701 10,918 1,175,243

Additions through purchase 0 0 0 8,978  0 0 0 4,375 13,353

Additions through own generation 0 0 0 0  0 3,933 206 0 4,139

disposals 0 – 14 0 – 1,390  0 – 150 0 – 85 – 1,639

transfers 0 63,041 – 63,041 14,632  – 6,759 2,522 – 2,522 – 7,873 0

Currency translation impacts 5,581 4,614 961 – 1,539  0 242 0 69 9,928

as of december 31, 2009 495,141 585,610 0 97,881  0 11,603 3,385 7,404 1,201,024

           

accumulated amortization/impairment           

as of January 1, 2009 – 33,715 – 263,663 0 – 20,416  0 – 71 0 0 – 317,865

Scheduled amortization for the fiscal year 0 – 37,850 0 – 6,045  0 – 299 0 0 – 44,194

Impairment losses recognized 0 0 0 – 769  0 0 0 0 – 769

disposals 0 0 0 1,379  0 150 0 0 1,529

Currency translation impacts 188 – 2,283 0 37  0 0 0 0 – 2,058

as of december 31, 2009 – 33,527 – 303,796 0 – 25,814  0 – 220 0 0 – 363,357

           

Carrying amounts           

As of January 1, 2009 455,845 254,306 62,080 56,784  6,759 4,984 5,701 10,918 857,378

as of december 31, 2009 461,614 281,814 0 72,067  0 11,383 3,385 7,404 837,667
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2010
T€ goodwiLL

reCiPes1 wiTH FiniTe 

useFuL Lives

oTHer inTangibLe asseTs2

wiTH FiniTe useFuL Lives  

CaPiTaLized  

deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on oTHer inTangibLe asseTs ToTaL

  
Cost         

as of January 1, 2010 495,141 585,610 97,881  11,603 3,385 7,404 1,201,024

Additions through change in scope of consolidation 7,184 3,154 10,968  0 0 0 21,306

Additions through purchase 0 0 7,956  0 0 3,266 11,222

Additions through own generation 0 0 0  569 1,395 0 1,964

disposals 0 – 297 – 2,564  – 757 0 – 870 – 4,488

transfers 0 0 4,315  1,759 – 1,759 – 4,315 0

Currency translation impacts 21,321 19,096 4,852  674 0 70 46,013

as of december 31, 2010 523,646 607,563 123,408  13,848 3,021 5,555 1,277,041

         

accumulated amortization/ impairment         

as of January 1, 2010 – 33,527 – 303,796 – 25,814  – 220 0 0 – 363,357

Additions through change in scope  
of consolidation 0 0 – 44  0 0 0 – 44

Scheduled amortization for the fiscal year 0 – 32,090 – 12,642  – 1,603 0 0 – 46,335

Impairment losses recognized 0 0 – 45  0 0 0 – 45

disposals 0 91 1,606  0 0 0 1,697

transfers 0 4,589 – 4,589  0 0 0 0

Currency translation impacts – 1,300 – 7,879 3,616  0 0 0 – 5,563

as of december 31, 2010 – 34,827 – 339,085 – 37,912  – 1,823 0 0 – 413,647

         

Carrying amounts         

As of January 1, 2010 461,614 281,814 72,067  11,383 3,385 7,404 837,667

as of december 31, 2010 488,819 268,478 85,496  12,025 3,021 5,555 863,394

1 recipes mainly consist of production formulas
2 Software, patents and other similar rights, trademarks
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2010
T€ goodwiLL

reCiPes1 wiTH FiniTe 

useFuL Lives

oTHer inTangibLe asseTs2

wiTH FiniTe useFuL Lives  

CaPiTaLized  

deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on deveLoPMenT CosTs

advanCe PayMenTs  

on oTHer inTangibLe asseTs ToTaL

  
Cost         

as of January 1, 2010 495,141 585,610 97,881  11,603 3,385 7,404 1,201,024

Additions through change in scope of consolidation 7,184 3,154 10,968  0 0 0 21,306

Additions through purchase 0 0 7,956  0 0 3,266 11,222

Additions through own generation 0 0 0  569 1,395 0 1,964

disposals 0 – 297 – 2,564  – 757 0 – 870 – 4,488

transfers 0 0 4,315  1,759 – 1,759 – 4,315 0

Currency translation impacts 21,321 19,096 4,852  674 0 70 46,013

as of december 31, 2010 523,646 607,563 123,408  13,848 3,021 5,555 1,277,041

         

accumulated amortization/ impairment         

as of January 1, 2010 – 33,527 – 303,796 – 25,814  – 220 0 0 – 363,357

Additions through change in scope  
of consolidation 0 0 – 44  0 0 0 – 44

Scheduled amortization for the fiscal year 0 – 32,090 – 12,642  – 1,603 0 0 – 46,335

Impairment losses recognized 0 0 – 45  0 0 0 – 45

disposals 0 91 1,606  0 0 0 1,697

transfers 0 4,589 – 4,589  0 0 0 0

Currency translation impacts – 1,300 – 7,879 3,616  0 0 0 – 5,563

as of december 31, 2010 – 34,827 – 339,085 – 37,912  – 1,823 0 0 – 413,647

         

Carrying amounts         

As of January 1, 2010 461,614 281,814 72,067  11,383 3,385 7,404 837,667

as of december 31, 2010 488,819 268,478 85,496  12,025 3,021 5,555 863,394
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The disclosed amount for goodwill, of € 488.8 million € (2009: 
€ 461.6 million), derives from difference amounts that arise during 
the investment consolidation process. The increase derives from 
the currency translation of goodwill recognized by foreign business 
operations into the Group’s reporting currency (the euro) and 
 additions deriving from the acquisition of the Futura Labs Group. In 
conformity with IFRS 3, in conjunction with IAS 36, goodwill is 

 subjected to an annual impairment test. The impairment test for fis­
cal year 2010 resulted in no requirement to record an impairment 
loss as the recoverable amounts determined for the cash­generating 
units exceeded their respective carrying amounts. The cash flows 
 determined in this process were discounted with a weighted after­tax 
capital cost factor of 7.62 % (2009: 7.87 %). More detailed comments 
are to be found in note 2.6. 

goodwill BY segMent

T€

deCeM -

ber 31,  

2009

deCeM -

ber 31,  

2010

oF wHiCH: 

addiTions 

in 2010

segment    

Flavor & nutrition 307,972 328,720 7,184

Scent & Care 153,642 160,099 0

Total 461,614 488,819 7,184

The main additions in the fiscal year consisted of software (€ 7.3 mil­
lion), particularly deriving from capital investment in connection 
with the global roll­out of SAP. 

Research and development expenses, which were directly expensed 
in the income statement, amounted in fiscal year 2009 to € 107.9 mil­
lion (2009: € 95.7 million).

The amortization of recipes and customer­bases is allocated to pro­
duction and is therefore included in the cost of sales. The amortiza­
tion of other intangible assets is generally allocated to the respective 
functional areas included in the consolidated income statement. 
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23 property, plant and equipment

2009
T€

L and and 

buiLdings

PL anT and 

MaCHinery eQuiPMenT

advanCe 

 PayMenTs ToTaL

Cost      

as of January 1, 2009 289,243 233,546 105,838 28,184 656,811

Additions 2,159 4,395 6,981 25,646 39,181

disposals – 1,571 – 3,220 – 7,631 0 – 12,422

transfers 6,325 12,213 4,646 – 23,184 0

reclassifications in accordance with IFrS 5 – 4,811 0 0 0 – 4,811

Currency translation impacts 3,411 2,568 2,031 380 8,390

as of december 31, 2009 294,756 249,502 111,865 31,026 687,149

      

accumulated depreciation/impairment      

as of January 1, 2009 – 69,376 – 127,956 – 70,747 267 – 267,812

Scheduled depreciation for the fiscal year – 11,278 – 16,982 – 10,089 0 – 38,349

Impairment losses – 100 – 3,038 – 107 0 – 3,245

disposals 676 2,578 6,972 0 10,226

transfers – 180 89 91 0 0

reclassifications in accordance with IFrS 5 1,858 0 0 0 1,858

Currency translation impacts – 1,022 – 1,272 – 1,508 – 4 – 3,806

as of december 31, 2009 – 79,422 – 146,581 – 75,388 263 – 301,128

      

Carrying amounts      

As of January 1, 2009 219,867 105,590 35,091 28,451 388,999

as of december 31, 2009 215,334 102,921 36,477 31,289 386,021
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The most significant additions to property, plant and equipment resulted 
from capital investment in a Spray Dryer in Singapore (€ 5.8 million), 
in optimization of the supply chain (€ 5.3 million) and in chemical pro­
duction facilities at the location in Holzminden (€ 5.3 million). Capital 
investment at our new location in Russia amounted to € 6.1 million. 
Additional capital investment (€ 2.9 million) was made in Brazil as 
a consequence of the relocation of production facilities from São Paulo 
to Sorocaba.

24 acquisitions

Futur A l ABs grouP

A contract was concluded in November 2009 for the acquisition of a 
100 % share interest in the Futura Labs Group with effect from the 
 beginning of January 2010. 

The Futura Labs Group comprises Aroma Labs For Flavours SAE, 
 Futura Labs International SAE and Roseland World Corp. In this man­
ner, Symrise acquired one of the leading producers of flavors and 
 fragrances in Egypt and the United Arab Emirates and as a result be­
came the new market leader in Egypt. The most important reasons 
for the acquisition were to gain the customer base, know­how and the 
efficient organization of the Group with which Symrise can press 
ahead with its plans for further expansion in the region. Furthermore, 
synergy effects are expected with the existing locations in Egypt 
and Dubai. Only insignificant sales had been generated with this orga­
nization up to the time of its purchase.

2010
T€

L and and 

buiLdings

PL anT and 

MaCHinery eQuiPMenT

advanCe 

 PayMenTs ToTaL

Cost      

as of January 1, 2010 294,756 249,502 111,865 31,026 687,149 

Additions through change in scope of consolidation 1,467 1,579 660 207 3,913

Additions 5,716 7,307 7,047 37,265 57,335

disposals – 4,274 – 3,091 – 3,626 – 377 – 11,368

transfers 3,103 12,597 5,085 – 20,785 0

reclassifications in accordance with IFrS 5 0 – 2,802 – 563 0 – 3,365

Currency translation impacts 11,197 8,290 3,653 1,828 24,968

as of december 31, 2010 311,965 273,382 124,121 49,164 758,632

      

accumulated depreciation/impairment      

as of January 1, 2010 – 79,422 – 146,581 – 75,388 263 – 301,128

Additions through change in scope of consolidation – 323 – 877 – 417 0 – 1,617

Scheduled depreciation for the fiscal year – 12,377 – 17,518 – 10,424 0 – 40,319

Impairment losses 0 – 42 0 0 – 42

disposals 3,790 2,083 2,982 0 8,855

transfers 0 31 – 31 0 0

reclassifications in accordance with IFrS 5 0 2,623 548 0 3,171

Currency translation impacts – 2,585 – 4,080 – 2,171 22 – 8,814

as of december 31, 2010 – 90,917 – 164,361 – 84,901 285 – 339,894

      

Carrying amounts      

As of January 1, 2010 215,334 102,921 36,477 31,289 386,021

as of december 31, 2010 221,048 109,021 39,220 49,449 418,738
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At the date of acquisition, the fair values of the assets and liabilities 
acquired were as follows: 

T€ January 2010

Current assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 674

trade receivables 2,369

Inventories 1,850

prepayments, other assets and receivables  1,103

Short-term financial assets 5

non-current assets  

property, plant and equipment 2,192

Intangible assets  

 Customer base 10,346

 recipes 2,998

Current liabilities  

 Short-term financial liabilities 1,340

 trade payables 812

 Other current liabilities 2,204

 deferred tax liabilities 534

identifiable assets  

goodwill 7,184

Total assets 
= acquisition costs 23,831

The fair value of the trade receivables amounted to T€ 2,369; they had 
a nominal value of T€ 2,500. No allowances for bad debts had been set 
up against the receivables and payment for them was received in full.

Goodwill, amounting to T€ 7,184, includes the value of the synergies 
and know­how that are expected to arise from the acquisition. It was 
not possible to identify the value of the know­how as a separate asset 
as it results from cooperation between various functions within the 
organization and does not, therefore, fulfill the criteria laid down by 
IAS 38. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

The acquisition cost agreed, or respectively the fair value of the con­
sideration transferred, amounts to TUS$ 34,150 (representing 
T€ 23,831 as measured at the rate of exchange applicable at the time 
of initial consolidation). At the balance sheet reporting date, 
TUS$ 31,600 of this amount had been paid.

The outstanding purchase price installments at the balance sheet 
 reporting date, amounting to TUS$ 2,550 (T€ 1,931) represent con­
tingent consideration. A further purchase price installment of up to 
TUS$ 3,000 (T€ 2,094) plus interest – due on April 1, 2011 – was 
agreed with the former owners which is linked to the achievement of 
growth rates forecast for the Dubai region. At the date of acquisi­
tion this further payment was measured at an amount of TUS$ 300. 
 Furthermore, a final payment of TUS$ 2,250 (T€ 1,570), due on Decem­
ber 31, 2012, was agreed which is to be reduced at the date of pay­
ment by any possible claims to damages deriving from third parties.

In the year reported, only insignificant amounts of ancillary acquisi­
tion­related costs were incurred. 

From the date of its acquisition, the Futura Labs Group made a contri­
bution € 15.8 million to sales and € 0.6 million to pre­tax profits. 

25 Trade payables

As in the previous year, trade payables are due within one year. 

26 short-term borrowings

T€ 2009 2010

bank borrowings 288,568 173,932

Accrued interest 1,330 4,173

Other short-term borrowings 43 45

Total 289,941 178,150

The differences between the carrying amounts and the nominal 
amounts of bank borrowings, deriving from unamortized transaction 
costs, amounted to € 2.1 million (2009: € 1.0 million).
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No security has been provided for short­term bank borrowings, which 
are made up as follows: 

The short­term bank borrowings deriving from the revolving credit 
facility, totaling € 174.1 million (2009: 211.2 million), relate to bor­
rowings available to the Group under the terms of a revolving credit 
line arrangement of € 300.0 million that is available until Novem­
ber 19, 2015. In addition to the global credit facility that has been ex­
tended, a bilateral credit facility exists with Commerzbank, amount­
ing to € 20 million, the purpose of which is to cover short­term payment 
 requirements. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2010, Symrise had 
 unutilized lines of credit available, totaling € 145.9 million (2009: 
€ 108.1 million).

2009
T€
 
CrediT FaCiLiT y MaTuriT y daTe

noMinaL 

 vaLue

Carrying 

aMounT noMinaL inTeresT r aTe

symrise gmbH & Co. Kg      

Senior Facility – term b – eur January 2010 133,000 132,338 euribor + 0.5 % 0.98 %

Senior Facility – term b – uS$ January 2010 78,856 78,856 libor + 0.5 % 0.75 %

Senior Facility – term A – eur december 2010 57,000 56,820 euribor + 0.5 % 0.98 %

Senior Facility – term A – uS$ december 2010 15,701 15,524 libor + 0.5 % 0.75 %

      

symrise ag      

bilateral Credit line January 2010 5,000 5,000  1.03 %

      

symrise vertriebs gmbH, austria      

bank overdrafts January 2010 30  30   6.75 %

Total  289,587 288,568   

2010
T€
 
CrediT FaCiLiT y MaTuriT y daTe

noMinaL 

 vaLue

Carrying 

aMounT noMinaL inTeresT r aTe

symrise ag      

revolving credit facility – eur march 2011 125,000 123,499 euribor + 0.8 % 1.883 %

revolving credit facility – uS$ march 2011 49,060 48,461 libor + 0.8 % 1.1447 %

      

Futura Labs gruppe, egypt      

bank overdrafts January 2011 1,972 1,972  13.5 %

Total  176,032 173,932   

Short­term bank borrowings with a nominal value of € 49.0 million 
(2009: € 94.6 million) are designated in US dollars. Due to the 
 variable interest rates and the related payment obligations, it can be 
 assumed that the carrying amounts for all borrowings correspond 
to their fair value at the balance sheet reporting date. 
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27 short-term provisions

Details of the most significant provisions are listed below:

Success­based remuneration in connection with share­based remu­
neration (note 43) was disclosed in the previous year’s report under 
personnel liabilities as a component of the other short­term liabilities. 

28 other current liabilities

T€

resTruCTur-

ing Measures

oTHer 

 Provisions

TerMinaTion 

PayMenTs

suCCess -

based reMu -

ner aTion 2010 ToTaL 2009

January 1 5,746 116 0 0 5,862 1,716

utilized – 4,018 – 20 0 0 – 4,038 – 874

released – 1,486 0 0 0 – 1,486 – 173

Increases 864 840 833 1,928 4,465 5,043

sub-total 1,106 936 833 1,928 4,803 5,712

Currency translation impacts 453 15 0 0 468 150

Interest expense 0 0 0 0 0 0

december 31 1,559 951 833 1,928 5,271 5,862

Due to the uncertainty relating to the estimation of the amount, it has 
been considered more appropriate to disclose the item here. 

T€ 2009 2010

employee-related liabilities 34,447 41,902

Outstanding invoices/commissions for sales representatives 15,870 17,402

taxes on wages and salaries, social security contributions 10,177 9,238

liabilities to customers 10,594 7,320

taxes other than income taxes 3,609 5,146

purchase price liabilities 0 3,139

Insurance premiums 967 1,394

litigation-related liabilities 673 532

liabilities deriving from tax field examinations 1,944 30

miscellaneous other current liabilities 10,472 14,067

Total 88,753 100,170

The increase in employee­related liabilities primarily results from 
 increased liabilities for annual awards and bonuses.

Miscellaneous other current liabilities mainly result from diverse 
 administration, sales and marketing costs which arise during the 
normal course of operations.
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29 long-term borrowings

Long­term borrowings comprise:

Long­term borrowings include amounts designated in foreign curren­
cies (US$) in the amount of € 132.1 million (2009: € 62.8 million). The 
differences between the carrying amounts and the nominal amounts 
for bank borrowings, deriving from unamortized transaction costs, 
amounted to € 4.3 million (2009: € 1.2 million).

rePAYMent oF BAnK Borrowings 

As a consequence of the refinancing measures that were agreed in 
2010, Symrise’s redemption profile for borrowings has improved con­
siderably. Accordingly, redemption of the “Schuldscheindarlehen”, 
amounting to € 27.5 million, is due in 2013, the € 300.0 million bond 
will be redeemed in 2017, and the US$ 175.0 million US private 
 placement is scheduled for repayment at the end of 2020. 

T€ 2009 2010

bank borrowings 364,576 27,419

Other loans 0 427,913

Total 364,576 455,332

borrowings 2009 
T€ MaTuriT y daTe

noMinaL 

vaLue

Carrying 

aMounT noMinaL inTeresT r aTe

symrise gmbH & Co. Kg, Holzminden      

Senior Facility – term A – eur december 2011 228,000 227,279 euribor + 0.5 % 0.98 %

Senior Facility – term A – uS$ december 2011 62,805 62,603 libor + 0.5 % 0.75 %

“Schuldscheindarlehen” April 2013 47,500 47,306 euribor + 2.8 % 3.52 %

“Schuldscheindarlehen” April 2013 27,500 27,388 Fixed 5.35 %

      

Total  365,805 364,576   

borrowings 2010 
T€ MaTuriT y daTe

noMinaL 

vaLue

Carrying 

aMounT noMinaL inTeresT r aTe

symrise ag      

bond October 2017 300,000 296,219 Fixed 4.125 %

uS private placement november 2020 132,085 131,694 Fixed 4.09 %

“Schuldscheindarlehen” April 2013 27,500 27,419 Fixed 5.35 %

      

Total  459,585 455,332   

securit Y ProVided

As part of the revolving credit facility and US private placement 
 arrangements, Symrise has entered into an obligation (leverage cov­
enant) to keep the relationship between net borrowings and  EBITDA 
within defined limits. This ratio is controlled on a quarterly basis for 
compliance. 

In addition to the leverage covenant, for purposes of the “Schuld­
scheindarlehen”, compliance with a fixed upper limit for the ratio 
 between EBITDA and net interest expense (interest covenant) is 
 controlled annually.
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30 other non-current liabilities

Employee­related liabilities mainly relate to provisions for long­ser­
vice awards and phased early retirement. Liabilities deriving from 
phased early retirement obligations of € 1.9 million (2009: € 3.1 mil­
lion) represent post­employment benefit liabilities.

The liability to the “PsVaG” (mutual pension security fund) in Ger­
many has been deferred over a period of five years, due to the signi­
ficant increase in the mandatory contribution in the previous year 
(due to the high number of insolvency cases).

Miscellaneous other non­current liabilities mainly derive from 
 diverse administration, sales and marketing costs which arise during 
the normal course of operations.

31 long-term financial liabilities

In the previous year, this reporting line item disclosed the negative 
values attributable to derivative financial instruments; these instru­
ments were terminated in the fourth quarter of 2010 within the 
 context of refinancing measures. 

32 long-term provisions

Details of the most significant provisions are listed below:

T€ 2009 2010

employee-related liabilities 10,551 9,826

liabilities deriving from termination  
pay obligations and litigation 2,677 2,430

liabilities for taxes other  
than income taxes 962 1,700

liability to the “psvag”  
(german mutual pension security fund) 1,188 956

miscellaneous other  
non-current  liabilities 1,740 2,309

Total 17,118 17,221

T€

resTruCTur-

ing Measures

resTor aTion 

obLigaTions

suCCess -

based reMu -

ner aTion 2010 ToTaL 2009

January 1 38 0 0 38 94

utilized – 41 0 0 – 41 – 48

released 0 0 0 0 0

Increases 0 3,004 93 3,097 0

sub-total – 3 3,004 93 3,094 46

Currency translation impacts 3 130 0 133 – 8

december 31 0 3,134 93 3,227 38

Provisions for obligations exist vis­à­vis respective lessors to restore 
leased objects to their condition before commencement of the lease. 
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33 provisions for pensions and similar obligations

Individual companies have established pension plans that are either 
 financed directly by the Group companies themselves through recog­
nition of provisions or by making contributions to external invest­
ment fund companies outside the Group. The manner in which these 
benefits are provided to employees varies depending on the legal reg­
ulations and the fiscal and economic environments in the respective 
countries involved. In addition, in some cases, the Group has agreed 
to provide additional post­employment health care benefits to its em­
ployees. Retirement benefits and health care benefits are generally 
measured based on the wages or salaries of the employees and their 
respective years of service. The obligations relate to both existing 
 retirees and also to entitlements of future retirees. With the excep­
tion of pension­related interest costs, current expenses for the fiscal 
year are included in the Group’s operating result.

The active participation of employees of the former Haarmann & 
 Reimer GmbH, Germany in the Bayer mutual pension fund was termi­
nated with effect from March 31, 2003. The employees of Haarmann 
& Reimer GmbH who had already acquired pension rights as of this 
date automatically became passive members of the pension fund 
from April 1, 2003, onwards. Active members, who had unvested rights 
as of March 31, 2003, had the option to have their pension entitle­
ment (excluding employer contributions) paid out at this date in the 
form of a capital sum and from that point in time ceased to be mem­
bers of the Bayer pension fund. For all individuals in the Bayer pen­
sion fund who were active members as of March 31, 2003, a benefit 
scheme was introduced in Germany with effect from April 1, 2003, in 
the form of a direct benefit promise, which is financed through a de­
ferred gross compensation arrangement (3 % of the respective maxi­
mum income threshold for assessment of contributions as defined 
by the  German State Pension Authority West). For those people with 
com ponents of remuneration that exceed the respective threshold 
for  assessment of contributions, employer­financed retirement ben­
efits up to a  maximum amount are provided based on a benefit 
scheme.

At the time that the new benefit scheme was introduced, the former 
Haarmann & Reimer employees were guaranteed that their benefits 
under the company retirement benefit scheme would not worsen as a 
result of the business combination. The benefits have to be main­
tained at the same level that existed before the business combination 
took place. This is assured under the new benefit scheme. As a con­
sequence of this guarantee, the company has also offered those for­
mer Haarmann & Reimer GmbH employees – whose earnings are 
 regulated by tariff agreement – a further voluntary deferred compen­
sation scheme in the form of a direct benefit promise. The employee 
contribution and the employer top­up contribution taken together are 
limited to a maximum of 4 % of the respective income limit for the 

 assessment of contributions as defined by the German State Pension 
Authority West. 

Former Dragoco employees who joined the organization before De­
cember 31, 1981, are the subject of an employer­financed retirement 
benefit scheme. The pension payments under this scheme are de­
pendent upon the employee’s length of service and their final month­
ly gross remuneration level. 

All non­tariff employees and managers have the possibility to build 
up additional retirement benefit components on a voluntary basis 
in the form of a direct benefit promise involving deferral of remunera­
tion. There is no employer top­up involved in connection with this 
“deferred compensation” arrangement.

All employees who did not belong to a retirement benefit scheme as 
of April 1, 2003, had the opportunity from this date onwards to partic­
ipate in a retirement benefit scheme which was provided in the form 
of a direct benefit promise through deferral of compensation; this ben­
efit scheme was closed effective as of December 31, 2010. The employ­
ee contribution and the employer top­up contribution taken together 
were limited to a maximum of 4 % of the respective income limit for 
the assessment of contributions as defined by the German State Pen­
sion Authority West.

From January 1, 2010, onwards, all Symrise new joiners with unlim­
ited employment contracts at German locations are obligated to join 
the RPK (“Rheinische Pensionskasse”– an external German pension 
fund) from the seventh month of their employment onwards. Under 
the terms of this arrangement, the employee pays 2 % of his remuner­
ation in the form of deferred gross compensation to the RPK (manda­
tory contribution); the organization tops up the contribution with the 
same amount. Voluntary contributions are also possible and are also 
topped up with the same amount by the organization. The employee 
contribution and the employer top­up contribution taken together 
are limited to a maximum of 4 % of the respective income limit for the 
assessment of contributions as defined by the German State Pension 
Authority West. Effective as of January 1, 2011, individuals who were 
already employed in the organization but who – unlike the former 
Haarmann & Reimer employees or employees of Dragoco who joined 
before December 31, 1981 – did not belong to a benefit scheme, were 
able to request membership of the RPK scheme on a voluntary basis 
up to September 30, 2010. No pension provision is set up for this 
 defined contribution plan though the RPK, which operates as an exter­
nal benefit provider.

The amount of the pension obligations (the present value of the enti­
tlement or defined benefit obligation) has been determined based 
on actuarial methods by means of an actuarial report made using 
 assumptions for the various relevant factors of influence. 
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Increases or decreases in the present value of the defined benefit obli­
gations can result in actuarial gains or losses, which may derive from 
changes in the calculation parameters used in the computations and 

changes in estimates with respect to the development of risks related 
to the pension obligations. The net amount of the pension provisions 
can be derived as follows: 

T€ 2009 2010

defined benefit obligation, unfunded 198,675 225,689

defined benefit obligation, funded 36,873 48,635

Present value of benefit obligations as of december 31 235,548 274,324

Fair value of plan assets – 25,683 – 30,883

unrecognized gains from plan amendments 5,260 5,016

unrecognized actuarial losses – 14,838 – 35,040

unrecognized past service costs – 839 – 1,003

Liability deriving from defined benefit obligations as of december 31 199,448 212,414

T€ 2009 2010

eAme 177,233 185,157

north America 19,962 24,443

Asia/pacific 309 353

latin America 1,944 2,461

Total 199,448 212,414

T€ 2009 2010

Present value of benefit obligations as of January 1 203,983 235,548

Current service cost 8,864 10,382

Interest expense 12,570 12,441

losses deriving from plan amendments 218 264

Actuarial losses 20,038 20,822

benefits paid – 11,078 – 10,344

Initial recognition of a plan 1,478 0

Currency translation impacts – 525 5,211

Present value of benefit obligations as of december 31 235,548 274,324

The pension and similar provisions, amounting to € 212.4 million 
(2009: 199.4 million) are divided by region as follows: 

The present value of the benefit obligations developed as follows:
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The liability for defined benefit obligations developed as follows:

2009
T€

grouP deFined 

 beneFiT PL ans

PosT- eMPLoyMenT 

HeaLTH Care 

 beneFiTs (usa)

ToTaL Pension  

PL ans oF  

THe grouP

defined benefit obligations as of January 1 177,163 14,759 191,922

pension expense 19,752 60 19,812

employer contributions – 2,101 – 437 – 2,538

benefits paid – 9,646 0 – 9,646

leavers – 59 0 – 59

Currency translation impacts 119 – 162 – 43

defined benefit obligations as of december 31 185,228 14,220 199,448

2010
T€

grouP deFined 

 beneFiT PL ans

PosT- eMPLoyMenT 

HeaLTH Care 

 beneFiTs (usa)

ToTaL Pension 

PL ans oF  

THe grouP

defined benefit obligations as of January 1 185,228 14,220 199,448

pension expense 20,964 103 21,067

employer contributions – 386 – 455 – 841

benefits paid – 9,407 0 – 9,407

leavers 37 0 37

Currency translation impacts 950 1,160 2,110

defined benefit obligations as of december 31 197,386 15,028 212,414
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The fair value of the plan assets developed as follows:

T€ 2009 2010

Fair value of the plan assets as of January 1 19,593 25,683

employer and employee contributions 2,637 387

benefits paid – 1,432 – 483

expected yield on plan assets 1,173 1,411

Actuarial gains 2,604 1,033

Initial recognition of a plan 1,478 0

Currency translation impacts – 370 2,852

Fair value of the plan assets as of december 31 25,683 30,883

THe  

neTHerL ands PL an THe swiss PL an THe usa PL an THe JaPanese PL an

T€ 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010

bonds 0 0  2,740 3,489  7,331 8,831 1,573 1,830

equity instruments 0 0 194 265  9,596 11,455 1,379 2,055

real estate 0 0 366 486 0 0 0 0

Other assets 1,478 1,478 155 177 452 570 77 120

Total as of december 31 1,478 1,478 3,455 4,417 17,379 20,856 3,029 4,005

In 2010, the experience adjustments to plan assets in the USA 
amounted to € 1.0 million (2009: € 2.4 million). In Japan, the experi­
ence adjustments to plan assets amounted to € 0.1 million in 2010 
(2009: € 0.2 million). 

The fair values for the main groups of plan assets are as stated below: 
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The expense for pensions and similar benefits is made up as follows:

2010
T€

grouP deFined 

 beneFiT PL ans

PosT- eMPLoyMenT 

HeaLTH Care 

 beneFiTs (usa)

ToTaL Pension  

PL ans oF  

THe grouP

Current service cost 10,162 220 10,382

past service cost 48 0 48

Interest expense 11,884 557 12,441

expected yield on plan assets – 1,411 0 – 1,411

recognized plan amendments for uSA 0 – 674 – 674

recognized actuarial losses 281 0 281

expense for pensions and similar benefits as of december 31 20,964 103 21,067

    

actual yield from plan assets 2,444 0 2,444

2009
T€

grouP deFined 

 beneFiT PL ans

PosT- eMPLoyMenT 

HeaLTH Care 

 beneFiTs (usa)

ToTaL Pension  

PL ans oF 

THe grouP

Current service cost 8,645 219 8,864

past service cost 78 0 78

Interest expense 12,088 482 12,570

expected yield on plan assets – 1,173 0 – 1,173

recognized plan amendments for uSA 0 – 641 – 641

recognized actuarial losses 212 0 212

employee contributions – 98 0 – 98

expense for pensions and similar benefits as of december 31 19,752 60 19,812

    

actual yield from plan assets 5,254 0 5,254
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Costs for pension and similar benefits are disclosed in the Group 
 income statement as follows:

T€ 2009 2010

Cost of sales 2,920 3,237

Selling and marketing expenses 1,664 2,227

research and development expenses 1,575 1,629

Administration expenses 1,083 1,533

Total 7,242 8,626

T€ 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

present value of defined benefit obligations 219,383 200,567 204,449 235,548 274,324

Fair value of plan assets – 18,681 – 20,613 – 19,593 – 25,683 – 30,883

Financing status as of december 31 200,702 179,954 184,856 209,865 243,441

experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (germany) – 1,334 – 3,074 4,502 – 1,800 1,213

experience adjustments arising on plan assets 420 – 217 – 4,771 4,082 1,033

Par aMeTers

% 2009 2010

interest rate used for discounting   

germany 5.20 4.70

uSA 6.00 5.56

Other countries vary between 2.0 and 7.50 1.57 and 8.35

expected yield from plan assets   

uSA 7.00 7.00

Other territories vary between 1.00 and 7.50  2.00 and 7.50 

salary trends   

germany 2.50 2.50

uSA 4.25 4.25

Other countries vary between 2.75 and 8.00  1.50 and 10.00 

Pension trends   

germany 1.75 1.75

Cost increase factor for medical 
benefits in the uSA 9.00 9.00

In the past five years, the financing status, derived from the present 
value of all benefit promises and the fair value of plan assets, has 
changed as follows:

In 2011, Symrise expects payment of contributions of T€ 2,589 
 (expectation in 2009 for 2010: T€ 397) into the funded defined benefit 
plans.

The experience adjustments to liabilities arising from defined benefit 
plan obligations for Germany amounted to € 1.2 million (actuarial 
loss) (2009: € – 1.8 million; actuarial gain).

The actuarial assumptions and measurements are based on the fol­
lowing parameters, which vary from territory to territory due to their 
differing economic environments:
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The salary trend covers expected future rates of salary increase, 
which are estimated annually, depending on – amongst other factors – 
inflation rates and length of service with the company. 

A 1 % change in the assumption made for cost trends for health­care 
benefits would have the following effect: 

inCrease deCrease inCrease deCrease

T€ 2009 2009 2010 2010

Impact on defined benefit obligations 399 359 466 418

Impact on service cost 44 39 48 42

The company in the USA provides health­care benefits to its employ­
ees. The costs are determined based on the assumption that the cost 
trend for 2011 remains unchanged at 9 %; costs are expected to 
 increase respectively by 7 % for the years 2012 and 2013, and for the 
following years by 5 %.

34 share capital

The capital stock of Symrise AG remained unchanged at € 118,173,300 
and is fully paid in. It is divided into 118,173,300 no­par value bearer 
shares, each with a calculated nominal share value of € 1.00 per share. 

AutHorized cAPitAl

On December 31, 2006, an extraordinary general meeting of the 
shareholders authorized the Executive Board to increase the Compa­
ny’s capital stock in the period up to October 31, 2011, with the con­
sent of the Supervisory Board, by up to € 40.0 million in one or more 
issues of new no­par value bearer shares. In this connection, the 
 participation rights for the new shares may be determined in devia­
tion from Section 60 AktG [“Aktiengesetz”: German Stock Corpo­
ration Act].

Existing shareholders are to be granted a subscription right. However, 
the Executive Board may exclude this subscription right, with the 
 approval of the Supervisory Board, in the following circumstances: 

1. In the case of capital increases in return for non­cash contributions 
in kind for the purpose of acquiring companies or share interests 
in companies.

2. Inasmuch as this is necessary in order to grant holders of warrants 
and convertible bonds issued by Symrise AG or its subsidiaries a 
right to subscribe for new shares to the extent that they would be 
entitled to such a right when exercising the warrants or options 
or when meeting obligations arising from the warrants or options.

3. To offset fractional amounts arising as a result of a capital increase 
in return for cash contributions. 

4. In order to issue new shares at an issue price that is not substan­
tially less than the market price of shares already quoted on the 
stock exchange at the date the issue price is finally determined, 
whereby within the context of restricting this authorization to a 
 total of ten percent of the capital stock, those shares are to be set 
off for which the subscription right of the shareholders in applica­
tion of Section 186 (3) Sentence 4 AktG is excluded upon use of 
the authorization to sell treasury stock and upon use of the autho­
rization to issue conversion options or warrants.

AcQuisition oF tre AsurY stocK

Following a resolution by the annual general meeting of shareholders 
held on May 11, 2010, the Executive Board is authorized in accor­
dance with Section 71 (1) No. 8 AktG up until May 10, 2015, to pur­
chase its own shares up to a level of 10 % of the capital stock at the 
time the resolution was made. 

The purchase of treasury stock is to be made through the stock ex­
change or by means of a public offer made by the Company. 

 In case of an acquisition through the stock market, the amount of 
consideration paid by the Company for each share shall not exceed 
or undercut the opening auction price of the Company’s shares for 
Xetra trading purposes on the stock exchange trading day by more 
than 5 %. 

 In the case of acquisition by means of a public offer to purchase, 
the offered purchase price or the margins of the purchase price 
range per share shall not exceed or undercut the average closing 
price quoted by the Xetra trading system for the three stock ex­
change trading days prior to the day of publication of the offer by 
more than 10 %. 
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 The authorization was granted for all legally permitted purposes, 
particularly the following: 
– For redemption purposes, without the necessity for the redemp­

tion or its execution to be authorized by a further resolution of a 
general meeting of shareholders.

– For disposal purposes – also in the case of disposal other than 
through the stock exchange or by means of an offer to the share­
holders – if the shares are disposed of against payment in cash 
at a price that is not significantly less than the quoted stock ex­
change price at the time of disposal for shares of the same type.

– For disposal against non­cash consideration, particularly in con­
nection with the acquisition of companies.

35 Capital reserve and other reserves

The capital reserve mainly comprises the share premium that arose at 
the time of the capital increase that was carried out in the context 
of the initial public offer and is unchanged since December 31, 2009. 
The revaluation reserve results from successive past share acqui­
sitions and has changed in comparison to the previous year to an 
 insignificant extent as a consequence of tax­rate amendments. 

36 Disclosures relating to the management of capital

With an equity ratio (equity in relation to total assets employed) of 
40.9 % (2009: 36.4 %), Symrise has a solid equity structure. One of 
Symrise’s fundamental principles is to maintain a strong capital ba­
sis in order to retain the confidence of investors, creditors and the 
market and to be able to drive the future business development for­
ward in a sustained manner. 

The capital situation is monitored through use of a number of key 
 ratios. The relationship between net borrowing (including pension 
provisions) to EBITDA and the equity ratio are important key ratios 
for this purpose. The basis for the computation is provided by the 
 equity as disclosed for accounting purposes: 

In addition, the Executive Board monitors the amount of dividends to 
shareholders who should be offered  a dividend return which strength­
ens confidence in the organization’s future results. 

A further objective is to maintain a balance between more favorable 
weighted average capital costs (WACC) by taking up additional bor­
rowing and the advantages and security provided by a solid equity 
base. This also applies to suitable acquisition opportunities that are 
made possible for the Group by virtue of solid financing. 

The average interest expense on liabilities (including pension provi­
sions) was 4.6 % (2009: 4.7 %) and the ratio of net debt – including 
pensions – to EBITA was 2.2 (2009: 3.1). There was no change in the 
Group’s approach to capital management compared to the previous 
year. 

Neither the Company itself nor its subsidiaries are subject to exter­
nally imposed capital requirements.

37 Dividends

At the annual general meeting of shareholders held on May 11, 2010, 
a resolution was passed to distribute a dividend for fiscal year 
2009 of € 0.50 for each ordinary share with a dividend entitlement 
(for 2008: € 0.50); the total amount of the dividend was T€ 59,087 
(for 2008: T€ 59,087).

The Executive Board recommends a dividend distribution of € 0.60 
per share for fiscal year 2010. This would equate to a total dividend 
amount of T€ 70,904.

38  additional disclosures relating to 
the statement of Group cash flows

In accordance with IAS 7, the statement of Group cash flows for re­
porting year 2010 and the prior year shows the development of cash 
flows separated into cash inflows and outflows deriving from operat­
ing,  investing and financing activities. The derivation of cash flows is 
made using the indirect method of presentation.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents includes cash balances, 
checks and balances on hand with banks with a term to maturity of 
less than three months, as was the case in the previous year; the 
amount disclosed is equivalent to the reporting line “Cash and cash 
equivalents” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

T€ 2009 2010

Share capital 118,173 118,173

Capital reserve 970,911 970,911

revaluation reserve 2,718 2,765

Fair value reserve – 18,300 4

Cumulative translation differences – 62,159 – 1,838

Accumulated deficit – 322,379 – 247,898

Total equity 688,964 842,117
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39  additional disclosures relating 
to financial instruments

inForMAtion on FinAnciAl instruMents BY cAtegorY 

vaLue reCognized under ias 39

2009
T€

Measure-

MenT 

 CaTegory 

under ias 39

Carrying 

aMounT 

 deCeMber 31, 

2009

aMorTized 

CosT

Fair vaLue  

in eQuiT y

Fair vaLue 

deCeMber 31, 

2009

     
Classification in accordance with iFrs 7      

assets      

Cash and cash equivalents lar 80,540 80,540 — 80,540

trade receivables lar 228,379 228,379 — 228,379

prepayments, other assets and receivables  
(short-term and long-term) report line 64,899 — — —

of which:      

 prepayments, other assets and receivables lar 40,883 40,883 — 40,883

Financial assets report line 7,862 — — —

of which:      

 Financial assets available for sale Afs 5,416 — 5,416 5,416

 Financial assets held to maturity Htm 2,376 2,376 — 2,376

      

Liabilities and equity      

trade payables FlAC 77,079 77,079 — 77,079

borrowings (short-term and long-term) FlAC 654,517 654,517 — 654,517

Other liabilities (short-term and long-term) report line 105,871 — — —

of which:      

 Other liabilities FlAC 88,506 88,506 — 88,506

Financial instruments, measured at fair value FlHft 19,173 — 19,173 19,173

      

Of which aggregated into measurement  
categories in accordance with IAS 39:      

loans and receivables lar 349,802 349,802 — 349,802

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets AfS 5,416 — 5,416 5,416

Held-to-maturity Financial Assets Htm 2,376 2,376 — 2,376

Financial liabilities measured at Amortized Cost FlAC 820,102 820,102 — 820,102

Financial liabilities Held for trading FlHft 19,173 — 19,173 19,173
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vaLue reCognized under ias 39

2010
T€

Measure-

MenT 

 CaTegory 

under ias 39

Carrying 

aMounT 

 deCeMber 31, 

2010

aMorTized 

CosT

Fair vaLue  

in eQuiT y

Fair vaLue 

deCeMber 31, 

2010

     
Classification in accordance with iFrs 7      

assets      

Cash and cash equivalents lar 112,215 112,215 — 112,215

trade receivables lar 261,476 261,476 — 261,476

prepayments, other assets and receivables  
(short-term and long-term) report line 51,206 — — —

of which:      

 prepayments, other assets and receivables lar 30,457 30,457 — 30,457

Financial assets AfS 2,817 — 2,817 2,817

      

Liabilities and equity      

trade payables FlAC 101,449 101,449 — 101,449

borrowings (short-term and long-term) FlAC 633,482 633,482 — 622,631

Other liabilities (short-term and long-term) report line 117,391 — — —

of which:      

 Other liabilities FlAC 100,745 100,745 — 100,745

      

Of which aggregated into measurement   
categories in accordance with IAS 39:      

loans and receivables lar 404,148 404,148 — 404,148

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets AfS 2,817 — 2,817 2,817

Financial liabilities measured at Amortized Cost FlAC 835,676 835,676 — 824,825

Due to the fact that most of the financial instruments are short­term 
in nature, the carrying amounts for the classifications are only 
 insignificantly different from their fair values. The fair values of 
bank  borrowings and liabilities deriving from “Schuldschein dar­
lehen” are determined as the present values of payments relating to 
the liabilities based on the respectively valid interest rate curve 
structure.

40 net gains and losses by measurement category

T€ 2009 2010

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (held-for-trading) 0 – 1,974

loans and receivables (allowances) – 1,019 – 3,678

Total net gains and losses – 1,019 – 5,652

The respective results presented do not include expenses and income 
deriving from interest and dividends.
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41  Disclosures relating to financial 
instrument risk management

Fluctuations in currency and interest rates can result in significant 
risks to earnings and cash flows. For this reason, Symrise has 
 centralized these risks to the extent possible and then manages them 
proactively, also through use of derivative financial instruments. 
The management of such risks is based on guidelines that are valid 
throughout the Group, in which objectives, basic principles, re­
sponsibilities and areas of competence are defined. These are moni­
tored on a regular basis and are adjusted to take current market 
and production developments into account.

interest r Ate risKs

In the past, liabilities bearing variable interest rates exposed Symrise 
to interest­related cash flow risks. In previous years, such risks 
were confronted by contracting deals for derivative financial instru­
ments. In the context of the refinancing arrangements that took 
place in 2010, long­term liabilities were solely negotiated at fixed 
 interest rates such that there is no further necessity to hedge 
 interest­related cash flow risks in this area.

In this manner, interest rate risks have been significantly reduced. 
A fixed interest rate agreement exists for approximately 70 % of the li­
abilities. Thus only 30 % of the liabilities are exposed to a risk deriv­
ing from interest rate fluctuations. Where required, Symrise confronts 
this risk by concluding contracts for interest hedging instruments.

currencY risKs

Within the context of its global activities, Symrise is exposed to two 
types of currency risk. The transaction risk arises in the separate 
 financial statements of companies through changes in the amounts of 
future payments denoted in foreign currencies due to fluctuations in 
currency exchange rates. Within the Symrise Group, both purchases 
and sales are transacted in foreign currencies. These currency risks 
are systematically registered and reported to the Group’s headquar­
ters, where the overall risk is then assessed. The key figure used to 
measure the overall risk is the so­called “Cashflow at risk” (CfaR), 
which discloses to what extent the Group’s results are influenced by 
changes in exchange rates. To date, these exchange rate risks have 
not been hedged.

The translation risk describes the risk of changes in reporting line 
positions in the statement of financial position and the income state­
ment of a subsidiary company due to currency fluctuations when 
translating the separate local financial statements into the Group re­
porting currency. Changes deriving from translation of items report­
ed in the statement of financial position of these companies that are 
caused by currency fluctuations are disclosed in Group equity. The 
 resultant risks are not normally hedged. 

Foreign currency sensitivity is determined by Symrise through aggre­
gation of foreign currency items, which are not denoted in the 
 functional currency of the respective companies. The market values 
of the base items included are measured once using actual exchange 
rates and once using sensitivity­adjusted rates. The currency­related 
difference between the results of both measurements represents the 
potential impact on equity and the result before tax. Currency­related 
differences deriving from the translation of financial statements into 
the Group’s reporting currency are not considered in this context.

2009 2010

deCeMber 31 Tus$ T€ Tus$ T€

Currency risks for items in the  
statement of financial position 24,372 17,008  20,143 17,189

Future impacts on profit or loss and change  
in equity as a result of a 10 % increase in the 
value of the euro 2,216 1,546 1,831 1,382

This sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that all variables 
other than a change in the foreign currency exchange rate remain 
constant.
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liQuidit Y risK deriVing FroM Borrowings

The liquidity risk – i.e. the risk that Symrise is unable to meet its fi­
nancial obligations – is limited by creating the necessary financial 
flexibility within the context of existing financing arrangements and 
through effective cash management. Symrise manages the liquidity 
risk through use of a 12 month rolling financial plan. This makes it 
possible to finance forecast deficits under normal market conditions 

at normal market terms. Based on current liquidity information, no 
 liquidity risks are foreseen at the moment. 

The following summary shows the contractually agreed redemption 
payments in respect of financial liabilities, including estimated inter­
est payments (3 %) for variable interest, as the loans deriving from 
 revolving credit lines will be available to us on a long term basis.

Carrying 

aMounT

exPeCTed 

PayMenT 

 ouTFLows TerMs For exPeCTed PayMenT ouTFLows

2009
T€   

1 To 3 

MonTHs

3 MonTHs  

To 1 year 1 To 5 years > 5 years

Financial liabilities 654,517 691,426 19,636 78,747 593,043 0

Carrying 

aMounT

exPeCTed 

PayMenT 

 ouTFLows TerMs For exPeCTed PayMenT ouTFLows

2010
T€   

1 To 3 

MonTHs

3 MonTHs  

To 1 year 1 To 5 years > 5 years

Financial liabilities 521,223 800,989 2,200 21,936 295,518 481,335

2009 noMinaL

oF wHiCH: 

Fixed

oF wHiCH: 

variabLe

oF wHiCH: 

noT Hedged 1 % inCrease 1 % deCrease

t€ 498,000 27,500 470,500 43,000 430 – 430

tuS$ 225,500 0 225,500 50,500 505 – 505

2010 noMinaL

oF wHiCH: 

Fixed

oF wHiCH: 

variabLe

oF wHiCH: 

noT Hedged 1 % inCrease 1 % deCrease

t€ 452,500 327,500 125,000 125,000 1,250 – 1,250

tuS$ 240,000 175,000 65,000 65,000 650 – 650

Sensitivity analysis deriving from utilized total credit facilities:
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credit risKs

A credit risk is the unexpected loss of cash or income. This occurs 
when a customer is not able to meet his obligations as they become 
due. Receivables management, which employs guidelines that are 
globally valid, coupled with regular analysis of the aging structure of 
trade receivables, ensures that the risks are permanently monitored 
and limited; in this manner, cases of default on receivables are mini­
mized. Due to the Symrise Group’s wide­ranging business structure, 
there is no particular concentration of credit risks either in relation to 
customers or in relation to individual territories.

In the context of cash investments, we only enter into financial con­
tracts with banks which we have carefully chosen and which are 
 permanently monitored. The Symrise Group is exposed to credits 
risks related to derivative financial instruments, which would 
arise from the contractual partner not fulfilling his obligations. This 

risk is minimized in that transactions are only entered into with 
 contract partners of the highest credit standing. The carrying 
amounts of the  financial assets represent the maximum credit risk. 

42  Contingent liabilities and other 
financial commitments

As at December 31, 2010, Symrise had the following contingent liabil­
ities and other financial commitments:

oPer Ating le Ases

Payment commitments derive from non­cancelable operating lease 
agreements mainly entered into for motor vehicles and buildings. 
Some of the agreements contain renewal options or price escalation 
clauses but do not include purchase options. The aggregate net 
 future cash outflows are phased as follows:

otHer coMMitMents

As of December 31, 2010, the Group had commitments of € 6.0 million 
(2009: € 2.7 million) for the purchase of property, plant and equip­
ment. These mainly related to production facilities. Further commit­
ments of € 50.8 million (2009: € 31.7 million) derived from open 
 contracts for goods.

With effect from February 1, 2006, Symrise AG entered into a service 
agreement with Atos Origin GmbH to outsource its internal informa­
tion technology functions for a term of ten years. The fees payable re­
duce successively over the term of the agreement. The total remain­
ing obligation to Atos amounts to € 81.7 million (2009: € 97.8 million). 

MiniMuM PayMenTs 

deriving FroM 

 oPer aTing Leases

CasH inFLows 

FroM oPer aTing 

 sub - Leases neT CasH ouTFLow neT CasH ouTFLow

T€ 2010 2010 2010 2009

In the fiscal year 14,956 409 14,547 12,076

due in the following year 9,345 0 9,345 9,921

due in 2 years 7,167 0 7,167 7,388

due in 3 years 3,961 0 3,961 5,502

due in 4 years 3,092 0 3,092 4,708

due in 5 years 1,377 0 1,377 3,131

due in 6 years or thereafter 4,463 0 9,803 7,535

Total 44,361 409 49,292 50,261
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In addition, consultancy, service and cooperation agreements exist 
with a maximum term up to 2014. The total commitment deriving 
from these amounts to € 2.4 million. 

43  success-based remuneration (long term incentive 
program and strategic share bonus scheme)

long terM incentiVe Progr AM 2008,  2009,  2010

In 2007, the Supervisory Board resolved for the first time to introduce 
the concept of a long term incentive program (LTIP), which still pro­
vides the basis for the concept of the LTIP covering the period from 
2008 until 2010, the period from 2009 until 2011 and the period 
from 2010 to 2012. Only the levels of the performance criteria are 
 re­determined on a respective annual basis.

The concept provides for two performance criteria, an increase in the 
share price and an increase in the so­called “Symrise Value Added” 
over the defined performance period.

Using the average quoted price of the Company’s shares on the ten 
trading days before the appointed date of January 1 and the ten 
 trading days after this appointed date as a basis, a comparison of the 
share price is made at the end of the performance period. The ex­
pectation is that the share price will increase by at least 20 %; further­
more, provision is made for a maximum share­price (a so­called 
“cap”). The calculation of the probability of reaching these objectives 
is made on the basis of estimated assumptions. A dividend yield is 
not factored into the required performance of the share component. 

Payment in respect of the “Symrise Value Added” is only made if the 
capitalized earnings value – based on earnings from ordinary 
 business activities less a yield on the capital employed in the perfor­
mance period – achieves a target amount set by the Supervisory 
Board which is aligned to Symrise’s strategic plan. 

The LTIP is designed as a “performance cash bonus”; this means that 
the participating managers receive a variable cash bonus, after the 
end of the three year performance period, which is dependent on the 
increase in the share price and the achievement of the “Symrise 
 Value Added” target. The Supervisory Board decides whether the set 
targets have been achieved at the end of the performance period.

In addition to the members of the Executive Board, the participants 
in the LTIP for the period from 2008 to 2010 were seven selected 
 second level senior managers within the Symrise Group (the so­called 
“regional presidents”). For members of the Executive Board, 70 % 
of this performance cash bonus is based on the development of the 
share price and 30 % is based on the so­called “Symrise Value 
 Added”. The bonus entitlement for regional presidents is based on 
the same performance criteria but with an equal weighting (50 % 

 respectively) for the share price component and the “Symrise Value 
Added” component.

The LTIP for the performance period from 2008 to 2010 came to an 
end on December 31, 2010, and did not lead to payment of a bonus as 
the set targets were not achieved.

The Supervisory Board offered the members of the Executive Board a 
further long­term incentive program for the years from 2009 to 2011, 
which became effective on January 1, 2009, and runs until December 
31, 2011. A further senior manager was included in this program 
 because the manager’s function includes cross­company responsibili­
ties. A comparison will be made of the share price at the end of 2011 
with a starting average share price of € 9.88 – this being the average 
share price for the period of 10 stock exchange trading days before 
and after the appointed date of January 1, 2009. The corresponding 
initial share price for the LTIP covering the years 2010 to 2012 was 
determined at € 15.81 and is measured using the same method as for 
the LTIP for the years 2009 to 2011.

Measurement of the probability of achieving these targets was made 
based on a “Black­Scholes” formula using a share price of € 20.13 and 
an anticipated volatility of 43.5 %. 

Based on the share price at the balance sheet reporting date, the pro­
vision for the LTIP program for the years from 2009 to 2011 was cal­
culated at T€ 500 and the provision for the LTIP program for the years 
from 2010 to 2012 was calculated at T€ 94.

The Executive Board Members who have an entitlement under the 
program are those who are in office at the time that the offer was 
made and who are also still in office at the balance sheet reporting 
date. 

str Ategic sHAre Bonus 2009 And 2010

In 2009, the Executive Board launched a global share­based bonus 
program, which covers a total of 16 strategically important employees 
and senior managers. 64,364 virtual shares were “issued” based 
on a share price of € 9.71. The bonus program for this group ended on 
December 31, 2010.

In 2010, a further eight strategically important employees were 
 included in a newly established share­based bonus program covering 
the period from January 2010 to December 2011. 24,700 virtual 
shares were “issued” based on a share price of € 14.17.

A cash payment is to be made at the end of the two­year term based 
on the quoted average share price for the last 20 trading days on 
the stock exchange. Thus, the bonus is tied to the development of the 
share price.
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The fair values of the 2009 and 2010 programs was calculated with a 
total of T€ 1,427 based on the closing share price of € 20.13 as of the 
balance sheet reporting date. Any dividends were not considered in 
determining the fair value.

In order to retain the commitment of the strategically important 
 employees to the organization even if the share price falls, a virtual 
hedge was fixed for 50 % of the of the share price relevant for bonus 
purposes. Furthermore, to exclude non­performance­related share 
price impacts, a maximum share price was fixed as being 200 % 
of the share price relevant for bonus purposes.

44 Transactions with related parties

AssociAted coMPAnies

In fiscal year 2010, goods were purchased from an associated com­
pany to a limited extent. 

rel Ated PArties

Members of the Executive Board, former executive directors as well 
as members of the Supervisory Board and former shareholder repre­
sentatives are considered to be related parties. 

In fiscal year 2010, the members of the Executive Board received 
cash­based remuneration of T€ 3,605 (2009: T€ 3,337) including 

fringe benefits and variable remuneration components. Expenses 
 deriving from share­based remuneration (LTIP) amounted to T€ 191 in 
fiscal year 2010 (2009: T€ 293). 

The service cost for pensions in fiscal year 2010 amounted to T€ 280 
(2009: T€ 271).

The former Executive Board member Mr. Horst­Otto Gerberding 
 received monthly pension payments of T€ 23.5 during 2010.

Provisions for current pensions and pension entitlements for former 
members of the Executive Board and executive directors amounting 
to € 6.5 million were recognized as at December 31, 2010.

Total remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board amounted 
to T€ 769 during the period reported (2009: T€ 660).

The individualized remuneration of members of the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board is disclosed in the Corporate Governance 
 report.

The following table summarizes the stock transactions reported to 
the Company pursuant to Section 15a WpHG [“Wertpapierhandels­
gesetz”: German Securities Trading Act]: 

45  long-term objectives and methods 
used to manage financial risks 

Reference is made to the risk report, which is a component of our 
Group management report. 

naMe and PosiTion

T yPe oF 

Tr ansaCTion

T yPe oF 

 seCuriT y

daTe, wHere 

Tr aded

nuMber oF 

sHares

PriCe Per 

sHare (€ )

ToTaL 

 voLuMe (€ )

dr. Heinz-Jürgen bertram 
(member of the executive board) purchase

Symrise no-par 
value shares

may 26, 2010 
Xetra 3,100 16.14 50,034.00

bernd Hirsch 
(member of the executive board) purchase

Symrise no-par 
value shares

may 26, 2010 
Xetra 1,500 16.101 24,151.50
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46 audit

At the annual general meeting of shareholders held on May 11, 2010, 
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft was appointed as auditor 
of the financial statements for fiscal year 2010.

The following table provides an overview of the fees paid to the 
 auditors:

T€ 2009 2010

Audit of financial statements 834 892

Other audit assurance services 28 116

tax advisory services 689 756

Other services 164 78

Total 1,732 1,842

The figures of the previous year were adjusted, because they also 
 included the fees of the other companies associated with KPMG. At the 
same time, KPMG – with its international network of firms – is audi­
tor of the financial statements of the whole Symrise Group. The global 
audit fee for the audit of the financial statements amounted to 
T€ 1,651 for the year 2010 (2009: T€ 1,675).

47  list of companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements

Fully consolidated companies as of December 31, 2010: 

naMe and LoCaTion oF THe CoMPany sHare

germany  

Symrise beteiligungs gmbH, Holzminden 100 %

drinkStar gmbH, rosenheim 100 %

Schimmel & Co. gmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Kaden biochemicals gmbH, Hamburg 100 %

tesium gmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Symotion gmbH, Holzminden 100 %

busiris vermögensverwaltung gmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Symrise uS-beteiligungs gmbH, Frankfurt am main 100 %

Ip-verwaltungs-gmbH, Holzminden 100 %

Ip-Holding gmbH & Co. Kg, Holzminden 100 %

Haarmann + reimer unterstützungskasse gmbH, 
Holzminden 100 %

naMe and LoCaTion oF THe CoMPany sHare

rest of europe  

Aromatics, S.A.S., France 100 %

OOO Armonia, russia 100 %

Steng Ingredients ltd., great britain 100 %

Symrise S.A., Switzerland 100 %

Symrise ltd., great britain 100 %

Symrise Holding ltd., great britain 100 %

Flavors direct ltd., great britain 100 %

Symrise b.v., the netherlands 100 %

Symrise Iberica S.l., Spain 100 %

Symrise S.A.S, France 100 %

Symrise S.r.l., Italy 100 %

Symrise vertriebs gmbH, Austria 100 %

Symrise Kimya Sanayi ve ticaret ltd. Sirketi, turkey 100 %

Symrise luxembourg S.a.r.l., luxembourg 100 %

WWS ltd., great britain 100 %

Symrise group Finance Holding 1 bvbA, belgium  100 %

Symrise group Finance Holding 2 Cv, belgium 100 %

north america  

Symrise Inc., uSA 100 %

Symrise Holding Inc., uSA 100 %

Latin america  

Symrise Aromas e Fragrancias ltda., brazil 100 %

Symrise S.r.l., Argentina 100 %

Symrise S.A., Chile 100 %

Symrise ltda., Colombia 100 %

Symrise C.A., venezuela 100 %

Symrise S. de r.l. de Cv., mexico 100 %

asia and Pacific  

Symrise pty. ltd., Australia 100 %

Symrise ltd., Hong Kong, China 100 %

Symrise export ltd., Hong Kong, China 100 %

Symrise ltd., Shanghai, China 100 %

Symrise Sdn. bHd, malaysia 100 %

Symrise Holding pte. ltd., Singapore 100 %

Symrise pte. ltd., Singapore 100 %

Symrise Asia pacific pte. ltd., Singapore 100 %

Symrise ltd., Korea 100 %

Symrise ltd., thailand 100 %

thamasarb Co. ltd., thailand 100 %

p.t. Symrise, Indonesia 100 %

Symrise Inc., the philippines 100 %

Symrise pvt. ltd., India 100 %

Symrise K.K., Japan 100 %
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Associated Company as of December 31, 2010naMe and LoCaTion oF THe CoMPany sHare

africa and the Middle east  

Aroma labs For Flavours SAe, egypt 100 %

Futura labs International SAe, egypt 100 %

roseland World Corp., dubai 100 %

ragco (pty) ltd., South Africa  100 %

Symrise (pty) ltd., South Africa 100 %

Symrise mauritius ltd., mauritius 100 %

Symrise S.A.e., egypt 100 %

 Aromatics madagascar S.a.r.l., madagascar 100 %

 Origines madagascar S.a.r.l., madagascar 100 %

naMe and LoCaTion oF THe CoMPany sHare

therapeutic peptides Inc., baton rouge, uSA 20 %

48  shareholdings in symrise aG pursuant 
to section 160 (1) no. 8 aktG

As of the balance sheet reporting date, Symrise AG had received the 
following notifications from shareholders of the Company pursuant to 
the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG):

CoMPany LoCaTion

noTiFiCaTion 

daTed eFFeCTive as oF

% THres -

HoLd 

 exCeeded 

or FaLLen 

 beLow

% sHare 

HoLding 

aFTer-

wards

voTing 

rigHTs

gerberding vermögens-
verwaltung gmbH3 Holzminden

december 28, 
2006

december 13, 
2006

   

 10.00 %Herr Horst-Otto gerberding3 Holzminden
december 28, 

2006
december 13, 

2006 5.86 % 6,928,087

gerberding vermögensverwaltung 
gmbH & Co. Kg3 Holzminden

december 28, 
2006

december 13, 
2006   

Sun life Financial Corp.1 Ontario, Canada August 2, 2007 June 29, 2007 3.00 % 3.03 % 3,577,909

the bank of new York  
mellon Corporation1

new York, 
new York, uSA

december 31, 
2008

december 30, 
2008 5.00 % 4.98 % 5,888,136

m&g Investment Funds1,2 london, uK march 25, 2008 march 18, 2008 5.00 % 5.055 % 5,974,017

m&g Securities limited2 london, uK march 25, 2008 march 18, 2008 5.00 % 5.175 % 6,115,017

massachusetts Financial Services 
 Company (mFS)2

boston, massa-
chusetts, uSA

October 7,  
2008

September 30, 
2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun life Assurance Company of  
Canada – uS Operations Holdings Inc.1

Wellesley Hills, 
massachusetts, 
uSA

October 7,  
2008

September 30, 
2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun life Financial (u.S.)  
Holding Inc.1

Wellesley Hills, 
massachusetts, 
uSA

October 7,  
2008

September 30, 
2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun life Financial (u.S.)  
Investments llC1

Wellesley Hills, 
massachusetts, 
uSA

October 7,  
2008

September 30, 
2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun life Financial Inc.1
toronto, Ontario, 
Canada

October 7,  
2008

September 30, 
2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun life global Investments Inc. 
(previously: Sun life Financial Corp.)1

toronto, Ontario, 
Canada

October 7,  
2008

September 30, 
2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174

Sun life of Canada (u.S.) 
Financial Services Holdings Inc.1

boston, massa-
chusetts, uSA

October 7,  
2008

September 30, 
2008 5.00 % 5.02 % 5,929,174
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1  the voting rights are attributed pursuant to Section 22 (1) S.1 no. 6 of the WpHg 

together with Section 22 (1) S.2 of the WpHg 
2 the voting rights are attributed pursuant to Section 22 (1) S.1 no. 6 of the WpHg
3 the voting rights are attributed pursuant to Section 22 (1) S.1 no. 1 of the WpHg
4 the voting rights are attributed pursuant to Section 22 (2) of the WpHg

CoMPany LoCaTion

noTiFiCaTion 

daTed eFFeCTive as oF

% THres -

HoLd 

exCeeded 

or FaLLen 

beLow

% sHare 

HoLding 

aFTer-

wards

voTing 

rigHTs

Jpmorgan Asset management  
Holdings Inc.1 new York, uSA

december 1,  
2009

november 26, 
2009 3.00 % 3.02 % 3,570,582

Schroder International  
Selection Fund

Sennigerberg,  
luxembourg June 2, 2010 April 29, 2010 3.00 % 2.91 % 3,441,370

Capital Income builder, Inc.
los Angeles, 
uSA June 7, 2010 June 2, 2010 3.00 % 2.99 % 3,538,936

Capital research and management 
Company2

los Angeles, 
uSA June 14, 2010 June 10, 2010 3.00 % 2.38 % 2,807,585

Fmr llC1

boston, massa-
chusetts, uSA June 22, 2010 June 16, 2010 3.00 % 2.9 % 3,429,477

Fidelity management & research 
 Company2 

boston, massa-
chusetts, uSA June 22, 2010 June 16, 2010 3.00 % 2.82 % 3,335,977

blackrock Inc.1 new York, uSA
October 8,  

2010
October 1,  

2010 3.00 % 3.002 % 3,547,771

Schroders plc1 london, uK
October 13,  

2010
October 11,  

2010 3.00 % 2.976 % 3,516,949

Schroder Administration limited1 london, uK
October 13,  

2010
October 11,  

2010 3.00 % 2.976 % 3,516,949

Schroder Investment management 
 limited2 london, uK

October 13,  
2010

October 11,  
2010 3.00 % 2.976 % 3,516,949

Jpmorgan Asset management (uK) 
 limited2,4 london, uK

november 8,  
2010

november 3,  
2010 3.00 % 2.870 % 3,386,401

J.p. morgan Investment management 
Inc.2,4 new York, uSA

november 8,  
2010

november 3,  
2010 3.00 % 2.870 % 3,386,401

Jpmorgan Asset management  
(taiwan) limited2,4 taipei, taiwan

november 8,  
2010

november 3,  
2010 3.00 % 2.870 % 3,386,401

Standard life Investment limited2 edinburgh, uK
november 15, 

2010
november 10, 

2010 3.00 % 3.073 % 3,631,647

m&g group limited1 london, uK February 4, 2011 February 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.020 % 11,843,270

m&g Investment management limited1 london, uK February 4, 2011 February 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.020 % 11,843,270

m&g limited1 london, uK February 4, 2011 February 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.020 % 11,843,270

prudential plc.1 london, uK February 4, 2011 February 1, 2011 10.00 % 10.02 % 11,843,270

Ameriprise Financial Inc.1,5

minneapolis, 
uSA February 15, 2011 February 10, 2011 3.00 % 3.07 % 3,623,754

threadneedle Asset management  
limited2 london, uK February 18, 2011 February 16, 2011 3.00 % 3.04 % 3,592,716

threadneedle Asset management  
Holdings limited1 london, uK February 18, 2011 February 16, 2011 3.00 % 3.05 % 3,603,552

threadneedle Asset management  
Holdings SArl1,6

luxembourg,  
luxembourg February 18, 2011 February 16, 2011 3.00 % 3.05 % 3,608,647

5  0.02 % of voting rights (19.631 voting rights) are attributed pursuant to Section 22 (1) S.1 

no.1 of the WpHg 
6  0.03 % of voting rights (36.341 voting rights) are attributed pursuant to Section 22(1) S.1 

no.1 of the WpHg.
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49  exemption from the obligation to prepare 
annual financial statements pursuant 
to section 264 (3) HGb

DrinkStar GmbH, Tesium GmbH and Symotion GmbH are included in 
the consolidated fi nancial statements of Symrise AG in accordance 
with the provisions applicable for corporate entities and have taken 
advantage of the exemption provisions covering the preparation, 
 audit and publication of separate annual fi nancial statements pursuant 
to Section 264 (3) HGB.

50 Corporate Governance

The declaration of compliance pursuant to Section 161 AktG has 
been submitted for 2010 and has been made available to shareholders 
on an ongoing basis through our website www.symrise.com.

Holzminden, February 18, 2011

Symrise AG
The Executive Board

Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram Achim Daub

Hans Holger Gliewe Bernd HirschBernd Hirsch
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responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable 
reporting principles, the consolidated fi nancial statements give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, fi nancial position and profi t 
or loss of the Group, and the Group management report includes a 
fair review of the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal 
 opportunities and risks associated with the expected  development 
of the Group.

Holzminden, Germany, February 18, 2011

Symrise AG
The Executive Board

Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram           Bernd Hirsch

Achim Daub            Hans Holger Gliewe

r e s p o n s I b I l I T y  s TaT e M e n T

Achim Daub            Hans Holger Gliewe
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a u D I T o r ’ s  r e p o r T

We have audited the consolidated financial statements pre­
pared by the Symrise AG, Holzminden, comprising the 
 consolidated  balance sheet, the consolidated income state­
ment, consolidated statement of changes in equity, con­
solidated cash flow statement and the notes to the conso­
lidated financial statements, together with the group 
 management report for the business year from  January 1 
to December 31, 2010. The preparation of the consoli­
dated  financial statements and the group management 
 report in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, 
and the additional requirements of German commercial 
law pursuant to Section 315a Abs. 1 HGB are the re­
sponsibility of the parent company’s management. Our 
 responsibility is to express an opinion on the consoli­
dated financial statements and on the group management 
report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state­
ments in accordance with section 317 HGB [Handelsgesetz­
buch „German Commercial Code“] and German generally 
 accepted standards for the audit of financial statements pro­
mulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
such that misstatements materially affecting the presen­
tation of the net assets, financial position and results of op­
erations in the consolidated financial statements in accor­
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework 
and in the group management report are detected with 
reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities 
and the economic and legal environment of the Group 
and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken 
into account in the determination of audit procedures. 
The effectiveness of the accounting­related internal con­
trol  system and the evidence supporting the disclosures 
in the con solidated financial statements and the group 

management report are examined primarily on a test basis 
within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 
 assessing the annual financial statements of those entities 
included in consolidation, the determination of entities 
to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consoli­
dation principles used, and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presen­
tation of the consolidated financial statements and group 
management report. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our  opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the con­
solidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as ad­
opted by the EU, the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Section 315a Abs. 1 HGB 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
 position and results of operations of the Group in accor­
dance with these requirements. The group management 
 report is consistent with the consolidated financial state­
ments and, as a whole, provides a suitable view of the 
Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development. 

Hanover, February 23, 2011

KPMG AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Dr. Bartels­Hetzler Dr. Thümler 
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer
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auditor’s report
Corporate Governance report

C o r p o r aT e  G o v e r n a n C e  r e p o r T

The printed Corporate Governance report is part of 
the Corporate Governance Statement, which is available 
in its entirety on the Company’s website at  Investors > 
 Corporate Governance > Corporate Governance Statement

introduction

Corporate Governance at Symrise is based on the German 
Corporate Governance Code, which has established itself 
as guideline and standard for good corporate governance in 
Germany. Today, we are convinced more than ever before 
that good corporate governance is a prerequisite and indis­
pensable basis for the success of a company. As we have 
seen in times of a worldwide financial and economic crisis, 
this success depends especially on the trust of our busi­
ness partners, financial markets, investors, employees and 
the public. Confirming and further strengthening this 
trust is a prioritized objective at Symrise. Achieving this 
objective calls for responsible leadership and corporate 
management and control focused on creating sustainable 
value.

Symrise shapes corporate governance in the Company in 
keeping with the recommendations and suggestions of the 
German Cor porate Governance Code. The Code has been 
updated. Symrise has addressed and implemented all of 
the adjustments made to the Code. Symrise AG has with­
out exception fully complied with the recommendations 
made by the Government Commission on the German 
 Corporate Governance Code (version: May 26, 2010) pub­
lished by the German Federal Ministry of Justice on July 2, 
2010, in the official part of the electronic Federal  Gazette 
(Bundes anzeiger).

In the past, we oriented ourselves to internationally and na­
tionally acknowledged standards of good and responsible 
corporate governance and will continue to do so in the fu­
ture. In the 2010 fiscal year, the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board dealt intensively with all corporate gov­
ernance issues on numerous occasions across all areas. 

w w w.sy mrise .C om > 

in v estors >  

C orp or ate 

 G ov ernanCe > 

 C orp or ate 

 G ov ernanCe 

 statement

conFlicts oF interest

As in the previous year, conflicts of interest of members 
of the Executive Board, which have to be disclosed to 
the Supervisory Board without delay, did not occur in 2010. 
The only consultant or service agreements or other 
 exchange contracts in fiscal year 2010 between members 
of the Supervisory Board and the company involved 
Mr. Horst­Otto Gerberding, as in the previous year: 

In connection with the retirement of Mr. Gerberding as 
managing director of the former Symrise Holding GmbH, 
the Company and Mr. Gerberding entered into an “Amended 
and Restated Service Agreement” on September 4, 2003. 
Under the terms of this agreement, Mr. Gerberding is enti­
tled to an annual retirement pension of € 100,000 until 
his death. This amount increases by € 7,500 for each year 
that Mr. Gerberding remains in the service of the Com­
pany after the conclusion of the agreement. Mr. Gerberding 
is also entitled to a pension from Symrise AG through an 
employment and supply contract dated July 29, 1983. The 
total sum is € 23,475 per month. 

tr AnsPArencY

Pursuant to § 15a of Germany’s Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG – Wertpapierhandelsgesetz) the members of the Ex­
ecutive Board and the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG 
as well as certain employees with management duties and 
the persons with whom they have a close relationship 
must disclose the purchase or sale of Symrise shares and 
related financial instruments. This duty of disclosure 
 applies if the value of the transactions undertaken by one 
of the aforementioned persons reaches or exceeds the 
sum of € 5,000. 

All of the reports received by Symrise AG as of December 31, 
2010, are published on our website at www.symrise.com > 
Investors > Corporate Governance > Director’s Dealings. 
This includes all such reports since the IPO in December 
2006, including any involving persons who have meanwhile 
left the Executive Board and Supervisory Board.

w w w.sy mrise .C om > 

 in v estors > 

C orp or ate 

 G ov ernan Ce >  

d ireCtor ’s de al in Gs
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The direct or indirect total holding of shares in Symrise AG 
by all members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards 
as of December 31, 2010, was more than 1 %. The amount of 
6.18 % of shares in Symrise AG held in total by members 
of the Executive and Supervisory Boards consists of 6.01 % 
held by members of the Supervisory Board and 0.17 % by 
members of the Executive Board. 

A summary of the respective mandates of the members of 
the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board outside 
of the Symrise Group can be found on page 156/157 in this 
Annual Report.

Relationships to affiliated companies and persons are 
stated on page 136 in this Annual Report.

e XecutiVe BoArd And  

suPerVisorY BoArd reMuner Ation*

reMuner Ation oF tHe e XecutiVe BoArd

Members of the Executive Board are remunerated in line 
with Section 87 of the Stock Corporation Act, pursuant to 
which the Supervisory Board sets the remuneration. Remu­
neration is comprised of fixed and variable components, 
as well as fringe benefits. The appropriateness of the remu­
neration depends upon the responsibilities and the per­
sonal achievements of the individual Executive Board mem­
ber as well as upon the economic situation and market 
environment of the Company as a whole. In its session of 
March 1, 2010, the Presidential Committee dealt with the 
goals achieved by the Executive Board Members in 2009 
and defined corresponding variable components. In the 
meeting held on September 29, 2010, the committee exam­
ined the salaries of Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram and Bernd 
Hirsch and adjusted them under consideration of the usual 
remuneration.

All Executive Board members receive their contractually 
agreed fixed remuneration paid as a salary in equal 
monthly payments. The variable component of the total 
remuneration in 2010 comprised an annual bonus based 
on the achievement of Company targets. To determine the 
remuneration payment, the EBIT for the Symrise Group 
or its business divisions was used as a key performance 
 indicator for the Group, as well as qualitative evaluation 

 cri teria. The targets upon which the variable portion of total 
 remuneration is based were specified by the Supervisory 
Board and agreed upon in target agreements with the indi­
vidual members of the Executive Board at the start of 2010 
based on the agreed company targets. The annual  bonus 
will be paid out in the following year (2011) on the basis 
of the approved financial statements for 2010. The annual 
bonus cannot exceed 130 % of the respective basic remu­
neration. After approval of the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, Bernd Hirsch received an interest­free bonus pre­
payment of € 213,000 for the fiscal year 2010. This will be 
applied in full to the annual bonus for 2010 as determined 
by the Supervisory Board after assessment of the annual 
financial results.

In addition to the basic remuneration and the annual bonus, 
which are paid in cash to members of the Executive Board 
annually, there is a “long­term incentive plan” (LTIP) for the 
Executive Board. This is designed as a “performance cash 
bonus”: i.e. at the end of the performance period of three 
fiscal years Executive Board members receive a variable 
cash bonus if the predetermined targets have been reached. 
The incentive plans including the performance criteria 
were discussed by the Supervisory Board and its commit­
tees. At the end of the performance period, the Supervi­
sory Board also determines whether the goals have been 
reached and if a bonus payment is made.

The LTIP has two performance criteria, namely, the abso­
lute share price, which must increase by at least 20 %, and a 
target value for the so­called “Symrise Value Added”. The 
“Symrise Value Added” is a target determined by the Super­
visory Board for the performance period minus interest 
at a rate of 8 % on capital employed. 70 percent of the total 
long­term bonus is based on the development of the share 
price; 30 percent is based on the “Symrise Value Added.”

The LTIP for the performance period from 2008 to 2010 
 expired on December 31, 2010; since the targets were not 
reached no bonus payment was made. The provisions 
for T€ 102 originally made for this payment have been 
 accordingly closed.

For the current long­term plans running from 2009 to 
2011 and from 2010 to 2012 the following provisions have 
been determined as fair value of the respective LTIP at 
time of payment for 2010: for Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram 

*  the remuneration of the executive board is also reported as part of the  

management report.
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€ 129,059 (previous year € 164,148), for Achim Daub 
€ 98,372 (previous year: € 128,909), Hans Holger Gliewe 
€ 86,039 and for Bernd Hirsch € 73,707 (both are new 
 members of the Board and there are therefore no values for 
previous years).

The remuneration system for the Executive Board was ap­
proved by the Annual General Meeting on May 11, 2010, 
with a majority of 98.942 % of the represented capital.

In its sessions on September 29 and November 4, 2010, the 
Presidential Committee dealt in more depth with the con­
cept of a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The Supervisory 
Board discussed and adopted this concept at its meeting 
of December 14, 2010.

The new LTIP concept replaces the absolute share price 
 development as a key indicator of the LTIP with a relative 
 increase of the Smyrise share price compared to the share­
based index. This index is comprised of listed compa­
nies in the fragrance and flavor industry as well as sup­
plier companies in the food and cosmetics industry. The 
key performance indicator is the share price development 
plus dividends or other payments. Symrise’s development 
compared to the companies in the index is represented in 
the form of a percentile ranking. No bonus is paid if the 
Company is below the 40th percentile ranking. The maxi­
mally achievable bonus value – the so­called cap – cor­
responds to double the bonus value if 100 % of the targets 
are reached. In this case, a cap of 200 % would be reached. 
The total remuneration for the given fiscal year as well as 
fair value of the share­based remuneration at the time of 
payment is presented in detail in the following table. 

e XecutiVe BoArd reMuner Ation 2010

in € saL ary
reMuner aTion 

in Kind1

variabLe re -
Muner aTion2

ToTaL 

reMuner aTion  

Paid

Fair vaLue oF 
resPeCTive 

LTiP  
aT TiMe oF 

PayMenT

ToTaL reMu -
ner aTion in 

aCCordanCe 
wiTH § 314 

abs. 1 nr. 6a 
gerMan CoM -
MerCiaL Code 

(Hgb)

dr. Heinz-Jürgen bertram 530,834 8,471 628,192 1,167,497 129,059 1,296,556

 2009 462,500 7,811 502,100 972,411 164,148 1,136,559

Achim daub 400,000 6,762 506,400 913,162 98,372 1,011,534

 2009 400,000 6,091 487,162 893,253 128,909 1,022,162

Hans Holger gliewe 350,000 03 471,800 821,800 86,039 907,839

 as of november 5, 2009 31,192 18,029 15,434 64,655 0 64,655

bernd Hirsch 308,334 9,155 385,204 702,693 73,707 776,400

 as of december 1, 2009 25,000 0 27,000 52,000 0 52,000

1 the amount includes fringe benefits and non-monetary benefits, for example, from the use of a company car and payments for group insurance.
2  variable remuneration includes bonus provisions for the current year and bonus payments from the previos year to the extent that they differ from the amount of the previous year.
3  An exchange rate related overpayment of € 65,441 to Hans Holger gliewe in 2010 in brazil in brazilian reais is not included. this was included as a receivable in the consolidated 

financial statement and charged against the annual bonus for 2010.
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Pensions

All members of the Executive Board have the possibility 
of accumulating deferred compensation benefits by con­
verting their salaries. Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram, Heinz 
 Holger Gliewe and Bernd Hirsch have made use of this 
 possibility. For the fiscal year 2010 the following pro­
visions were made for salary conversions and interest 
 expenses: for Dr. Heinz­Jürgen Bertram € 96,725 (previ­
ous year: € 122,229), for Mr. Gliewe € 61,567 (previous 
year: € 12,630); for Mr. Hirsch € 51,037 (no provisions 
for the previous year, since Mr. Hirsch was appointed to 
the Board at December 1, 2009).

A pension commitment exists solely for Dr. Heinz­Jürgen 
Bertram and Hans Holger Gliewe, due to their prior em­
ployment contract. This pension commitment was also of­
fered to all other employees of the former Haarmann & 
 Reimer GmbH. The pension provision for Dr. Bertram was 
€ 49,236 and for Mr. Gliewe € 57,385. 

The pension provisions made for individual Board mem­
bers are presented in the following table.

e ArlY terMinAtion And e XPir Ation oF eMPloYMent 

contr Acts

The employment contracts of members of the Executive 
Board do not provide for any benefits upon early termi­
nation. In this case, the Executive Board member in ques­
tion is only entitled to continued payment of his or her 
fixed salary for the duration of the employment contract. 
He or she is not entitled to a bonus (also not to a prorated 
 bonus) for the fiscal year concerned. 

A post­employment non­compete provision was agreed 
upon with the Executive Board members for twelve months. 
By way of compensation, the member concerned shall re­
ceive 50 % of his or her contractually agreed basic salary.

Pension ProVisions 2010

in €

addiTions  

To Pension Provisions  

FroM Pension Fund

THereoF ConTribuTion  

oF eMPLoyee THrougH  

saL ary Conversion

CasH vaLue oF Pension 

Provision ToTaL 

dr. Heinz-Jürgen bertram 145,961 46,750 597,081

 2009 176,197 46,750 451,120

Achim daub 0  0

 2009 0  0

Hans Holger gliewe 83,938 6,750 410,606

 as of november 5, 2009 12,630  326,668

bernd Hirsch 51,037 36,750 51,037

 as of december 1, 2009   0

cHAnge oF control

The employment contracts of the Executive Board do not 
provide for any extraordinary payments in the case of a 
 so­called change­of­control situation. 

For the Long Term Incentive Plan of 2010 and 2011, a pay­
ment based on 100 % of the targets reached is provided 
if a change of control takes place and a member of the Ex­
ecutive Board is dismissed from his post as a result. This 
means that the Long Term Incentive Plans that are still in 
effect until the change of control are paid out on the basis 
of 100 % of the targets reached.

In such a case, the 2008 and 2009 Long Term Incentive 
Plans would be paid out on the basis of the performance as 
of the effective date. 
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The members of the Executive Board do not receive any 
special remuneration upon expiration of their contracts and 
do not receive any severance pay.

suPerVisorY BoArd reMuner Ation structure 

In addition to their base compensation, the Supervisory 
Board remuneration also includes a variable component 
that adequately reflects the company’s earnings per share. 
The base compensation for each member of the Super­
visory Board is € 20,000. As long as the Company’s earn­
ings per share amount to at least € 0.15, each member 
of the Supervisory Board receives € 200 per € 0.01 com­
pany earnings per share. The Chairman of the Super visory 
Board receives twice this amount in both base compen­
sation and variable remuneration. The Deputy Chairman 
 receives 1.5 times these two remuneration components. 

The variable remuneration component has an upper limit. 
For simple members of the Supervisory Board, this limit is 
€ 40,000, for the Deputy Chairman it is € 60,000 and for 
the Chairman it is € 80,000. 

Committee chairpersons receive an additional, fixed, 
 annual remuneration of € 10,000. Deputy committee chair­
persons receive an additional € 5,000 annually, and sim­
ple committee members receive an additional € 2,500 an­
nually. All members of the Supervisory Board receive a 
stipend of € 1,000 per committee meeting or per meeting of 
the Supervisory Board, though the maximum stipend is 
€ 1,500 per calendar day. 

A breakdown of the total remuneration of each member of 
the Supervisory Board is shown below. 

in €  

basiC 

reMu -

ner aTion  

as oF  

deC. 31

reMu -

ner aTion 

For earn -

ings Per 

sHare  

as oF  

deC. 311

CoMMiT-

Tee reMu -

ner aTion

ToTaL 

reMu -

ner aTion  

as oF  

deC. 31 sTiPends

PayMenT 

due as oF 

deC. 31

Andreas Schmid Chairman 40,000.00 45,200.00 32,500.00 117,700.00 13,500.00 131,200.00

Horst-Otto gerberding  20,000.00 22,600.00 5,000.00 47,600.00 11,000.00 58,600.00

Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae  20,000.00 22,600.00 7,500.00 50,100.00 11,000.00 61,100.00

dr. thomas rabe  20,000.00 22,600.00 10,000.00 52,600.00 10,500.00 63,100.00

dr. peter grafoner  20,000.00 22,600.00 2,500.00 45,100.00 11,500.00 56,600.00

dr. Hans-Heinrich gürtler  20,000.00 22,600.00  42,600.00 8,000.00 50,600.00

dr. Helmut Frieden  20,000.00 22,600.00  42,600.00 8,000.00 50,600.00

Karl-Heinz Huchthausen
vice  
Chairman 30,000.00 33,900.00 5,000.00 68,900.00 11,000.00 79,900.00

regina Hufnagel  20,000.00 22,600.00 5,000.00 47,600.00 11,000.00 58,600.00

Helmut tacke  20,000.00 22,600.00  42,600.00 8,000.00 50,600.00

peter Winkelmann  20,000.00 22,600.00 2,500.00 45,100.00 12,500.00 57,600.00

Francesco grioli  20,000.00 22,600.00  42,600.00 8,000.00 50,600.00

  270,000.00 305,100.00 70,000.00 645,100.00 124,000.00 769,100.00

1 earnings per share: € 1.13
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Symrise AG took out a professional indemnity insurance 
(D&O insurance) for all members of the Executive and 
 Supervisory Boards with an appropriate deductible. From 
2010, a deductible was agreed on of at least 10 % of the 
damages and up to at least one­and­a­half times the fixed 
annual remuneration of the respective member of the 
 Executive Board or the Supervisory Board. 

sHAreHolders And AnnuAl gener Al Mee ting

Symrise AG shareholders exercise their co­determination 
and control rights at the General Meeting, which takes 
place at least once each year. The Meeting takes decisions 
on all statutory matters that are binding on all sharehold­
ers and the Company. In decisions made, each share is en­
titled to one vote. All shareholders registering in due time 
are entitled to participate in the Annual General Meeting. 
Shareholders who are not able to attend the Meeting in 
person are entitled to have their voting rights exercised by 
a bank, a shareholders association, a voting proxy of 
 Symrise AG who is bound by its instruments, or another 
proxy of their own choosing. Shareholders also have the 
 opportunity of voting per Internet in the run­up to the An­
nual General Meeting or authorizing the voting proxy 
 provided by the Company on the Web. Instructions on how 
voting rights are to be exercised may be given to a voting 
proxy before and during the Annual General Meeting on 
May 18, 2011, up until the end of the general debate. It 
is possible to transfer the voting rights to a voting proxy 
electronically up until 6:00 p.m. on the evening of May 17, 
2011. The invitation to the Annual General Meeting and the 
reports and information required for the decision are pub­
lished according to stock corporation law and made avail­
able on Symrise AG’s website in German and English.

It is our intention to provide our shareholders with quick, 
comprehensive and effective information before and dur­
ing the Annual General Meeting and to make it easy for 
them to exercise their rights. The annual report and the 
 invitation to the Annual Gen eral Meeting, both of which are 
also available on the website of Symrise AG, provide the 
shareholders with comprehensive information on the past 
fiscal year and the individual agenda items of the upcom­
ing Annual General Meeting. All documents and informa­
tion pertaining to the Annual General Meeting and the 
 Annual Report are available on the website of Symrise AG.

The registration and legitimation process for the Annual 
General Meeting is simple. The 21st day before the Meeting 
is the applicable cutoff date for the legitimation of the 
shareholders. 

Subsequent to the Annual General Meeting, we also pub­
lish the attendance and the votes on our website. 

inForMAtion serVice For our sHAreHolders

Corporate communication is undertaken with the objective 
of guaranteeing the greatest possible transparency and 
equality of opportunities through timely and equal infor­
mation to all target groups. All major press and capital 
market releases by Symrise AG are also published on the 
Company’s website in German and in English. The arti­
cles of association, rules of procedure of the Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board, as well as the annual 
and consolidated financial statements, quarterly results 
and the annual and half­yearly financial reports can also 
be found on our website. 

We regularly notify our shareholders, analysts, shareholder 
associations and the public of all important recurring dates 
through a financial calendar published in the annual report, 
the quarterly reports and on the Company website. Regu­
lar meetings with analysts and institutional investors are 
part of our investor relations activities. This includes an 
annual analysts’ conference as well as conference calls for 
analysts and investors coinciding with the publishing of 
our quarterly and half­yearly figures.

The most important presentations prepared for these events, 
the Annual General Meeting and road shows and investor 
conferences can also be viewed on our website. The location 
and dates of road shows and investor conferences can 
 similarly be found on our website at www.symrise.com > 
Investors > Events.

risK MAnAgeMent

Dealing with risks of all kinds responsibly has the utmost 
importance for the success of a company. For this reason, 
a comprehensive risk management system is a mandatory 
element of suitable corporate governance. The Executive 
Board ensures appropriate risk management and risk con­
trolling throughout the Group. It is constantly being devel­
oped and adapted to changing conditions. Twice a year, 
potential risks are analyzed and classified throughout the 
Group. 

w w w.sy mrise .C om > 

 in v estors > e v ents
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The risk management system at Symrise AG, its security 
mechanisms, internal guidelines and checks are without 
prior notice by the internal Group auditors. Risks identified 
in this manner are immediately reported to the Executive 
Board.

The risk early recognition system in accordance with para­
graph 91, section 2 of the Stock Corporation Act, is moni­
tored by the  auditors in Germany and abroad.

Along with the audit of annual accounts and monitoring of 
accounting procedures, the Auditing Committee set up 
by the Supervisory Board also undertakes regular auditing 
and monitoring of the effectiveness of the internal control 
and risk management system. This includes, for example, 
regular reporting by Internal Auditing and the Compli­
ance Office of Symrise. 

This overlapping mechanism allows risks to be identified 
and assessed at an early stage. The Executive Board 
 regularly informs the Supervisory Board and the Auditing 
Committee of existing risks and their development. 
 Specific measures are proposed and implemented right 
from this early stage to mitigate the identified risks. 
The Group’s in­house auditors also check on the implemen­
tation of these new measures and the results are given 
a critical assessment. The risk profile is thereby constantly 
monitored and necessary measures to mitigate risks are 
 introduced. Specific staff members are assigned responsi­
bility for this and held accountable in their performance 
 review. 

our Auditors:  KPMg

With regard to the consolidated financial statements and 
the interim reports at Symrise, our accounting in fiscal 
year 2010 was again based on the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as required to be applied in 
the European Union. The legally prescribed individual ac­
counts of Symrise AG that are decisive for the payment 
of dividends have been prepared in accordance with the 
regulations of the German Commercial Code (HGB – Han­
delsgesetzbuch). As in 2009, the annual accounts of 
 Symrise AG as well as the management report and the con­
solidated annual financial statements of Symrise AG as 
well as the group management report were also audited in 
2010 by our auditors KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungs­
gesellschaft, Hanover. An agreement is in place with the 
auditors to promptly notify the chairman of the Auditing 
Committee of any grounds for disqualification or prejudice 
that are identified during the audit, insofar as such cir­
cumstances cannot immediately be rectified. The auditors 
are instructed to report without delay on all findings and 
 incidents of significance to the duties of the Supervisory 
Board that are identified during the audit to the Execu­
tive Board and the Supervisory Board. Moreover, the audi­
tors are required to notify the Supervisory Board and 
make a note in the audit report if circumstances are identi­
fied during the audit that are incompatible with the dec­
laration of compliance issued by the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board in accordance with § 161 of Germany’s 
Stock Corporation Act.



150

r e p o r T  o f  T H e  s u p e r v I s o r y  b o a r D  o f  s y M r I s e  a G

Dear Shareholders,

Due to the still noticeable effects of the worldwide finan­
cial and economic crisis, the successful refinancing of the 
Group, among other things, with the first placement of a 
stock market listed bond and an investment project to ex­
pand our menthol production, the 2010 fiscal year posed 
special challenges to the Group. 

In this report I would like to inform you about the key 
 activities of the Supervisory Board in this challenging 
 environment. In 2010, the Supervisory Board again ful­
filled its responsibilities under the law and according to the 
articles of incorporation with great care. In the sessions 
of the Supervisory Board and its committees, we again dis­
cussed and reached agreements on a number of matters 
and business transactions subject to our approval. 

We regularly provided consultation to the Executive Board 
and supervised the Company management. We are satis­
fied that business complied with all legal and regulatory 
requirements. The Supervisory Board was directly and 
 intensely involved in all decisions of fundamental signi fi­
cance to the Company. The Executive Board consulted us 
and discussed in depth the strategic planning and orienta­
tion of the Company. As in the previous two fiscal years, 
the Supervisory and Executive Board held a separate meet­
ing to examine and evaluate the Company’s strategy. 

We deliberated in detail on all business transactions of sig­
nificance to the Company based on information received 
from the Executive Board. To this end, the Executive Board 
provided us with regular, current and comprehensive re­
ports in written and oral form on all aspects important 
to the Company, above all on the development of the busi­
ness and financial situation, the employment situation, 
planned and ongoing investments, basic corporate plan­
ning and corporate strategy issues, as well as on the 
risk situation and risk management. The Executive Board 
also reported to the Supervisory Board on the compli­
ance program. In accordance with the legal requirements 
and the articles of association, the Executive Board in­

formed us of matters subject to our approval at an early 
stage and presented them in time for a decision to be 
taken. Wherever required by law or by the articles of asso­
ciation, we submitted our vote on the reports and pro­
posed resolutions of the Executive Board following thor­
ough analysis and discussion. In urgent special cases, 
decisions were made in consultation with the chairman of 
the Supervisory Board, either by telephone or in writing.

The Executive Board reported all important financial fig­
ures to us once a month. When there were deviations of 
the course of business from the plans and objectives, we 
received detailed explanations in written and oral form, 
enabling us to discuss the reasons for the deviations and 
targeted correction measures with the Executive Board.

In addition, during the periods between the sessions of the 
Supervisory Board and its committees, particularly the 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the Chairman of 
the Auditing Committee were in close and continuous con­
tact with the Executive Board. The waning financial and 
economic crisis and the consequences for current and fu­
ture business development, as well as the status of essen­
tial projects and key business transactions in both Group 
divisions, were repeatedly a subject of our discussions 
with the Executive Board.

Before the Supervisory Board sessions, the majority share­
holders and the employee representatives discussed impor­
tant topics on the day’s agenda separately. As in the previ­
ous year, conflicts of interest of members of the Executive 
Board, which have to be disclosed to the Supervisory Board 
without delay and about which the Annual General Meet­
ing has to be informed, did not occur in 2010.

tHe suPerVisorY BoArd’s worK in coMMit tees 

As in the past, to fulfill its responsibilities more efficiently, 
the Supervisory Board formed a total of four committees. 
These committees draft the Supervisory Board’s resolutions 
and prepare the agenda items to be addressed in the full 
session. To the extent that this was legally admissible, in 
individual cases the Supervisory Board delegated decision­
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making to its committees. Such assignment of tasks has 
proved successful in practice. The Supervisory Board estab­
lished an Auditing Committee, an Arbitration Committee 
pursuant to § 27 (3) of the Codetermination Act (MitbestG), 
a Presidential Committee and a Nominations Committee 
as permanent committees. The task of the latter is to pro­
pose suitable candidates to represent the shareholders 
when new Supervisory Board elections are coming up. The 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board chairs all of the com­
mittees with the exception of the Auditing Committee. In 
the Supervisory Board sessions, the chairmen of the com­
mittees report regularly and extensively on the content 
and results of the committee meetings. As a result, the 
 Supervisory Board always has a comprehensive informa­
tion basis for its consultations. 

The Presidential Committee is responsible for Executive 
Board matters. Among these issues are making resolution 
recommendations to the Supervisory Board at the full 
session of the Supervisory Board regarding appointments 
of Executive Board members or regarding essential com­
ponents of Executive Board members’ employment con­
tracts. This committee is also responsible for succession 
planning at the Executive Board level. The Presidential 
Committee additionally deals with the development of the 
Executive Board remuneration system, specifies the 
amount of remuneration, and makes corresponding recom­
mendations at the full assembly. The Presidential Commit­
tee resolved to incorporate the criterion of diversity when 

appointing future Supervisory Board members, striving 
in particular to give appropriate consideration to women. 
The Presidential Committee currently has five members. 
Three members are shareholders’ representatives in the Su­
pervisory Board and two are employee representatives in 
the Supervisory Board. The members are Andreas Schmid 
(Chairman), Horst­Otto Gerberding, Karl­Heinz Hucht­
hausen, Regina Hufnagel and Sanna Suvanto­Harsaae. The 
Presidential Committee convened three times in the 2010 
fiscal year. All of the members attended the meetings. After 
the replacement of Executive Board members and the re­
shuffling of the Executive Board had been completed at the 
end of 2009, consultations about renewing Mr. Daub’s con­
tract as President of “Scent & Care” were a topic of the 
committee’s work. In addition, the Presidential Committee 
carried out an examination of the Executive Board’s re­
muneration system and the success criteria for variable re­
muneration components acting as long­term incentives 
(Long Term  Incentive Plan, LTIP) and conveyed the results 
to the full meeting so that a resolution could be made. 
The main change to the regulations thus far is that, in the 
future, the current division of the performance index into 
share price development and corporate value development 
for new plans will be replaced by another index. The new 
index contains competitor companies, customer and supplier 
companies, companies that are not among the top compa­
nies in the industry, and companies that compete with 
Symrise only in special areas. In connection with these 
 indexed companies, the average share price in the fourth 

Andre As scHMid 
Chairman of the supervisory board 
of symrise aG
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quarter of the current period is related to the average 
share price in the fourth quarter of the previous period. 
The performance of the share price of all of the companies 
listed in the index is rated and compared to Symrise’s 
 rating. 

The Auditing Committee deals with the financial state­
ments and consolidated financial statements. In addition, it 
monitors the accounting process, the effectiveness of the 
internal controlling system, the risk management system, 
the internal revision system and the audit of annual ac­
counts. It focuses in particular on the independence and 
qualifications of the auditor as well as additional services 
provided by the auditor. The Auditing Committee dis­
cussed the interim reports in detail and approved them be­
fore they were published. Furthermore, the Auditing Com­
mittee prepared the Supervisory Board’s decision on the 
approval of the financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements. To this end, it is responsible for pre­ 
auditing the annual financial statements, the consolidated 
financial statements, the management reports and the 
 proposal regarding appropriation of earnings. The individ­
ual agenda items also include receipt of the internal revi­
sion and compliance office reports as well as the risk report. 
At least one member of the Auditing Committee must be 
independent and possess expertise in accounting or audit­
ing. The Auditing Committee currently has four members. 
Three members are appointed by the shareholder represen­
tatives on the Supervisory Board, one by the employee 
 representatives on the Supervisory Board. The members are 
Dr. Thomas Rabe (Chairman), Dr. Peter Grafoner, Andreas 
Schmid and Peter Winkelmann. The Auditing Committee 
convened five times in the 2010 fiscal year. Two members 
of the Auditing Committee were unable to attend one meet­
ing. The auditor, the CFO and the CEO regularly attend 
the Auditing Committee’s sessions. The committee’s work 
focused on the auditor’s reports as well as the further de­
velopment of the risk management system and the compli­
ance program. The auditor always reported in detail on 
all findings and incidents of significance to the duties of 
the Supervisory Board that are identified during the audit 
and reviews of the consolidated financial statements. Early 
 refinancing of the Group was a special focus of the Audit­
ing Committee’s work in the 2010 fiscal year.

The Auditing Committee prepared the Supervisory Com­
mittee’s proposal to the Annual General Meeting to nomi­
nate KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft of Hano­
ver as the auditor. Furthermore, the Auditing Committee 
solicited a statement of independence from the auditor. 
It commissioned the auditor and established the auditing 
fees, a risk­oriented auditing approach, and individual 
 auditing focuses. 

The Arbitration Committee pursuant to § 27 (3) of the Co­
determination Act (MitbestG) is equally represented and 
consists of two shareholder and two employee representa­
tives who are on the Supervisory Board. Its current mem­
bers are Andreas Schmid (Chairman), Karl­Heinz Hucht­
hausen, Regina Hufnagel and Sanna Suvanto­Harsaae. 
As in the previous year, it was not necessary to convene 
the Arbitration Committee during the 2010 fiscal year. 

The Nominations Committee currently has three members. 
Its task is to recommend shareholders’ representatives to 
the Annual General Meeting who would be suitable Super­
visory Board members when Supervisory Board  elections 
are coming up. In compliance with the German Corporate 
Governance Code, the committee consists exclusively of 
Supervisory Board members who are shareholders’ repre­
sentatives. Its members are Andreas Schmid (Chairman), 
Horst­Otto Gerberding and Sanna Suvanto­Harsaae. It was 
not necessary to convene the Nominations Committee 
 during the 2010 fiscal year. 

toPics oF tHe suPerVisorY BoArd Mee tings

Further focuses of our work and the subject of regular 
 deliberations in the Supervisory Board were the still 
 noticeable effects of the global financial and economic cri­
sis on Symrise, the measures taken by the Executive 
Board against this background, and the lessons to be 
learned for the future. An issue for regular consultation 
in the Supervisory Board’s meetings was the sales and 
earnings performance as well as the employment develop­
ment of the Group and its two corporate divisions in 
the  individual regions under the economic conditions as 
they were developing, the financial and liquidity situa­
tion, as well as important participatory projects and their 
development as measured against the planned objectives. 
The Supervisory Board also discussed the refinancing 
of the Group in several sessions. In the 2010 fiscal year, 
the Supervisory Board held six ordinary sessions. Two 
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of the sessions were held in telephone conferences. The 
 Supervisory Board additionally convened two meetings 
 focusing on specific topics. It devoted one of these meet­
ings to the Group strategy. The planning for 2011 was 
the focal point of the second special meeting. No Super­
visory Board member took part in less than half of the 
 sessions. 

In its meeting of January 25, 2010, the Supervisory Board 
and the Executive Board discussed and reached an agree­
ment on basic development options for the Company. At the 
meeting, the Supervisory Board picked up on the key 
 considerations entertained at its strategy meeting of Novem­
ber 4, 2009. One member of the Supervisory Board did not 
attend this meeting.

The Supervisory Board’s session of March 2, 2010, primar­
ily focused on the annual and consolidated financial state­
ments as of December 31, 2009, and the Executive Board’s 
proposal regarding appropriation of earnings. The auditor 
participated in this session. The session was additionally 
devoted to the Corporate Governance Report, the decla­
ration regarding the Corporate Governance code pursuant 
to § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the 
agenda items of the Annual General Meeting on May 11, 
2010, and the extension of the authorization to acquire 
treasury shares. In addition, the Supervisory Board resolved 
to extend Mr. Daub’s contract as President of “Scent & 
Care” and the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) beginning 
in 2010. All Supervisory Board members attended this 
 session. 

During a telephone conference on March 18, 2010, we 
discussed with the Executive Board all aspects related to 
creating new share capital while abolishing the existing 
share capital. All members of the Supervisory Board took 
part in this telephone conference.

In its meeting of April 23, 2010, the Supervisory Board 
dealt, on the basis of the course and results of the first 
quarter of 2010, with the anticipated development of busi­
ness for 2010 as a whole. The consultations focused on 
the soundness of the planning for 2010 as a whole. In spite 
of the increasing positive signals of an economic upswing, 
our customers’ business continued to be marked by great 
uncertainty about how long the economic recovery would 
last. Against this background, together with the Execu­

tive Board we continued to investigate whether it might be 
necessary to adjust the company’s strategic orientation. 
We discussed the refinancing concept developed by the Exe­
cutive Board, which would restructure Group financing 
and help reduce the risk of bundled final maturities through 
progressive final maturities and the use of different financ­
ing instruments while exploiting the favorable conditions 
on the financial market. In this meeting, we also dis­
cussed in detail and agreed on the investment project de­
veloped by the Executive Board to expand menthol produc­
tion capacities. All members of the Supervisory Board 
attended this session. 

A main focus of our telephone conference of August 4, 

2010, were the business results for the first half of 2010 and 
the second quarter of 2010, along with the half­year re­
port pursuant to § 37w of Germany’s Securities Trading act 
(WpHG). In addition, we discussed the fact that the  analysts’ 
expectations regarding the overall results of the 2010 fis­
cal year were significantly higher in the second half of the 
year. We discussed the Executive Board’s risk report ex­
tensively and convinced ourselves of the effectiveness of 
Symrise’s risk management. We also talked about the 
 Executive Board’s new financing guideline. All members of 
the Supervisory Board took part in this telephone confer­
ence. 

The session held on September 30, 2010, was devoted to 
examining and evaluating the Company’s strategy. In the 
evaluation, we incorporated the opinions of external third 
parties from the capital market and customer environment. 
Against the background of the effect of these external per­
spectives on Symrise, we discussed and challenged the Ex­
ecutive Board’s strategy with the Executive Board. We 
talked about possible alternative scenarios and, against the 
background of different scenarios of global economic devel­
opment, examined whether the Company’s strategy was 
sound. In this session, furthermore, we reached an agree­
ment about Group refinancing in the structure presented 
and developed by the Executive Board. In the absence of 
the Executive Board, we examined the remuneration of the 
members of the Executive Board and in some cases 
 adjusted it. All Supervisory Board members attended this 
session.

The session held on November 5, 2010, was devoted to 
the presentation of the business results for the first nine 
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months of 2010 and the third quarter 2010. Together 
with the Executive Board, we agreed on the basic data and 
assumptions for preparation of corporate planning for 
2011. One member of the Supervisory Board did not attend 
this session. 

The session of December 14, 2010, focused on corporate 
planning for the 2011 fiscal year. At this session, the 
Super visory Board approved the corporate planning for 
2011. In addition, we adapted the business procedures 
of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board to the 
changes in the German Corporate Governance Code of 
May 2010. We discussed these changes in depth and used 
the opportunity to formulate and reach an agreement on 
goals regarding the composition of the Supervisory Board. 
The appropriate consideration of women as Supervisory 
Board members was a main focus of our considerations. In 
this session, the Supervisory Board together with the 
 Executive Board submitted a new declaration of compliance 
pursuant to Section 161 AktG. Symrise AG complies with 
all current Code recommendations. On the suggestion of 
the Presidential Committee, we reached a new agreement 
on the future success criteria for variable remuneration 
components with long­term incentives (Long Term Incen­
tive Plan, LTIP). All Supervisory Board members attended 
this session. 

AnnuAl And consolidAted  

F inAnciAl stAteMents 2010 

The auditor KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Hanover, audited the annual financial statements for the 
fiscal year from January 1, 2010, to December 31, 2010, 
which were prepared by the Executive Board according to 
HGB (German Commercial Code) standards, as well as 
the Symrise AG management report. The Auditing Com­
mittee issued the order for the audit in accordance with 
the May 11, 2010, resolution of the Annual General Meet­
ing. The auditor issued an unqualified certification. 

The Symrise AG consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in accordance with § 315a HGB on the basis of the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
 applicable in the European Union. The auditor also certi­
fied the consolidated financial statements and the Group 
management report without qualification. 

The auditor’s report on these financial statements and ad­
ditional auditing reports and documentation were deliv­
ered to all members of the Supervisory Board in a timely 
manner. They were discussed thoroughly in the sessions 
of the Auditing Committee of February 15 and March 2, 
2011, and in the full session of the Supervisory Board of 
March 3, 2011. The auditors participated in the discus­
sion of the annual financial statements and consolidated 
 financial statements in both bodies, where they reported 
on the key audit results and were available to the Super­
visory Board to answer questions and provide additional 
 information. 

Following our own review of the annual financial statements, 
the consolidated financial statements, the management re­
port and the Group management report, we accepted the 
findings of the auditor. In our session of March 3, 2011, 
we approved the annual financial statements and the con­
solidated financial statements upon the recommendation 
of the Auditing Committee. The annual financial statements 
are thereby adopted. After examining it, we endorsed the 
proposal of the Executive Board for the use of the net income 
of the year. The Supervisory Board considers the proposal 
regarding the appropriation of profits to be appro priate.

corP or Ate goVernAnce

Also on behalf of the Supervisory Board, pursuant to 3.10 
of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Execu­
tive Board reports on corporate governance at Symrise AG 
within the framework of the declaration on business 
 management pursuant to § 289a of the German Commer­
cial Code (HGB). The declaration on business manage­
ment is now accessible to the public on Symrise AG’s web­
site. The address is: www.symrise.com > Investors > 
Corporate Governance > Corporate Governance Statement. 
The Supervisory Board discussed implementation of the 
code in depth in its meeting of December 14, 2010. At this 
meeting, the Supervisory Board dealt in detail with the 
 latest changes to the code. In 2010, we continually observed 
the further development of corporate governance stan­
dards in Germany and abroad, and we  will continue to do 
so. On December 14, 2010, the Executive Board and the 
 Supervisory Board submitted an  updated Declaration of 
Compliance according to § 161 AktG and made this per­
manently available to the shareholders on the Company’s 

w w w.symrise .Com > 

investors > 

Corpor ate 

 GovernanCe > 

 Corpor ate 

 GovernanCe 

 statement
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website. Symrise AG conforms entirely to all recommen­
dations of the Government Commission of the German Cor­
porate Governance Code as published in the current 
(May 26, 2010) version available from the  Federal Ministry 
of Justice in the offi  cial section of its electronic Federal 
 Gazette of July 2, 2010.

cHAnges in tHe e XecutiVe BoArd 

And suPerVisorY BoArd 

There were no personnel changes in the Executive Board 
and the Supervisory board during the reporting year.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank all of the mem­
bers of the Executive Board, the employees of all Group 

companies in Germany and abroad, as well as all employee 
representatives for their commitment and accomplish­
ments in the 2010 fi scal year. You contributed to another 
successful business year for Symrise. 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board, 

 
Andreas Schmid

Chairman
Holzminden, March 3, 2011
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e XecutiVe BoArd

The Executive Board of the Symrise AG consists of following members:

suPerVisorY BoArd

The following have been elected as members of the Supervisory Board:

b o D I e s  a n D  M a n D aT e s

Andre As scHMid*

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG

dr . Heinz- Jürgen Bertr AM

CEO

K Arl- Heinz HucHtHAusen

Vice Chairman, Chairman of works council and general works council of Symrise AG

dr . Pe ter gr AFoner*

Freelance consultant

Horst- ot to gerBerding* 

Managing Director of the Drago Invest GmbH & Co. KG

AcHiM dAuB

Executive Board Member responsible for Scent & Care

HAns Holger glie we

Executive Board Member responsible for Flavor & Nutrition

Bernd HirscH

CFO

dr . HelMut Frieden 

Corporate Vice President Corporate Compliance of Symrise AG

  Oettinger Imex AG 

President and Delegate  

of the Board of Directors
  gategroup AG

President of the Board of Directors

 Flughafen Zürich AG

President of the Board of Directors
 Barry Callebaut AG

Vice President of the Board of 

 Directors

 Karl Steiner AG

Member of the Board of Directors
 Badrutt’s Palace Hotel AG

Member of the Board of Directors
 Wirz Partner Holding AG

Member of the Board of Directors

  SKF AB

Member of the Supervisory Board

 SCANIA Schweiz AG

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Bodies and mandates

Fr Ancesco grioli

Executive Secretary for Tariff Policy and Finance of IG BCE

reginA HuFnAgel

Vice Chairwoman of the works council and general works council of Symrise AG

dr . tHoMAs r ABe*

CFO Bertelsmann AG

sAnnA suVAnto - HArsA Ae*

Freelance consultant

dr . HAns - HeinricH gürtler*

former CEO of Wella AG

HelMut tAcKe

Member of the works council of Symrise AG

Pe ter winKelMAnn

Head for the region Alfeld of IG BCE

  Sappi Deutschland Holding GmbH

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

 Arvato AG

Member of the Supervisory Board
 BMG RM Germany GmbH 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
 Druck- und Verlagshaus 

Gruner + Jahr AG

Member of the Supervisory Board

 IKB AG

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Springer Science+Business Media

Member of the Supervisory Board

 Bertelsmann Capital 

Investments S.A.

 Bertelsmann Digital Media

Investments S.A.

 Bertelsmann Inc.

 Edmond Israel Foundation

 Ricordi & C. S.p.A.

 RTL Group S.A.

  Sunset Boulvard AS

Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board
 Babysam AS

Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board
 BTX AS

Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board
 Marketing Clinic AS

Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board

 Duni AB

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Jetpak AB

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Paulig OY/AB

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Candyking AB

Member of the Supervisory Board

 SATS AB

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Clas Ohlsen

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Upplands Motor AB

Member of the Supervisory Board

* Shareholder representative
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G l o s s a r y

a

AK tg

German Stock Corporation Act 
 (Aktiengesetz)

AntHocYAne

Water­soluble coloring agent derived 
from plants

AntioXidents

In food, medicine or synthetics 
they prevent the oxidation of other 
molecules 

AroMA

A flavor or fragrance often based 
on an aromatic organic chemical 
 compound

b

BilMog

German Accounting Law Moderni­
zation Act (Bilanzrechtsmodernisie­
rungsgesetz)

BioFunctionAlit Y

The ability of a substance or product 
to interact with an organism without 
causing undesirable effects

BrieFing

Information given to a potential 
 supplier by a customer company to 
bid on a new product

C

cAgr

Compound Annual Growth Rate

core list

List of key suppliers; the position on a 
core list is often the prerequisite for 
being invited by customers to bid on 
new product developments

coVenAnts

Conditions or duties contained in a 
loan agreement between a company 
and a bank

csr

Corporate Social Responsibility

e

e AMe

The commercial region including 
Europe, Africa, and the Middle East

eBit

Earnings before interest and taxes 

eBitdA

Earnings before interest, taxes, 
 depreciation and amortization of 
 tangible and intangible assets

eFsA

European Food Safety Authority

ePs

Earnings per share 

f

FAir VAlue

The estimated value of an asset or 
 liability used in the consolidation of 
the financial statement

F&F

Flavors & Fragrances 

Free FloAt

Non­restricted shares of a public 
 company not held by large owners 

G

gdP

Gross Domestic Product, a statistic 
used to measure the economic 
strength (goods and services) of a 
country

gHs

Globally Harmonized System used 
in the classification and labelling of 
chemicals

H

He AltH cl AiMs

Claims stating that products have 
special health benefits

HgB 

German Code of Commercial Law 
(Handelsgesetzbuch)
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Glossary

I

iAl

IAL is an industrial and market­
research consultancy specializing in 
the chemicals, plastics, and allied 
process industries

K

Ke Y Account MAnAgeMent

Part of the marketing and sales 
organization that focuses on key 
 customers

l

liPid

Group of fats or fat­like substances 
(lipoids) that are not easily soluble or 
not at all soluble in water

ltiP

Long Term Incentive Plan, a plan used 
as a part of executive compensation

n

ngo

Non­governmental organization 

o

oPer Ating cAsH Flow

Cash generated from the operations of 
a company, defined as the revenues 
less operating expenses; an important 
indicator of a company’s earning 
power

r

re AcH

The regulation of the European 
Union for the Registration, 
 Evaluation, Authorisation and 
 Restriction of Chemicals

rese ArcH coVer Age 

Regular published analysis of a 
 company‘s financial development 
by a bank or broker

s

suPPlY cHAin

The organizational process from 
the supplier to the manufacturer 
 (procurement, production, sale) to 
the end customer

sVA

Symrise Value Added, a measure 
 indicating Symrise’s increase in value 

swAP

An exchange agreement concerning 
future payment flow statements, 
 frequently used as a financial tool to 
limit financial risks 

T

tHYMol

A monoterpene and essential oil found, 
for example, in thyme or oregano

W

worKing cAPitAl

Financial measure derived equal 
to current operating assets minus 
current operating liabilities
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F l av o r  &  N u t r i t i o N

S c e N t  &  c a r e

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) by 
combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. symrise’s perfume oils
are used in perfumes (fine fragrances), in body-care products (hair care products, 
washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household products (washing and clean-
ing products).

Oral Care symrise offers the entire range of mint aromas and intermediate products 
for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

Life Essentials the products manufactured by this business unit are used in skin 
care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, shower gels, 
washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. the unique feature of  
life essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional body care products and 
plant-based bioactive ingredients.

Aroma Molecules these products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, are used 
in various applications. nature-identical menthol is used in oral care products, 
chewing gums and shower gels. symrise uses uniform aroma chemicals (intermedi-
ate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils and sells them to 
customers who use them in their perfume oils. 
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K e y  f i g u r e s  o f  t h e  g r o u P

€ millioN 2009 2010
chaNge iN % chaNge iN % 

at local currency

     

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15.4 11.0

EBITDA 245.6 331.2 35 32

EBITDA margin in % 18.0 21.1   

EBIT 163.0 244.4 50 47

EBIT margin in % 12.0 15.5   

Net income 84.3 133.5 58  

Earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 58  

Dividend per share in € 0.50 0.602 20  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,895.2 2,059.0 9  

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 36.4 40.9   

Investments 56.7 70.5   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/ 
EBITDA (as of December 31) ratio 3.1 2.2   

Operating cash flow 225.7 235.1 4  

Employees (as of December 31) FTE1 4,954 5,288 7  

     

Scent & care     

Sales 682.3 804.5 17.9 12.4

EBITDA 109.0 160.8 48 43

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 20.0   

     

Flavor & Nutrition     

Sales 679.7 767.4 12.9 9.7

EBITDA 136.6 170.4 25 22

EBITDA margin in % 20.1 22.2   

€ millioN 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

     

group – results of operations      

Sales 1,229.4 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9

Share of sales in emerging markets in % 37 39 40 41 46

EBITDA1 243.2 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2

EBITDA margin1 in % 19.8 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1

Net income – 89.8 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5

Earnings per share in € – 1.08 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13

Dividends paid  – 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.93

Dividend per share in € – 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.603

      

group – Financial position/net assets      

Operating cash flow 149.4 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1

Investments 46.0 40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,803.1 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 30.5 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9

Net debt (incl. pension provisions) 

(as of December 31) 779.64 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7

      

Employees (as of December 31) FTE2 4,777 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288

      

Scent & care      

Sales 647.4 671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5

EBITDA1 112.9 134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8

EBITDA margin1 in % 17.4 20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0

      

Flavor & Nutrition      

Sales 582.0 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4

EBITDA1 130.3 137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4

EBITDA margin1 in % 22.4 22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2

GrOup SALES 2010 ACCOrdinG tO rEGiOnS  (in %)

f i v e - y e a r  f i n a n c i a l  o v e r v i e w

1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

1 figures for 2006 adjusted for restructuring and integration costs
2 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
3 proposal
4 without vendor note and shareholder loans

our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or paste form 
to make food and beverages. our flavors give the products distinct tastes. we provide 
individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from the actual aroma, can con-
tain additional functional raw materials, colorants or microencapsulated components. 
with functional natural ingredients, the new consumer health application area caters 
to the functional food supplement and pharmaceutical preparation markets.

09/10

September 22 the new strategic “taste for life®” 
platform is an innovative instrument enabling the 
food and beverage industry to develop new products 
faster and better tailored to customers’ needs.

September 30 symrise opens a perfumery school in 
chennai, india. with this strategic step, we expand 
our knowledge of consumer preferences in one of 
the world’s biggest sales markets. in addition, we 
train local talent for our important sales markets. 

october 13 for the first building block in our new 
long-term refinancing concept, we agreed to a term 
note for us$ 175 million with Pricoa (Prudential 
investment Management, inc.). 

october 15 the first bond issued in the company’s 
history is very well received by the capital market. 
the bond, which has a volume of € 300 million, is a 
cornerstone of our long-term refinancing concept.

12

December 6 By agreeing on a revolving credit facil-
ity with a volume of € 300 million and a duration  
of five years, the refinancing of symrise ag is suc-
cessfully completed.

01/02

January 21 with the opening of a plant for liquid fla-
vors in singapore, symrise continues to expand its 
activities in asia. liquid flavors are used, for exam-
ple, for adding flavor to beverages, ice cream and 
dairy products.

February 8 symrise significantly expands its flavor & 
nutrition business in russia and the cis region with 
the setup of a fully integrated production site near 
Moscow. By producing in the region, symrise can 
serve strategic globally operating customers locally. 

February 25 symrise manages to increase its mar-
ket share in a difficult business environment. as a 
result, we received the prestigious “Best of euro-
pean Business” award for 2010.

04

april 7 symrise now offers even more effective flex-
ible solutions for the care of dry skin thanks to  
two new kinds of symMollient®, its successful func-
tional ingredient.

05/06

may 5 at the “in-cosmetics” tradeshow in Paris, 
symrise receives the highly esteemed 2010 BsB 
innovation Prize for its skin-soothing ingredient 
symsitive™ 1609.

June 10 symrise strengthens its position as the 
world’s leading manufacturer of synthetic menthols 
by announcing that it will double its production 
capacities by 2012. 

June 24 with the founding of the scientific advisory 
Board for health and nutrition, symrise expands  
its competencies in the area of health-oriented food. 
internationally renowned scientists assist us in the 
development of new ingredients and technologies.

08

august 25 two new mixing and dosing facilities for 
perfume oils are put in operation in holzminden. 
the fully automated facilities increase production 
capacity by 25 %.

Asia/Pacific 21.8 %

Latin America 11.9 %

48.4 %  Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

North America 17.9 %

SYM_GB 2010_Umschlag engl_20110221.indd   2 23.02.11   11:46
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F l av o r  &  N u t r i t i o N

S c e N t  &  c a r e

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) by 
combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. symrise’s perfume oils
are used in perfumes (fine fragrances), in body-care products (hair care products, 
washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household products (washing and clean-
ing products).

Oral Care symrise offers the entire range of mint aromas and intermediate products 
for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

Life Essentials the products manufactured by this business unit are used in skin 
care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, shower gels, 
washing lotions, anti-dandruff shampoos and deodorants. the unique feature of  
life essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional body care products and 
plant-based bioactive ingredients.

Aroma Molecules these products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, are used 
in various applications. nature-identical menthol is used in oral care products, 
chewing gums and shower gels. symrise uses uniform aroma chemicals (intermedi-
ate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils and sells them to 
customers who use them in their perfume oils. 
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K e y  f i g u r e s  o f  t h e  g r o u P

€ millioN 2009 2010
chaNge iN % chaNge iN % 

at local currency

     

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15.4 11.0

EBITDA 245.6 331.2 35 32

EBITDA margin in % 18.0 21.1   

EBIT 163.0 244.4 50 47

EBIT margin in % 12.0 15.5   

Net income 84.3 133.5 58  

Earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 58  

Dividend per share in € 0.50 0.602 20  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,895.2 2,059.0 9  

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 36.4 40.9   

Investments 56.7 70.5   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/ 
EBITDA (as of December 31) ratio 3.1 2.2   

Operating cash flow 225.7 235.1 4  

Employees (as of December 31) FTE1 4,954 5,288 7  

     

Scent & care     

Sales 682.3 804.5 17.9 12.4

EBITDA 109.0 160.8 48 43

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 20.0   

     

Flavor & Nutrition     

Sales 679.7 767.4 12.9 9.7

EBITDA 136.6 170.4 25 22

EBITDA margin in % 20.1 22.2   

€ millioN 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

     

group – results of operations      

Sales 1,229.4 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9

Share of sales in emerging markets in % 37 39 40 41 46

EBITDA1 243.2 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2

EBITDA margin1 in % 19.8 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1

Net income – 89.8 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5

Earnings per share in € – 1.08 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13

Dividends paid  – 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.93

Dividend per share in € – 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.603

      

group – Financial position/net assets      

Operating cash flow 149.4 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1

Investments 46.0 40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,803.1 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 30.5 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9

Net debt (incl. pension provisions) 

(as of December 31) 779.64 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7

      

Employees (as of December 31) FTE2 4,777 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288

      

Scent & care      

Sales 647.4 671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5

EBITDA1 112.9 134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8

EBITDA margin1 in % 17.4 20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0

      

Flavor & Nutrition      

Sales 582.0 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4

EBITDA1 130.3 137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4

EBITDA margin1 in % 22.4 22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2

GrOup SALES 2010 ACCOrdinG tO rEGiOnS  (in %)

f i v e - y e a r  f i n a n c i a l  o v e r v i e w

1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

1 figures for 2006 adjusted for restructuring and integration costs
2 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
3 proposal
4 without vendor note and shareholder loans

our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or paste form 
to make food and beverages. our flavors give the products distinct tastes. we provide 
individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from the actual aroma, can con-
tain additional functional raw materials, colorants or microencapsulated components. 
with functional natural ingredients, the new consumer health application area caters 
to the functional food supplement and pharmaceutical preparation markets.

09/10

September 22 the new strategic “taste for life®” 
platform is an innovative instrument enabling the 
food and beverage industry to develop new products 
faster and better tailored to customers’ needs.

September 30 symrise opens a perfumery school in 
chennai, india. with this strategic step, we expand 
our knowledge of consumer preferences in one of 
the world’s biggest sales markets. in addition, we 
train local talent for our important sales markets. 

october 13 for the first building block in our new 
long-term refinancing concept, we agreed to a term 
note for us$ 175 million with Pricoa (Prudential 
investment Management, inc.). 

october 15 the first bond issued in the company’s 
history is very well received by the capital market. 
the bond, which has a volume of € 300 million, is a 
cornerstone of our long-term refinancing concept.

12

December 6 By agreeing on a revolving credit facil-
ity with a volume of € 300 million and a duration  
of five years, the refinancing of symrise ag is suc-
cessfully completed.

01/02

January 21 with the opening of a plant for liquid fla-
vors in singapore, symrise continues to expand its 
activities in asia. liquid flavors are used, for exam-
ple, for adding flavor to beverages, ice cream and 
dairy products.

February 8 symrise significantly expands its flavor & 
nutrition business in russia and the cis region with 
the setup of a fully integrated production site near 
Moscow. By producing in the region, symrise can 
serve strategic globally operating customers locally. 

February 25 symrise manages to increase its mar-
ket share in a difficult business environment. as a 
result, we received the prestigious “Best of euro-
pean Business” award for 2010.

04

april 7 symrise now offers even more effective flex-
ible solutions for the care of dry skin thanks to  
two new kinds of symMollient®, its successful func-
tional ingredient.

05/06

may 5 at the “in-cosmetics” tradeshow in Paris, 
symrise receives the highly esteemed 2010 BsB 
innovation Prize for its skin-soothing ingredient 
symsitive™ 1609.

June 10 symrise strengthens its position as the 
world’s leading manufacturer of synthetic menthols 
by announcing that it will double its production 
capacities by 2012. 

June 24 with the founding of the scientific advisory 
Board for health and nutrition, symrise expands  
its competencies in the area of health-oriented food. 
internationally renowned scientists assist us in the 
development of new ingredients and technologies.

08

august 25 two new mixing and dosing facilities for 
perfume oils are put in operation in holzminden. 
the fully automated facilities increase production 
capacity by 25 %.

Asia/Pacific 21.8 %

Latin America 11.9 %

48.4 %  Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

North America 17.9 %
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DYNAMIC MARKETS  – We geared our activities to the world’s most populous and fastest-growing 
regions early on. In 2010, we achieved 46 % of our sales in these emerging markets, compared to  
41 % in the previous year and 36 % in 2005. But our new markets do not just have a geographical dimen-
sion. We are concentrating on business units and application areas that have a greater growth 
 potential than the Flavors and Fragrances industry as a whole.

Annual Report 2010
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F L AV O R  &  N U T R I T I O N

S C E N T  &  C A R E

Fragrances Perfumers create complex fragrance compositions (perfume oils) by 
combining a number of uniform ingredients and essential oils. Symrise’s perfume oils
are used in perfumes (Fine Fragrances), in body-care products (hair care products, 
washing lotions, skin creams, deodorants) and household products (washing and clean-
ing products).

Oral Care Symrise off ers the entire range of mint aromas and intermediate products 
for toothpaste, oral care products and chewing gum.

Life Essentials The products manufactured by this business unit are used in skin 
care products, hair care products, suntan lotions, aftershave balsams, shower gels, 
washing lotions, anti-dandruff  shampoos and deodorants. The unique feature of 
Life Essentials’ activities is the combination of conventional body care products and 
plant-based bioactive ingredients.

Aroma Molecules These products, which exist in liquid or crystalline form, are used 
in various applications. Nature-identical menthol is used in oral care products, 
chewing gums and shower gels. Symrise uses uniform aroma chemicals (intermedi-
ate products for perfume oils) to produce its own perfume oils and sells them to 
customers who use them in their perfume oils. 
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K E Y  F I G U R E S  O F  T H E  G R O U P

€ MILLION 2009 2010
CHANGE IN % CHANGE IN %

at local currency

     

Sales 1,362.0 1,571.9 15.4 11.0

EBITDA 245.6 331.2 35 32

EBITDA margin in % 18.0 21.1   

EBIT 163.0 244.4 50 47

EBIT margin in % 12.0 15.5   

Net income 84.3 133.5 58  

Earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 58  

Dividend per share in € 0.50 0.602 20  

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,895.2 2,059.0 9  

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 36.4 40.9   

Investments 56.7 70.5   

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)/ 
EBITDA (as of December 31) ratio 3.1 2.2   

Operating cash fl ow 225.7 235.1 4  

Employees (as of December 31) FTE1 4,954 5,288 7  

     

Scent & Care     

Sales 682.3 804.5 17.9 12.4

EBITDA 109.0 160.8 48 43

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 20.0   

     

Flavor & Nutrition     

Sales 679.7 767.4 12.9 9.7

EBITDA 136.6 170.4 25 22

EBITDA margin in % 20.1 22.2   

€ MILLION 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

     

Group – Results of operations      

Sales 1,229.4 1,274.5 1,319.9 1,362.0 1,571.9

Share of sales in emerging markets in % 37 39 40 41 46

EBITDA1 243.2 272.1 262.5 245.6 331.2

EBITDA margin1 in % 19.8 21.3 19.9 18.0 21.1

Net income – 89.8 97.4 90.4 84.3 133.5

Earnings per share in € – 1.08 0.82 0.76 0.71 1.13

Dividends paid  – 59.1 59.1 59.1 70.93

Dividend per share in € – 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.603

      

Group – Financial position/net assets      

Operating cash fl ow 149.4 152.6 153.1 225.7 235.1

Investments 46.0 40.6 52.5 56.7 70.5

Balance sheet total (as of December 31) 1,803.1 1,790.9 1,890.6 1,895.2 2,059.0

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 30.5 35.9 34.3 36.4 40.9

Net debt (incl. pension provisions)

(as of December 31) 779.64 715.7 833.6 773.4 733.7

      

Employees (as of December 31) FTE2 4,777 4,926 5,097 4,954 5,288

      

Scent & Care      

Sales 647.4 671.3 671.8 682.3 804.5

EBITDA1 112.9 134.7 130.2 109.0 160.8

EBITDA margin1 in % 17.4 20.1 19.4 16.0 20.0

      

Flavor & Nutrition      

Sales 582.0 603.2 648.1 679.7 767.4

EBITDA1 130.3 137.4 132.3 136.6 170.4

EBITDA margin1 in % 22.4 22.8 20.4 20.1 22.2

GROUP SALES 2010 ACCORDING TO REGIONS  (in %)

F I V E - Y E A R  F I N A N C I A L  O V E R V I E W

1 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
2 proposal

1 fi gures for 2006 adjusted for restructuring and integration costs
2 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent
3 proposal
4 without vendor note and shareholder loans

Our customers use the flavors we produce in liquid, powder, granulated or paste form 
to make food and beverages. Our flavors give the products distinct tastes. We provide 
individual flavors or complete solutions, which, apart from the actual aroma, can con-
tain additional functional raw materials, colorants or microencapsulated components. 
With functional natural ingredients, the new Consumer Health application area caters 
to the functional food supplement and pharmaceutical preparation markets.

09/10

September 22 The new strategic “taste for life®” 
platform is an innovative instrument enabling the 
food and beverage industry to develop new products 
faster and better tailored to customers’ needs.

September 30 Symrise opens a perfumery school in 
Chennai, India. With this strategic step, we expand 
our knowledge of consumer preferences in one of 
the world’s biggest sales markets. In addition, we 
train local talent for our important sales markets. 

October 13 For the fi rst building block in our new 
long-term refi nancing concept, we agreed to a term 
note for US$ 175 million with Pricoa (Prudential 
Investment Management, Inc.). 

October 15 The fi rst bond issued in the company’s 
history is very well received by the capital market. 
The bond, which has a volume of € 300 million, is a 
cornerstone of our long-term refi nancing concept.

12

December 6 By agreeing on a revolving credit facil-
ity with a volume of € 300 million and a duration 
of fi ve years, the refi nancing of Symrise AG is suc-
cessfully completed.

01/02

January 21 With the opening of a plant for liquid fl a-
vors in Singapore, Symrise continues to expand its 
activities in Asia. Liquid fl avors are used, for exam-
ple, for adding fl avor to beverages, ice cream and 
dairy products.

February 8 Symrise signifi cantly expands its Flavor & 
Nutrition business in Russia and the CIS region with 
the setup of a fully integrated production site near 
Moscow. By producing in the region, Symrise can 
serve strategic globally operating customers locally. 

February 25 Symrise manages to increase its mar-
ket share in a diffi  cult business environment. As a 
result, we received the prestigious “Best of Euro-
pean Business” award for 2010.

04

April 7 Symrise now off ers even more eff ective fl ex-
ible solutions for the care of dry skin thanks to 
two new kinds of SymMollient®, its successful func-
tional ingredient.

05/06

May 5 At the “In-Cosmetics” tradeshow in Paris, 
Symrise receives the highly esteemed 2010 BSB 
Innovation Prize for its skin-soothing ingredient 
SymSitive™ 1609.

June 10 Symrise strengthens its position as the 
world’s leading manufacturer of synthetic menthols 
by announcing that it will double its production 
capacities by 2012. 

June 24 With the founding of the Scientifi c Advisory 
Board for Health and Nutrition, Symrise expands 
its competencies in the area of health-oriented food. 
Internationally renowned scientists assist us in the 
development of new ingredients and technologies.

08

August 25 Two new mixing and dosing facilities for 
perfume oils are put in operation In Holzminden. 
The fully automated facilities increase production 
capacity by 25 %.

Asia/Pacifi c 21.8 %

Latin America 11.9 %

48.4 %  Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)

North America 17.9 %




